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Hiram Bingham was born in Hawaii in 1875 and educated

at Yale, where he later taught. His early expeditions to

South America and climactic discovery of Machu Picchu

were just the start of a long and colourful career: he went
on to command air force troops in France during the

First World War and to become a Senator; he was later

impeached. Lost City of the Incas, written towards the

end of his life in 1948, is a final distillation of the many
articles and books on the Incas that he had published

before. He died in 1956.

Hugh Thomson has led several research expeditions to

Peru to locate and study Inca ruins. He has written about
Machu Picchu and the Incas in both The White Rock and
Cochineal Red. See www.thewhiterock.co.uk.
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INTRODUCTION

When Hiram Bingham arrived in the Peruvian Andes in July

19 1 1, he was ready for what was to be the climactic achieve-

ment of his life: the exploration of the remote hinterland to the

west of Cuzco, the old Inca capital. He had every advantage on

his side, with his charisma, opportunism, knowledge of biblio-

graphical sources and driving, restless energy. Above all he had

what every explorer needs - luck and the ability to exploit it.

Bingham had already done a preliminary reconnaissance a

few years before, in 1909, when he had made the mistake of

coming in the wet season. This time he would be on dry ground

and he had prepared meticulously for it, both with a well-

provisioned team and with the invaluable research he had been

given by a Peruvian academic, Carlos Romero. This included

recently discovered chronicles from the time of the Spanish

Conquest, which pointed to the existence of hitherto unsuspected

Inca ruins.

Despite all this, he could never have expected quite what lay

ahead. In the space of just a few short months he was to discover

not only Machu Picchu, by any standards one of the greatest

architectural achievements of pre-Columbian civilization, but

also two other major sites: Vitcos, where the last Incas retreated

after the Spanish had conquered the rest of their Empire and

which was to become their capital in exile for a further thirty-five

years; and another mysterious site down below in the jungle,

whose significance evaded Bingham at the time, in an area he called

the ‘Plain of Ghosts’.

In later years he returned to excavate at Machu Picchu. He
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also undertook what he described in an article as ‘Further

Explorations’, discovering a myriad of other minor sites and the

Inca Trail, a magnificent stone track that threads high above the

Urubamba river to arrive at Machu Picchu in a way that modern
visitors still find heart-stopping.

However, it was in 19 n, over the space of just a few months,
that Hiram Bingham made the momentous discoveries that

form the kernel of this book and make it a classic in the litera-

ture of exploration. It is impossible to read Lost City of the

Incas without sharing in Bingham’s enthusiasm and curiosity

about what he had found. He was a natural story-teller, with an
extraordinary story to tell.

Like many, I first read it when I went to Machu Picchu and was
immediately struck by the vivacity and freshness with which
Bingham writes. Over the years since, I’ve come to realize that it

is an even more intriguing and complex work than might at first

appear. Much of this is due to Bingham’s own character.

Bingham was a man who needed to become famous. Born in

1875, he had grown up in Hawaii, the son of a missionary
family who had once been celebrated and prosperous but had
subsequently descended into genteel poverty. As Hiram Bingham
III, he was conscious both of his ancestor’s fame (the first Hiram
Bingham had almost single-handedly converted the islands to

Christianity) and of the family’s current fall from grace.

In Lost City of the Incas, he fondly remembers climbing ‘a

number of mountains in the suburbs of Honolulu’ as a boy and
often notes occasional and unexpected similarities between the

Peruvian Vilcabamba and the green islands of Hawaii. The
impression given is of a youth lived under open skies.

But in reality his childhood was a constrained one. He was
cramped by a constant need for academic success and by the

fierce religious fundamentalism of his parents, from which
Bingham tried to escape. Peru provided a freedom he had never
had when young. As Che Guevara put it in an astute essay:

‘Machu Picchu was to Bingham the crowning of all his purest
dreams as an adult child.’
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He managed to fund his own way through Andover and then

Yale, often by coaching fellow students, and decided to remain

in teaching once he had graduated. At six foot four, he had the

rangy build of a natural tennis player and he was eased up the

political ladder of appointments by his charm and good looks,

although his approach was at times too broad-brush for him
ever to settle entirely comfortably into academic life (Bingham
was never a great man for footnotes).

In 1900, when he was twenty-five, he married Alfreda

Mitchell, the daughter of a wealthy family, and his financial

worries were eased. Despite this new security and the acquisi-

tion of a thirty-room mansion in New Haven, the early years of

his marriage were characterized by a restless urge to travel.

He was drawn early to the idea of South America, both

because of its inherent romanticism and because in academic

terms it was virgin territory. It was not yet a legitimate subject at

the Ivy League universities and so Bingham could seize, as he

put it, ‘the opportunity it presents to work in claims not already

staked out’. While Humboldt’s books on South America in the

early nineteenth century had instigated a wave of curiosity in

Europe, and brought many travellers in his wake (particularly

from France), North American interest in the southern conti-

nent had awoken more slowly. Only with the impressive histo-

ries of the Conquest of Mexico and Peru written later in the

century by a Boston lawyer, William Prescott, had the process

slowly begun.

Bingham managed to create a post for himself as Curator of

the Harvard Library’s non-existent ‘South American Collec-

tion’, a collection that Bingham then set about creating. He
quickly accumulated a card catalogue of some 25,000 items.

When a consignment of Simon Bolivar’s papers came his way,

his first thought was to write a biography of the nineteenth-

century Libertador and his struggle for Independence. Then he

decided, characteristically, that it would be more interesting to

go to South America and follow the arduous route Bolivar had

once taken across the continent, so as to gauge how difficult it

must have been for him and his men.
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This was his first expedition, in 1906, when he was just thirty-

one, and it gave him a taste for exploration, despite or perhaps
because of the hardships he encountered. He took a rifle with
him, which he needed both for protection and to shoot game (he

was later to issue a Winchester and a Colt to each member of his

Peruvian teams). He published an account of it in his first book,
Journal of an Expedition across Venezuela and Colombia.
Upon returning to the States, he became a Lecturer in South

American history at his alma mater, Yale, a post that had been
created especially for him and the first such post in any North
American university. Bingham continued to press the case for

more attention to be paid to his new subject in articles such as

‘The Possibilities of South American History and Politics as a

Field for Research’.

He was soon to head back to South America to do research

himself, this time for a more ambitious expedition from Buenos
Aires across the continent to Lima. With typical opportunism,
Bingham had managed to get appointed as the American dele-

gate to a political conference in Chile, and he used this as a

springboard for the trip. He was already becoming interested in

politics and the resulting book, Across South America, concen-
trated on the business opportunities America was missing by
not investing more in the region, particularly compared to

Britain.

It was while on this journey that he was accidentally pro-

pelled into a new-found subject, the Incas. Up until then, his

focus had been on post-Columbian history, and while in Peru he
wanted to visit Ayacucho, the scene of one of the climactic

battles of Bolivar’s Wars of Independence. To get there, he
passed through the town of Abancay, where the Prefect per-

suaded him to join a treasure-hunting expedition he was mount-
ing, doubtless because Bingham, as ‘an American professor’,

would give a spurious legitimacy to the enterprise. The pro-

posed destination was Choquequirao, the one Inca site in the

Vilcabamba province that was already known, if little visited

because of its difficult position high above the Apurimac river.

As Bingham cheerfully admits (his candour is one of the most
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attractive features of his writing), ‘we were not on the lookout

for new Inca ruins and had never heard of Choqquequirau.’ But

he accepted the invitation with alacrity, and despite the rigours

of travelling there in the wet season, found his resulting experi-

ences compelling.

He also proved to be a very observant explorer. His view that

Choquequirao was primarily a ‘fortress’ may have been con-

tested by later archaeologists, but Bingham’s detailing of the site

was conscientious and accurate. I found his plans still the most

useful when I travelled to the site in 1982, as did the American

explorer Vincent Lee when he went there in the 1990s.

Bingham’s account in Lost City of the Incas of his initiation

into the world of the Incas ends with a famous clarion call to

further exploration, inspired by the view from Choquequirao of

the rest of the Vilcabamba range:

Those snow-capped peaks in an unknown and unexplored

part of Peru fascinated me greatly. They tempted me to go

and see what lay beyond. In the ever famous words of

Rudyard Kipling there was ‘Something hidden! Go and find

it! Go and look beyond the ranges — Something lost behind

the ranges. Lost and waiting for you. Go!’

The casual reader of Lost City of the Incas might assume that

the die was now cast and that Bingham was determined to

return to Peru. In fact it merely confirmed in him a desire to be

‘an explorer’, as he now chose to state his profession in Who’s

Who in America. He didn’t mind where he went as long as it

would make his name. On returning to the States, he tried to

raise money for a number of expeditions: to Mexico to study

the Maya; to the Ecuadorian jungle to explore the sources of the

Napo river; even a reckless plan to find a new route northwards

across Amazonia from La Paz to Manaus. No one would back

him. When he did then suggest returning to Peru, the principal

goal was not to explore the Inca heartland, but to be the first to

climb a mountain that he thought (erroneously) might be the

highest in South America: Mt Coropuna. This was conveniently
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close to the Vilcabamba and likewise lay along the 73° Merid-
ian, which had never been mapped, so Bingham proposed, as an
additional sweetener for the sponsorship package, that he
would make a further investigation of the Inca area.

When no academic body would support him, he turned to his

Yale classmates. Some of the wealthier ones helped fund the
expedition. Others joined him on it. The team that he took to
Peru in 1911, while sounding as if every member had come with
an assigned role ( the naturalist’, ‘the doctor’ etc.), was more of
an ad hoc alliance of college friends who, like Bingham, quite
fancied an adventure. They got one.

Cuzco, the ancient capital of the Incas, lies on a high plateau on
the edge of the Andes at over 10,000 feet. Bingham’s plan was
to descend from this plateau along the valley of the Urubamba.
This river weaves a circuitous route west, north and finally east
of Cuzco to reach the Amazon, and passes through the quad-
rant of dramatically plunging canyons and broken mountain
ranges known as the Vilcabamba.

Bingham’s previous expedition experience had taught him
the value of obsessively pre-planning everything, from food-
boxes to the ‘folding cot-beds’ they would use to keep them off
wet ground, and he had a talent for such logistics. Luck was also
on his side, as recent developments in scholarship had revealed
much useful information. In London, Sir Clements Markham,
the President of the Royal Geographical Society, had just pub-
lished The Incas of Peru in 1910. This placed far more emphasis
than had previous accounts on the late ‘neo-Inca’ period when
the Incas fled from Cuzco into the Vilcabamba after the Spanish
invasion: Bingham drew heavily on it for the historical sections
of Lost City of the Incas.

On arriving in Peru, Bingham also consulted a Peruvian scholar,

Carlos Romero, who told him of a recently found report left by
one of the last Incas, Titu Cusi, which, together with the chroni-
cles of an Augustinian friar, Antonio de la Calancha, indicated
that there were further ruins to be found in the Vilcabamba,
including the so-called ‘last capital of the Incas’, Vitcos.
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Using his bibliophile connections as Curator now of both the

Harvard and Yale South American Collections, Bingham had

tracked down the account of an earlier traveller, the Comte de

Sartiges, an energetic young French diplomat who had been the

first to leave a written account of Choquequirao in 1834:

‘Voyage dans les Republiques de l’Amerique du Sud’. Sartiges’

record of his travels right across the Vilcabamba is a powerful

and humane one which uses Humboldt as its model, and he

deserves to be far more widely read than he is today. His influ-

ence on Bingham has been underestimated, as his example

would have shown the new ‘explorer’ a multitude of possible

routes across the region — and also suggested that exciting litera-

ture could be made of such exploration. Sartiges’ description of

the Vilcabamba was precisely of the sort to whet Bingham’s

appetite:

Whoever wants to admire American nature in all its con-

trasts and magnificence should take this route ... a traveller

could believe himself in the north pole one moment, then

find himself in a tropical zone of coffee, banana and sugar-

cane plantations the next.

When Bingham and his team set off down the Urubamba in

1911, they had an advantage over travellers such as Sartiges

who had preceded them: a mule trail had recently been blasted

down the valley canyon, to enable rubber to be brought up more

easily from the jungle.

Almost all previous travellers had left the river at Ollantay-

tambo and taken a high pass across the mountains by Mt
Veronica to rejoin the river lower down, thereby cutting a sub-

stantial corner but also therefore never visiting the area around

Picchu (or Pijchu as it was sometimes spelt — almost all Quechua

terms have variants). This was as much for convenience as for

the difficulties of negotiating the river descent before the mule

trail was made, which Bingham exaggerates: Pachacuti, the

renowned warrior Inca of the fifteenth century, had led whole

armies down the Urubamba without problem.
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The Picchu valley was still little visited in Bingham’s time,

particularly as the effects of recession caused by Peru’s disas-

trous War of the Pacific with Chile were still being felt and local

activities such as mining had fallen away. Bingham seems to have
been blissfully unaware of this and thought that the valley he
had stumbled on was a timeless version of pastoral, rather than
a mining community forced into farming by bad times
(although this also suited his telling of the subsequent events).

There is a disarming moment when Bingham turns to the

reader, in his best bar-story manner, to begin his tale of explo-
ration: ‘People often say to me: “How did you happen to dis-

cover Machu Picchu?” The answer is, I was looking for the last

Inca capital.’ Bingham already knew that the ‘last Inca capital’,

Vitcos, lay well beyond the Picchu valley. So when his small
expedition passed through the valley, only a few days out from
Cuzco, they were still at idling speed, playing themselves in.

A recent memoir, Portrait of an Explorer, by one of
Bingham’s seven sons, Alfred, includes some revealing journal
entries that Bingham made at the time. According to these, 24
July began quietly, with Bingham trying to arrange sufficient

mules for the next stage of the journey - a constant headache on
such expeditions. Of his six companions, four were elsewhere in

the valley; the two with Bingham, Harry Foote and William
Erving, showed no interest in accompanying him up the nearby
hill to see some ruins that a local farmer, Melchor Arteaga, had
told them about the night before. A drizzle of dawn rain had
doubtless dampened their enthusiasm.

Bingham also seems to have been less than ardent in his

mission. He left camp only after ten o’clock, so committing
himself to a midday climb of several thousand feet as the sun
burnt off the cloud. Nor did he bother to take any lunch, a deci-

sion he later regretted. In Lost City of the Incas, he vividly

relates that he made the ascent without having the least expecta-
tion that he would find anything at the top.

But in his re-telling of the story, Bingham is being disingenu-
ous when he claims that he had heard of the ruins there for the
first time only the previous night, from Melchor Arteaga.
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Journal entries make clear that ten days before, on 14 July, when
dining upriver, he had been told by a ‘drunk’ sub-prefect that

some leagues down the Urubamba was the mountain of

‘Huainapichu’, where there were ‘better ruins to be found than

at Choquequirao’.

Even more precise information had been given to him by

Albert Giesecke, the rector of Cuzco University, who had told

him of a journey he had just made down the Urubamba in the

wet season, when he had likewise met Melchor Arteaga, who
had offered to take Giesecke up to see the same ruins in the dry

season if he ever returned, as the climb was too difficult in the

wet.

The French traveller Charles Wiener had even published a ref-

erence to ruins he had heard of at ‘Huaina Picchu and Matcho
Picchu’ in his book of 1875, although he had not visited them

because they lay off his route. In Lost City of the Incas,

Bingham says he only learned of this after finding the ruins,

although it is uncharacteristic of him to have ignored such a

useful source of local information, given his thorough prepara-

tion for the expedition. The scholars he consulted, such as

Carlos Romero, would certainly have known of the reference.

The fact that Bingham had heard more rumours of potential

ruins at Machu Picchu than he cares to reveal in the book does

not detract from his achievement in actually finding them. All

explorers operate in a continual mist of rumour and half-truth,

and cutting through to the reality takes commitment. Persever-

ance in the face of uncertainty was one of Bingham’s most suc-

cessful traits.

He deserved to find what awaited him at the top. Yet in

reading Bingham’s description of his sense of wonder at what

he found at Machu Picchu, it is important to remember that

Lost City of the Incas is a work of hindsight, written almost

forty years after the events it describes, when Bingham was an

old man.

His journal entries of the time reveal a much more gradual

appreciation of his achievement. He spent the afternoon at the

ruins jotting down the details and dimensions of some of the
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buildings. Then he descended and rejoined his companions, to

whom he seems to have said little about his discovery. His col-

league Harry Foote did not even mention it in his journal: he
just noted ‘an interesting time’ collecting butterflies near the

river. The very next day they all continued down the valley as if

nothing had happened - an extraordinary thing to do, when you
have just discovered an unknown Inca city. But at this stage,

Bingham did not realize the extent of the site, nor had he real-

ized what use he could make of the discovery. The fact that he
had not expected to find anything had left him unprepared.

Bingham was more excited by some bones which he had
found earlier in a glacial deposit near Cuzco. He hoped they

might prove to be those of an early man of ground-breaking
antiquity and had arranged for photos of the bones to be sent

back to the States. This was the discovery that he thought might
make him famous, although in the event the bones proved to be
relatively recent. He had also focused on his search for Vitcos,

the ‘last Inca capital’, which he knew must lie ahead. There was
no mention of any Inca ruin in the vicinity of Machu Picchu in

any of the early Chronicles, and it seems as if the Spanish were
completely unaware of it, so Bingham had no frame of reference

in which to place his discovery. To quote the old explorers’ adage,

‘You only ever find what you are looking for.’

Thus he did not make much of it to his companions or even
revisit it, despite having spent just a few hours there, consider-

ably less than the average modern tourist. He arranged for other

members of the expedition to do more site clearance in the

weeks that followed, while he himself only returned a full year

later, on another expedition.

Bingham may also have realized he was not the first to visit

the ruins. As he wrote in his journal, he had seen the name
‘Agustin Lizarraga’ scrawled in charcoal on one of the walls,

with a date, 190Z. When he descended from Machu Picchu, he
asked Melchor Arteaga about this and noted: ‘Agustin Lizar-

raga is discoverer of Machu Picchu and lives at San Miguel
bridge.’ This bridge lay just downstream from the expedition’s

camp. Passing by there the next day, Bingham met Lizarraga’s
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brother, Angel, who gave him further information. It must have

been apparent that the existence of the ruins was generally

known in the valley, even if no one realized their interest or

importance. Some of the central plaza was being cultivated by

local farmers.

However, as Bingham slowly began to realize, no one had

publicized Machu Picchu. The archaeological authorities in

Cuzco, let alone in Lima or the States, were ignorant of it. So

while he was not the first person to have been to the ruins, he

was the first to realize their importance and make them known
to the world. To use the helpful euphemism devised by later

Machu Picchu authorities, he was their ‘scientific discoverer’.

By the time he was next able to write to his wife Alfreda, he

told her: ‘my new Inca city, Machu Picchu ... is far more won-

derful and interesting than Choquequirao. The stone is as fine

as any in Cuzco! It is unknown and will make a fine story.’

The process of turning it into the ‘fine story’ that Lost City of

the Incas became took many years. In 1913 Bingham wrote an

initial account for the National Geographic magazine covering

both the ground-breaking expedition of 19 11 and also that of

1912, when he returned to clear and excavate Machu Picchu. At

the time he was still a lecturer at Yale and so it is a relatively aca-

demic and precise account. Then in 1922 he produced a pop-

ulist travel-book version, Inca Land, and in 1930 a specialist

account of the excavations at the site, Machu Picchu, a Citadel

of the Incas. Finally, in 1948, he revised these works to produce

Lost City of the Incas.

So by the time he wrote of the ‘Discovery’ (as he came to cap-

italize it) in this book, he had told the tale many times before

and knew precisely how to present it to maximum effect. The

original terse phrases he had jotted down in his notebook -

‘Houses, streets, stairs. Finely cut stone.’ - were now expanded

into a theatrical sequence of architectural wonder, in which

each new building was applauded at its entrance.

In the early National Geographic account, he had kept to a

more prosaic description:
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Presently we found ourselves in the midst of a tropical for-

est, beneath the shade of whose trees we could make out a

maze of ancient walls, the ruins of buildings made of blocks

of granite, some of which were beautifully fitted together in

the most refined style of Inca architecture. A few rods far-

ther along we came to a little open space, on which were two
splendid temples or palaces. The superior character of the

stone work, the presence of these splendid edifices, and of

what appeared to be an unusually large number of finely

constructed stone dwellings, led me to believe that Machu
Picchu might prove to be the largest and most important

ruin discovered in South America since the days of the

Spanish conquest.

Even in this, one can already see how Bingham was beginning to

apply hindsight to his own perceptions at the time: the shift to

what was really a discovery in retrospect was already starting.

Did he really believe when he found it that this was ‘the largest

and most important ruin discovered in South America’?

In Lost City of the Incas, this early paragraph becomes a

whole chapter in itself, and his account of the discovery of the

ruins is full of elaborate sleight of hand and literary devices: the

bridge that they manage to cross even though it was swept away
a few days later; the snake they never see but which would have

sprung at them if they had; his companions who decide not to

accompany him and the guide who has to be persuaded that it

will be worth his while; the trailed suggestion that, in a country
where ‘one can never tell whether a report is worthy of cre-

dence’, he may well be the victim of a loose rumour. One mas-
terful moment occurs when Bingham is offered ‘cool, delicious

water’ at a hut, and contemplates abandoning what may be a

pointless quest for the delights of the view and a siesta (lesser

men, he quietly implies, would have done just that). But he
presses on to the discovery itself.

And here he makes the most of the contrast between the local

guide, who cannot appreciate the glories he is revealing, and
Bingham himself, who immediately does. It has the effect of
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making Bingham seem to be the only person present as these

architectural glories are unveiled to him, a private audience for

both explorer and reader, and he tells the story in a masterful

and compelling way, given the static nature of his subject. The
word ‘suddenly’ is repeated no less than three times over as

many paragraphs. The language is hallucinogenic, spiralling: ‘It

seemed like an unbelievable dream ... it fairly took my breath

away . . . surprise followed surprise in bewildering succession . .

.

the sight held me spellbound ...’

This is his literary re-invention of the discovery - it is what he

thinks it should have been like for him. In the process some
inconvenient facts are suppressed, as his son Alfred has pointed

out in his candid memoir: in reality the ruins had already been

cleared by Indian farmers living there, as Bingham’s own first

photographs reveal, whereas in Lost City of the Incas they are

described as being covered by the overgrowth of a tropical

forest. But Bingham is merely doing what almost all explorers

do. Excavation and archaeological evaluation is a slow process,

and rather than describe paint drying, Bingham has merely

compressed his slow realization of Machu Picchu’s importance,

which took some years, into the heady euphoria of a single

afternoon.

Bingham’s account also needs to be appreciated within a lit-

erary as well as an archaeological context. Conan Doyle pub-

lished The Lost World in the same year that Bingham excavated

at Machu Picchu, and Lost City of the Incas was written with a

clear sense of what the public expected from a work of adven-

ture, right down to the similarity in titles. This, after all, was a

continent where, as Conan Doyle put it, ‘the more you knew of

South America, the more you would understand that anything

was possible — anything.’

There was a well-known canon of adventure novels which

gave Bingham his literary tropes, from Jules Verne’s La Jangada,

an account of the descent of the Amazon, to the works of Rider

Haggard: trusty companions, unreliable natives and clues given

by some ancient chronicle. (The relationship between writers

and explorers was a symbiotic one — Conan Doyle had, in his
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turn, based The Lost World narrative on recent accounts of the

Mato Grosso by the British explorer Colonel Fawcett.)

It is not surprising that Bingham quoted from Kipling’s poem
‘The Explorer’ when talking of the lure of the Vilcabamba -

‘Something hidden! Go and find it!/ Go and look behind the

ranges -/ Something lost behind the ranges -/ Lost and waiting

for you. Go!’ — for that virile Edwardian literary style was pre-

cisely what he aspired to.

In Lost City of the Incas, rivers are always raging, paths
treacherous and mountains precipitous. A good example comes
early on, in the journey to Choquequirao, when Bingham, as so

often, uses the literary construction ‘it seemed as though ...’: ‘it

seemed as though our heavily laden mules must surely lose their

footing and roll down the fifteen hundred feet to the raging

Apurimac river below.’ Anyone who has travelled in this area

knows that human travellers are more likely to lose their footing

than mules, but no matter. Likewise at the bridge below on the

Apurimac: ‘to cross it seemed like certain death.’

Yet along with his occasional hyperbole, Bingham has an eye

for the sublimities of the landscape he is passing through — his

descriptions of the fecundity and drama of the Vilcabamba are

unsurpassed. The engaging candour he has already shown with
the admission that his initial interest in Inca ruins was acciden-

tal continues throughout the book. He is good too on the minu-
tiae of an explorer’s life, which a more academic account might
leave out - the gnats, the rain and the continual uncertainties.

Above all Bingham has an admirably catholic approach to

exploration. In the manner of Humboldt a century earlier, he is

intrigued by a whole range of phenomena, from geology to ety-

mology and the living conditions of the Quechua Indians he

encounters.

No one would ever call him a specialist archaeologist, as he is

happy to reveal in the text - an admission that academic archae-

ologists have patronized him for ever since, even as they exca-

vate the sites he found for them.

Such is the fame of Machu Picchu that it is easy to overlook
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Bingham’s very substantial achievement in making his next dis-

covery. For with some careful detective work, he succeeded in his

original purpose - to find the site of the old Inca capital, Vitcos,

and the nearby temple of Chuquipalta, or ‘Nusta Isppana, the

White Rock’, as Bingham called it.

It may be less impressive architecturally, but Vitcos has a his-

torical resonance that Machu Picchu does not: here Manco
Inca, the great guerrilla leader of the last Incas, ruled and died,

assassinated by treacherous Spanish guests in the plaza.

Bingham’s discovery of it was a model of the conscientious use

of source material, and no one has ever contested his identifica-

tion of the site. The White Rock was a similarly evocative dis-

covery.

Nor did Bingham stop there. He carried on over a high pass

into genuinely wild and untravelled country, descending

towards the Amazon. This was what he enjoyed most - the

chase for ruins. As anyone who has ever followed Bingham’s

footsteps can verify, this called for real tenacity of purpose - no

mountain range seems to have been too high for him, no jungle

too uninviting.

Travelling with just the Yale companion he found most con-

genial, Harry Foote, Bingham discovered more buildings at a

place called Espiritu Pampa, or, as he translates it, ‘the Plain of

Ghosts’. This settlement was covered by such dense rainforest

that Bingham only uncovered a small portion and remained

unaware of its full extent. Indeed, so large is the plaza at

Espiritu Pampa that when Bingham crossed it and found houses

on either side, he assumed that he had found a scattered settle-

ment of isolated buildings with little in between, rather than the

central civic space of a city. This was a natural mistake to make.

Not until 1964 was the full extent of the site at Espiritu Pampa
revealed by a later American explorer, Gene Savoy.

Even from the few buildings that Bingham did find, logic dic-

tated that this must have been the final refuge of the Incas, the

‘city of Vilcabamba’ which the chroniclers mentioned after the

Spanish had driven them from Vitcos. In his journal notes from

the time, Bingham admitted this logic to himself. But he also
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yearned to explain Machu Picchu. Perhaps it could have been
‘the place of last retreat’?

By twisting the kaleidoscope of geographical and historical

references to the ‘city of Vilcabamba’, Bingham was later able to

argue, if tortuously, for such an attribution. It is not one that

any modern scholar would agree with, as John Hemming has

conclusively argued in his book The Conquest of the Incas.

Additional source material discovered since Bingham’s time

confirms the identification of Espiritu Pampa as ‘the old Vil-

cabamba’ of the chronicles, near to which the Spanish captured

the last Inca, Tupac Amaru, and took him back to Cuzco for

execution.

Nor does Bingham’s other theory, that Machu Picchu was the

birthplace of the Incas, have any champions. Yet his description

of the actual buildings of Machu Picchu is thorough and astute,

and he brought real intelligence to bear on problems such as the

Inca use of roofs and doors. His impulse to assign a central role

to Machu Picchu in Inca history was a natural result of his

appreciation of the virtuosity of the architecture, even if the

conclusions he reached were wrong. Compared to some of the

wild theories that were to follow, his speculations seem tame.

So what was the function of Machu Picchu? To discuss that

question at length is beyond the scope of this introduction, but

the short answer currently favoured by many experts, based on
a document discovered in 1983, is that it was probably built by
the greatest of all the Incas, Pachacuti, who began the explosive

expansion of the Empire in the mid-fifteenth century. A further

supposition is that he may have used it as a magnificent country
estate, when he wanted to retreat from Cuzco to warmer quar-

ters. His descendants built other similar estates for their own
use, of which Choquequirao may also be one, and thus Machu
Picchu was abandoned after Pachacuti’s death.

Bingham’s own attributions of Machu Picchu’s function were
to come much later, as he tried to digest what he had discovered.

In 19 1 1, on the return from Espiritu Pampa, he did not even

bother to revisit the actual site when he passed by, despite having

a day in hand. He left the clearing and mapping of it to the two
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least experienced members of his team and pressed on to try to

climb Mt Coropuna, which he duly did. When he took altitude

readings on the top, he discovered to his natural disappointment

that it was not the highest mountain in the Americas - Mt
Aconcagua beat it, as do others - but it still remains a very

impressive climb of a 20,800-feet peak, over an untried route.

Only when it came to writing up his experiences back home
did he start to tease out the problem and the potential of Machu
Picchu. His initial expedition reports talked more of the bones

‘of early man’ that they had found than of the Inca sites, but this

quickly changed when he realized, to his embarrassment, that

the bones were not necessarily as old as had been imagined.

Then he wrote an account of his ascent of Mt Coropuna, but

this likewise failed to ignite the reading public.

Meanwhile Sir Clements Markham was the first to publish a

report on Bingham’s archaeological discoveries in Vilcabamba,

‘a region of peculiar interest’, in the journal of the Royal Geo-

graphical Society of December 1911. He makes the briefest of

references to a site Bingham had called ‘Macchu-Pichu, where

there was a group of Inca edifices, built with large stones beauti-

fully worked. One of the walls contained three windows of

unusual size.’ Markham went on to note, in the tones of a con-

cerned school-master, ‘this is the pith of the present instalment

of information received from Mr Bingham. I trust that it is the

forerunner of a fuller topographical description . . .

’

Bingham decided to give far more than just a ‘fuller topo-

graphical description’. After a further season’s excavation at

Machu Picchu in 1912 had confirmed its importance, he

launched a publicity offensive. He persuaded National Geo-

graphic both to sponsor his expeditions and to take the unusual

step of devoting the entire April 1913 issue of their magazine to

his discoveries, with the title ‘In the Wonderland of Peru’. Under

the breathless heading ‘The Ruins of an Ancient Inca capital,

Machu Picchu’, the magazine proclaimed:

This wonderful city, which was built by the Incas probably

2,000 years ago, was discovered by Professor Hiram
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Bingham, of Yale University, and uncovered and excavated

under his direction in 1912, under the auspices of the

National Geographic and Yale University, and may prove to

be the most important group of ruins discovered in South
America since the conquest of Peru. The city is situated on
a narrow, precipitous ridge, two thousand feet above the

river and seven thousand feet above the sea ... It contains

about two hundred edifices built of white granite, including

palaces, temples, shrines, baths, fountains and many stair-

ways.

Allowing for a little looseness with dates (Machu Picchu was
built approximately 550 years ago, not 2,000), this was the

Hollywood image that grabbed the public’s imagination. A
dramatic triple fold-out poster was issued with the magazine,
showing the city from the viewpoint that was to become so

familiar, sprawled across a mountain ridge with Huayna Picchu
ascending behind. Machu Picchu had begun its role as the pin-

up of twentieth-century archaeology.

Bingham had achieved his fame. In a country which had previ-

ously been too busy discovering itself to pay much attention to

the rest of the world, Bingham’s find made him both a pioneer
and an instant celebrity at the same time. In the very year that

Scott and Amundsen were racing for the South Pole, Americans
were delighted to have a sensational discovery and an explorer

hero of their own. The Hollywood persona of the adventurous
archaeologist in search of lost tombs stems largely from him.
The discovery of Machu Picchu also propelled Bingham up

the academic hierarchy. The National Geographic article in

1913 had anticipated this by prematurely describing him as

‘Professor Hiram Bingham’: two years later came the actual

appointment by Yale, for which he was impressively young at

just under forty.

Bingham fully justified his new fame and position with his

work. He threw his intellectual energies into the Incas, using all his

bibliographical skills to produce both popular and specialist
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books on the significance of Machu Picchu and the other sites he

I

had found. The Yale summer vacation coincided neatly with the

dry season in Peru, and he took advantage of this to return in July

of 1914 and 1 9 1 5 for further exploration. His initial success with

Machu Picchu meant that these later expeditions were much larger

and part-funded by National Geographic, who continued to pub-

licize his discoveries.

Even with fame, he was still restless. By the end of his final

expedition, he had penetrated almost every cranny of the Vil-

cabamba and needed new challenges. He signed up with

Colonel Pershing’s Expeditionary Force for the abortive attempt

to chase Pancho Villa down into Mexico, after the Mexican rev-

olutionary had ‘invaded’ Texas. Then, when America entered

the First World War, he joined the fledgling Air Service although

well past enlisting age. He took to it immediately and wrote

back home:

Flying in between the high clouds and fleecy clouds below was

a wonderful experience. 1 could see the great white sea of

clouds below me for miles and miles. Occasionally the sun

broke through the upper layer and made the upper surface of

the lower layer look like snow fields and peaks in the Andes.

On his return from France, he entered politics and enjoyed a

meteoric rise in the Republican Party, with appointments tum-

bling over themselves so fast that at one point he held three

ascending posts in as many days. Just as with John Glenn many
years later, the aura of an explorer was a powerful one. Bingham
was helped also by the fact that he stood a head taller than all

his colleagues in photographs.

By 192.5 he was a Senator, although his career was to be a rocky

one. He received a full censure from his colleagues, an unusual dis-

grace, although his offence (employing a lobbyist) seems to have

been more a casual disregard for procedures than anything more

venal. The New Deal swept him aside, and other troubles beset

him after he lost his senatorial seat: he separated from his wife

amidst complicated financial arguments and a suspicion that he

_
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had behaved less than honourably in administrating her fortune.

But in 1948 came a diversion. He had always kept his princi-

pal occupation as ‘explorer’ in Who’s Who in America
, despite

the appointments to Yale, the air force and the Senate. His
account of his wartime experiences was titled An Explorer in

the Air Service. Now he decided to return to his first love for a

last book. The result, Lost City of the Incas, is Bingham’s final

distillation of the full meaning of what he had found in that

heart-stopping month in 1911, when he was a young man.
The book is divided into three sections: Part 1 gives a histori-

cal survey of the Incas; Part 2 tells the story of his initial journey
to Choquequirao in 1909 and the Yale Peruvian expedition of

1911, although he reserves an account of the discovery of
Machu Picchu for Part 3, which also analyses the results of the

further excavations.

Modern scholars might question his description of Inca rule

as ‘benevolent despotism’, and archaeologists deplore his

rough-edged approach to excavation (his workers used crow-
bars), but there can be no doubt of the energetic sense of
inquiry that the book reveals, and its acute breadth of reference.

Bingham is always capable of surprising observations - like the

sudden remark that the ‘ruins [of Choquequirao] today present
a more striking appearance than they did when they were
covered with thatched roofs’. And he did not accept descrip-

tions blindly from those who had gone before him: his careful

placing of the ‘fortress’ at Ollantaytambo in quotation marks
and his statement that ‘it is likely that this “fortress” became a

royal garden’, are remarkably close to the views of modern
scholars: he was the first to state them.

Even though he may have been wrong in his attribution of
Machu Picchu, his achievement was still immense. Almost a

century after his discoveries in the Vilcabamba, many explorers

and archaeologists are still just adding footnotes and elucida-

tions to his pioneering work.

I like to imagine him writing this book at the end of his days
when, like his fictional contemporary Charles Foster (Citizen)

Kane, he could at last set aside the frustrated years of political
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office, with all their controversy and failure, and look back

again with compressed perspective to a moment of recreated

triumph, the moment in which he first came over the crest of a

rise to see a whole city laid out before him.

It is this added quality of emotion recollected many years

later that helps make Lost City of the Incas such a powerful

account of what was a remarkable achievement.





BINGHAM’S PHOTOGRAPHS
OF MACHU PICCHU

‘Would anyone believe what I had found? Fortunately, in this

land where accuracy of reporting what one had seen is not a

prevailing characteristic of travellers, I had a good camera

and the sun was shining.’

Hiram Bingham, Lost City of the Incas

When Hiram Bingham climbed up from the Urubamba valley

on July 24th, 1911, and found the ruins of Machu Picchu await-

ing him, he had a Kodak 3A Special camera.

Confronted by a set of previously unreported Inca buildings,

which he immediately recognised as being of the finest possible

construction, the American explorer’s first action was not to

describe them in his pocket notebook or to do a detailed plan, as

might have been expected. That came later. The first entry in his

notebook shows that he immediately set about taking a series of

photographs.

The camera’s long love affair with Machu Picchu had begun.

As was his habit, Bingham carefully listed his shots, naming
each feature as he photographed it: the ‘Royal Mausoleum’, the

‘Sacred Plaza’ the ‘Intihuatana’ (‘hitching post of the sun’) - the

names they still have today. But his thirty-one initial pictures are

hesitant and exploratory. It is as if the new city did not fall easily

into the frame. Contrary also to his later recollections, the sun

was not shining and the light was bad (one reason his other
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companions from the expedition had refused to accompany him
was because it had been raining that morning). Scrubby brush
covered the rums and he had only a single Indian assistant to

help him clear the sections of stonework he tried to photograph.
Worse still, from the point of view of his later positioning of

the site as the ‘lost city of the Incas’, some of the buildings had
been re-occupied by farmers, who had roughly thatched the

roofs and were growing crops on the terraces. In one photo-
graph, maize can be seen growing in the area between the Inti-

huatana and the Sacred Plaza. In another, a woman sits spinning

in a doorway with her small child beside her, a placid domestic
scene that could be observed in any Andean village.

Other photographs were to be of more use to him: he took
pictures of the Temple of the Three Windows and of the great

rounded bastion of the Torreon, with a tree growing out of its

centre; he also took a panorama made up of two photographs of

the valley dropping away dramatically into clouds beyond the

West Group, clearly showing that this was ‘in the most inaccess-

ible corner of the most inaccessible section of the Central Andes’.

Although the clouds and shafts of light make this an arresting

image, Bingham would not normally have taken pictures in mixed
lighting and was only forced to do so because of his imminent
descent. His ideal was a flat, neutral light by which archaeo-

logical remains could be recorded under scientific conditions.

As we have seen, Bingham was initially unsure how to inter-

pret his find and the next day, July 25th, proceeded on down the

Urubamba valley with his colleagues towards their original

destination. Only at the end of that same expedition season, in

September, did he despatch two of his junior assistants,

Herman Tucker and Paul Lanius, back to the site for further

investigation and photography.

Paul Lanius arrived first at Machu Picchu, on September 8th,

and spent some days clearing the buildings before Herman
Tucker’s arrival with the camera a week later. Both of them
ascended from the downriver or Western approach, a vertigin-

ous route that few would choose to take today. Lanius described

it as ‘one of the steepest slopes I have ever climbed’.
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Herman Tucker was a more exuberant and occasionally friv-

olous photographer than Bingham. Tucker took pictures of

what amused him - a dog lying on his Indian hosts’ floor at San

Miguel, or an accompanying Peruvian helper posing on the top

of the Temple of the Three Windows. Bingham was later to

issue a stern warning to members of future expeditions: ‘Snap

shots are not desired.’

From the progression of photos that Tucker took on September

15th, it is clear that he too initially struggled to make photo-

graphic sense of Machu Picchu. His first picture was a high

wide-angle shot from above, which shows that apart from a

small area cleared by the farmers, most of the site was still

covered in vegetation. Then he entered the ruins and spent the

morning taking a series of photographs that tried, unsuccess-

fully, to distinguish stonework from the scraggy brush all around.

After resting for a well-deserved lunch, he took a final photo-

graph at 3.30p.m. of the one open vista that presented itself: a

set of terraces that the local farmers had recently cleared for

cultivation by burning them, in the traditional Andean manner.

Anyone who has ever tried to photograph a newly discovered

site will sympathise with Bingham and Tuckers’ initial inability

to engage with their subject. Andean cloud-forest does not have

the denseness of the Amazonian rainforest below, a denseness

that can lead to striking effects of ruins emerging from the

jungle, as in Catherwood’s famous illustrations of Maya ruins.

Instead the cloud-forest creates a diffusing screen of tangled

brush, lichen and creepers, a layer of detritus which can be hard to

penetrate photographically and makes for a debilitating working

environment. The defining outlines of buildings are dominated

by the more striking verticals of the trees that grow out of them,

moss obscures the fine cracks dividing the ashlars, while the

stairways that might provide an architectural grid are covered.

For these first photographers in 1911 , an additional problem

was caused by working in monochrome. The granite stonework

of Machu Picchu was so tonally close to that of the light green

vegetation around it that little separation was possible. To over-

come this problem, Bingham requested suitable camera filters
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for future expeditions and also issued his team-members with a

‘Fernand L. Grolsch Ready Reference Color Chart’ so that they
could record the colour of ruins for later hand-tinting.

Tucker and Lanius stayed several days at the site and began to

make more progress. They cleared enough to be able to take a shot
in which the striking curved wall of the Torreon is now visible

and a small boy standing on it gives a sense of its magnificent
scale. The image approximates far more to Hiram Bingham’s
own rhapsodical description of when he was first shown this

building by the small boy who was his guide: ‘Suddenly, without
any warning, under a huge overhanging ledge, the boy showed
me a cave beautifully lined with the finest cut stone. It had
evidently been a royal mausoleum. On top of this particular

ledge was a semicircular building whose outer wall, gently
sloping and slightly curved, bore a striking resemblance to the
famous Temple of the Sun in Cuzco.’

This was one of the pictures Bingham successfully used after

his return to the United States, when he was invited to give a

lecture about his expedition at the National Geographic Society
in February 1912. Gilbert B. Grosvenor, the charismatic head of
the National Geographic, suggested to Bingham that he should
have certain key images hand-coloured as lantern slides to make
them more appealing.

Indeed at this stage Grosvenor seems to have been more aware
of the photographic value of Machu Picchu and its potential

exploitation than Bingham, who had yet to fully comprehend
the magnitude of what he had discovered. Grosvenor offered to
fund Bingham for a far larger return expedition in the summer
of 1912, on the condition that Yale matched the National Geo-
graphic contribution of $10,000. Bingham was to write a 7,000
word article on Machu Picchu for the magazine, to be illus-

trated with a substantial number of photographs.
In April 1912.) National Geographic magazine ran an

announcement to this effect, together with the first two published
photographs of the ruins. Neither picture was particularly pre-

possessing - in one Sergeant Carrasco is standing by the Temple
of the Three Windows, in the other by the Principal Temple.
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Bingham had included Carrasco more to give a human scale to

the buildings than to commemorate his presence, and the police

sergeant’s lugubrious expression does nothing for the composi-

tion. Clearly the next set of photographs would have to be con-

siderably better if they were to grab the public’s attention, and

be less haphazard in their execution - at one point in 1911,

Bingham had managed to lose his main camera.

So, that same month, Bingham wrote to George Eastman of

Eastman Kodak, requesting ‘at least 3 Kodaks as good as the 3A

Special’ he had used on the previous expedition. Ele also asked

for a Panoram Kodak, strong leather cases for all the cameras,

3,500 negatives, ten folding wooden tripods and five developing

units for use in the field. An inveterate opportunist, Bingham

asked Eastman Kodak to donate the above equipment for free,

on the basis that it could prove an invaluable test of how well it

would stand up to tropical conditions. George Eastman agreed.

This was to be a South American expedition fuelled by the

need for more photographic material, just as previous centuries

had seen explorers driven by quests for El Dorado, mineral

concessions or colonial occupation.

Bingham approached the task with his customary efficiency.

He was a natural quartermaster. Each member of the cumber-

somely named ‘Yale Peruvian Expedition of 1912., under the

auspices of Yale University and the National Geographic Society’

was issued with a Welcome Photographic Exposure Record in

which they had to fill in the date, exact time of day, aperture,

shutter speed and a column for ‘notes on lighting’. As Bingham

later wrote, ‘a minute and careful record of all photographs

taken is to be kept in the photographic record-book supplied to

each member . . . extreme pains should be taken to record the

exact time of day and date’. Members of the expedition were

also issued with their own personal set of negative numbers to use

(000-500, 501-1,000 etc) so that there could be no duplication.

Bingham took the main burden of the photographic work

upon himself. It became almost his chief occupation during the

long season the expedition spent at Machu Picchu in 1912.

Truth to tell, as he had no professional qualifications as an
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archaeologist, he needed a role to supplement that of just being

‘Director’ of the expedition. It was a task he set about with con-

siderable enthusiasm. With uncharacteristic modesty, Bingham
had already written to George Eastman asking for advice on
how to take better photographs, and his many subsequent shots

of Machu Picchu
(
plate section z) show an increasing mastery

of the medium. It is from these later photographs that he chose

to illustrate Lost City of the Incas.

On looking through the complete set of contact prints held in

the archives of the Peabody Museum at Yale, the overwhelming

impression is of how thorough Bingham was. As his workmen
stripped the ruins bare, he photographed almost every corner of

Machu Picchu, using a reference map to give the coordinates

of each shot taken. He evidently relished his new found ability

to make photographic sense of what lay before him, as his

contrasting pictures of the site before and after clearance show
(plate section z, pages i and 4).

However, the photographs are not just a conscientious docu-

mentation of what he saw but part of a developing argument. It

was during this 1912 season, when he spent five months based

at Machu Picchu, that he began to elaborate his theories about

the site and his choice of subject matter often reflects this.

It is striking how many shots he took of the Temple of the

Three Windows (plate section z, pages 2-3), which held for

Bingham a totemic importance: he saw it as proof that Machu
Picchu was the semi-mythical originating city of the Incas

which was always supposed to have just such a building. He had
photographed this on his first visit, in 191 1, but without paying

it much importance and only including one window in the shot.

Now in his superb panoramic shot of the Sacred Plaza, it draws

the eye as the centre of the composition, and Bingham also shot

the reverse angle, where it dominates the skyline. The first

three pictures of Machu Picchu in the subsequent National

Geographic article are all of the Temple, with captions advancing

his interpretation of it.

In order to illustrate another hypothesis, that some stones set

in the floor would have been used for grinding corn, he asked
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his Indian workers to pose doing just that, for ethnographic

validity (plate section z, page 7). As with his ‘origin of the Incas’

idea, Bingham’s interpretation has since been disputed: the

depressions are far wider than historical or current Andean

mortar stones would suggest.

The one camera Bingham had told Eastman he didn’t want to

take was the Speed Kodak as (one can almost hear his dry Yale

academic voice) ‘we do not have to take pictures of the fastest

moving objects’.

Instead, he requested a No. 4 Panoram Kodak, a dauntingly

advanced piece of equipment which demanded considerable

technical and compositional skill, much as an IMAX camera

does today. The No. 4 achieved its panoramic wide angle of

view by having a lens on a vertical pivot which swung right

across the film during exposure. The resulting 12 by 3 1/2 inch

negatives allowed for superbly detailed prints to be made, but

only four such exposures could be taken from each Bulls-Eye film

cartridge.

It was with the Panoram that Bingham took some of his most

remarkable pictures: as well as the Sacred Plaza, he used it to

illustrate Machu Picchu’s remoteness (‘it is essentially a city of

refuge’) with wide compositions showing the canyons dropping

off below (
plate section 2, pages 2-3). As with all extreme wide-

angled lenses, the camera needed careful placing, but the results

could unlock some of the more serpentine of Machu Picchu’s

architectural vistas, such as the Princess Group or around the

Torreon. He used it elsewhere in the field too, taking well-

composed pictures of Sacsahuaman, Nusta Isppana and even

the snowy passes between Arma and Choquetira, where

operation must have been exceptionally difficult.

On his return from Peru at the end of 1912, Hiram Bingham

wrote to Eastman Kodak asking for prints from 2,000 nega-

tives. No less than two hundred and fifty of these were used in

the specially expanded edition of National Geographic maga-

zine on Machu Picchu which appeared in April 1913. The triple

fold-out poster (plate section 1, pages 2-3) was also included at

the considerable extra production cost of $2,000, as Grosvenor
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complained to Bingham.

However, overall Grosvenor was delighted by the photo-
graphic wealth with which Bingham had returned, adding a

special ‘Editor’s Note’ at the head of the article: ‘As we study the

250 marvellous pictures which are printed with this report, we
are thrilled by the wonders and mysteries of Machu Picchu.’

He also wrote to tell Bingham ‘you have brought back full value

for the subscription we made to your last expedition . . .

Your photos of Machu Picchu are wonderful’.

Over 500,000 tourists now visit Machu Picchu every year.

They have become its population and the way they inhabit the

site may be less different to the Incas than might be imagined.

The tourists come mainly in the dry season from April to

November, just as the royal court probably did when they

retreated from the winter rigours of Cuzco. And they come for

pleasure, as it seems the Incas did as well, given the widely-held

interpretation of Machu Picchu as a moya, a country estate

where the elite could indulge themselves with appropriately

monumental architecture and spectacular views, views which
modern tourists never tire of trying to capture.

Indeed a form of fotophilia often seems to grip today’s visitor,

just as it affected Bingham. Tour groups usually begin their

photographic engagement with Machu Picchu at the Watch-
man’s Hut above the city, planting tripods on the marks left

by those before them. From here they can take the classic

‘pack-shot’ picture of the city with Huayna Picchu behind it,

and this has a certain appropriateness - the same view would
have presented itself to the Incas when they arrived from Cuzco
along what is now known as ‘the Inca Trail’. But after that each

photographer is on his or her own, and can roam freely through
the intricate and playful buildings, seduced by Machu Picchu’s

infinite variety into shooting endless images.

Why is it that Machu Picchu holds the camera’s gaze so well?

Perhaps it is partly the nature of classical Inca architecture

which makes photographing the site so endlessly beguiling. Two
of the guiding organisational principles of Inca design are the

open window and the blind niche. One reveals the view, the
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other constantly encloses and hides it, and it is the constant play

between these two impulses that continually draws the camera

on. For every niche, every immaculate dead end, every sculpture

like that at the heart of the Torreon with its mysterious and

shell-like containment, there is a corresponding and heart-

stopping opening - the sudden views granted by the Temple of

the Three Windows to the Urubamba below, or the great

expanse of the Central Plaza. Now you see it, now you don’t.

This curious sense the photographer can have of catching the

fleeting moment at Machu Picchu, despite the very stationary

nature of the subject (Bingham: ‘we do not have to take pictures

of the fastest moving objects’), is compounded by the con-

stantly changing light. No two shots of the city will ever be

the same. Positioned to face north and therefore track the sub-

equatorial sun, its aspect continually changes as the sun moves

across its face. This is accentuated by the broken cloud forma-

tions that so often hang over the cloud-forest, causing slashes of

illumination to pick out unexpected features.

The final explanation for Machu Picchu’s long and continu-

ing affinity for the camera is the simplest of all — its spectacular

positioning.

Most first-time visitors to the site are already aware that

Machu Picchu lies on top of a mountain ridge and dominates

the valley below. Few necessarily appreciate that the city is itself

ringed by a set of yet higher mountains. Presented by that first

‘pack-shot’ view from the Watchman’s tower, while surrounded

by the Urubamba and Vilcabamba ranges, the overwhelming

effect is of looking down from the top of a roller coaster and yet

simultaneously being at the bottom of a vast amphitheatre, a

visually kinetic knock-out punch. No wonder that even the

most stolid of visitors should go weak at the knees and reach for

the widest of wide-angle lenses, just as Hiram Bingham did.

So Eastman Kodak’s sponsoring of Bingham’s 1912 exped-

ition has proved a worthwhile long-term investment. A century

later, it is estimated that millions of rolls of film have been shot

at Machu Picchu: the silver recovered from the processing alone

must be worth an Inca’s ransom.

Hugh Thomson 2011



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Richard Burger, David Drew, Susan
Emanuel, John Hemming, Vincent Lee, Roderick Simpson and
the staff of the Royal Geographical Society for their invaluable
help in the preparation of this new edition of Lost City of the
Incas.

The opening maps, drawn by John Gilkes, incorporate ele-

ments from previous maps of Gasparini & Margolies, John
Hemming, Michael Moseley, Peter Frost, Gary Ziegler and
many others, to all of whom grateful acknowledgement is

made.

The final map, showing Bingham’s various routes across the
Vilcabamba, compiles his own many diagrams and maps from
the early National Geographic reports and his subsequent pub-
lications. As always, the spellings of Inca place names have
many small variants. I have tried to follow Bingham’s spellings,

although he was not always consistent: he interchanges the
terms Vilcabamba and Vilcapampa, for instance. The reader
should also note that the site Bingham described as

Cedrobamba is now more generally known as Sayac Marka.

Hugh Thomson 2001



LOST CITY
OF THE INCAS

HIRAM BINGHAM





PREFACE

few people realize how much they owe to the ancient Peru-

vians. Very few appreciate that they gave us the white potato,

many varieties of Indian corn, and such useful drugs as quinine

and cocaine. Their civilization, which took thousands of years

to develop, was marked by inventive genius, artistic ability, and a

knowledge of agriculture which has never been surpassed. In the

making of beautiful pottery and the weaving of fine textiles they

equalled the best that Egypt or Greece could offer. Although the

Incas governed their millions of subjects with firmness and

justice under a benevolent despotism that allowed no one to be

hungry or cold, they had no written language, not even hiero-

glyphics. Accordingly our knowledge of them has had to

depend on what we can see of what they left, aided by the chron-

iclers of the sixteenth century, contemporaries of Pizarro and

the conquistadors, most ofwhom looked upon their history and

politics through European eyes. Even the Inca Garcilasso de la

Vega had been in Spain forty years when he wrote his famous

account of his ancestors.

Some four hundred years ago, the last of the Incas were living

in one of the most inaccessible parts of the Andes, the region

lying between the Apurimac River and the Urubamba, two

important affluents of the Amazon. Here they were shut off

from that part of Peru which was under the sway of Pizarro and

the conquistadors by mighty precipices, passes three miles high,

granite canyons more than a mile in depth, glaciers and tropical

jungles, as well as by dangerous rapids. For thirty-five years they

enjoyed virtual independence, as their ancestors had done for
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centuries. They had two capitals: Vitcos, a hastily constructed

military headquarters where they occasionally received

refugees, Spanish emissaries, and Augustinian missionaries, and
Vilcapampa, their principal residence, a magnificently built

sanctuary to which no Spaniards ever penetrated.

With the death of the last Inca in 1571, Vitcos was aban-

doned. It was a fortress on top of a mountain and inconvenient

as a dwelling-place. Its name was forgotten and its location

obscure until we found it. The royal city of Vilcapampa was
completely lost. It was a sacred shrine hidden on top of great

precipices in a stupendous canyon where the secret of its exis-

tence was safely buried for three centuries under the shadow of

Machu Picchu mountain. Its ruins have taken the name of the

mountain because when we found them no one knew what else

to call them.

This marvellous Inca sanctuary, which was lost for three

hundred years, has at last become a veritable Mecca for ambi-
tious tourists. Everyone who goes to South America wants to see

it. It used to be two or three hard days’ journey from Cuzco, on
mule-back and on foot, but now it can be reached by train and
car in one day. A fair motor road has been built there. Further-

more, Cuzco, which used to be a week away from Lima, can now
be reached by aeroplane in a few hours! Pilgrims come from
Buenos Aires and Santiago as well as from New York and Wash-
ington. They all agree with the late Frank Chapman of beloved

memory that ‘in the sublimity of its surroundings, the marvel of

its site, the character and the mystery of its construction, the

Western Hemisphere holds nothing comparable’.

After I found it in 1911, Yale University and the National

Geographic Society made it possible for me to explore the

region in 1912 and 1915 and to publish the results of our studies.

Those reports have long since been out of print. Meanwhile,
various documents have come to light and professional archae-

ologists have advanced our knowledge of the Incas to the point

where it has seemed worthwhile to collect all that is known
about Machu Picchu, its origin, how it came to be lost, and how
it was finally discovered, and present it here in popular form for
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the benefit of those who may be curious about the Incas and the

sacred city that they successfully hid from the Spanish con-

querors.

In the heart of their country, about 50 miles away from their

capital city of Cuzco, is the Grand Canyon of the Urubamba,

one of the most wonderful places in the world. For centuries

travellers could not visit it because a sheer granite precipice,

rising 2,000 feet from the banks of the river, defied all efforts to

pass it. The planters who raised coca and sugar in the lower

valley could bring their produce to market only over a snow-

covered pass as high as the top of Pike’s Peak (14,109 ft.). Finally

they persuaded the Peruvian government to open a river road by

blasting it across the face of the great granite precipice. They

had been using it for several years without being aware that on

top of a steep ridge 2,000 feet above them were the ruins of a

great Inca sanctuary. Raimondi, greatest of Peruvian explorers,

was ignorant of them. Paz Soldan’s elaborate geographical dic-

tionary of Peru makes no mention of them, although their exis-

tence had been rumoured in 1875. Charles Wiener, an energetic

French explorer, had looked for them then without success.

They had been visited by several energetic mestizos (half-castes)

and a few Indians. Quite a number of ambitious treasure

hunters had tried to find the last Inca capital. The new road

made possible the discoveries of the Peruvian Expeditions which

are herein described.

The Peruvian Government now maintains a small but com-

fortable hotel at Machu Picchu, where my wife and I spent

several happy days in October 1948. The magnificent views at

sunrise and sunset make it well worth while to stay overnight.

The altitude is only 7,650 feet, and the nights are quite cool. 1

1 This final paragraph was added by Bingham to the second and subsequent

editons of the book.
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CHAPTER ONE

THE INCAS AND THEIR
CIVILIZATION

I
n the beginning the word Inca, which means king or

emperor, was the term applied only to the chief of that

remarkable people whose courage and genius for organiza-

tion had enabled them to conquer most of Peru, Ecuador, and

Bolivia, as well as the northern parts of Chile and Argentina.

Then came the Spanish conquistadors in the sixteenth century

and applied the term to the ruling class, members of the Inca’s

family and the nobles and priests who governed the Inca

Empire. Soon, however, they were all killed off and by the end of

the century scarcely one was to be found anywhere. Today we
use the term Inca to cover the race who in the course of several

thousand years built up a great civilization in the highlands of

Peru and Bolivia. The builders of Machu Picchu were the

descendants of generations of skilled artisans, but those who
directed the workmen were the Incas whose capital for centuries

was Cuzco.

Strictly speaking, the first Inca was a war-like chieftain of the

Quichua tribe of Indians who ruled over Cuzco about AD izoo,

and was worshipped as a demi-god, the son of the Sun. It was

perhaps only a hundred years before the arrival of Pizarro and

the conquistadors that the ninth Inca, properly so called,

extended the Empire as far north as Ecuador and as far south as

Argentina. As a matter of fact the Inca Empire had just about

passed its prime when the Spaniards landed. Had they arrived in

the days of the great Inca Pachacutec (c. 1450) they would have
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received short shrift. As it happened they arrived when the

empire was weakened by a long civil war.

As there are no written records and the interpretation of the

quipus or knotted cords as well as of the history of the past

depended on the memory or the imagination of the persons who
were interviewed by the first Spanish chroniclers, we cannot be
certain of date or events. It appears likely that the development
of such arts and sciences as agriculture, metallurgy, ceramics,

weaving and engineering took place chiefly in the centuries

which preceded the first Inca. Yet it has become convenient to

use the term Inca to apply to the civilization and the people
whom the Spaniards found in Peru, just as we use the term Aztec
to apply to the civilization of Mexico, and the term Maya to

apply to the civilization found in Yucatan and Guatemala.
Actually there were many Peruvian tribes that had been inde-

pendent nations long enough, before they were conquered by
the Incas, to develop remarkable artistic ability in ceramics and
textiles.

One of the most interesting places in the world is Cuzco, the

ancient capital of the Empire of the Incas. In the days of the

Spanish Conquest of Peru it was the largest city in America. On
a hill behind it is a very old fortress, for centuries a place of
refuge. The northern wall of that fortress is perhaps the most
extraordinary structure built by ancient man in the western
hemisphere. In fact, as an achievement of engineering, it stands
without parallel in American antiquity. The smaller blocks in

the wall weigh io or zo tons. Larger blocks are estimated to

weigh zoo tons. A few of the largest weigh 300 tons! And yet

they are fitted accurately together. There are no clamps. There
was no cement used in constructing the wall. The gigantic

polygonal blocks cling so closely together that it is impossible to

insert the point of a knife between them. And they were brought
from quarries more than a mile away where they were fashioned
by people using stone tools. They were moved over an inclined

plane by levers. The Incas had no iron or steel, but they had
bronze crowbars of great strength. They had no derricks or
pulleys or wheels but they had thousands of patient workers.
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The determination and the perseverance of the builders staggers

the imagination.

ARCHITECTURE

As we study their architecture we see that it is marked by good
proportions and symmetrical arrangement as well as by mas-
siveness and solidity. Some of their temples and palaces were
built of carefully selected ashlars of white granite. The lower

tiers of a wall are made of larger blocks than the upper. This
gives it a look of massive security. The upper courses, gradually

decreasing in size, lend grace and dignity to the structure. Since

instruments of precision were lacking, everything had to be
done by the trained eye of the artistic architect. The result is

softer and much more pleasing than that of the mathematically

correct walls of our world. Everyone who visits Machu Picchu

will agree that its builders were superb stone masons.

In the city of Cuzco, as well as in other well-known Inca

towns, the walls of temples and palaces are not perpendicular

but slope slightly inward. They are of so-called Egyptian style,

being narrower at the top than at the bottom.

If one visits outlying places one finds story-and-a-half houses
with gable ends. They seem to be characteristic of structures

which were built not very long before the Spanish Conquest.
Usually on the outside of each gable end may be seen a row of

roughly cylindrical blocks or stone pegs bonded into the wall

and projecting a foot or so from its surface. At first sight one
might suppose this characteristic feature of Inca architecture to

be merely ornamental, since these stone pegs suggest the idea of

being the petrified ends of wooden beams and purlins. This

pleasant theory of wooden origin, reminiscent of Doric archi-

tecture, seems to be incorrect. In the gable ends of some modern
Indian huts wooden pegs similarly placed are used as points to

which the thatched roof is tied. It would appear, therefore, that

the stone pegs bonded into the Inca gables were not merely

ornamental but served a useful purpose.

One day, in the process of carefully cleaning the gable ends of
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a very finely built Inca house at Machu Picchu, we made an

interesting discovery of an architectural feature which had hith-

erto entirely escaped the notice of archaeologists or architects.

Buried in the sloping edge of the gable wall was a thin slab of

rough stone with a chamfered hole, or eye, about 2 inches from
the outer end. We called this an eye-bonder. It was set into the

gable wall at right angles to its slope in such a way as to be flush

with the surface, a little space being left on each side so that the

eye could easily be reached when it was desired to lash the

purlins to the steep pitch of the gable. Investigation showed that

there were usually eight or ten of these eye-bonders in every

gable. These little stone slabs were about 2 feet long, 6 inches

wide, and 2 inches thick. The chamfered hole apparently was
bored by means of pieces of bamboo rapidly revolved between

the palms of the hands, assisted by a liberal use of sand and
water. Of course such a method required time and patience, but

produced results just as satisfactory as the use of mallet and chisel

and was less likely to split the stone.

The Incas did not use tiles or shingles to cover their roofs, but

had to depend on thatch made of grass or bushes. The thatch was
tied to the purlins and was kept from blowing away by being tied to

the ends of the projecting roof pegs while the purlins themselves

were fastened to the gables by being tied to the eye-bonders.

So far as I have been able to learn, this method of supporting a

thatched roof on a sloping gable was invented and perfected by
the Incas and has never been used in any other part of the world.

Possibly its invention was due to the fact that the plateau where
Inca architecture flourished is treeless and wind-swept. Inciden-

tally, the absence of trees in the temperate valleys of the Peruvian

highlands was not due to the altitude, because I found primeval

forests growing at 15,000 feet in the more inaccessible parts of

the Cordillera Vilcabamba. It undoubtedly resulted, as in

China, from the very long period of human occupation and the

necessity for fuel. Had there been more forests and plenty of

wood the Incas would not have had to build stone houses.

The doors of Inca houses were usually high enough for the

tallest Peruvian to enter comfortably without bumping his
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head. As in ancient Egypt, the bottom of the door was wider

than the top. Lintels were sometimes of wood if the buildings

were constructed near a forested region, but otherwise were

composed of two or three long blocks of stone. In more impor-

tant structures the Incas went to the trouble of using monolithic

lintels even when they weighed i or 2 tons. Since they had no

derricks or pulleys it is believed that they raised a monolithic

lintel to its place by building a mound of earth and stone in front

of the door. Then by using levers made of hard wood, and possi-

bly rollers of the same material, and the principle of the inclined

plane, they brought the heavy lintel to the top of the door

without serious trouble. When they had fitted the lintel securely

in place, the mound was removed.

Their houses were frequently arranged round a courtyard to

form a compound, as in the Far East. To this compound there

was usually but one entrance. Sometimes the facade of the

gateway had a re-entrant angle as though the doorway had been

let into the back of a large niche. Entrances to compounds were

furnished with the means of fastening a bar across the inside of

the door. Stone cylinders or pegs, which I have called bar-holds,

were keyed into the gateposts during their construction. Some-

times the bar-holds were anchored into the wall by being set into

a cavity cut out of one of the larger blocks of the gatepost. It was

feasible to lash a bar to the bar-holds, which were able to resist

at least as much pressure as the cross-bar which was lashed to it.

It is possible, however, that these bar-locks supported

nothing more formidable than a taboo stick which would

prevent a superstitious person from entering a compound where

he was not wanted. There is a reference to this subject in the will

of one of the Spanish conquistadors. He declares that when an

Indian went from home the doors were left open but that there

was ‘a little stick across the door as the sign that the master was

out and nobody went in’. In a memorial addressed to his sover-

eign, Philip II, he added, ‘When they saw that we placed locks

and keys on our doors they understood that it was from fear of

thieves and when they saw that we had thieves amongst us they

despised us.’
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The practice of placing only a little stick across the door was
made possible in part by the fact that among the Incas private

property of individuals was limited to a few personal posses-

sions, dishes, shawl-pins, cooking utensils, and clothing. Under
a benevolent despotism like that of the Incas where no one was
allowed to go hungry or naked, where everyone was told what to

do and when to do it, and where everything of importance

belonged to the ruler, there was no object in attempting to

acquire the personal possessions of others, nor was there any
incentive to accumulate anything which was not in daily use.

The use of bar-locks, eye-bonders, and roof-pegs by the Incas

is evidence of inventive genius which testifies to long occupancy
in the highlands. Those devices are not found in Asia or Europe.

They were not borrowed or imported. They were autochtho-

nous.

So far as we know there was no furniture in the houses of the

Incas. They used neither chairs nor tables but sat on the ground
or on a pile of blankets made from the wool of the llama or

alpaca. The place of furniture was taken by a series of niches

arranged symmetrically in the walls. These niches were usually

about 3 feet in height, to inches in depth, and 2 feet in width,

narrower at the top than at the bottom, and placed in the wall so

as to be nearer the floor than the ceiling. They may have been

designed originally for ceremonial purposes but they came
eventually to be recognized as a great household convenience.

Crudely made niches can be seen to-day in the huts of the moun-
tain Indians, where they take the place of shelves, cupboards,

and bureaux. Stone pegs were usually placed between the niches

and on a level with the lintels. They made handy hooks for all

sorts of purposes. It is quite possible that from them were hung
the characteristic water or chicha (beer) jars which had pointed

bottoms. Their handles are so placed in the line of the centre of

gravity as to make it easy to suspend them and, by using a

nubbin on the shoulder of the jar, to pour out a drink without

having to take the jar down from the peg.

The pegs were also convenient for fastening one end of a hand
loom, while the weaver sat on the ground with the other end of



Probable method of using the eye-bonders and roof-pegs

found in the gable ends of Inca houses.

Drawing to show how the city gate might have been fastened

to the bar-holds and the eye-bonder.
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the loom tied to his or her waist. Sometimes a ring stone was
bonded in the wall at a convenient height. Since the Peruvians

were famous weavers, making warm clothing and blankets of

both wool and cotton, these ring stones and pegs were undoubt-
edly in frequent use for that purpose.

Inca architects were careful about drainage and guarded
against the accumulation of ground water wherever it was not

wanted. Small channels or conduits were constructed under
their storehouses and under the walls of courtyards wherever

pools were likely to collect.

CIVIL ENGINEERING

In the making of roads, bridges, aqueducts, and irrigation

ditches they showed a remarkable knowledge of engineering. At
the time of the Spanish Conquest the Incas’ paved roads ran for

thousands of miles through the Central Andes, from Quito, the

capital of Ecuador, all the way to Argentina and Chile, as well as

from the Pacific Coast over the mountains to the warm valleys

of the eastern Andes. Since they had no wheeled vehicles it was
not necessary for the surface of their roads to be levelled. Where
the road had to be taken over a steep hillside, stone stairways

were constructed. Where the road had to pass a small precipice,

tunnels large enough to permit the passage of a loaded beast of

burden, whether man or llama, were cut out of the solid rock.

Over these roads trained runners, operating in relays, carried

messages with extraordinary dispatch from the capital of the

empire to distant magistrates. It is said that fresh fish caught in

the Pacific Ocean were brought over the mountains by the

special messengers of the Inca Emperor and reached his table in

excellent condition. Post houses were provided at convenient

intervals so that before a runner’s strength was exhausted his

message could be picked up and carried forward with the least

possible delay. Furthermore the runners were permitted to chew
coca leaves as a stimulant.

The Incas had never acquired the art of writing, but they had
developed an elaborate system of knotted cords called quipus.
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These were made of the wool of the alpaca or the llama, and
dyed in various colours, the significance of which was known to

the magistrates. The cords were knotted in such a way as to rep-

resent the decimal system and were fastened at close intervals

along the principal strand of the quipu. Thus an important
message relating to the progress of crops, the amount of taxes

collected, or the advance of an enemy could be speedily sent by
the trained runners along the post roads.

Caravans of llamas carrying supplies could proceed safely, if

slowly, over the most mountainous country. Tambos, or rest-

houses, as well as storehouses, were built wherever it was likely

that those who travelled on the Inca’s business — and there were
no other travellers — would need suitable accommodation and
supplies. The storehouses were large enough to provide for

companies of soldiers as well as llama drivers.

The roads were carried across rivers on suspension bridges

made by braiding together countless strands of lianas, the rope-

like vines found frequently in the jungles of the Amazon basin.

Using huge cables of remarkable thickness, the Inca engineers

were able to construct bridges zoo or 300 feet in length whenever
it was necessary. These bridges, of course, sagged in the middle,

swayed in the wind, and were not at all pleasant to use. Further-

more, they could be destroyed easily, but the death penalty

awaited anyone found guilty of such an act. Had they not been
so highly regarded or had the Incas had the foresight to destroy

them when Pizarro and his conquistadors started to enter the

Central Andes, the conquest of Peru would have been extremely

difficult, if not well-nigh impossible.

IRRIGATION

No less striking than the remarkable system of highways were
the irrigation ditches, which ran for scores of miles in the

Central Andes. The height of the mountains, often rising to

18,000 or zo,ooo feet, forces the moisture-laden winds coming
from the east across the humid basin of the Amazon to deposit

their burden in heavy rains on the eastern slopes of the great
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Andean chain. Little rain falls on the western slopes. In fact, one

of the greatest deserts in the world is the 2,000-mile coastal strip

extending from central Chile to Ecuador.

The soil in the bottom of the valleys that cross this region is

rich enough to grow luxuriant crops of sugar cane, cotton, and
corn, but it needs to be regularly irrigated in order to do so. For

this purpose the rivers, fed by melting snow in the high Andes,

are deflected into irrigation ditches which follow the contours of

the valleys for many miles. Inca engineers must have had good
eyes and a fine sense of grading since they had none of the

instruments on which our engineers depend to lay out similar

projects. Imagine running a perfect contour for twenty miles!

Not only did the Incas provide their fields with necessary

water, they also saw to it that their towns and cities had ade-

quate supplies and for that purpose built fine aqueducts.

AGRICULTURE

To the Incas the art of agriculture was of supreme interest. They
carried it to a remarkable extreme, attaching more importance

to it than we do today. They not only developed many different

plants for food and medicinal purposes, but they understood
thoroughly the cultivation of the soil, the art of proper

drainage, correct methods of irrigation, and soil conservation,

by means of terraces constructed at great expense. Most of the

agricultural fields in the Peruvian Andes are not natural. The
soil has been assembled, put in place artificially, and remains

fertile after centuries of use.

The Incas learned the importance of fertilizers to keep the

soil rich and fruitful. They had discovered the value of the

guano found on the bird-islands that lie off the coast of Peru,

setting aside various of these islands for the benefit of different

provinces. No one was allowed to visit the islands during the

breeding season. Although hundreds of thousands of fish-eating

birds inhabit the islands, the Incas punished by death anyone
killing a single guano-producing bird.

They depended on terrace agriculture. It is seen in its most
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conspicuous form on steep slopes. Terraces are found in many
other countries, notably in east Asia and the Philippines, hut it is

very doubtful whether any equal those constructed by the Incas.

In Peru the artificial reconstruction of the surface soil was not

limited to slopes, but was also undertaken in large areas of

reclaimed land in valley bottoms. They even narrowed and

straightened the course of the rivers, filled in the land behind

strong walls and topped off the work with a surface layer of fine

soil.

The system of terrace agriculture which they developed con-

sists roughly of three parts, the retaining wall and two distinct

layers of earth that fill the space behind the wall. The underlying

stratum, an artificial sub-soil, is composed of coarse stones and

clay to a thickness that depends upon the height of the retaining

wall. This stratum was covered by a layer of rich soil z or 3 feet

deep.

Fortunately for the Incas the soils in the terraced districts are

tenacious and not readily eroded. A few sods or a small ridge of

earth will hold in check a stream of water, thus greatly facilitat-

ing the irrigation of the terraces. In places, large stones deeply

grooved lengthwise served as spouts to carry the water out from

a terrace wall, thus avoiding the danger of erosion or undermin-

ing.

The height and width of the terraces depended entirely on the

gradient of the slope. Terraces on very steep slopes were narrow

shelves, sometimes only 3 or 4 feet wide, although the usual

range is from 6 to 15 feet. The height is usually from 8 to 14 feet.

In parts of the Andes, hillsides containing too terraces, one

above the other, are not uncommon. In many places they are

used by the modern Indians for raising crops of wheat and

barley. Originally they were used chiefly for potatoes and maize.

Long banks of terraces are interrupted at regular intervals by

passageways that serve the double purpose of roads for reaching

the terraces, and drainage channels to permit surface water

from the upper slopes to flow freely down without washing

away any of the precious soil which had been brought to the ter-

races in baskets or mats carried on men’s backs. It fairly staggers
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the imagination to realize how many millions of hours of labour

were required to construct these great agricultural terraces.

Since terraced agriculture is well known in the Philippines and
in Asia, some writers are inclined to maintain that the Incas did

not originate it but brought it with them when they migrated

from Asia, if and when they did. If they came from Asia it is

strange that they did not bring any Asiatic food plants or seeds

with them.

Mr O. F. Cook, the distinguished authority on tropical agri-

culture who was the botanist on one of my Peruvian expedi-

tions, tells me that the Incas and their predecessors

domesticated more kinds of food and medicinal plants than any

other people in the world.

They found a small plant growing in the high Andes,

with a tuberous root about the size of a small pea. It proved

to be edible and from it, in the course of the centuries, they

finally developed a dozen varieties of what we call the ‘Irish’ or

white potato, suitable for cultivation at elevations varying

from sea level to 14,000 feet above it. After the Spanish

Conquest of Peru, it took Europeans nearly three centuries to

appreciate the staple food of the Incas. In fact, had it not been

for famines in France and Ireland it is hard to say when the

Peruvian potato would have been accepted as part of their daily

ration.

The skill and ingenuity of the Inca agriculturists were shown
not only in the breeding and raising of many kinds of potatoes,

but also in the very many varieties of maize or Indian corn, suit-

able for cultivation at varying elevations, which they developed.

No one knows exactly from what plant maize was originally

derived. Agricultural experts are divided in their opinion as to

whether it was domesticated from an Andean plant which has

long since disappeared or whether it was brought from
Guatemala. Central American authorities, specialists in Maya
civilization, are convinced that corn originated in Guatemala,
where there is a wild plant remotely resembling it. There is no
doubt, however, that the Incas had more varieties of maize, a

whole series that were unlike any that are known from Central
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America or Mexico, and had gone much further in developing

them than did the Mayas.

We do not know, probably we shall never know, when corn

was first cultivated in Peru. Mr Cook believes that the cultiva-

tion of corn in Peru goes very far back, not only because of the

abundance of specimens found in ancient graves but also

because the types of maize which furnish the bulk of the Peru-

vian crop are peculiar to that region.

An Inca food plant almost unknown to Europeans is canihua,

a kind of pig weed. It is harvested in April, and the stalks are

dried and placed on a large blanket laid on the ground as a

threshing floor. The blanket serves to prevent the small greyish

seeds from escaping when the flail is applied.

Another unfamiliar food plant, also a species of pig weed, is

called quinoa. Growing readily on the slopes of the high Andes
at an elevation as great as most of the Rocky Mountains, it

manages to attain a height of 3 or 4 feet and produces abundant

crops. The seeds are cooked like a cereal and are very palatable.

At lower elevations in the Andes the Incas developed another

series of root crops, most of which are still unfamiliar to us, but

one of which, the sweet potato, has achieved world-wide popu-
larity. First domesticated from a wild plant found in the eastern

Andes, it is called cumara by the Quichuas in the Urubamba
valley. All over Polynesia it bears virtually the same name,
kumala or kumara. From Peru it seems to have spread over the

Pacific Ocean. One of the greatest achievements of the extraor-

dinary group of ancient navigators whom we call Polynesians

was to plant it in Hawaii, Samoa, Tahiti, New Zealand, and
everywhere they went with their great double canoes.

In addition to discovering and developing useful plants, the

Incas also were the first to learn the advantages of certain medi-

cinal herbs, particularly quinine, long known as a specific in the

cure of malaria. They also discovered the specific effects of

cocaine, which is extracted from coca leaves, but only those

engaged in such strenuous activities as post-running were

allowed to use it. Judging by the ‘medicines’ sold by the Indian

‘druggists’ who display their wares in the market places of the
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mountain towns, the ancient remedies included such minerals
as sulphur, such vegetables as the seeds, roots, and dried leaves

of tropical jungle plants, and such animals as star-fish!

DOMESTIC ANIMALS

Not only were the Incas remarkable for domesticating plants,

they also showed great skill in domesticating animals. In the

Andes is a little rodent called a cuy. It is extremely timid and dif-

ficult to catch. We call it a guinea pig although it never came
from Guinea and is not a pig. Discovering that it was very palat-

able when roasted over an open fire or boiled in a stew the Incas

domesticated it and developed a dozen different varieties, all of
which are so tame that they can be trusted to run about the floor

of an Indian’s cabin, making no effort to escape, and are ready
to be caught, killed, cooked, and served as a delicious morsel
whenever company appears unexpectedly.

Father Cobo, a learned Jesuit, who travelled extensively in the

Andes in 1600, tells how guinea pigs were cooked in his day. In

preparing a stew, red pepper was added, also smooth little

pebbles from the river! These were placed in the belly of the cuy
after being thoroughly heated, so as to hasten the process of
cooking. He states with praiseworthy candour, 'this dish is

more esteemed by the Indians than any of the more delicate ones
which Spaniards make. The flesh of the domesticated kind is

more delicate. The three wild kinds are somewhat smaller than
the domesticated and are found in great numbers in the fields.’

The Incas domesticated at least three varieties of dogs but
there is no evidence that, like the Polynesians, they used any of
them as an article of food.

Another interesting example of the Incas’ skill in breeding
animals is their success with the native American camel, known
as the guanaco. Not so very long ago vast herds of guanaco were
still to be found in Patagonia, which has a climate very similar to

the highlands of Peru. These little camels measure more than 6

feet and sometimes as much as 7 feet to the top of the head.
Guanaco hunting used to be regarded as the finest sport in
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South America. They are exceedingly shy and it requires no
little patience to get within gunshot of them. Guanaco are very

inquisitive and restless but keep a sharp look out for danger.

Both their vision and power of scent are wonderfully good. The
herds, composed principally of females, are presided over by

vigorous old males who stand sentry on a bit of high ground and
give timely notice of any strange object. Then they all gallop off

very fast, although their ordinary pace is a trot. Notwithstand-
ing their extreme shyness, they were caught and tamed by the

early dwellers in the highlands.

Ability to catch such timid, fast animals was undoubtedly
due to the use of the bolas, a remarkable weapon or missile con-

sisting of two balls or stones connected with strong cord. The
throwing of bolas so as to entangle the legs of birds and animals

is an extremely difficult art. Had the ancient Peruvians not been
familiar with this useful device, but depended entirely on sling-

stones, arrows, or clubs, it is doubtful whether they would have

been so successful in securing and domesticating the little camels.

Furthermore, the Incas actually succeeded in the difficult and
tedious process of breeding from the little camels two varieties

for entirely different purposes, the llama and the alpaca.

Although guanacos are all of one colour, the llamas and alpacas

are of many different colours. The llama is streamlined and well

adapted to act as a beast of burden, even though it is neither

large enough nor strong enough to carry more than ninety or a

hundred pounds. It has legs fairly free from wool, and its hair is

coarse and will stand the chafing caused by the loads they carry.

The alpaca, on the other hand, is conspicuously woolly, both as

to its legs and neck. Its hair is fine and soft and is in great

demand for making luxurious woollen garments. Due to the

fact that shrewd cloth merchants, many years ago, adopted the

name ‘alpaca’ for a rather coarse material made from sheep’s

wool and cotton and used extensively in the manufacture of thin

black coats, the term ‘alpaca’ is not used in commerce for the

real article. Overcoats and shawls made of the beautiful soft

wool of the Peruvian alpaca are usually said to be ‘camel’s hair’,

'vicuna '
, or even ‘llama’. Few purchasers in the northern hemi-
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sphere know that llama wool is too coarse to be desirable

for such purposes. On the other hand, if the material were
called ‘alpaca’ the purchaser would not expect it to be any
softer or more attractive than the ancient product of Yankee
ingenuity.

It is interesting to note that the Incas and their influence

throughout the Andes apparently did not extend any further

north than the known limits of the llama. In fact, the develop-

ment of their culture may be said to have depended in large

measure on their success in breeding this little American camel.

Their ability to raise and train hundreds of thousands of llamas

which could and would carry useful loads enabled the mountain
people to carry out engineering and agricultural works far more
extensive than could have been accomplished had they been
obliged to depend entirely on human labour.

LANGUAGE

Some American archaeologists are prone to shorten the length

of time during which the civilization of the Incas was develop-

ing. Because the Mayas of Central America used hieroglyphics

and invented a calendar it is easy to give them a couple of thou-

sand years, while the Incas are limited to a few hundred. Techni-

cally they are right, if one chooses to restrict the use of the word
Inca to the few centuries when the rulers were actually called

Incas. But if one uses the term Inca to characterize that remark-
able civilization discovered by the Spaniards in the sixteenth

century, with its advanced agriculture, its magnificent engineer-

ing works, and its success over centuries in producing from an

exceedingly wild ancestor two such distinct domestic and pure-

bred animals as the llama and alpaca, it becomes evident that

the period covered by the growfh of this ancient Peruvian civi-

lization must have lasted for several thousand years.

This theory is also confirmed by the many varieties of both
potatoes and corn found in Inca land, and also by the fact that

the guinea pigs, which the Incas domesticated and bred, are as

widely different in colour and in coat as are the cats of the
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Mediterranean region, which are known to be of extremely

ancient lineage.

Unfortunately the ancient Peruvians never developed any

form of script or picture writing. It is indeed a pity that the Incas

never had the opportunity, as did the Greeks and Romans, to

come in contact with a people like the Phoenicians, who were

clever enough to invent an alphabet.

The language of the Incas was the Quichua tongue. Origi-

nally it was used only in a small area around Cuzco, where the

Inca dynasty originated, possibly in the tenth or eleventh

century. During the next 500 years, when the Incas succeeded in

subduing the native races as far north as Ecuador and as far

south as Argentina, they carried the Quichua language with

them and insisted on its being learned by the conquered peoples,

so that it had a wide distribution by the end of the sixteenth

century.

Today the total population of Peru is about seven million. A
recent census reports that two and a half million speak Quichua

and two-thirds of these speak no other language. Although

there are many different languages spoken by small forest tribes

in the Amazon basin, there are only two aboriginal languages

numerically important in the Andes, Quichua and Aymara. In

the region around Lake Titicaca and in northern Bolivia the

Indians speak Aymara, which has a phonetic system and

grammar similar to Quichua. Neither of these languages is

related in any way to those of eastern South America nor to any

outside the continent. Philological experts are of the opinion

that nearly five million people in South America still speak the

language of the Incas. Obviously it is by far the most important

native language in either North or South America. That this

phonetic system is so widespread is in itself a remarkable tribute

to the extraordinary people who were so successful in breeding

animals and plants.

There are few words in Quichua to denote abstract qualities.

On the other hand, the people obviously were not militaristic, for

the word meaning ‘soldier’ also means ‘enemy’. The extent of the

empire is emphasized by the fact that the word for ‘foreigner’
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means ‘those belonging to a city a great distance off’. The impor-
tance of agriculture is strikingly demonstrated by the fact that in

Quichua there is but one word for ‘work’ or ‘cultivate’.

An interesting sidelight on manners and customs is the abun-
dance of expressions in Quichua for all stages of drunkenness.
One of their principal activities was the manufacture of beer, or
chicha. It was brewed from sprouted corn that had been boiled

and crushed under the rocking stones which served the Andean
people as an upper millstone or pestle. The Indians of Mexico
and Central America in grinding their corn use a muller, pushed
back and forth on a slab. This requires more effort than the

rocking stone invented in the Andes. The fact that the Incas and
the Mayas did not use the same means of grinding corn, the

most common necessity of the household, points to the long
period of separate evolution.

POTTERY

In addition to agriculture and the breeding of useful plants and
animals, the Incas carried to a remarkable extreme the manufac-
ture of graceful, symmetrical pottery. They learned to recognize

different kinds and qualities of potter’s clay. They selected local-

ities marked by the finest type of clay for the worship of
favourable divinities, and the manufacture of the most delicate

dishes. It seems likely that a form of potter’s wheel must have
been used in the manufacture of their jars.

There was nothing crude or uncouth about their pottery.

Most of it was made with the utmost skill, hard finished with
polished and painted surfaces, from which every trace of the

process of manufacture had been removed. Unlike the primitive

pottery of the Indian tribes in the Amazonian Basin, and in

many parts of America, Inca pottery gives abundant evidence,
in its symmetry and fine proportions, as well as in its finish, that

the makers were the inheritors of a thousand years of culture

and love of beauty. Their pieces were admirably designed for the

uses to which they were put and had just enough decoration to

please and satisfy the most fastidious owner.
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On the Peruvian coast, the ancient peoples who were con-

quered by the Incas produced much more elaborate pottery

designs than did the Incas. Inca designs were nearly always geo-

metrical and conventional. They included squares repeated one

within the other, cross-hatching, rows of triangles, parallel

lines, rows of lozenges, elaborate scrolls, a conventionalized

necklace design consisting of a large number of discs each sus-

pended by separate strings from the principal cord. This neck-

lace design may possibly have been a representation of the royal

fringe worn as a sign of sovereignty, the crown of the Incas.

The bar and double-cross pattern which occurs frequently on
the handles of Inca pottery is clearly imitative of ancient bas-

ketry and derives from the easiest form of making handles. This

pattern took the fancies of the ancient potters and consequently

reappears in various panels and frequently constitutes the

central portion of a geometrical design.

In many museums little attention is paid to Inca pottery

partly because it is rare and partly because its graceful, symmet-
rical shape is not unique but is even reminiscent of the classical

forms found in the Mediterranean. Some of the two-handled

jars are almost identical with one found in ancient Troy. Others

resemble Greek forms.

The most striking Peruvian pottery exhibited in collections

comes from the sea-coast of northern Peru, where, before the

days of the Inca Empire, native potters excelled in producing

realistic human groups and even vivid portraits. Some of the

Peruvian coastal pottery still stands unequalled in the life-like

portrayal of human action and emotion. One finds the naked

body depicted in many attitudes, some of them so degenerate as

to be excluded from public exhibits. Mannequins in every con-

ceivable posture, tragic groups representing human sacrifices,

humorous caricatures of intoxication, persons afflicted with

terrible diseases, comedy and tragedy, all are found represented

in coastal ceramic art. The striking lack of any such tendencies

in the pottery of the Incas leads to the conclusion that they must

have had a strong prejudice against the use of the human form in

decoration. This may have been due to the custom among the
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Peruvian highlanders of protecting themselves against the bitter

cold of the high plateau by always having their bodies clothed.

Thousands of years ago this custom may not have prevailed,

since the Indians of the southernmost part of South America,

who live amidst the snow and ice of Tierra del Fuego, are

scarcely clothed at all. Once clothing had been invented,

however, and its use furthered by the domestication of the wool-

bearing alpaca and llama, comfort would dictate tharit be con-

tinually used. As a result, custom would, in the course of time,

decree that any exposure of the body was indecent. The growth
of such strict ideas of decency would naturally promote a sense

of shame which would lead to the practice of using geometric

patterns or conventionalized birds and animals rather than the

human form. Consequently it is not surprising that Inca pottery

does not represent the human form even though their highly

developed sense of the beautiful induced them to make jars and
dishes as graceful as those of ancient Greece. Practically all the

pottery found in our excavations at Machu Picchu was pure

Inca.

The most characteristic Inca pattern and the most common
of the vessels intended for holding liquids was a bottle-shaped

vase with a pointed bottom, frequently 2 or 2*4 feet in height

and capable of holding 6 or 7 gallons of chicha, with two band-
shaped handles attached vertically to the lower body, and a

strikingly long neck. Each jar as a rule has two pierced, ear-like

nubbins attached to its rim. The front of each bottle-shaped

vase has on its shoulder a stout nubbin decorated to represent

the conventionalized head of a fierce beast, usually with two
eyes and a crudely incised mouth, and sometimes ears, lips,

teeth, and even nostrils. It has been suggested that the makers
believed that the ill-natured demon who caused good chicha to

be spilt might be frightened away by this uncouth animal. These
nubbins could have been used to tie on a cover to keep the pre-

cious chicha from spilling, or for decorative tassels which would
indicate the quality of the maker of the beverage. Since these

jars were intended to be carried on the back and shoulders by

means of a rope passed through the handles and around the big
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nubbin, they were nearly always decorated on only one side, and

the side which rubbed against the back of the carrier was left

undecorated. Although not at all like a Greek aryballus, that

name has been applied to it by Peruvian writers for many years.

So far as I know it is not found in any part of the world except

where Inca civilization prevailed. Many examples of it were

found at Machu Picchu.

A shallow dish or saucer used for drinking has a handle on

one side, sometimes a broad loop but more often the conven-

tionalized head of a friendly bird or animal, which sets comfort-

ably under the thumb, and a small raised decoration on the

opposite rim. These dishes are always carefully made, attrac-

tively painted, on the inside only, with elaborate geometric pat-

terns. These saucers somewhat resemble in form the classic

patera, which was used in pouring out libations at sacrifices. It is

amusing to note that the Incas made the handle of these drink-

ing ladles just as pleasing as they made the nubbins of the great

jars fierce and revolting, no doubt to encourage drinkers to

enjoy themselves.

In a mountain region where there is little fuel for open fires

and where the drinking of cold water frequently brings on

mountain sickness which is often disastrous, it is natural that

the craving of the body for additional heat and liquid should be

gratified by soup and beer. The utensils used for chicha are care-

fully painted and polished. In this they differed markedly from

the fire-blackened cooking pots, or ollas, in which the Incas

made their soups and stews.

A common form of olla has a handle on one side and a single

foot or base. The side opposite the loop handle is usually deco-

rated in low relief, possibly the echo of the base of a second

handle. These beaker-shaped ollas were usually 9 or 10 inches

high. The form undoubtedly was the result of a long process of

evolution beginning with the introduction into the fire of a

simple two-handled pot. Then somebody discovered that by

adding a base or a foot to it the pot could stand better in the

embers of a small fire. Later it was discovered that only the

handle nearest the cook was really necessary since the other
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handle got too hot to be of much use, and it was finally aban-

doned, its place being taken by a little ornament in low relief

that was attached to the pot just before it was baked.

Another common design was a two-handled food dish with

band-shaped handles ordinarily attached horizontally below
the rim, wider than it was high and broad enough so that the

hands of the diners might readily extract the delicacies therein,

undoubtedly stews, which were an essential part of the ancient

fare. These dishes were not used in the fire, but were of fine clay,

carefully polished and soberly decorated on both sides with

conventional geometric patterns.

Loving cups and dishes connected with drinking chicha were
frequently amusingly decorated with fierce-looking jaguars or

pumas glaring at each other with open mouths and bared teeth.

Or the handle might consist of the head of a laughing fox or

coyote, exquisitely modelled. The spirit in which the modelling
of these Inca dishes was worked out shows great artistic ability

and frequently a nice sense of humour. Sometimes a drinking

jug would be made in the form of a fat man with his hands com-
fortably supporting his stomach.

One-handled jugs were sometimes decorated with a human
face in low relief, sometimes partly in relief and partly painted.

Or a jug might have a handle decorated with a head of a fierce

jaguar partly hollow so that a string could be passed through
the teeth in such a manner as to support the jug from a peg.

Perhaps one of the most interesting and rarest forms of Inca

pottery was a three-legged brazier with a band-shaped handle

attached to its top, its mouth irregular in form, placed on one
side. In the top were three openings or vent holes, the legs were
solid and cylindrical and long enough to permit of a small fire

being built underneath. Consequently the braziers were fire-

blackened within and without. The Inca metallurgists gave

them such hard usage that the frail little braziers did not last

long and no perfect specimens have been found.

The usual size of the three-legged brazier was about 7 inches

high, 6 inches wide and 7 inches long. They appear to have been
intended for a charcoal fire in which metal could be kept hot
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while being worked. The vent holes on top would have admitted

the insertion of blow pipes, a practice referred to in several of

the early Spanish chronicles, and they were made thin enough to

enable them to be rapidly heated. They were undoubtedly used

in the manufacture of bronze knives, axes, chisels, and shawl-

pins in which repeated heating and annealing were necessary.

METALLURGY

Inca bronze has been found to be remarkably pure, except for

very small quantities of sulphur. The proportion of copper in

Inca bronze varies from 86 per cent in some articles to 97 per

cent in others. Some archaeologists take the view that since the

greatest quantity of tin is usually found in those bronzes that,

for the purposes for which they were intended, would seem to

require it least, the presence of tin in Inca bronzes should be

regarded as accidental. This hypothesis has been carefully con-

sidered by the experts of the largest copper companies now
operating in the Andes. They all agree that so far as known ores

of copper and tin occur in South America this is an untenable

thesis, for such ores are not found in combination. It is well

known that during World War II enormous quantities of tin

were recovered from Bolivian mines and manufacturers were

delighted to secure supplies to take the place of those that came
from the Straits Settlements before the Japanese occupation. It

is also well known that enormous deposits of copper are found
in Peru and in Chile but not in combination with tin.

My friend Professor Charles H. Matthewson of Yale Univer-

sity was the first modern metallurgist to make an exhaustive

study of Inca bronzes. He discovered that the percentage of tin

contained in Inca bronzes was not governed by the uses for

which they were intended, but by the requirements of the

ancient methods of manufacture. Everything that we know
about Inca metallurgy is based on Professor Matthewson’s

report.

The Incas learned the interesting fact that bronze containing

a high percentage of tin yields the best impression in casting,
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because during the process of solidifying it expands more than

bronze having a low tin content. Hence the more delicate or

ornamental pieces contain the highest percentage of tin,

enabling artistic details to be more strikingly brought out in the

finished product. Of course, had the Incas possessed steel

graving tools the case would have been different. The Inca met-

allurgists learned that the operation of casting small delicate

objects is facilitated when there is about io per cent of tin in the

mixture. Such alloys retain their initial heat longer and so

remain longer in a fluid condition. Since small objects tend to

cool rapidly this knowledge was particularly useful in the man-
ufacture of ornamental shawl-pins and ear spoons and accounts

for the higher percentage of tin the Incas used in making them.

Since these early metallurgists were unfamiliar with modern
methods of heat treatment they were compelled to sacrifice the

extra hardness and strength obtainable in casting axes and
chisels by increasing the tin content in them. Such implements

had to be frequently hammered and annealed. Since cold-

working had to be depended upon to produce the final hardness

of such objects, more than one heating was needed in forging

the blades, and this process necessitated a low tin content. Nec-
essarily they employed a formula for combined copper and tin

which has impressed archaeologists familiar only with the

chemical analysis of Inca bronzes, as being that which is

unsuited for axes, chisels, and large knives. It was only after a

metallographic study of Inca bronzes, involving the mutilation

of the pieces examined, that Professor Matthewson learned the

structure of such objects, the methods of their manufacture, and
the reasons for the variation that has been found to exist. The
Inca metallurgists cast their bronze knives generally in one piece

and then cold-worked them. Such reheating as took place was
solely for the purpose of softening the metal to facilitate cold-

working, which was probably done at less than red heat. Some
Inca bronzes are found to have been repeatedly hammered and
reheated. This hammering might have been done with the stone

tools with which the Incas were familiar.

The knife blades appear to have been worked and hammered
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so as to extend the metal more or less uniformly in several direc-

tions. Chisels and axes, on the other hand, were cast practically

in the shape finally desired.

The Inca metallurgists were sufficiently ingenious to use

more than one variety of bronze in the construction of artistic

knives. Their knives were in the shape of an inverted ‘t’. If it was

desired to ornament the end of the handle with a llama’s head or

attractive bird, the ornament would be made of bronze with a

high content of tin. The metal of the blade and the lower part of

the handle on the other hand was of bronze of lower tin content

because the blades had to be cold-worked.

The ornamental part of the knife handle was actually cast

around the shank of the knife after it had been completed. The
Inca artisan, anxious to make a good serviceable knife that

would be attractive as well had learned over the centuries to take

infinite pains in doing it. If he wished to make a hole in the end

of a knife or shawl-pin, he did it in the process of casting

because he lacked steel tools for drilling it.

In making bronze bolas which could be used in capturing a

flying parrot or many-hued macaw, he cast the ball with a pin

already in so that the cord connecting the two parts of the bolas

could be securely fastened without interfering with the smooth

flight of the missile. The pin was not set into the bolas but was

cast in place. It must have been a great sight to see an Inca

hunter bring down a flying macaw with a skilful swing of the

little bronze bolas ,
discharging them at just the right moment to

entangle its wings and legs without damaging the beautiful

captive.

Some axe blades bear evidence that they were used upon
stone. Their structure shows severe damage of a character which

could only result from very hard usage. They were probably

used in cutting square holes in ashlars and in making sharp

inside corners. It is difficult to conceive of any stone tools that

could have been used successfully for this purpose. Some writers

have assumed that the Incas used bronze implements to a large

extent in finishing their best stone work. It seems to me,

however, that even their best bronze was too soft to last long in
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such activities. It is not likely that it was often so employed.

Experiments made in the National Museum at Washington
have demonstrated that perseverance, elbow grease, and fine

sand will enable stone tools of various shapes to work miracles

in dressing and polishing both granite and andesite.

However, it is reasonably certain that the Inca builders used

powerful little bronze crow-bars to get those ashlars in place

which were too heavy to be lifted by hand. Called champis,

these bars were sufficiently strong to be used in adjusting blocks

of stone weighing to or 20 tons. In a tensile test, made under the

direction of Professor Matthewson, an old Inca champi of poor
quality showed an ultimate strength of 28,000 pounds to the

square inch. We found by experiment with a new bronze

crow-bar of the same composition that when hardened by

methods known to the Inca metallurgists it had still greater

strength. The Incas could have used their crow-bars for prying

into place granite blocks weighing 20 tons without damaging
the champis.

Inca bronze included not only such tools as axes, knives,

chisels, and crow-bars but also such domestic utensils as tweez-

ers, shawl-pins, and large needles, as well as such articles of

adornment as rings, bracelets, spangles, and bells. They even

made ear spoons, the ends of whose handles were often deco-

rated with figures of humming birds.

Perhaps the commonest bronze articles made by the Incas

were the shawl-pins. Early drawings made by the Spanish con-

querors show that these pins were always used for fastening the

front of the shoulder covering. This custom is still common in

the Andes, and 1 have noticed in many cases that the head of the

shawl-pin is made like a spoon. The Incas do not appear to have

been familiar with spoons. The heads of their shawl-pins, which
vary in length from 3 inches to 9 inches, are generally flat and
shaped like a half-moon. They were beaten very thin, so that the

edges were fairly sharp and appear to have been used for cutting

purposes. As the Inca women were frequently occupied in spin-

ning yarn by means of a hand spindle, or in weaving textiles,

they would have found such little knives very useful.
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They made bronze mirrors similar to those found in ancient

Egyptian tombs. They even succeeded in making a concave

bronze mirror which, when polished, enabled the rays of the sun

to be concentrated on a bit of cotton sufficiently to set it on fire.

The skill of the Inca metallurgists is immensely impressive and

one wonders how long it took them to learn the art.

They also made bronze bodkins or large needles with eyes

sufficiently large to permit them to carry a fairly stout cord.

Sometimes these eyes were made by flattening the head to a

narrow strip, drawing this under, laying it against the shaft of

the bodkin and hammering enough of the sides on to it to secure

it. This process would readily have been accomplished by the

use of one of the little braziers.

They made little bronze tweezers intended to take the place of

the modern razor. Highland Indians seldom have any hair on

their faces. The Incas were probably anxious to remove any

stray hairs that did appear. The custom of pulling out undesired

facial hairs by means of tweezers was known among the tribes

of Micronesia in the Gilbert Islands before it was thought of in

New York or Paris. It is evident to the observer of manners and

customs that the desire for beauty aids is not new.

WEAVING

The Incas were fortunate in having as their subjects a hard-

working race, accustomed to constant effort. Today one may
encounter lazy Quichua men, but one never sees Quichua

women idle. While tending flocks or walking along the road

they are almost always winding or spinning yarn. One often

finds them engaged in the manufacture of shawls, girdles,

ponchos, and blankets on hand looms. Even the men and older

children are sometimes so occupied.

As a matter of fact, ancient Andean weaving, as developed

by the Incas, was one of the greatest textile arts the world

has ever seen. We depend on silk and linen for our finest textiles.

They did not know of the silkworm or of the flax plant. They

had cotton and the soft wool of the alpaca but they also used the
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extremely fine and rare wool of the vicuna, the smallest Ameri-
can camel. They never took the trouble to domesticate it. They
depended on what would be caught by the Inca hunters after

being rounded up in huge annual drives.

Tourists in Peru are always anxious to secure rugs made of

vicuna skins but these little animals have now become so scarce

as to be protected. In the days of the Incas vicuna wool seems to

have been reserved for the rulers and the nobles.

Examples of early Peruvian textiles amaze the beholder. Fine

specimens may be seen in various museums of art in Boston,

New York, and Washington. They are as worthy of admiration

as the finest specimens of Egyptian or Chinese weaving. The
inventiveness and resourcefulness of the Peruvian weavers

created materials which indicate as long a period of artistic

development as that of Egypt or China. These rare and beauti-

ful stuffs which have been found in the coastal cemeteries of

Peru, where they have been preserved by the dry desert air and
the absence of rainfall, prove to the students of the history of art

the very great age of Inca civilization. And none of it was bor-

rowed from Asia.

We are told that the finest textiles were made in the convents

connected with the Temples of the Sun, by the Chosen Women,
sometimes called the Virgins of the Sun, who were carefully

trained in this difficult art. Some of their products are as fine

and soft as the finest silk.

THE PEOPLE

No one knows the origin of the people over whom the Incas

ruled. Physical anthropologists assure us that the bony
structure of the American Indian is closely related to that

of the people of North East Siberia. However, that does not
prove that the migration went from Asia to America any more
than it proves that the people of Eastern Asia came from
America. Whenever that migration took place, and in whichever

direction, it happened so many thousands of years ago that

archaeological evidence, as distinct from anthropological, is
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lacking. In other words, there appears to be no resemb-

lance between the culture of North Eastern Asia and Central

South America. The facts that wheat, one of the most valuable

crops in the world, was developed in Asia and was unknown
in America, and that similar ignorance prevailed in Asia

regarding two other enormously important crops, potatoes

and maize, make it fairly certain that the migration took place

many thousands of years ago. This appears to be borne out

also by the recent discovery in North America of the remains

of glacial man, whose age is estimated to be about 20,000

years.

The Incas took such trouble to spread the Quichua language

wherever they went that it is fair to assume that they descended

from a Quichua tribe. The Quichuas are brown in colour. Their

hair is straight and black. Grey hair is seldom seen. It is still the

custom among the men in certain localities to wear their hair

long and braided. Beards are very rare and when they occur are

extremely sparse. Bearded Indians are almost certain to give

signs of traces of Spanish blood.

Among the Quichuas, bald heads are very rare. Their teeth

seem to be more enduring than ours. Throughout the Andes the

frequency of well-preserved teeth is noteworthy, except on sugar

plantations where there is opportunity to indulge freely in crude

brown sugar nibbled from cakes or mixed with parched corn

and eaten as a convenient ration. Since the Incas did not know
how to make sugar, it is fair to assume that they had good teeth

and were not troubled by having to chew the hard kernels of

their favourite parched corn.

The Quichua face is broad and short. Freckles are not

common, although a large proportion of the mountain Indians

are pock-marked. Asiatic smallpox was probably not known in

the Andes in prehistoric times. On the other hand, there is abun-

dant evidence, both in prehistoric tombs and in the vivid

records of coastal pottery, that syphilis did not come from the

Old World, but was an aboriginal disease. In fact, it was prob-

ably taken from America to the Mediterranean by the sailors of

the early discoverers and explorers. It was the worst gift the New
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World gave to the Old World in exchange for the ‘benefits’ of

European culture.

There is no evidence that the Incas were fat. One hardly ever

sees a fat mountain Indian today. It is difficult to tell whether

this is a racial characteristic or due to the necessity of hard exer-

cise in the mountains. Certainly the abundant use of white pota-

I

toes is supposed to be fattening. The diet of the Incas did not

contain much meat, since both llamas and alpacas were far too

useful to be used as food, except in the case of animals that died

of old age.

Although the Peruvian highlander made the best use he could

of the llama, he was never able to develop its slender legs and
weak back sufficiently to use it for loads weighing more than one
hundred pounds. Consequently, for the carrying of heavy burdens

he has had to depend on himself. As a result it is not surprising

that while his arms are poorly developed his shoulders are

broader, his back muscles stronger, and the calves of his legs

larger and more powerful than those of almost any other race.

CUSTOMS

Among the Incas, practically every man was married at least

once. Polygamy was general among the upper classes and was
regarded as a desirable state for those who could afford it. The
Inca rulers, the nobles and distinguished military leaders, were
awarded concubines. They were usually taken from one of the

national boarding schools or convents, where attractive young
girls or Chosen Women, selected annually from all over the

empire, were trained.

These Chosen Women, whose lives were consecrated to the

service of the sun, his representatives, the Incas, and his priests,

lived in sanctuaries which were scattered throughout the Inca

Empire. It was deemed a great honour to a newly conquered
province for the Inca to establish one within its borders.

According to the Spanish conquerors, the most important

convent was at Cuzco adjoining the Temple of the Sun. Other
women were forbidden to enter that holy place. Men were not
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allowed in the royal boarding schools. The most beautiful and

best born maidens in each province appear to have been selected

when eight or nine years old. They were supervised by older

women who had lived for years in the convents. The girls learned

not only to weave skilfully the clothing worn by the nobles as

well as the beautiful robes and elaborate hangings used on state

occasions, but were also taught the preparation of special foods

and beverages used in great ceremonials. Apparently the girls

were kept in the convents until they were about sixteen years of

age, when they were divided into three classes based on their

degree of beauty. Probably the most beautiful and highly born

became concubines of the Inca Emperor himself. It is believed

that some were selected to be sacrificed in honour of the sun, or

at all events, to be interned for life in one of the convents, where

they could act also as temple attendants and as instructors of

the Chosen Girls. A third group seems to have been given by the

emperor as wives to nobles or military captains whom he

wished particularly to favour.

It was natural that the most desirable girls should be set aside

for the worship of the sun, whom the Incas regarded as a benev-

olent and life-giving god. In the Andes, one is rarely comfortable

except when the sun is shining. It is not surprising, therefore,

that the worship of the sun involved propitiation, supplication,

and thanksgiving. It was important that the sun god should be

pleased in every way possible and that the priests should be

served by the most attractive young women of the kingdom.

Our knowledge of the Chosen Women, or Virgins of the Sun,

is derived, in part, from the writings of Cieza de Leon, the great-

est and most illustrious of the contemporary historians of the

period of conquest. He says that at the doors of the convents

porters were stationed to keep guard over the virgins, many of

whom were of noble birth, besides being beautiful and charm-

ing. He says that if one of them had any connection with a man
she was killed by being buried alive and the same penalty was

suffered by her paramour.

One of his contemporaries, Polo de Ondegardo, says that the

convents were called aclla-huasi, meaning ‘the house of the
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Chosen Ones’. They were selected by the governors in the

provinces, who had the power to choose girls of the proper age

without limit as to the number chosen. Their teachers were
called mama-cunas. The number of women set apart for this

purpose was very great and their parents could not excuse or

redeem them under any circumstances. Estates were set apart

for the support of the convents. He says, further, that great

quantities of the cloth made in the convents were distributed

among the Inca’s favourite soldiers and given to his relations

and attendants. Also enormous quantities were deposited in

storehouses to be used as needed.

RELIGION

The religion of ancient peoples, as well as their manners and
customs, depended, in large measure, on the climate of the

region where they lived. If it was a warm region where the sun
was oppressively hot in the middle of the day and the nights

were pleasant and cool, there was less temptation to worship the

sun. On the other hand, there was a marked tendency to

worship the stars and the moon. Familiarity with these heavenly

bodies led to that knowledge of astronomy, and even astrology,

which is so marked a feature of Arabian civilization as well as of

the Mayas in Central America.

On the other hand, in the high Andes, on the Peruvian

plateau, where the rarefied atmosphere does not retain the sun’s

heat and the nights are bitterly cold, it is not surprising that

little attention was paid to the stars, while the most profound
worship was accorded the sun. Other natural phenomena such

as thunder and lightning, high mountains, dangerous
precipices, and waterfalls, came within their ken and naturally

were propitiated by offerings and a certain amount of worship
so as to protect human beings from harm.

The sun was, naturally, the most important of all since

without it crops would not grow, and life, generally, was intoler-

able. Its favour must be sought. As the sun went farther and
farther north and the shadows lengthened in the month of June,
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it was natural to fear that the sun would continue its flight to the

north and might leave them eventually to freeze and starve.

Consequently the priests of the sun, able, on the twenty-first or

twenty-second of June, to stop its flight and tie it to a stone

pillar in one of their temples, were regarded with veneration.

When the shadows ceased to lengthen and became shorter, until

the sun was once more overhead and his kingdom firmly estab-

lished, there would naturally be great rejoicing. The period of

the summer solstice was one of joy just as that of the winter sol-

stice was one of fear. It is probable that the priests of the sun,

whose lives depended on their being successful in appearing to

control his actions, had learned to read the length of the

shadows cast by the huge sundials called intihuatana, or ‘the

place to which the sun is tied’.

One naturally expects to find these sacred stones within the

enclosure of the sanctuary or temple where the sun was wor-

shipped and where the Chosen Women were taught to become
his handmaidens. There they learned to be useful wives for

priests and nobles who could depend on them to weave beauti-

ful garments, cook toothsome dishes, and brew excellent chicha

with which the heart of man might be made glad and his spirit

raised from the heaviness caused by toil or fear.

One of the most important spots in the Andes would be the

ruins of a sanctuary with its temples of the Sun, Moon, and

Stars, its intihuatana, its supply of good fresh water for chicha,

its palaces for nobles and priests, and its dormitories for the

women who had been chosen to be Virgins of the Sun. Such a

sanctuary had been encountered by Pizarro and the conquista-

dors when they entered Cuzco. We found one somewhere else. It

was constructed with the utmost care by the most skilful archi-

tects and masons in the most inaccessible parts of the Andes.



CHAPTER TWO

THE ORIGIN OF THE INCAS

T
he more one studies the remarkable civilization which
the Spaniards found when they conquered Peru, the

more one wishes that the Incas and their predecessors

had learned the art of writing or at least of carving hieroglyph-

ics and had left behind them inscriptions which, in the course of

time, might have been deciphered and translated to tell us some-
thing of their history. Students of art and architecture assure us

that the period of time needed for the evolution of the ability

and skill shown by the Incas in creating objects of beauty must
have been as long as that required by the artistic Egyptians and
Greeks.

The historic chronicle of Egypt and the classic lands of the

Mediterranean was fortunately confided to tablets, inscrip-

tions, and manuscripts. It was carved in stone or on clay and
written on papyrus or vellum. So we know something positively

of the centuries their evolution took. Students of ancient Peru
on the other hand have no such kindly aids on which to base
their investigations. We must piece together contradictory tra-

ditions which were first written down at the time of the Spanish

Conquest, hundreds of years after the events. We must rely on
fragments of cloth and pottery, ruins of temples and terraces,

such material as can be obtained from graves, and a study of
what we know was achieved in agriculture, horticulture, and
animal industry. From all this material we must put together

what will be at best a very fragmentary story, on the details of

which no two experts ever will agree!

The best that one can do is patiently to study the evidence
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offered by the climate, the physical geography, and the anthro-

pology of the region and use it to construct a reasonable

account which is at least not capable of being destroyed by

incontrovertible evidence. Anyone who has read the stories

which have come down to us from the early Spanish conquerors

and their descendants like Garcilasso Inca de la Vega, or the

Christian missionaries, priests, monks, and Jesuits, who
learned the language of the Incas and made reports on what

they saw and found as well as what they heard, knows that their

statements are frequently so contradictory and conflicting that

they can hardly ever be said to be incontrovertible. Where the

Spanish chronicles run counter to the known habits of the high-

landers and the physical evidence gained by exploration, exca-

vation, and observation they may be regarded as less likely to be

true than statements not so contradicted.

The first comprehensive account in English of the civilization

of the Incas is that of the heroic historian William H. Prescott,

who overcame the handicaps of his partial blindness and inabil-

ity to travel by a patient accumulation of all the books and man-

uscripts dealing with Peru which he could secure. His vivid

stories of the conquest of both Peru and Mexico must ever

remain delightful classics to charm generations of readers. Of
necessity his account of the conquest of Peru was based largely

on Garcilasso Inca de la Vega, born in Cuzco in the year 1539,

the son of an Inca princess. Unfortunately for the accuracy of

his famous book, Royal Commentaries ,
Garcilasso left Peru

when only a boy in his teens, never returned to the land of his

birth, lived most of his life in Spain, and did not write his cele-

brated chronicles of the Incas until he was an old man.

During his years in Europe Garcilasso had undoubtedly suf-

fered frequently from remarks made by his contemporaries,

who were inclined to be contemptuous of the descendant of the

brown-skinned ‘heathen’ of the Andes. He had presumably fre-

quently repeated stories of his mother’s people, their achieve-

ments, their civilization, and their ancestry. He knew what

pleased and astonished his European auditors, what seemed to

them admirable and altogether worthy of praise. He knew what
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shocked them. It was, therefore, quite natural that in the course

of the thirty or forty years of his life in Spain, before he began
writing his book, he should come to believe that his mother’s

people were much more like Europeans than they really were.

He wanted Europeans to admire his maternal ancestors and he

wrote his book accordingly. Consequently there are many pages

in his book and many statements in Prescott’s account, based on
Garcilasso, which have a decidedly European atmosphere.

Another writer, an ecclesiastical lawyer of the seventeenth

century, who has recently begun to come into his own, wrote a

different sort of book. His name was Fernando Montesinos. In

1629, the century following the conquest, he appears to have

gone to Peru as an adviser of a viceroy, the Count of Chinchon,

whose name is remembered because his wife was cured of

malaria by the use of one of the very few specifics in the world, a

most important discovery of the Incas, a bark which they called

kina and which we call quinine, or ‘Peruvian bark’. Since the

Count of Chinchon was instrumental in the introduction of this

extraordinary medicine into Europe, the plant from which its

bark is taken was called after him, cinchona.

The Viceroy’s secretary, Montesinos, was well educated and
appears to have been devoted to historical research. He travelled

extensively in Peru and published several books. He wrote a

history of the Incas, Memorias Antiguas Historiales del Peru,

which was spoiled by the introduction in which, as might be

expected of an orthodox ecclesiastic, he contended that Peru

was peopled under the leadership of Ophir, the great-grandson

of Noah! Notwithstanding his clerical prejudices his work
appears to be of great value. The late Sir Clements Markham,
foremost English student of Inca history, was inclined to place

considerable credence on the statements of Montesinos. From
the wise old men whom he was able to consult in Inca Land he

secured a very long story of pre-Inca kings, called Amautas,
who seem to have been responsible for many of the achieve-

ments which we naturally ascribe to the Incas because we use

that term to cover the culture and the civilization found in the

Peruvian highlands. Montesinos says that ‘the fifty-third of the
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Excavation under Nusta Isppana, the White Rock.





‘Deep in the jungle of the Pampaconas River we discovered Inca ruins near a

place now called Espiritu Parnpa. Resting on top of the Inca’s bridge is the author

wearing his useful hunting coat, designed to carry everything



‘Inca gable at Esptritu Pampa.’
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,
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Kings of Peru’ was named Huilcanota or Vilcanota. Huilca is

the name of a plant from which the aborigines obtained a nar-

cotic snuff whose effects were startlingly intoxicating and pro-

duced visions. Whether he was the first to discover the virtue

which lay in the seeds from which they made their powerful

snuff we have no means of knowing.

However, he did give his name to the pass now called La Raya

which is on the watershed between the Amazon basin and Lake

Titicaca; at least the pass was called Vilcanota by the Incas.

Montesinos was of the opinion that the king was named after

the pass because of a great victory he had there. His capital was
at Cuzco where he learned from the reports of his provincial

governors that great hordes of people, barbarians, were coming
up from the plains of Argentina and invading the Bolivian

plateau and the basin of Lake Titicaca. King Vilcanota sent out

spies to get details of the enemy forces. Learning that they were

in two large armies, he assembled a powerful army himself and

took up his stand in the high, snowy pass of La Raya and forti-

fied it. Montesinos says, there ‘he gave battle to the first army,

which he conquered easily on account of its being in disorder.

The second army, hearing the news, came very confusedly to aid

their fellows, and it also was conquered. The King entered

Cuzco triumphant, bearing before him the vanquished, naked,

and with their hands tied. From this event the ancients call this

king Huilcanota.’

Montesinos says that this King Vilcanota was successful in

pacifying his kingdom, had a very long reign, and left many
sons. One of them, named Tupac Yupanqui, ‘rich in all the

virtues’, also had many sons and was a wise ruler. He had the

good will of friends and neighbours with whom he exchanged

gifts. He taught his sons the art of government and surrounded

them with experienced counsellors. His great-grandson,

Huaman Tacco, was the sixty-first Amauta. In his day there

were bad omens, comets, and earthquakes. His heir and succes-

sor was called Pachacuti VI.

Pachacuti was neither wise nor strong. Unfortunately in his

time the barbarian migrations began again, ‘great armies of
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very fierce people’ from the east and south. ‘Full of dismay and
melancholy’ on account of the earthquakes, comets, and other
bad omens and the sombre prognostications of the wizards and
soothsayers, he offered sacrifices to his gods and tried to make
what preparations he could by fortifying camps and strong
points. Learning from his spies that hordes of warriors were
again marching north through the basin of Lake Titicaca he
became panicky, scattered his forces, sent some captains to the

Bolivian plateau, sent others to defend various passes, and went
himself with the main body of his army to the pass of La Raya
which his famous ancestor Vilcanota had once fortified. There
he built a fortress, the remains of which can still be seen.

Instead of waiting behind his walls and terraces for the enemy
to attack at a disadvantage, he sallied out, against the advice of
his captains, and gave battle. His troops were armed with slings,

clubs, and spears. The enemy had bows and arrows. The contest
was terrific. Carried aloft on a golden litter, Pachacuti did his

best to encourage his troops. Unfortunately he was an easy
mark for an enemy archer. Fatally wounded by an arrow, his

death caused consternation among his troops. Losing courage,
the soldiers fled to a fortress with the body of their king.

Then, secretly, at night they carried it away to a place of safety

called Tampu-tocco, ‘a place of temporary abode where there

were windows’ or ‘Window Tavern’. Here they were joined by
the remnants of Pachacuti’s army.

After this debacle, says Montesinos, ‘the Provinces of the

Kingdom, learning of the death of the king, all rose up in rebel-

lion, and the people of Tampu-tocco had many dissensions
among themselves as to the choosing of a king.

‘Thus was the government of the Peruvian monarchy lost and
destroyed. It did not come to its own for four hundred years, and
the knowledge of letters was lost. In each province they elected

their own king, and he to whom it was given to be the heir of
Pachacuti was Titu Huaman Quicho, a very young boy. The
loyal men were few, and could not bear comparison with the

other peoples. They went to Tampu-tocco, and there they raised

him up to be their king, because, on account of the revolts, none
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could live in Cuzco, all being in turmoil. And, as men came little

by little to live at Tampu-tocco under the protection of the king,

Cuzco became almost deserted, and only the ministers of the

temple remained there.

‘The faithful vassals were happy in Tampu-tocco with the

boy king, for there, according to the legends of the amautas, is

the very celebrated cave where the Incas had their origin, and

they affirm as a certainty that there have never been seen there

earthquakes, pestilence, nor earth-tremors. And if evil fortune

should pursue the boy king, they could hide him in the cave as in

a holy place. The king came of age, and lived with much moder-

ation for many years. He called himself king of Tampu-tocco,

not of Cuzco, although on certain days he went to worship in

the temple (at Cuzco). He left as his heir Cozque Huaman Titu,

who lived twenty-five years. Of him and his successors nothing

of note is related until the return to Cuzco.’

Montesinos gives the name and length of reign of quite a

number of the Kings of Tampu-tocco covering a period of some

four hundred years. Then came the reign of one called Pachacuti

VII who began to recover some of the cities and provinces which

had been lost at the time of the barbarian invasion.

‘As the people obeyed him with so little certainty, and as they

were so greatly corrupted in the matter of religion and customs,

he took steps to conquer them, because he said that if those

people communicated with his they would corrupt them with

the great vices to which they had given themselves up like

ungovernable beasts. Therefore he tactfully sent messengers in

all directions, asking the chiefs to put a stop to superstition and

to the adoration of the many gods and animals which they

adored; and the outcome of this was but a slight mending of

their ways and the slaying of the ambassadors. The king dissem-

bled for the time being and made great sacrifices and appeals to

Illatici Huira Cocha. One reply was that the cause of the pesti-

lence had been the letters, and that no one ought to use them nor

resuscitate them for, from their employment great harm would

come. Therefore Tupac Cauri commanded by law, that under

the pain of death, no one should traffic in quilcas, which were
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the parchments and leaves of trees on which they used to write,

nor should use any sort of letters. They observed this oracular

command with so much care that after this loss the Peruvians
never used letters. And, because in later times a learned amauta
invented some characters, they burnt him alive, and so, from
this time forth, they used threads and quipos

One cannot help wondering whether there was a time when
the ancient Peruvians, so skilful in so many ways, so inventive in

developing art and agriculture and in breeding new plants and
animals, also conceived the idea of making a written record but
were prevented from doing it by the superstition of the people
and the fear of the priests and soothsayers. It is not an impossi-

bility.

It was currently believed in Cuzco at the time that Mon-
tesinos was writing, that Tampu-tocco, the ‘Window Tavern’,

was about 20 miles from Cuzco at a place known then and now
as Paccari-tampu or the Tavern of the Dawn. So we are not sur-

prised to find Montesinos saying that the king built there a ‘sort

of University where the nobles attended the exercises of the sol-

diery and the boys were taught the manner of counting by the

quipos, adding together the different colours, which served as

letters, by means of which they were increasing their slight

learning. The soldiery, and the loyalty of his people being
assured, he determined to conquer the rebels. For this purpose,
all his men were placed under arms, but the attack did not take
place because there were remarkable earthquakes which ruined
many buildings all through the region of Cuzco, and rivers

sprang up in dry beds and ran for many days through dry gullies

where no water had been seen before, and destroyed many vil-

lages. After this, a pestilence took place, of which innumerable
people died, and the amautas say that only in Tampu-tocco was
no pestilence seen; a fact which led Manco Capac to establish

his court there.’ And there they lived for more than five hundred
years until it became too small for an active, growing nation.

The significant part of this story of what happened before

Manco Capac, the first ruler to be called an Inca, established his

court at Tampu-tocco, is that it was so far away from Cuzco that
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neither earthquakes nor pestilence reached it. It must have been

much farther away than the little village of Paccari-tampu,

where the climate is too cold for windows and the distance from

Cuzco only a few leagues.

There are many stories of the rise of Manco Capac, who,

when he had grown to man’s estate, assembled his people to see

how he could secure new lands for them. Pachacuti Yamqui

Salcamayhua, a descendant of a long line of Incas, whose great-

grandparents lived in Cuzco at the time of the Spanish

Conquest, wrote in 1620 an account of the antiquities of Peru in

which he gives the history of the Incas as it was handed down to

the descendants of the former rulers of Peru. We are informed

by him that Manco Capac, after consultation with his brothers,

determined to set out with them ‘towards the hill over which the

sun rose’, and that he and his brothers succeeded in reaching

Cuzco and settled there. Manco married one of his own sisters

in order that he might not lose caste and that no other family be

elevated by this marriage to an equality with his. He made good

laws, conquered many provinces, and is regarded as the founder

of the Inca dynasty. The highlanders of Peru soon came under

his sway with good grace and brought him rich presents. The
Inca, as he now came to be called, was recognized as the most

powerful chief, the most valiant fighter, and the luckiest warrior

in the Andes. His captains and soldiers were brave, well disci-

plined, and well armed. All his affairs prospered greatly. ‘After-

ward he ordered works to be executed at the place of his birth,

consisting of a masonry wall with three windows, which were

emblems of the house of his fathers whence he descended.’ The
windows were named after his paternal and maternal grand-

parents and his uncles. We shall have occasion to refer to these

three windows again.

His descendants gradually extended their power until by the

time of the Spanish Conquest they had subdued almost all the

tribes and kingdoms of the Andes and the West Coast, from

Quito in Ecuador to northern Argentina and central Chile in

the south. Their rule was a benevolent despotism. Their people

were taught to speak the Quichua tongue. Though their armies
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were powerful they were essentially agriculturists and delighted

in practising the arts of peace rather than war. They did not like

soldiers. As has been pointed out, they called them ‘enemies’.

Finally, after some three centuries, the rulers became soft and
luxury loving.

Then one day there appeared out of the north a small group
of stocky warriors, wearing armour and bearing weapons
‘which used thunder and lightning’ to carry death to soldiers at

incredible distances. With them were strange animals, twice as

large and strong as a llama, heavy enough to carry the armed
cavaliers into battle. To a superstitious people the Spanish con-
quistadors appeared to be supernatural - possibly foreign gods
with mysterious and dreadful powers.

The Emperor of the time, the Inca Atahualpa, a weak and
vacillating monarch, was captured by Pizarro, and threatened
with death unless he would fill a room full of gold. To the Incas,

gold was a precious metal, secured at great expense from the

placer mines of the eastern Andes. The gold vessels they pro-
duced were extremely thin and disappointingly light in weight,

so far as the avaricious conquerors were concerned. Further-
more, Pizarro learned that millions of Indians regarded
Atahualpa as a god, a supreme ruler able to command their

lives, but without whom they were uncertain how to act. Conse-
quently the Inca was put to death, and Peru with its millions of
people and its untold wealth fell into the hands of a small
company of Spanish soldiers. The story is one of the strangest in

history. It has been romantically told by the historian Prescott

and others and need not be repeated here, since our story deals

chiefly with the Incas who were set on the throne by Pizarro

himself.



CHAPTER THREE

THE STORY OF THE LAST
FOUR INCAS

We are told by Pedro Sancho, who was one of the secre-

taries of the great Pizarro, that as soon as Cuzco was

captured by the Spaniards in 1533 the conqueror

selected as ruler a young nobleman named Manco, who was
prudent and active and seemed to him the best of the Incas.

Conquistador Pizarro placed him on the throne of his ancestors

in order that the Inca nobles and the military chieftains should

not flee to their own lands and set up independent provinces,

and should not join the northern Indians who were inclined to

rebel against the rule of Atahualpa, whom Pizarro had just put

to death. To prevent incipient rebellion and keep the disaffected

caciques from organizing hostile bands, he gave orders that they

were to obey young Manco II and accept him as their emperor.

As the grandson of the famous emperor Huyana the Great, he

could legally be regarded as entitled to rule over the aborigines.

The young man was naturally very much pleased to be placed

on the throne and crowned with the sacred fringe, which among
the Incas constituted the principal badge of sovereignty. He
soon learned, however, that he was not his own master but was
merely a puppet, obliged to take orders from the new con-

querors. His ambition and his restless spirit led him to stage a

revolt. He knew he could command the services of thousands of

Inca warriors. He knew that the Spanish conquerors were really

only a handful of armed men, less than two hundred in number,

and far from their base of supplies. He reckoned, however,
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without the enemy’s having weapons infinitely more efficient

than the bows and arrows, spears, clubs, and sling stones on
which his own soldiers had to depend. His men were brave and
devoted but they were naturally terrified by the sounds of the

Spanish field pieces and blunderbusses, as well as amazed at

their ability to kill at a far greater distance than any weapon ever

seen before. Manco was also grievously disappointed to find

that the Spanish were able to secure the services of large

numbers of disaffected Indians who had no feeling of loyalty to

the new Inca. In 1536, after several bloody encounters, Manco’s
troops were routed and fled with him from the vicinity of Cuzco
down into the Urubamba Valley.

A contemporary who wrote a graphic account of the wars of

Peru a few years later says that Manco took with him a great

quantity of treasure, including gold ornaments and ‘many loads

of rich clothing of wool, delicate in texture and very beautiful

and showy’. The Spaniards believed that he had also burdened
himself with much silver and gold. We do know that he took
with him the largest and most valuable of the gold images of the

sun which had been in the principal temple in Cuzco.

Manco also took with him his three sons. His second son

Titu Cusi seems to have been his favourite, although it was
claimed that he was illegitimate because his mother was one of

the concubines and was not the Empress or First Lady.

Some years later Titu Cusi dictated to a mestizo, whose
father was a Spanish soldier and whose mother was a Quichua,
an account of the life and death of the Inca Manco II. It appears

that the mestizo, who spoke both his father’s and mother’s

tongue, was able to prepare a crude translation, which, as it was
intended to be sent to the King of Spain, was revised by an
Augustinian missionary, Friar Marcos Garcia.

According to Titu Cusi’s story, he was six years old when they

fled from Cuzco into the Urubamba Valley. He remembers that

his father, becoming aware that the Spaniards would soon
descend from the plateau into the lovely temperate valley near

Yucay, which was the favourite residence of the Incas, decided to

take refuge in the lower Urubamba Valley beyond the Cordillera
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de Vilcabamba in one of the most inaccessible parts of the

Andes. He remembers that when his father bade a tender and

affectionate farewell to the soldiers who had been with him in

his unsuccessful campaigns against the Spaniards they replied

with great shouts which ‘seemed as if they would sink the hills’.

Manco gave permission to all who wished to return to their

own homes to do so. Many, however, followed him, including

some of his bravest captains who had survived the fierce battles

fought during the revolt.

The last important town in the temperate valley they were

about to leave is called Ollantaytambo. Before they left it to go

their separate ways, Titu Cusi tells us, his father invited all the

Indians of the region to come to a great feast. Apparently many
of the soldiers got drunk, left their arms in their houses and

were unable to defend themselves when a group of Spaniards

took advantage of the farewell party to stage an attack. Titu

Cusi says that the Spaniards seized some of the mummies of his

ancestors who were being carried away from Cuzco, together

with many jewels and precious objects. He claims that they

drove off 50,000 head of llamas and alpacas. If this is true the

number must have included many of the flocks and herds which

the Inca Manco could rightfully claim as his own even though

they were not at Ollantaytambo.

Titu Cusi says that his father escaped as best he could but that

the Spaniards captured him with his mother and many of the

royal family and carried them back in triumph to Cuzco with

the booty they had taken.

The Spanish soldiers who attempted to follow Manco and the

remains of his army found their enemy’s position impregnable.

Everyone is familiar with the story of how hazardous it was for

Hannibal and Napoleon, in different epochs, to bring their

armies into Italy through the comparatively low passes of the

Alps. It is not surprising that Pizarro found it impossible to

follow the Inca Manco over passes which were higher than the

very summit of Mont Blanc. In no part of the Peruvian Andes
are there so many beautiful snow peaks. Veronica (19,342 ft.),

Salcantay (20,565 ft.), Soray (19,437 ft.), and Soiroccocha
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(18,197 ft-)) are outstanding features of the landscape. Some of
them are visible for a hundred miles. None of them have been
climbed so far as is known.
On the shoulders of these mountains are scores of glaciers

that have scarcely ever been visited except by some hardy
prospector or inquisitive explorer. The valleys between them are
to be reached only through passes 15,000 feet high, where the
traveller is likely to be halted by violent storms of hail and snow.
During the rainy season a large part of the region beyond these
mountains is impenetrable. Even in the dry season the difficul-

ties of transportation are very great. The sure-footed mules of
modern Peruvians are frequently unable to use the mountain
trails without assistance. It will be easily recognized that this

region was a natural fortress for Inca Manco and his followers.

Manco’s army fled over the Pass of Panticalla, went down the
Lucumayo River, and crossed the lower Urubamba on an Inca
suspension bridge at a place called Chuquichaca. There they
were able to enter one of the affluents of the Urubamba which
today is called the Vilcabamba, and passing up that valley estab-
lish themselves in a pleasant region where their favourite crops
could be grown and their llamas and alpacas find adequate pas-
turage.

Manco established himself on top of a mountain, where he
built a long palace and characteristic Inca structures. The
place was called Vitcos, or possibly Uiticos. Manco’s refuge was
also referred to by contemporary writers as Vilcapampa. The
common name of the province was Vilcabamba. Of this I shall

have more to say in a later chapter. Here, safe from the armed
forces of his enemy, he was able to enjoy the benefits of a dry
climate in a well-watered region where corn and potatoes, as
well as the fruits of the temperate and subtropical zones grow
rapidly.

Titu Cusi tells us that, using Vitcos as a base, Manco and his

captains were accustomed to sally forth against the Spaniards
frequently and in unexpected directions. It was relatively easy
for him, with a handful of followers, to dash out of the moun-
tain fastnesses, cross the great river Apurimac on primitive rafts.
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and reach the high road between the Spanish capital of Lima
and the ancient city of Cuzco. As time went on, officials and
merchants whose business forced them to use this road, the

principal route across the Andes, found it becoming more and
more precarious. Manco was able to encourage his followers by

making them realize that in these raids they were taking sweet

revenge on their conquerors. Even one of the Spanish chroni-

clers justifies Manco in these activities, remarking that the

Spaniards had indeed stolen his inheritance and forced him to

leave his native land and live in exile.

Manco’s success in securing such an excellent place of refuge

and in using it as a base from which he could make frequent

raids led many Inca nobles to follow him and take up residence

in the Cordillera de Vilcabamba. While they had none of the

weapons or armour used by the Spaniards, they were very effi-

cient with the bolas and with slings. The Spaniards reported

that the bolas were frequently thrown at their horses, binding

their legs together and enabling them to be captured. They said

that sometimes the bolas even pinned a man’s arms to his side.

They reported that the Incas, using large slings, could hurl

heavy stones with sufficient force to kill a horse and even break a

sword at a distance of thirty paces.

Manco’s raids finally became so annoying that Pizarro sent

an expeditionary force from Cuzco to attempt to capture him,

disperse his army, and destroy his castles.

The Spanish soldiers found it impossible to use their horses

and attempted to make a successful raid on foot. As might have

been expected, while they were suffering from fatigue,

exhausted by their difficult march and the soroche
, or mountain

sickness which is very likely to affect Europeans at altitudes of

more than 13,000 feet, they were ambushed by Manco’s soldiers

and almost all of them perished. To anyone who has climbed

over the Pass of Panticalla, it is not surprising that Pizarro ’s

expedition was a failure or that the Inca, warned by keen-

sighted Indians, posted according to their custom on appropri-

ate vantage points where they could signal with beacon fires,

succeeded in defeating a small force of weary soldiers clad in
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armour and carrying the heavy blunderbuss of those days.

Pizarro’s men were probably stoned to death by the skilful oper-

ators of slings before they could even prepare their clumsy

weapons for firing. The survivors returned to Cuzco with a vivid

story of disaster and the conviction that the Pass of Panticalla

was not to be used easily by an invading force. The effect of their

story on Pizarro and his advisers and the importance of this

reverse will be better appreciated if one remembers that the

original size of the expedition which conquered Peru and cap-

tured Atahualpa was less than two hundred, only a few times

larger than the company which had been wiped out by Manco’s

little band estimated by the Spaniards at only about eighty

Indians. Possibly there were not even that many.

News of the disaster to his men was so startling, and so likely

to cause further trouble among the thousands of Indians whom
he was attempting to govern, that Pizarro himself hastily set out

with a body of soldiers determined to punish young Manco who
had inflicted such a blow on the prestige of Spanish arms. This

attempt, however, also failed, even though they succeeded in

using the Pass of Panticalla, because the Inca had withdrawn

across the rivers and mountains, destroying bridges and trails,

safely reaching the inaccessible region around Vitcos.

Gonzalo Pizarro, the brother of the great Francisco, under-

took the pursuit of the Inca and occupied some of the passes and

bridges, but was also unsuccessful in penetrating the mountain

labyrinth. He did not come into actual conflict with Manco.

Unable to subdue him or prevent disastrous raids on travellers

between Cuzco and Lima, Francisco Pizarro established a forti-

fied city called Ayacucho at a convenient point on the road so as

to make it secure for travellers.

Francisco Pizarro was made a Marshal by the King of Spain,

Charles V, but was bitterly opposed by Almagro, his original

partner. In 1541 some of the followers of Almagro assassinated the

Marshal, an event which must have brought joy to Manco in

Vitcos. His joy did not last long, however, because the Almagrists

were soon defeated and had to flee. Half a dozen of the refugees

managed to get across the Apurimac and, protesting allegiance to
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the Inca, were kindly received by him in 1542. The leaders of the

band were Gomez Perez and Diego Mendez, ‘rascals’, says Father

Calancha, ‘worthy of Manco’s favour’. (Father Calancha wrote a

missionary chronicle from reports of Augustinian Friars who lived

near Vitcos for some years.)

It is said that Perez and Mendez instructed Manco in the use of

firearms and in horsemanship. They may have been able to bring

their horses with them. They also taught him how to play various

games with which they were familiar - quoits, bowls and even

chess and checkers - at least that is what we are told by the chron-

iclers. They took their games very seriously and occasionally

violent disputes arose in which they were inclined to forget the

rank of their host and how highly he was regarded by his people.

As long as Gonzalo Pizarro was in power they were glad to be

Manco’s guests, but one day they heard that Charles V had had

enough of the rough conquistadors. In 1544 he sent out a

Viceroy with a new code, the ‘New Laws’, a result of the efforts

of the good Bishop Las Casas to alleviate the sufferings of the

Indians. The ‘New Laws’ provided, among other things, that all

the officers of the crown were to renounce their repartimientos

or holdings of Indian serfs, and that compulsory personal

service was to be entirely abolished. Repartimientos given to the

conquerors were not to pass to their heirs, but were to revert to

the king. In other words, the ‘New Laws’ gave evidence that the

Spanish crown wished to be kind to the Indians and did not

approve of the Pizarros. This was good news for Manco and
highly pleasing to the refugees. They persuaded the Inca to

write a letter to the Viceroy, asking permission to appear before

him and offer his services to the king. The Spanish refugees told

the Inca that by this means he might some day recover his

Empire, ‘or at least the best part of it’. Their object in persuad-

ing the Inca to send such a message to the Viceroy becomes
apparent when we learn that they ‘also wrote as from them-

selves desiring a pardon for what was past’ and permission to

return to Spanish dominions.

Gomez Perez, who seems to have been the most active leader

of the little group, was selected to be the bearer of the letters
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from the Inca and the refugees. Attended by a dozen Indians

whom the Inca instructed to act as his servants and bodyguard,
he left Vitcos, presented his letters to the Viceroy, and gave him
‘a large relation of the State and Conditions of the Inca, and of

his true and real designs to do him service. The Vice-king joy-

fully received the news and granted a full and ample pardon of
all crimes, as desired. And as for the Inca, he made many kind
expressions of love and respect, truly considering that the inter-

est of the Inca might be advantageous to him, both in war and
peace. And with this satisfactory answer Gomez Perez returned

both to the Inca and to his companions.’ The refugees were
delighted with the news and got ready to return to king and
country. Their departure, however, was prevented by a tragic

accident, thus described by Garcilasso Inca de la Vega:

‘The Inca, to humour the Spaniards and entertain himself

with them, had given directions for making a bowling-green;
when playing one day with Gomez Perez, he came to have some
quarrel and difference with this Perez about the measure of a

cast, which often happened between them; for this Perez, being a

person of a hot and fiery brain, without any judgment or under-
standing, would take the least occasion in the world to contend
with and provoke the Inca. Being no longer able to endure his

rudeness, the Inca punched him on the breast, and bid him con-
sider with whom he talked. Perez, not considering in his heart

and passion either his own safety or the safety of his compan-
ions, lifted up his hand, and with the bowl struck the Inca so

violently on the head, that he knocked him down. [He died three

days later.] The Indians hereupon, being enraged by the death of

their Prince, joined together against Gomez and the Spaniards,

who fled into a house, and with the swords in their hands
defended the door; the Indians set fire to the house, which being
too hot for them, they sallied out into the Marketplace, where
the Indians assaulted them and shot them with their Arrows
until they had killed every man of them; and then afterwards,

out of mere rage and fury they designed either to eat them raw
as their custom was, or to burn them and cast their ashes into

the river, that no sign or appearance might remain of them; but
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at length, after some consultation, they agreed to cast their

bodies into the open fields, to be devoured by vultures and birds

of the air, which they supposed to be the highest indignity and

dishonour that they could show to their Corps.’ Garcilasso con-

cludes: ‘I informed myself very perfectly from those chiefs and

nobles who were present and eye-witnesses of the unparalleled

piece of madness of that rash and hare-brained fool; and heard

them [he was five years old] tell this story to my mother and

parents with tears in their eyes.’

There are many versions of the tragedy. One is that the

quarrel was over a game of chess between the Inca and Diego

Mendez, another of the refugees, who lost his temper and called

the Inca a dog. Angered at the tone and language of his guest,

the Inca gave him a blow with his fist. Diego Mendez thereupon

drew a dagger and killed him.

A totally different account from the one obtained by Gar-

cilasso from his informants is that given by an eye-witness,

Manco’s son, Titu Cusi, twenty years after the event.

He says that his father ‘because he did not like to be without

me, sent to Cuzco for me. The messengers took me and my
mother secretly to the town of Vitcos, where my father had

come for fresh air, it being a cold land. There I and my father

stayed for many days. At different times seven Spaniards

arrived, saying that they were fugitives owing to having commit-

ted offences, and they protested that they would serve my father

with all their power, for the remainder of their lives. They
prayed that they might be allowed to remain in that land and

end their days there. My father, thinking that they came with

good intentions, ordered his captains to do them no harm, for

he wished to keep them as his servants, and that they should

have houses in which to live. The captains would much rather

have put an end to them, but obeyed my father’s orders. My
father had them with him for many days and years, treating

them very well, and giving them all that they needed, even

ordering his own women to prepare their food and their bever-

age, and taking meals with them. He treated them as if they

were his own brothers.
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‘After these Spaniards had been with my father for several

years in the said town of Vitcos they were one day, with much
good fellowship, playing at quoits with him; only them, my
father, and me, who was then a boy. [He was about fifteen years

old.] In this game, just as my father was raising the quoit to

throw, they all rushed upon him with knives, daggers, and some
swords. My father, feeling himself wounded, strove to make
some defence, but he was one and unarmed, and they were seven

fully armed; he fell to the ground covered with wounds, and
they left him for dead. I, being a little boy, and seeing my father

treated in this manner, wanted to go where he was to help him.

But they turned furiously upon me, and hurled a lance which
only just failed to kill me also. I was terrified and fled amongst
some bushes. They looked for me, but could not find me. The
Spaniards, seeing that my father had ceased to breathe, went
out of the gate, in high spirits, saying, ‘Now that we have killed

the Inca we have nothing to fear.’ But at this moment the

Captain Rimachi Yupanqui (‘rich in all virtues’) arrived with
some Antis, and presently chased them in such sort that, before

they could get very far along a difficult road, they were caught
and pulled from their horses. They all had to suffer very cruel

deaths and some were burnt. Notwithstanding his wounds my
father lived for three days.’

SAYRI TUPAC

On the death of the Inca Manco in 1545, his oldest son, Sayri

Tupac, still a minor, ruled in his father’s stead. He was not at all

warlike; on the contrary he seems to have been fond of luxury

and comfort. With the aid of the nobles and chieftains who had
been his father’s friends and supporters he reigned for ten years

without disturbing his Spanish neighbours or arousing their

hostility.

In 1555 a new Viceroy from Spain decided to attempt to make
a peaceful conquest of this difficult region by inviting young
Sayri Tupac to come out of the inaccessible wilds of the

Cordillera Vilcabamba and live in the fertile and attractive
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valley of Yucay, not many miles from Cuzco. It has a temp-
erate climate, produces lovely flowers and luscious fruits, and
has frequently been called one of the beauty spots of the

world.

The Viceroy undertook to accomplish this matter through an
aunt of the young man who was living in Cuzco. She sent a

trusted ambassador, one of her relatives of the blood royal,

attended by faithful retainers. Sayri Tupac’s counsellors permit-

ted the messenger to enter Vitcos and deliver the Viceroy’s invi-

tation. But with their knowledge of the conquistadors, who had
not built up much of a reputation for integrity and honour, the

Inca nobles were not inclined to advise Sayri Tupac to place

himself in the Viceroy’s hands. Accordingly they kept the visitor

as a hostage and sent a messenger of their own to Cuzco to ask

that a more trusted cousin be sent as ambassador.

In the meantime the Viceroy had become annoyed with this

delay and sent from Lima a priest, and a soldier who had
married the daughter of the unfortunate Inca Atahualpa and
had learned to speak Quichua. They started off quite confi-

dently on their mission, taking with them as presents for the

young Sayri Tupac and his friends silver cups and Spanish

velvet. They travelled as fast as they could but were detained at

the bridge of Chuquichaca, which was the key to the valley in

which Vitcos was situated. Here they were joined by the Inca’s

cousin, who had been sent for by the nobles and who arrived at

the bridge a few days after them. He was welcomed by the Inca

nobles and did his best to encourage Sayri Tupac to accept the

Viceroy’s offer. At his suggestion the Viceroy’s messengers were
admitted to the presence of the Inca. They offered the presents

which the Viceroy had sent, but were disappointed to find that

Sayri Tupac seemed to prefer to remain free and independent in

his secluded valley. He asked them to take back the silver cups to

the Viceroy. A few days later, however, after listening to the

many interesting stories of life in Cuzco as told by his cousin,

the young Inca finally decided to reconsider the matter and
accept the Viceroy’s invitation, notwithstanding the advice of

his nobles.
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Anxious to see something of the world, only known to him by
rumour, Sayri Tupac even went to Lima, travelling in regal state,

carried in a litter by faithful retainers and accompanied by some
300 Indians. He was kindly received by the Viceroy and sent
back to Cuzco, where for a time he lodged in one of the old Inca
palaces. His cousin, Garcilasso, says that he himself as a young
boy went to see Sayri Tupac, found him playing games, and was
invited to stay and enjoy a few cups of excellent chicha.

The Viceroy, carrying out his original plan, now ordered that
Sayri Tupac should publicly receive the sacred red fringe of Inca
sovereignty, embrace Christianity, be married to a princess of
the blood royal, and take up his abode as planned, in beautiful
Yucay. Here, Sayri Tupac’s fondness for comfort and luxury was
readily gratified. He was surrounded by devoted retainers, who
took delight in attending to the wants of the wearer of the sacred
red fringe. He was seemingly well contented with his lot and
neither ambitious nor restless. Of course he might have served
as the focus for an uprising against the Spaniards but so far as
we know there is no evidence that he wished to do so. Neverthe-
less he only lived in Yucay for about two years. The Viceroy said
he died of disease. The nobles of Vitcos believed he was poi-
soned. At all events in 1560 his half brother, Titu Cusi, the
favourite, if illegitimate, son of Manco, immediately assumed
the throne, not at Cuzco or Yucay but in the wilds of Vil-

cabamba.

TITU CUSI

Thanks to Titu Cusi’s own narrative, already referred to in the
account of his father’s life and violent death, and to Father
Calancha’s chronicle, we know more about Titu Cusi than
about any of his brothers or his father.

It will be remembered that he had lived for some years as a
little boy in Cuzco but had managed to escape from his captors
and was with his father Manco, living in Vitcos, at the time of
the fatal game of quoits or bowls which resulted so badly for the
Spanish refugees as well as for the Inca.
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We do not know where he was at the time of Sayri Tupac’s

death but we are told that as soon as he heard of it he fled into

the inaccessible valleys of the Cordillera Vilcabamba, put his

younger brother Tupac Amaru ‘into the House of the Sun with

the Chosen Virgins and their Matrons’ and assumed the throne

of the now greatly shrunken Inca Empire. Titu Cusi was then

about thirty years old.

Captain Baltasar de Ocampo, a contemporary Spanish

soldier who went to the Vilcabamba valley after gold a few years

later, prepared an account of the Province. In it he says that

Tupac Amaru ‘was the natural and legitimate Lord of these

lands ... but the elder brother by his management and cunning

kept him secluded and imprisoned on account of his want of

experience, usurping the government for himself’. However, he

also says that to place him with the Virgins of the Sun was ‘a

most ancient custom among all the rulers of these kingdoms
before the arrival of the Spaniards’.

A great sanctuary, well provided with temples, baths, and
trained handmaidens must have been an ideal place for the

young man. He probably spent most of the next ten years

among its temples and palaces. Since its whereabouts were
unknown to the Spaniards it would also have been a favourite

residence for Titu Cusi himself, where he would have been well

taken care of by the Chosen Women. His mother seems to have

stayed there also. But it was necessary for him to spend a good
part of his time with his councillors and his army at Vitcos.

One of his first visitors at Vitcos was Don Diego Rodriguez de

Figueroa, who, acting under the Viceroy’s orders, attempted to

convert Titu Cusi to Christianity and persuade him to leave Vil-

cabamba. Fortunately Rodriguez wrote a full account of his

trip. His narrative is entertaining and shows clearly the precau-

tions which Titu Cusi took to keep out strangers. Unlike so

many of our sources of knowledge of the Incas it was not

written from hearsay or long after the event. It is therefore

worth quoting at some length.

Rodriguez, according to Sir Clements Markham’s transla-

tion, wrote as follows:
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i left Cuzco on the 8th of April 1565, after having received

letters from Judge Matienzo to the Inca Titu Cusi Yupanqui,

with leave to make an entrance, after having offered my services

to go by that route. I went to sleep at Ollantaytambo, where
they gave me seven Indian carriers to show me the way.’ He then

went over the Pass of Panticalla and down the Lucumayo river to

an ancient suspension bridge.

‘On the 5th day of May ten [Inca] captains came to the

bridge, richly dressed with diadems of plumes, and lances in

their hands which they brandished, and wearing masks on their

faces. They came to the passage of the bridge where I was, and
asked me if I was the man who had the audacity to want to come
and speak to the Inca. I said yes. They replied that I could not

fail to be much afraid, and if I felt fear I could not come, because

the Inca was a great enemy of cowards. To this I answered that if

he was an elephant or a giant I might be afraid, but as he was a

man like myself I had no fear, but I would offer him respect. If he

would let me enter under his word, I would do so, for I knew
that he would keep it.’ Apparently he did not like the bridge or

they were afraid to let him use it, because he says that, ‘On the

6th day of May I crossed the river in a basket travelling along a

cable, and seven Indians came with me. The ten Indians of the

Inca helped me to cross, and accompanied me. That night I slept

at the foot of a snowy mountain.

‘I set out on the 12th of May and went on to Vitcos where the

seven Spaniards killed the Inca, and their heads are exposed.

The Indians told me that those Spaniards had killed him to raise

the land, and that they determined to kill him while playing at la

herradura [horse-shoe quoits]. One Mendez did it with four or

five stabs behind him until he killed him; and to Titu Cusi, the

Inca who is now, they would have done the same, but he escaped

down some rocks, which they showed me. If they had wanted to

kill some Indians they could have done so, but their object was
to kill the Inca. Then many Indians and captains assembled,

who seized the Spaniards and killed them.’

It will be noticed that this version differs from the one told by

Garcilasso and by Titu Cusi himself. They made it sound more
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like an accident in a quarrel. Since the regicides were renegades

and outlaws, it was perhaps natural that Rodriguez as an official

of the vice-regal government, should have felt no compunction

in accusing them of treachery to their host.

Rodriguez continues: ‘On the 13th of May I sent two of my
Indians to the Inca with some refreshments of raisins, figs, and

other things. The Inca received them well, and gave them two

baskets of peanuts which they were to take to me, with a

message that next day he would arrive, so that we should see

each other soon, and that I need not travel further.

‘On the 14th of May the Indians of Bambacona had made me
a large house on a strong height surrounded by entrenchments.

Below were the houses of the inhabitants. The road by which he

was to come was very clean and passed over a great plain. The
three hundred Indians with their lances, and others from the

surrounding country, had made a great theatre for the Inca, of

red clay. They were awaiting his arrival, and wished me to go out

to meet him. They told me that the people of the village would

wait on the plain, and that they would show me a place where

they had brought two loads of straw, half a stone’s throw from

the rest of the people. They told me to wait there, and see the

entry of the Inca, and not to move until the Inca sent for me.

‘Many lances were drawn up on a hill, and messengers arrived

to say that the Inca was coming. Presently the escort of the Inca

began to appear.’ Rodriguez now does us the great service of

describing as accurately as he can, the formal dress deemed
appropriate for the Emperors of Peru in the days of Inca power

and majesty. ‘The Inca came in front of all, with a head-dress of

plumes of many colours, a silver plate on his breast, a golden

shield in one hand, and a lance all of gold. He wore garters of

feathers and fastened to them were small wooden bells. On his

head was a diadem and another around the neck. In one hand he

had a gilded dagger, and he came in a mask of several colours.’

From this description, the Spanish artists of the sixteenth and

seventeenth centuries drew their pictures of Inca Emperors they

had never seen. Copies may be seen in Cuzco.

‘Arriving on the plateau where the places of the people were,
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and his seat was set up, and mine, he gazed where the sun was,

making a sort of reverence with his hand, which they call mucha
(a kiss), and then went to his seat. There came with him a

mestizo with a shield and sword, and in a Spanish dress, a very

old cloak. Presently he turned his eyes in the direction where I

was, and I took off my hat. The Indians did not notice this. I

held up an image of Our Lady which I carried in my bosom, and
though the Indians saw it, they took no notice. Then two ore-

jones [big-ears, nobles] came near the Inca with two halberds,

dressed in diadems of plumes with much adornment of gold and
silver. These made obeisance and reverence to the sun and then

to the Inca. All the rest were standing near his seat, encircling

him in good order. Presently the governor came, named Yamqui
Mayta, with sixty or seventy attendants with their silver plates,

lances, belts of gold and silver, the same dresses as were worn by
all who came with the Inca. Then came the Master of the Camp
with the same gaily dressed following; and all made obeisance

first to the sun and then to the Inca, saying, “Child of the Sun
thou art the child of the day.” Then they took up their position

round the Inca. Then another captain entered, named Vilcapari

Guaman, with about thirty Indians bearing lances adorned
with feathers of many colours. Then twenty men with axes,

making reverence to the sun like the rest. All wore masks of dif-

ferent colours, which they put before their faces. Next a little

Indian entered who, after making reverences to the sun and the

Inca, came towards me, brandishing a lance, and raising it with
great audacity. He then began to cry out in Spanish “Get out! get

out!” and to menace me with his lance. Next another captain

entered named Cusi Puma, with about fifty archers, who are

Antis eating human flesh. Presently all these warriors took off

their plumes of feathers and put down their lances. With their

daggers of bronze and their shields of silver, or leather, or of

feathers, each one came to do reverence to the Inca who was
seated, and then returned to their places.

‘Presently he sent for me, and passing through that multitude

of Indians, I took off my hat and made a speech to him. I said

that I had come from Cuzco solely to know and serve him. If I
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wore a sword and dagger it was to serve him with them and not

to offend him. To this he answered that it was for men to bear

arms and not for women or cowards, and he did not, therefore,

hold me in more esteem for that. But he said he was pleased at

the trouble I had taken to come from such a distance to him,

adding that he had come forty leagues only to see and converse

with me. Then he gave me a cup of chicha, asking me to drink it

for his service. I drank a quarter of it, and then began to make

faces and wipe my mouth with a handkerchief. He began to

laugh, understanding that I did not know that liquor.

‘The Inca was a man of forty years of age, of middle height,

and with some marks of smallpox on his face. His mien rather

severe and manly. He wore a shirt of blue damask, and a mantle

of very fine cloth. He is served on silver, and there are also

twenty or thirty good-looking women, waiting behind him. He
sent for me to eat where he was with his women and his gover-

nor. The food consisted of maize, potatoes, small beans, and the

other products of the country, except that there was very little

meat, and what there was consisted of venison, fowls, macaws,

and monkeys, both boiled and roasted. When night came on he

asked me whether I had made the acquaintance of his captains. I

replied in the affirmative and he then took leave of me. He went

to the house that had been prepared for him, in exactly the same

order as when he arrived, with music of silver flutes and trum-

pets. That night there was a guard of a hundred Indians who
were divided into watches, and flutes and drums were played to

call each watch. They placed a guard of fifteen Indians over me
with their lances, I being in a house outside the village. I calcu-

late that all the Indians who came with the Inca, and those of the

village numbered 450.

‘In the morning of the 15th of May the Inca sent for me to his

house, for it was raining. The greater part of his troops were

seated round a large fire. The Inca was seated, dressed in a shirt

of crimson velvet, with a mantle of the same. All his captains had

taken off the masks they wore on the day before.

‘As daylight was now appearing, and they had all drunk freely,

I asked permission of the Inca to return to my lodging and get
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something to eat, and that another day I would state frankly

what I had come for. So 1 departed, leaving them to boast loudly,

but all much disturbed in their minds.

‘Soon afterwards they sent me a sheep of Castille [evidently,

the result of a successful raid on a Spanish colonial sheep
ranch], many fowls and partridges, and other food which their

country produces. To those who brought them I gave some trin-

kets, needles, and other Spanish things. Presently the Inca sent

for me. I went there, and was there until night, without a word
being spoken, when I returned to my lodging. The reason for

this appeared to be that too much chicha had been drunk.’

(Even today the Quichuas are noticeably not talkative after con-

suming much chicha .)

Rodriguez had brought presents for the Inca, silver bracelets,

crystals, and pearls. With the Inca’s permission, he delivered a

discourse on Christianity and suggested the propriety of setting

up crosses as evidence of faith. This pleased the Inca not at all

and he said he had a good mind to order the intruder to be
killed.

‘From the top of a rising ground’, says Rodriguez, ‘I saw the

festivities made for the Inca, and heard the songs. The dances

were war dances with spears in their hands, throwing them from
one to another. I believe that they did such things by reason of

the quantity of chicha they had drunk.

‘The Inca sent for me late in the afternoon and I went against

my will. He told me to sit down and began to boast, saying that

he could himself kill fifty Spaniards and that he was going to

have all the Spaniards in the kingdom put to death. He took a

lance in his hand and a shield and began to act a valiant man,
shouting “Go at once and bring me all the people that are

behind those mountains; for I want to go and fight the Spaniards

and to kill them all, and I want the wild Indians to eat them.”
‘Then there marched up about 600 or 700 Antis Indians, all

with bows and arrows, clubs and axes. They advanced in good
order, making reverence to the sun and to the Inca and took
their positions. Then the Inca again began to brandish his lance,

and said that he could raise all the Indians in Peru, he had only
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to give the order and they would fly to arms. Then all those

Antis made an offer to the Inca that, if he wished it, they would

eat me raw. They said to him, “What are you doing with this

little bearded one here, who is trying to deceive you? It is better

that we should eat him at once.” Then two renegade Inca ore-

jones came straight to me with spears in their hands, flourishing

their weapons and saying, “The bearded ones! Our enemies.” I

laughed at this, but at the same time commended myself to God.

I asked the Inca to have mercy and protect me, and so he deliv-

ered me from them, and hid me until morning.’ Apparently Titu

Cusi was a little afraid his nobles might go too far in their desire

to take revenge on one of the hated Spaniards.

‘On the morning of the 16th of May the Inca sent for me to

come to the open square which he entered in the same order as

before, and as I came in I saluted the Inca and sat down. The
Inca and all the captains then began to laugh heartily at what

had happened the day before, and they asked me what I thought

of yesterday’s festival. I replied that I thought it rather excep-

tional, and that to have treated me so was wrong, seeing that I

had come on serious business. They explained that it was only

their fun, and that they could not give it up.’

Apparently to please his visitor, Titu Cusi permitted a cross

to be set up near where he was staying. Then Rodriguez told

Titu Cusi of the might and power of Charles V of Spain.

‘To this he replied that the power of the king was great, and

though he had so many nations, as well black men as Moors,

subject to him, yet he, the Inca, like Manco Inca his father

before him, knew how to defend himself in those mountains.

Presently he sent to Vilcapampa for more men.’ The first lot of

soldiers had apparently come up the Pampaconas valley from

the warm jungles and were savages with bows and arrows. Now,

to impress Rodriguez, Titu Cusi sent to the ancient sanctuary,

his other capital called Vilcapampa, for some highland war-

riors.

‘On the 2.5th of May one of his generals arrived with 300 men,

armed with lances, who entered the open place where the rest

were drawn up, and made obeisance to the sun and to the Inca.
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Then a hundred captains of those who came from Vilcapampa
went to where Yamqui Mayta was standing and asked why he
had consented to have the cross planted in their land, seeing that

it had not been set up in the time of Manco Inca. Why then was
it there now? If I had persuaded the Inca to do this, they
intended to kill me. The Inca replied that it was done by his

order, and that it was well that they should accept the cross of the

creator of all things. Having received this answer they went to their

seats, and the festival proceeded.’

Rodriguez was a man of courage and profound convictions
and carried himself with so much bravery and tact that he suc-

ceeded to a large extent in arousing the Inca’s admiration and
respect and made him almost willing to assent to the proposal
that he follow in the footsteps of Sayri Tupac, leaving Vitcos and
going to Yucay to live in comfort, surrounded with all due
honour.

Sufficient progress was reported by Rodriguez to encourage
another ambassador, accompanied by thirty Spanish soldiers

and a number of Indian guards, to reach the key bridge at

Chuquichaca. The sight of this armed force, which included
twenty harquebusiers, so alarmed Titu Cusi, however, that he
caused the bridge to be torn down, sent Rodriguez and all the

Spanish envoys back to Cuzco, and retired to Vitcos. Neverthe-
less he appears to have kept as his secretary a mestizo

, one
Martin Pando, who probably spoke both Spanish and Quichua.

Martin Pando seems to have lived in Vitcos or the neighbour-
ing village of Puquiura for the next five years and to have won
the confidence of Titu Cusi to such an extent that the Inca

decided to carry on a correspondence with the Spanish authori-

ties. It may have been due to his influence that, about three years
later, Titu Cusi apparently became convinced that he might be
better off if he adopted the religion of the conquerors.

One cannot help wondering whether the news of the abdica-
tion of Charles and the accession of his intensely zealous and
intolerant son Philip II to the throne of Spain and the Indies in

1565 may not have penetrated to Vitcos and led some of Titu
Cusi s advisers — and possibly his relatives in Cuzco — to suggest
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the wisdom of his adopting the forms of Christianity, welcom-

ing the monks, and finally appealing to Philip II to recognize his

right to sit on his father’s throne and wear the sacred fringe of

Inca sovereignty. At all events, in a letter to Don Lopez Garcia de

Castro, the Governor of Cuzco and a Member of the Council of

the Indies, in which it certainly looks as though they were trying

to please that bigoted monarch, Titu Cusi said:

‘Having received letters from your Lordship, asking me to

become a Christian and saying that it would conduce to the

security of the country, I inquired of Diego Rodriguez and

Martin de Pando, as to who was the principal monk among
those who were in Cuzco, and who were the most approved and

of most weight among the religious orders. They replied that the

most flourishing were those of St Augustine, and their Prior was

the most important priest in Cuzco. Having heard this, I became

more attached to the order of St Augustine than any other. I

wrote letters to the Prior, requesting him to come in person to

baptize me, because I would rather be baptized by him than by

anyone else. He took the trouble to come to my country and to

baptize me, bringing with him another monk, and Gonzalo

Perez de Vivero and Atilano de Anaya who arrived at Rayangalla

[Huarancalque?] on the 12th of August, 1568, whither I came

from Vilcapampa to receive baptism. There, in that village of

Rayangalla, were the said Prior named Juan de Vivero and his

companions. I was instructed in the things of the faith for a fort-

night, at the end of which time, on the day of the famous St

Augustine, the Prior baptized me.’ He was given the name of

Diego, and the family name of Governor de Castro. ‘My god-

father was Gonzalo Perez de Vivero and my godmother Dona
Angelina Zica Ocllo. After I was baptized the Prior remained

for eight days to instruct me in the Holy Catholic Church and to

initiate me into its mysteries. He then departed with Gonzalo

Perez de Vivero, leaving me a companion named Friar Marcos

Garcia, that he might little by little instil into my mind what the

Prior had taught, that I might not forget, and also to teach the

word of God to the people of my land. Before he departed I

explained to my followers the reason why I had been baptized,
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and had brought these people into my land. All replied that they

rejoiced at my baptism, and that the friar should remain. In

effect the friar did remain with me.’

How two Augustinian Friars almost got inside the walls of the

great Inca sanctuary then called Vilcapampa is told in Father

Calancha’s long Moralizing Chronicle of the activities of the

Order in Peru. From occasional sentences in its hundreds of folio

pages has been gathered a story which throws an interesting light

on some of the things that took place behind the snowy passes
of the Cordillera Vilcabamba during the reign of Titu Cusi.

Father Calancha was chiefly interested in providing material

for the sermons preached by his fellow monks, so more than
nine-tenths of his Chronicle is taken up with references to the
lives of the Saints and their teachings. Consequently it has not
been reprinted since 1639, and probably never will be.

Of the ‘Province of Vilcabamba’ he says: ‘It is a hot country of
the Andes and is mountainous and includes parts that are very

cold, intemperate bleak uplands. It has hills of silver from which
some quantity has been taken and it produces gold of which in

those days much was found. It is a land of moderate comfort,
large rivers and almost ordinary rains.’ (!) As a matter of fact, it

is far more rainy than most of the Peruvian cities.

‘To these Andes and highlands came the Father Friar Marcos
Garcia in the year 1566 after he had been a missionary for three

years in the city and valley of Capinota.’ Capinota does not
appear on any map but it may have been the town now called

Qquente or Patallacta and the valley variously known as Pam-
pacahuana or Chamana, a few miles down the Urubamba valley

below Ollantaytambo, where there are a large number of ruined
sites. While there, he would have been likely to have heard about
the Inca Sanctuary at Vilcapampa. At all events, Calancha says

that the results of Friar Marcos’ work in Capinota ‘fired him
with the desire to seek souls where not a single preacher had
entered and where the gospel message had not been heard.

‘He communicated his holy impulse to the worthy Father
Friar Juan de Vivero who was the Prior of the Augustinian
Monastery in Cuzco and the Supervisor of those territories. The
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Prior approved his plan, gave him the authority of a direct

mandate, as well as the sacred vestments and whatever he

needed for his journey, and sent him to convert those infidels.

He found the journey full of difficulties because the Inca had cut

the bridges, walled up the passes, and flooded the roads. When
Friar Marcos asked directions as to the road from passing

Indians they replied either that they did not know - which was

what they had been instructed by the King to say - or else they

said that they believed the route was practically impassable and

the difficulties so great as to leave no hope of using it “unless one

had the wings of a bird”.’ However, he arrived, after many trials,

in the presence of the Inca ‘who received him badly and was

vexed and grieved to see that Spaniards had been able to pene-

trate his retreat, particularly to see one arrive to preach against

his idolatries in his own towns.’

This, it will be noticed, is quite a different story from the one

told by Titu Cusi himself in his letter to the Governor of Cuzco,

in which he says that he invited the Prior of the Monastery to

come to ‘Rayangalla’, where Juan de Vivero baptized him and

then departed, leaving Friar Marcos as his chaplain.

Calancha’s story naturally differs from the version which

Titu Cusi wanted the authorities to believe. Nevertheless,

Father Marcos gained the good will of the Inca and secured

licence to preach. Accordingly ‘he abandoned caution and

unfurled the standard of the cross’. He built a church in

Puquiura, ‘two long days’ journeys from Vilcapampa’.

Puquiura was a town ‘in which the Inca King held his court and

his armies’. Friar Marcos was disappointed to find it so far from

the great sanctuary. Nevertheless, ‘he set up crosses in the land

and in the forests’.

Finally it was decided by the Cuzco Prior to send Friar Diego

to join Friar Marcos in the valley of the Vilcabamba river. He
made his journey alone, ‘suffering much on the way, not so

much because of leagues and distances - for from Cuzco to the

first lands of Vilcabamba it is little more than ten leagues’ (actu-

ally about 40 miles), as because of having to find detours and

‘having no guides for entering the mountains; and because the
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rivers had no bridges, and the roads shifted in position with
every freshet’. He penetrated into the Inca’s retreats, and
accompanied by Friar Marcos entered his presence. If the Inca

was not overjoyed to see the new preacher, he at least was
pleased because he knew that Friar Marcos wished to return to

Cuzco and he thought that Friar Diego, ‘would not try to repri-

mand him’. Father Marcos was a crusading preacher who was
angry at his inability to make much of an impression on Titu
Cusi.

Friar Diego, a gentler soul, a medical missionary, much liked

by the Indians, ‘within a few days, so gained the Inca’s good will

that he gave him a feast whenever the father visited him, saying

that he loved him like a brother’. He sent him presents of fowls

and food from his own stores (though this was done in order to

make Friar Marcos envious). ‘However, as the spirit of this

blessed man was not seeking of gifts, but the winning of souls

and dissemination of the faith, he asked the Inca’s permission to

found another church and to indoctrinate another different

pueblo.’ Titu Cusi granted him the permission, and he chose the

pueblo of Guarancalla, probably the village of Huarancalque.
‘It was a distance of two or three days’ travel from one convent
to the other.’ Friar Diego built a church, a dwelling, and
arranged a hospital, ‘all of them being poor edifices which the

Indians, with love and ardour, completed quickly. He went
about the country erecting tall crosses, and those sacred trees

were planted throughout the mountains and on the [heathen]

temples, the idols being thrown down. The sorcerers [echizeros]

raged, but the other Indians rejoiced at his actions, for they
loved him devotedly influenced not so much by the virtues which
they recognized in him, as by the continuous benefactions with
which he won them, curing them, clothing them, teaching them.
He assembled many children and became their schoolmaster,

their numbers increasing every day; and many of both sexes and
all ages asked for baptism. The Christian community increased

gloriously within a few months, the blessed Friar Diego bring-

ing Indians from the depths of the forest jungles, attracting

them with kindness, controlling them by prayer, and holding
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them by his benefactions.’ Huarancalque is near a pass which

leads down into the warm valley of the Pampaconas, still the

abode of savage Indians.

Calancha says that while Friar Diego was busy with the

advancement of his church, beloved by all, Friar Marcos ‘was

suffering persecution, because he, with Catholic courage,

rebuked some superstitions among the principal Indians, and

some heathen actions on the part of the Inca, exhorting them to

put an end to the drunkenness which is the cause of all the mis-

fortunes of these Indians. It precipitates them into incest,

sodomy, and homicide, and there is rarely a drinking bout that is

not mixed with heathen rites, the Devil often being visibly

present, disguised in the person of an Indian.’ Friar Marcos

carried on such a violent crusade against the bibulous habits of

Titu Cusi and his nobles that he greatly irritated the Inca and

his caciques. They even attempted to kill the father secretly, ‘by

giving him deadly herbs and powders. Notwithstanding that

secrecy was imposed, there was one who pretended to hate

Father Marcos, in order not to anger the Inca, but was a

Catholic and secretly the father’s friend. He warned him that

they wished to kill him and that he should be careful. The

afflicted monk remained in his place, but seeing that the poison-

ers stayed near him, he determined to go to Cuzco.’

He notified Father Diego of his decision, ‘entrusted to him

the ornaments of the church, and alone, on foot, with two frag-

ments of bread, he advanced slowly through the country, plan-

ning to travel more rapidly after dark and enter a less dangerous

valley at daybreak, reaching Cuzco in two to four days. The Inca

learned of it. The news must have been given to him by the

Indian with whom the father left the church ornaments, not

through enmity but in order that the father, whom the poor and

lowly Indians loved so devotedly, might not leave them. The

Indians would not have known that they were attempting to kill

him.’

The Inca was angry and sent five of his captains with lances to

fetch the father. Titu Cusi gave him ‘an insulting reprimand,

abusing him for leaving his province without permission’.
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Father Marcos prudently replied, ‘Senor, the Indians whom you
have in this pueblo do not desire to receive the faith, nor to hear

the word of God; they run away from me and insult the holy

doctrines which I preach to them, most of those who requested

baptism being already enemies of Christ our Creator. If your

Indians had received the faith, or if those who did receive it had
not apostatized, I would remain among them until death. Those
who now accept the faith and are baptized are Indians who
came from Cuzco; others fear to come to me.’ The Inca then

told him to return to his church.

One day Friar Marcos and Friar Diego were with Titu Cusi

when he said that he was willing to take them to the city of Vil-

capampa, his ‘principal seat’ which neither of them had seen.

He said, ‘Come with me; I desire to entertain you.’ They left the

next day with the Inca, who was accompanied by a small party

of his captains and caciques. ‘They came to a place called Unga-
cacha, and there perpetrated the infamy they had plotted, which

was that they covered the roads with water, the country being

inundated by turning the river from its course, because the

fathers desired and had often attempted to go to Vilcapampa to

preach, because it was the chief town and the one in which was
the University of Idolatry and the professors of witchcraft,

teachers of the abominations.

‘The Inca, in order to frighten them, so that they would not

attempt to live or preach in Vilcapampa, but would leave the

province, plotted a sacrilegious and diabolical scheme. Shortly

after daylight, on descending to a plain, the monks thought they

had come to a lake. The Inca said to them, “all of us must pass

through this water.” O cruel apostate! [The Inca did not take his

Christian baptism as seriously as the monks wished he had.] He
travelled in a litter and the two priests on foot, without shoes!

The two ministers went into the water and proceeded joyfully,

as if they were treading on fine carpets, for they knew they were
receiving these insults and torments because of the Inca’s hatred

of their preaching.’ Waist-deep in water and chilled through,

they slipped and fell ‘and there was no one to help them up.

They held each others’ hands while those sacrilegious ones
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shouted with laughter and amused themselves by insulting them.

With their habits soaked in water, and in bitter cold weather,

these servants of God travelled on, not showing signs of anger or

irritation.

‘Cold and covered with mud, they came out on dry land and

there the Inca told them that he had come by that difficult route

because he thought it would so disgust them with the attempt to

settle in Vilcapampa that they would go from thence to Cuzco.’

It is three days’ journey from Puquiura to Machu Picchu.

It is important to remember that the missionaries reported

that it was a terribly cold and tiresome journey of three days’

duration between the two capitals of Titu Cusi, the head-

quarters of his army at Puquiura and his principal seat, the

great sanctuary of Vilcapampa the Old, a place the Spaniards

never found or saw. Nevertheless Father Calancha says the

monks finally reached its vicinity and continued preaching

for three weeks. ‘The Inca did not wish the fathers to live in

the town and ordered that they be given lodging outside so

that they might not see the worship, ceremonies and rites in

which the Inca and his captains participated daily with their

sorcerers.’

Undoubtedly, since this was the principal city in the whole

province and admittedly a great sanctuary, it must have had fine

temples and palaces as well as priests and Virgins of the Sun, but

the Inca kept the missionaries from seeing the sacred city or even

getting any idea of its beautiful buildings. Titu Cusi had no

intention of allowing the Friars to enter his ‘University of Idola-

try’ or to desecrate the precious sanctuary. He had done his best

to keep them away and discourage them from ever wanting to

come again. Nothing daunted, the monks took advantage of

their situation to preach against the idols, emphasizing their

abomination. Since the great mass of the common people were

not admitted to the sanctuary but lived in its vicinity, the friars

had a large audience whom they attempted to convert. This nat-

urally put the Inca and his captains in a rage, and set them to

plotting revenge. He consulted his sorcerers as to what could be

done to subdue the friars and silence them. ‘The sorcerers asked
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for a day in which to consult on the matter with the demons that

they called idols or Gods.

‘The result of the infernal conference was that since their

enemies the friars would not succumb to offers of gold or silver,

they must be subdued by being made to violate their vow of
chastity.’ Titu Cusi and his advisers selected among the Chosen
Women the very handsomest, not only those from the highlands
but particularly ones from the warm and humid valleys in the

coastal provinces where modesty and chastity were unknown,
women regarded as the ‘most beautiful and pleasing of those
regions, the most elegantly adorned and doubtless the most
seductive’.

The Chosen Women were ‘assured that they could subdue
these servants of God and thus win the Inca’s praise’. They
‘made use of all that the devil knew how to teach them, practis-

ing all the arts of sensuality and the most dangerous gifts of
seduction. But these apostolic men defended themselves so
valiantly that the women returned, defeated and abashed, the

friars remaining humble and victorious.

‘The Inca and his sorcerers, irritated by their failure and
raging at the affront, went again to consult the devil, and from
this conference came another and more outrageous expedient.
They made habits from black and white blankets, dressed many
of the most beautiful and dissolute Indian women in them, and
sent them [to the friars] in this order: two went out wearing
black habits and came to where the priests were, pretending that

it was a gesture to amuse and entertain them. There they did
what the demons had instructed them, but the servants of God
thrust them out with reproaches.’ At an unseemly hour two
others came wearing white habits, who looked like friars. Since
neither the Indians’ rooms nor their taverns had any keys or
doors, the women were able to reach the friars’ beds. However,
these emissaries of hell, novices of deceit and devotees of lust

made no impression on the friars. If they came by day to their

infernal battle, they reproached them; if by night, they preached
to them until, seeing that they were defeated they did not return.

This battery of women continued day and night, the habits
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being changed and different Indians always being sent. If the

monks left their houses and went into the country, they sought

them out. The attackers did not cease to contrive new wiles and

to present terrible temptations.’

While the efforts of the Inca and the Priests of the Sun were in

vain, the friars finally became discouraged, realizing that they

were not making any headway and were not to be allowed in the

sanctuary of Vilcapampa. So they asked the Inca’s permission to

go back to their churches and schools in Puquiura and Guaran-

calla.

Notwithstanding their unpleasant experiences in the neigh-

bourhood of Vilcapampa the Old, they were still willing to try

to please Titu Cusi. Matters seem to have gone along smoothly

for a time and Titu Cusi even went so far as to dictate to Friar

Marcos the account of the life and death of his father Manco.

He in turn dictated it to Martin Pando, the educated young

mestizo , trusted by the Inca, who got into the Vilcabamba valley

with Rodriguez. He says he wrote it with his very own hands

in the presence of Father Diego Ortiz and three of Titu

Cusi’s captains. He gives the location as ‘San Salvador de Vil-

cabamba’, a place not known today, possibly the residence of

Friar Marcos. The account was signed by Titu Cusi and wit-

nessed by both the Augustinian monks in February 1570. It was

in the nature of a memorial addressed to Philip II that he ‘may

show favour to me [Titu Cusi] to my sons and my descendants’.

He wrote:

‘I Don Diego de Castro Titu Cusi Yupanqui, natural son of

Manco Inca, rich in all virtues, late Lord of these kingdoms of

Peru, declare that, as it is necessary for me to make this state-

ment to the King Don Philip our Lord, containing things of

importance to me and my successors, and not knowing the style

and manner used by Spaniards in such reports, I requested the

very Reverend Father Friar Marcos Garcia and Martin de Pando

that, in conformity with the usage on such occasions, they

would order and compose the above narrative, for the very illus-

trious Lord, the Licentiate Lope Garcia de Castro, to send to

Spain; that for me, in my name, holding, as I do hold, my power.
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all may be explained to his Majesty Don Philip our King and

Lord.’

After this literary task was completed, Titu Cusi prob-

ably went back to his principal court at Vilcapampa where

he and his mother could be well taken care of by the Chosen

Women. His ‘apostasy’, however, convinced Father Marcos

that something drastic should be done to discredit the Inca’s

gods and encourage the Indian converts. So he and Father

Diego decided to invade a Temple of the Sun which was ‘in a

village called Chuquipalpa’ and contained ‘a white rock over a

spring of water’. According to Father Calancha, this was the

principal centre of Sun worship where the people went to kiss

their hands to the sun, probably in June, the time of the winter

solstice, to beg for its eagerly desired return.

The author of the Book of Job quotes him as referring to an

act of adoration of the Gentiles who ‘when the sun rises resplen-

dent or the moon shines clear, exult in their hearts and extend

their hands toward the sun and throw kisses to it’. It was one of

the most natural and widespread forms of religious worship in

the ancient world.

As has already been said, Friar Marcos and Friar Diego

decided to make a spectacular attack on the particular devil

who could be encountered there. They took advantage of the

absence of the Inca and his mother and chief councillors, and prob-

ably his bodyguards, to summon such converts as they had to

gather at one of the churches, bringing with them stacks of fire-

wood in order that they might burn up this devil who had tor-

mented them.

Father Calancha asks us to believe that the converted Indians

were most anxious to get even with this devil who had slain their

friends and inflicted wounds on themselves. Doubters were

curious to see the result. Inca priests were there to see their god

defy the Christians. While, as may be readily imagined, the rest

of the population came to see the excitement.

It took great courage on the part of the two Augustinians thus

to desecrate one of the chief shrines of the Inca and the people

among whom they were dwelling. It is almost incredible that in
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this remote valley, far from the protecting hand of any Spanish

officials, they should have dared to insult so wantonly the reli-

gion of their hosts.

Nevertheless, Friars Marcos and Diego marched over here

with their converts from Puquiura, each carrying a stick of fire-

wood. Calancha says the Indians worshipped the water as a

divine thing, that the devil had at times shown himself in the

water. The Augustinian monks here raised the standard of the

cross, recited their orisons, and piled firewood all about the rock

and temple. Exorcising the devil and calling him by all the vile

names they could think of, the friars commanded him never to

return. Setting fire to the pile, they burned the temple and

scorched the rock, making a powerful impression on the Indians

and causing the poor devil to flee, ‘roaring in a fury’. ‘The cruel

devil never more returned to the rock nor to this district.’

Whether the conflagration temporarily dried up the source or

interfered with the arrangements of the water supply so that the

pool disappeared for the time being is a matter for speculation.

It is possible that the Inca Titu Cusi and his mother were vis-

iting the University of Idolatry when this happened. At any rate,

as soon as they heard of it they were furious and immediately

returned to Vitcos. The nobles wished to kill the missionaries

and probably would have done so had it not been for the regard

in which Friar Diego was held, owing to his skill in curing

disease. Friar Marcos, however, was stoned out of the province

and threatened with death if he should return. Friar Diego,

beloved by the Indians who came from the fever-stricken jungle

in the lower valley, was not only allowed to remain but finally

became a trusted friend and adviser of Titu Cusi.

It is possible that Friar Diego may have advised Titu Cusi to

accept an invitation from his cousin Carlos Inca, who lived in

Cuzco and whose son was given a splendid christening. We are

told that the infant’s godfather was none other than the new

Spanish Viceroy who had just arrived in Cuzco, Don Francisco de

Toledo. Captain Ocampo, who was living in Cuzco at the time,

says the ceremony was accompanied by ‘festivals, rejoicings, fire-

works, dances, and many newly invented and costly conceits’.
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Invitations were sent out throughout the region ‘for more than 40
leagues around Cuzco’ to all places where Incas were living.

Ocampo says that ‘among the rest there went to the christening

Titu Cusi Yupanqui Inca and his young brother Tupac Amaru
Inca, who came from the province of Vilcapampa’. If they came,
as was reported by Ocampo, they did not make their presence

known and remained in seclusion at the Colcampata home of
their relatives on the hill above Cuzco. As the good Captain
Ocampo was obviously only reporting rumour and gossip, it is

very doubtful if the story merits belief. But there is no doubt that

after Father Marcos had been driven out of the valley, Friar Diego
made good progress and won the esteem of the Inca notwith-

standing the hostility of the priests of the Sun.

‘It happened’, says Calancha, that ‘one day there entered into

the Province of Vilcabamba, a Spaniard called Romero. He
sought a licence from the Inca to permit him to hunt for gold and
silver since he thoroughly understood metals and all that pertains

to mining. The Inca gave him permission. His prospecting was
very successful. He found a rich vein and in a few days took out
quantities of gold. It seemed to Romero that it would be a good
plan to flatter the Inca, so he showed him the gold and asked for a

new permit and additional time in which to take out a quantity.

As soon as the Inca saw the gold he realized that it would prove
very attractive to greedy Spaniards and would bring thousands of

them, so he would lose the Province that sustained him.’ Accord-
ingly he ordered Romero to be killed.

‘The unfortunate avaricious miner tried to defend himself.

His loud cries for help and the resulting disturbance came to the

attention of Friar Diego, who flew on the wings of charity to the

Inca’s house in order to ransom that life, begging the Inca to

pardon him, or permit the unfortunate one to confess. The Inca

was advised that Friar Diego was coming running at full speed.

Knowing what his purpose was he sent to tell him to return to

his church and let him kill that man, because if he begged for

him he would kill him too. The holy man returned weeping that

the miner would have to die without confessing his sins. They
killed Romero and cut off his head.
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‘Friar Diego sent to ask the Inca to give him the corpse so that

it might receive Christian burial, since justice had already been

done. His request was denied because the Inca wished the birds

of the air and the beasts of the field to eat the body. He ordered it

thrown in the river and prohibited any one under pain of his dis-

pleasure to bury it or recover it.’

Nevertheless, Friar Diego went out several times at night in

an effort to find the body and bury it. When the Inca learned of

this he was very angry and threatened to kill the Friar if he left

his church at night.

Not very long after this, according to Calancha, Titu Cusi

gave a large and very wet party which Friar Diego, who ‘disliked

noise and boisterous revelry’, was urged to attend. His failure

to accept the Inca’s invitation is said to have caused much

annoyance to the royal court. After the party it appears that

the Inca had an attack of double pneumonia. Unfortunately

Friar Diego attended his sick bed in the mistaken hopes of

effecting a cure with his simple remedies or at any rate getting

Titu Cusi to confess and secure absolution. Titu Cusi died. The

nobles and one of the Inca’s wives then charged Friar Diego with

the fatal end of the Inca’s illness. The Friar was put to death

with great cruelty. Many pages of the Chronicle are filled with

gruesome details. The mestizo Martin Pando who was Titu

Cusi’s secretary was also put to death by the Inca chieftains.

Friar Marcos, on hearing of the death of his friend Friar Diego,

tried to return to the valley from which he had been driven by

Titu Cusi, but was drowned in attempting to cross one of the

rivers.

So ended the first attempt of Christian missionaries to

convert the last of the warlike Incas.

Captain Baltasar de Ocampo gives a story of what was told

him by those who were present at Titu Cusi’s funeral. He says

that the Inca’s insignia, battle axes, lances, bracelets, the scarlet

fringe, and a shield were carried in the hands of the greatest

lords, in deep mourning, with muffled drums, and sounds of

grief. Then they ‘proceeded to the House of the Sun, where was

the Inca Tupac Amaru, the true and legitimate Lord, with the
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Acllus under the Mama-cunas, who were matrons to keep guard
over them, for they were very beautiful’.

TUPAC AMARU

So now, in 1571, it became the turn of Manco’s third son, Tupac
Amaru, brought up as a playfellow of the Chosen Women of the

Sun and now happily married to one of them, to rule the little

kingdom of Vilcapampa. His brows were decked with the

scarlet fringe of sovereignty.

Unfortunately, due to the jealousy and fear of his half brother
Titu Cusi, his training had not been that of a wise ruler or even
of a soldier. Naturally he expected to continue to live in the

great sanctuary surrounded by devoted followers and safe from
any intruders. However, part of the time must be spent at Vitcos

with his captains and his little army. His councillors had reason
to fear the Spanish conquerors.

Unfortunately for the Incas, the Viceroy, Don Francisco de
Toledo, an indefatigable soldier and very able administrator, was
savagely bigoted, cruel, and pitiless. His master, Philip II, with the

approval of the Council of the Indies, had decided that every

effort must be made to secure the submission of the Indians who
lived in the province of Vilcapampa, where Spaniards were not
welcome and where, as Father Marcos could have assured him,
missionaries were in danger of their lives. Accordingly, not
knowing that Titu Cusi was dead or Father Diego a martyr, the

Viceroy determined to induce the Inca to come and live where he
would be accessible to Spanish authority. He dispatched a highly

trusted ambassador to carry out this mission.

News of what was taking place in Cuzco travelled very fast to

Vilcapampa even though the bad news of what had happened in

Vitcos was slow in reaching the Viceroy. The captains and coun-
cillors of the young Inca learned what was on foot, undoubtedly
from their relatives in the Spanish city. They had seen the great

Inca Empire reduced to a mere province in rugged mountains
where their ancestors had sought refuge in centuries past and
where they hoped to be able to outwit the conquistadors. They

rl.
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believed that their Inca Sayri Tupac had been poisoned while he

was the guest of the Spaniards at Yucay. They remembered that

Manco had been murdered by the Spanish refugees he was

befriending. They knew that Titu Cusi had died while being

treated by a Spanish monk. So, when they heard that the Viceroy

was sending an ambassador to Vitcos with the express purpose

of persuading the young and inexperienced Tupac Amaru to

leave the security of the Cordillera Vilcapampa and go to Cuzco

they determined to take no chances of his being weak enough to

accept a sinister invitation.

They sent seven warriors to waylay the ambassador on the

road and kill him. Whether Tupac Amaru knew of their plan is

not certain. A wiser and more experienced young ruler would

have realized that such an act was merely to court disaster. His

people probably knew it would cause trouble and so sent the

young ruler down into the warm valley of the Pampaconas

where his brother Titu Cusi had built a country house near the

savage Antis, who were very faithful to him. At least the Spanish

soldiers could not reach him there.

The Viceroy, Francisco de Toledo, learned of the murder of

his ambassador at the same time he heard of the martyrdom of

the Augustinian Father Diego. A blow had been struck at the

very heart of Spanish rule. If a faithful representative of the

Vice-regent of Heaven and the messenger of the Viceroy of

Philip II were not inviolable, then who was safe? Accordingly

the energetic Toledo determined to make war on the unfortu-

nate young Tupac Amaru and to give a reward to the soldier

who would effect his capture. Furthermore, it was hoped that if

he were imprisoned all the lost Inca treasure might be found,

treasure which was supposed to include a chain of gold which

the great Inca Huyana had commanded to be made for himself

to wear on great occasions, and which actually did include the

gold image of the Sun from Cuzco. Furthermore, the Council

naturally claimed that the chain of gold and the remaining trea-

sure ‘belonged’ to Philip II ‘by right of conquest’. Anyhow, the

Inca royal family must now be exterminated.

The expeditionary force was divided into two parts, one to
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capture the Inca in case he should attempt to cross the Apuri-
mac by one of the routes which had been used by his father in his

marauding expeditions on the Spanish caravans; the other to go
via Ollantaytambo, the route followed by Rodriguez. This
company went down the Urubamba Valley as far as the great
precipices of the granite canyon which had blocked the way for

centuries and climbed out of the canyon through the Pass of
Panticalla, where they found no Inca defenders at all. Accord-
ingly, they were able to reach the key bridge of Chuquichaca
over the lower Urubamba without mishap. Thirty-five years
before, a similar company, it will be remembered, had been met
and destroyed by the sling stones of the well-trained soldiers of
the active Inca Manco II.

The narrow suspension bridge, built in accordance with Inca
engineering practice of native fibres, sagged deeply in the middle
and swayed so threateningly over the gorge of the Urubamba
that only one man could use it at a time. The rapid river was too
deep to be forded and there were no canoes. It would have been a
difficult matter to construct rafts, as most of the trees in this

vicinity are of very hard wood that will not float. When the
expedition reached the bridge they found to their surprise that it

had not been destroyed. Young Tupac Amaru had had no expe-
rience in warfare and his chieftains apparently relied on their

ability to take care of one Spanish soldier at a time and so
prevent the invading force from crossing the narrow, swaying
structure. They little knew what was in store for them, for the
Spaniards had brought one or two light mountain guns, with
which the raw troops of the Inca were not acquainted. The sides

of the valley near the Chuquichaca bridge rise very steeply from
the river and the reverberations caused by gunfire would be ter-

rifying to those who had never heard anything like it before. A
few volleys from the harquebuses and a few salvos from the guns
and the Inca’s soldiers fled pell mell, leaving the bridge unde-
fended.

The Spanish soldiers were commanded by a Captain Garcia,
who had married a niece of Tupac Amaru and who presumably
spoke the Quichua language. His men now found the road a
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mere footpath, with a jungle on one side and a deep ravine on

the other. It was barely wide enough for two men to pass.

Garcia, with the customary bravery of the conquistadors,

marched at the head of the company. Suddenly out of the jungle

an Inca chieftain named Hualpa, endeavouring to protect the

flight of his master, jumped on Garcia and tried to hurl him over

the cliff. The Captain’s life, however, was saved by a faithful

Indian servant who was following immediately behind him car-

rying his sword. Quickly drawing it from the scabbard the

servant killed Hualpa.

So they marched up the valley of the Vilcabamba, swept

through Puquiura, where Friar Marcos had had his church, and

stormed several Inca forts. ‘Then’, wrote Captain Garcia,

‘having arrived at the principal fortress, Guaynapucara, which

the Incas had fortified, we found it defended by the Prince Philip

Quispetutio, a son of the Inca Titu Cusi, with his captains and

soldiers. It is on a high eminence surrounded with rugged crags

and jungles, very dangerous to ascend and almost impregnable.

Nevertheless, with my aforesaid company of soldiers I went up

and gained the young fortress, but only with the greatest pos-

sible labour and danger.’ ‘The young fortress’ seems to have

been another name for Vitcos. Perhaps the Inca’s ‘palace’ was

known as Vitcos, while the fortifications which surrounded it

were called Guaynapucara.

Captain Garcia hoped to catch the young Inca Tupac Amaru

here but was disappointed to find that he and his immediate

guards and captains had left, taking with them the golden image

of the Sun which had been brought from Cuzco by his father

Manco. The Spanish soldiers followed them through Huaran-

calla and down into the Pampaconas valley. Garcia’s expedition

was well provided with arms and ammunition. They had a

remorseless and determined master back in Cuzco who would

tolerate no failure and who was willing to reward success. And
they were led by a very brave officer.

Nothing daunted by the dangers of the jungles, the rapids of

the river or the hostility of the people, Garcia finally succeeded

in penetrating deep into the forest. At length they captured
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Tupac Amaru, who chose to trust the Spaniards rather than

perish in the Amazon jungles, either at the hands of the savages

or because of the great hardships of the region. Probably he

thought that he would be treated with some respect, but in this

he was doomed to disappointment. With his wife and children

he was carried in triumph to Cuzco where the Viceroy, Francisco

de Toledo, went to enjoy the spectacle of a mock trial and cruel

punishment. The captured Inca chiefs were tortured to death

with fiendish brutality. Tupac Amaru’s wife was mangled before

his eyes. His own head was cut off and placed on a pole in the

great plaza at Cuzco. His little boys did not long survive. So, in

1572, perished the last of the Incas, descendants of some of the

wisest rulers America has ever seen.



PART TWO:

THE SEARCH





CHAPTER FOUR

MY INTRODUCTION TO THE
LAND OF THE INCAS

P
eople often say to me: ‘How did you happen to discover

Machu Picchu?’ The answer is, I was looking for the last

Inca capital. Its ruins were believed to be in the Cordillera

Vilcabamba. My search for it began in this way.

Some forty years ago, in a desire to qualify myself to teach

South American history, and to write about the great General

Simon Bolivar, I followed his route across the Andes from

Venezuela to Colombia. Elihu Root, then Secretary of State, was

interested in my trip and closely questioned me about what I

had seen. He liked my report and the next year very graciously

gave me the opportunity to see a lot more of South America by

appointing me a delegate to the First Pan American Scientific

Congress, which was held in Santiago de Chile in December

1908.

My experiences in Venezuela and Colombia had taught me
the great advantage it was to an explorer to have government

backing, so I determined to take advantage of my position as a

Delegado Official de los Estados Unidos, to penetrate the

Central Andes and follow the old Spanish trade route from

Buenos Aires to Lima. From Cuzco, accompanied by my friend,

Clarence L. Hay, I undertook to cross Inca Land on mule-back.

It was the month of February. Unfortunately we knew

nothing of the usual weather in the Central Andes during the so-

called summer months. The climate of Argentina had been

pleasantly warm. That of Chile had been agreeable. We
expected Peru to treat us as well. As a matter of fact, February is
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The Search

the very worst month in which to explore the highlands where
the Incas flourished. The rains start in November and continue

well into April. This particular February turned out to be ‘the

rainiest month of the rainiest season’ that anyone remembered
having experienced in Peru for a quarter of a century, so that we
saw the mountain trails at their worst. It was an unfortunate

introduction to exploration in Inca Land. The continuous

downpour frequently overcame the conscientious scruples of

local dignitaries who wished to escort us in and out of town.

However, the Prefect, or chief official, of the Province of Apuri-

mac, the Honourable J. J. Nunez, had taken the trouble to come
to Cuzco and urge me to visit his province, and particularly to

explore the ruins of Choqquequirau. He said it had been the

home of the last of the Incas. Since Choqquequirau means
‘Cradle of Gold’, a number of attempts had been made in fairly

recent times to explore the ruins in order to discover the treasure

which it was believed the Incas had hidden there instead of

allowing it to fall into the hands of the Spanish conquerors.

Owing to the very great difficulty of reaching the site, it had

been seen only three times in a hundred years by bold mountain
climbers. It was generally believed among the officials and sugar

planters of the Abancay region that Choqquequirau had once
been a great city ‘containing over 15,000 inhabitants’ and that

the buried treasure was well worth the expense of an adequate

expedition.

The Prefect told us that a small party of adventurers had once

succeeded in reaching the ruins with enough food to last them
for two days. They had dug two or three holes in vain efforts to

find the buried treasure. The tale of their sufferings, which lost

nothing in the telling, kept anyone from following their example
for many years, although they brought back reports of ‘palaces,

temples, prisons, and baths’, all covered by dense jungles and
luxuriant tropical vegetation.

A local magistrate, dreaming of hidden gold, had once

endeavoured to construct a path by which it might be possible to

reach Choqquequirau and maintain a service of Indian carriers

who could provide the workmen with food while a systematic
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effort was made to explore the Cradle of Gold. Although the

official had at his disposal the services of a company of soldiers

and as many mountain Indians as he could use, he succeeded

only in reaching a pass at the top of the range, which is 12,000

feet above the Apurimac river. The great valley is at this point a

canyon 2 miles deep. He was unable to pass the precipices that

protect Choqquequirau.

Others tried to utilize the path he had made. The latest of

these was our new friend, Prefect Nunez of the Department of

Apurimac. Under the patronage of this ambitious and energetic

official, who later greatly improved conditions in the city of

Cuzco, a company of treasure seekers was formed and several

thousand dollars subscribed for the new venture.

The first difficulty that they had encountered was in the con-

struction of a bridge over the frightful rapids of the great river

Apurimac. Nevertheless, due to the courage of an aged Chinese

pedlar who had braved the terrors of the rugged Andes for many
years and who succeeded in swimming across the river when it

was low in the ‘dry season’ with a string tied to his waist, a sus-

pension bridge made of six strands of telegraph wire was finally

constructed. A trail that could be used by Indian bearers was

made through 12 miles of mountain forest and over torrents and

precipices. The task which had defied all comers for centuries

was finally accomplished.

The results, however, had not been satisfactory, at least as far

as securing any valuable treasure was concerned. The only

metal articles that had been found were several ancient bronze

shawl-pins and a small crowbar. The latter had a yellowish tinge

that gave rise to the story that it was pure gold. Unfortunately,

however, it was only bronze, made of copper hardened with tin.

So the Prefect was particularly anxious that I should visit the

ruins and be able to report their importance to the President of

Peru.

He insisted that as I was a ‘Doctor’ (Ph.D.) and a government

delegate to a scientific congress I must know all about archaeol-

ogy and could tell him how valuable Choqquequirau was as a

site for buried treasure and whether it had been, as he believed,
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Vilcapampa the Old, the Capital of the last four Incas. My
protest that he was mistaken in his estimate of my archaeologi-

cal knowledge was regarded by him merely as evidence of

modesty.

My previous studies of South American history had been

limited largely to the Spanish colonial days, the wars of indepen-

dence, and the progress made by the different republics. Archae-

ology lay outside my field and I knew very little about the Incas

except the fascinating story told by Prescott in his famous Con-
quest of Peru. My efforts to avoid visiting the ruins of Choqque-
quirau were also due partly to the very inclement weather and

partly to the extreme difficulty of reaching that site.

Secretary Root had impressed upon us the importance of

developing international good will by endeavouring in every

way to please the officials of the countries we visited. Accord-

ingly, I agreed to the Prefect’s proposal, not knowing that it was
destined to lead me into a fascinating field. It was my first intro-

duction to prehistoric America.

Had it not been for Prefect Nunez and his very practical inter-

est in Choqquequirau I should probably never have been

tempted to look for Inca ruins and thus find the two cities which

had been lost to geographical knowledge for several centuries.

We left Cuzco on the morning of the first of February. The day

promised ill. Rain fell in torrents. The preceding day we had
received calls from a number of local dignitaries, all of whom
assured us that they would be on hand in the morning to escort

us out of town. But the continuous downpour overcame their

sense of appropriate courtesy. Even the Cuzco Prefect’s polite

aide de camp , who had been unremitting in his attentions, was
glad enough to take our hint that we were sufficiently honoured

by his accompanying us for three blocks from the hotel.

The Prefect had been very solicitous about our welfare, and,

although we assured him that we preferred to travel without a

military escort, he insisted that a sergeant and at least one

soldier should accompany us as long as we were in his Depart-

ment. I never discovered why he was so insistent. There was no
danger, and highway robbery is unheard of in Peru. Possibly he
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was afraid that the delegados might otherwise go hungry at vil-

lages where inhospitable, half-starved Quichuas would say that

there was no food on hand; or he may have thought it undigni-

fied for us to travel without an escort. Whatever his reasons, he

meant well. It was not a case of graft, for the soldiers were

ordered to accompany us at the expense of the government.

We started off in a north-westerly direction, leaving the mar-

vellous Cyclopean fortress of Sacsahuaman on our right. We
were amazed to find that some of the polygonal blocks in it, as

has been said, weighed over zoo tons! After climbing out of the

Cuzco valley we descended gradually to the great plain of Anta,

famous as the scene of numerous battles in the wars of the Incas.

We crossed it by the ancient Inca road, a stony pathway 5 or 6

feet wide, with ditches and swamps on either side. It had been

allowed to fall into decay, and for a good part of the distance it

had disappeared. We had to make long detours in order to avoid

the swamps and ponds that in the wet season cover the road.

Skirting the hills north of the Plain of Anta, we passed several

great terraces a third of a mile long and 14 or 15 feet high, and

towards evening entered Zurita, a small Indian town. Here we

were directed to the house of a hospitable Gobernador (village

magistrate).

We left Zurita the next morning, accompanied by the Gober-

nador and his friends. Leaving our muleteer and his pack mules

to follow in charge of our military escort, we pushed on at a

good pace and found ourselves at noon at Challabamba on the

divide that separates the waters of the river Urubamba from

those of the Apurimac. In marked contrast to the grassy, treeless

plain of Anta from which we had just ascended, we saw before

us deep green, wooded valleys.

The trail, a rocky stairway not unlike the bed of a mountain

torrent, led us rapidly into a warm tropical region whose dense

foliage and tangled vines were grateful enough after the bleak

mountain plateau. Beautiful yellow broom flowers were abun-

dant. The air was filled with the fragrance of heliotrope. Parti-

coloured lantanas ran riot through a maze of agaves and

hanging creepers. We had entered a new world.
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A steep descent brought us to the town of Limatambo where

there are interesting terraces and other evidences of the Inca

fortress which was used in Pizarro’s day. The valley of the

Limatambo river is here extremely narrow and the fortifications

were well placed to defy an enemy coming against Cuzco from

the west and north. An exceptionally bloody encounter took

place there between the Spanish conquerors and the Inca forces.

Rain had been falling most of the day and the river

Limatambo had risen considerably. The ford was impassable,

and we were obliged to use a frail, improvised bridge over which

our mules crept very cautiously sniffing doubtfully as it bent

under their weight. Soon afterwards we crossed the river Blanco

and left the old trail, which goes through the Indian village of

Mollepata, described by E. G. Squier 1 as ‘a collection of

wretched huts on a high shelf of the mountain with a tumble-

down church, a drunken Governor ... a place unsurpassed in

evil repute by any in Peru’. Fortunately for us, since the days of

Squier’s visit, an enterprising Peruvian has carved a sugar plan-

tation out of the luxuriant growth on the mountain side, at La
Estrella. Here we were given an extremely cordial welcome
although Senor Montes, the owner, the fame of whose hospital-

ity had reached Cuzco, was not at home. Our military escort did

not arrive until nearly three hours later, with a sad story of

wretched animals and narrow escapes.

The next morning we descended from the canefields of La
Estrella by an extremely precipitous winding trail. In places it

seemed as though our heavily laden mules must lose their

footing and roll down the 1,500 feet to the raging Apurimac
river below. At length, however, we came to Tablachaca, an

excellent modern bridge which we were actually able to cross

without dismounting, something that rarely happened to us on
that journey.

In the old days a wonderful, lofty suspension bridge made
by the Indians in the Peruvian fashion was the only means of

crossing this river. Vivid pictures of it, no two alike, are given in

1 In Peru: Incidents of Travel and Exploration in the Land of the Incas.
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such famous books of travel as Squier’s Peru, Markham’s Cuzco

and Lima, and Lt. Gibbon’s Exploration of the Valley of the

Amazon. Although they all differ as to its height above the water

and its length, all were greatly impressed by the remarkable

canyon that it crossed. Gibbon says ‘the bridge was 150 feet

above the dark green waters’, Sir Clements Markham, who
crossed the bridge two years later, says, ‘the bridge spanned the

chasm in a graceful curve at a height of full 300 feet above the

river’. As he crossed it in the middle of March just at the end of

the rainy season when it may be supposed the waters were high,

while Lt. Gibbon crossed it in August, the middle of the dry

season, when the river is very low, the contrast between their

estimates of the height of the bridge above the river is all the

more striking. Unfortunately it has disappeared and travellers

can no longer dispute over its dimensions. Squier’s picture of it

was one of the reasons why I decided to take this trip at a time

when I was tempted to go down the Amazon from La Paz by way

of the Beni. So I was disappointed, but not for long.

The scenery was superb, the great green mountains piling

upon one another, their precipitous sides streaked with many
lovely waterfalls. Green parrots overhead and yellow iris under-

foot lent additional colour to the scene. To add to our joy the

sun shone all day long. A comparatively easy journey over steep

but well-travelled mountain trails brought us to the town of

Curahuasi, where we were met by Lt. Caceres, aide de camp to

Prefect Nunez, who had been directed to act as our escort, and

who proved to be a most genial and exceptionally high-spirited

young Peruvian, a member of an old and distinguished family.

Immediately on our arrival at Curahuasi we were taken to the

local telegraph office, where Caceres sent off an important

message announcing the approach of ‘distinguished visitors’!

To recompense us for waiting while he wrote the messages,

bottles of stout were opened and toasts solemnly proposed. We
expected to spend the night in the town, but found that the Gob-

ernador, who desired us to be his guests, lived a couple of miles

up the valley at Trancapata on the road to Abancay, the capital

of the Province of Apurimac.
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Although his establishment was a primitive one, it was
charmingly situated on the edge of a deep ravine. The dining-

room was an old veranda overlooking the gorge, and we enjoyed

the view and the generous hospitality quite as much as though

the villa had had all modern conveniences. In fact, neither of us

had ever before experienced such a cordial welcome from a total

stranger. We were to learn, however, before we left the Depart-

ment, that such friendliness was characteristic of nearly every

village and town that enjoyed the over-lordship of the genial

Prefect of Apurimac.

The next morning we finally managed to bid our cordial host

good-bye, but not until he had accompanied us for a long dis-

tance up the deep valley. The weather had been unspeakably bad
and heavy clouds had hemmed us in. Today, as we climbed the

ascent under a bright sun, a wonderful panorama spread itself

out behind us, the snowy peaks of Mt Salcantay and Mt Soray

gleaming in the distance.

However, we soon left the region of luxurious vegetation, lan-

tanas, cacti, and tropical plants, and again ran into a chilly

drizzle, at an elevation of 13,000 feet. Then we descended, came
out of the rain, and had a delightful ride over a trail lined with

masses of blue salvia. We were on the borderline between the

tropics and the temperate zone. We were in sight of the climate

of the poles and the equator. We could see great glaciers and
snow fields as well as the lovely light green fields of sugar-cane

that have made Abancay famous throughout Peru. To one
familiar with the broad cane fields of Hawaii or the great plan-

tations of Cuba and Puerto Rico, the fame of this rather small

district was surprising. But after spending weeks in the bleak

highlands of the Central Andes and experiencing the chill of the

mountain climate, one readily appreciates why a warm, rich

valley, 8,000 feet above the sea, where sugar can be easily raised,

is a matter for profound congratulation.

A long descent down a very bad road brought us into a

charming countryside. A mile from Abancay itself we were met
by the sub-Prefect and a dozen sugar planters and caballeros

who had taken the trouble to saddle their horses and come out
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to give us a fitting welcome. After an interchange of felicita-

tions, we clattered gaily into town and were taken at once to the

Prefecture. Here the genial Prefect gave us a cordial reception

and apologized for the fact that he could not give us suitable

sleeping quarters in the Prefecture, since he had a large family.

As it was, he placed the local club entirely at our disposal. We
were only too glad to accept, for the club’s two pleasant rooms

overlooked the little plaza and commanded a very pretty view of

the ancient church and steep hills beyond.

That night Prefect Nunez gave us an elaborate banquet, to

which he invited fifteen of the local notables. After dinner we

were shown the objects of interest that had been found at

Choqquequirau, including several Inca shawl-pins and a few

nondescript metallic articles. The most interesting was a heavy

bronze champi 15 inches long and rather more than 1 inches in

diameter, square, with round corners, much like the wooden

clubs with which the Hawaiians beat tapa.

The next afternoon, amidst a heterogeneous mess of canned

provisions, saddles, rugs, and clothes, we packed what we

expected to need on our little excursion, and received distin-

guished guests. Almost everyone who called told us that he was

going to accompany us on the morrow, and we had visions of a

general hegira from Abancay.

In the evening we were most hospitably entertained at one of

the sugar estates. To this dinner a genial gathering came from

far and near. The planters of Abancay are a fine class of

caballeros, hospitable, courteous, and intelligent, kind to their

working people, interested both in one another’s affairs and in

the news of the outside world. Many of them spend part of each

year or two in Lima. A few have travelled abroad.

The next morning, accompanied by a large cavalcade, we set

out. Most of our escort contented themselves with a mile or so,

and then wishing us good luck, returned to Abancay. We did not

blame them. Owing to unusually heavy rains, the trail was in a

frightful state. Well-nigh impassable bogs, swollen torrents,

avalanches of boulders and trees, besides the usual concomi-

tants of a Peruvian bridle-path, cheered us on our way.
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All day long through the rain and heavy mist that broke away

occasionally to give us glimpses of wonderfully deep green

valleys and hillsides covered with rare flowers, we rode along a

slippery path that grew every hour more treacherous and diffi-

cult. In order to reach a little camp on the bank of the Apurimac
river that night, we hurried forward as fast as possible although

frequently tempted to linger by the sight of acres of magnificent

pink begonias and square miles of blue lupins. By five o’clock we
began to hear the roar of the great river 7,000 feet below us in

the canyon.

The Apurimac, which flows through the Ucayali to the

Amazon, rises in a little lake near Arequipa, so many thousands

of miles from the mouth of the Amazon that it may be said to be

the parent stream of that mighty river. By the time it reaches this

region, it is a raging torrent 250 feet wide, and at that time of the

year, over 80 feet deep. Its roaring voice can be heard so many
miles away that it was long ago given by the Indians its Quichua
name, Apu-rimac, which means the ‘Great Speaker’.

Our guide, the enthusiastic Lt. Caceres, declared that we had

now gone far enough. As it was beginning to rain and the road

from there on was ‘worse than anything we had as yet experi-

enced’, he said it would be better to camp for the night, in an

abandoned hut near by. His opinion was eagerly concurred in by

two of the party, young men from Abancay, who were having

their first real adventure, but the two Yankis 1 decided it was best

to reach the river if possible. Caceres finally consented, and
aided by the dare-devil soldier, Castillo, we commenced a

descent that for tortuous turns and narrow escapes beat any-

thing we had ever seen. We were about to discover what it means
to go exploring in the wild region where the Incas were able to

hide from the conquistadors in 1536.

The sun had long since set behind the walls of the canyon

when we encountered a large tree which had fallen across the

path so as completely to block all progress. An hour’s work
enabled us to pass this obstacle, only to reach a part of the hill-

1 Local Spanish for Yankee, or North American.
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side where an avalanche had recently occurred. Here even the

mules and horses trembled with fright as we led them across a

mass of loose earth and stones which threatened to give way at

any moment. To cheer us up, we were told that two weeks previ-

ously two sure-footed mules attempting to cross here had

started a renewal of the avalanche, which had swept the poor

animals along with it down into the bottom of the canyon.

An hour after dark we came out on a terrace where the roar of

the river was so great that we could scarcely hear Caceres shout-

ing that our troubles were now over and that ‘all the rest was

level ground’. This turned out to be his little joke. We were still

1,000 feet above the river. A path cut in the face of a precipice

had yet to be negotiated. In broad daylight we should never have

dared to ride down the tortuous trail that led from the terrace to

the bank of the river, but as it was quite dark and we were inno-

cent of any danger, we readily followed the cheery voice of our

guide. The path descended the wall of the canyon by means of

short turns, each 20 feet long. At one end of each turn was a

precipice, while at the other was a chasm, down which plunged

a small cataract which had a clear fall of 700 feet. Halfway down
the path my mule started trembling and I had to dismount, to

find that in the darkness he had walked off the trail and slid

down the cliff to a ledge. How to get him back was a problem.

There was no way to back him up the steep hill and there was

scarcely room in which to turn him round. It was such a narrow

escape that when I got safely back on the trail I decided to walk

the rest of the way and let the mule go first, preferring to have

him fall over the precipice alone, if that were necessary. Two-

thirds of the way down the descent the path crossed the narrow

chasm, close to and directly in front of the little cataract. There

was no bridge. To be sure, the waterfall was only about 3 feet

wide, but in the darkness I could not see the other side of the

chasm. I did not dare jump alone, so remounted my mule, held

my breath, and gave him both spurs at once. His jump was suc-

cessful.

Ten minutes later we saw the welcome light of the master of

the camp, who came out to guide us through a thicket of
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mimosa trees that grew on a lower terrace just above the river.

The ‘Great Speaker’ made so much noise we could not hear a

word our host said. But we were glad to have arrived safely.

The camp consisted of two huts, 6 feet by 7, built of reeds.

Here we passed a most uncomfortable night, and the next day

our explorations of Manco Inca’s hideout began.

We had arrived at the river bank in the night and could see

nothing, although the terrific roaring of the ‘Great Speaker’

made us wonder what lay before us. We were told the river was
over a hundred feet deep. As soon as it was light we scrambled

out of the tiny hut and stood in complete amazement at the

sight of its tumultuous rapids, 250 feet across, tearing through

the canyon at a fearful pace, throwing up great waves like the

ocean in a north-east storm. An incredible mass of water was
dashing past us. We learned that the river had risen more than

50 feet on account of the recent heavy rains. When the frail little

bridge was built it was 80 feet above the surface of the current.

Now it was scarcely 25.

The bridge was less than 3 feet wide but 273 feet long. It

swayed in the wind on its six strands of telegraph wire. To cross

it seemed like tempting fate. So close to death did the narrow
cat-walk of the bridge appear to be, and so high did the rapids

throw the icy spray, that our Indian bearers crept across one at a

time, on all fours and obviously wishing they had never been
ordered by the Prefect to carry our luggage to Choqquequirau.
It had been brought as far as the bridge on pack animals but

mules could not use the new trail.

As has been said, the Incas had learned a thousand years ago
to build good suspension bridges, using the tough lianas of the

jungle to make powerful cables. Otherwise they never could
have extended their empire as they did in the Andes, where bit-

terly cold water from the glaciers makes it extremely difficult to

cross the streams that unite to form the great affluents of the

Amazon. No one thinks of learning to swim in the Central

Andes. A mis-step in fording one of the small rapidly flowing

rivers usually means death. The mountain Indians are very cau-

tious about taking such risks. The behaviour of our carriers was
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understandable, therefore, especially as they were not

acquainted with the tenacity of telegraph wire. It must have

seemed to them the height of folly for any one voluntarily to use

this bridge. The river at this point is about 5,000 feet above sea

level. Our guide pointed out that the ruins were more than a

mile above us. We had had little practice in mountain climbing,

except on mule-back, for many months. It seemed a pretty

serious undertaking to attempt to climb up a slippery little trail

for 6,000 feet, to an elevation twice as high as the top of Mount
Washington. We were out of condition, so that what would have

been only a simple matter for the accustomed climber was any-

thing but easy for us.

Our patient, long-suffering Quichua bearers, coming of a

race that is in the habit of marching great distances at these alti-

tudes, bore their burdens most cheerfully. At the same time even

they gave frequent evidence of fatigue, which was not at all to be

wondered at under the circumstances. Our aide, the enthusias-

tic Lt. Caceres, kept shouting ‘Valor’ at the top of his lungs as

evidence of his good spirits and in an effort to encourage the

others. The two Yankis had a hard time of it and were obliged to

stop and rest nearly every 50 feet. Anyone who has attempted to

walk fast at an elevation of 8,000 feet will know how we felt

trying to climb at 10,000 feet.

At times the trail was so steep that it was easier to go on all

fours than to attempt to walk erect. Occasionally we crossed

streams in front of waterfalls on slippery logs or treacherous

little footbridges. Roughly constructed ladders led us over steep

cliffs. Although the hillside was too precipitous to allow much

forest growth, no small part of the labour of making the path

had been the work of cutting through dense underbrush and

bamboo thickets.

As we mounted, the view of the valley became more and more

magnificent. Nowhere had I ever witnessed such beauty and

grandeur as was here displayed. The white torrent of the Apuri-

mac raged through the canyon thousands of feet below us.

Where its sides were not sheer precipices or scarred by recent

avalanches, the steep slopes were covered with green foliage and
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luxuriant flowers. From the hilltops near us other slopes rose

6,000 feet above to glaciers and snow-capped summits. The
whole range of the White Mountains or the Great Smokies of

Tennessee and North Carolina could have been placed on the

floor of this great valley and not come much more than halfway

to the top. In the distance, as far as we could see, a maze of hills,

valleys, tropical jungle, and snow peaks held the imagination as

though by a spell. Such were our rewards as we lay panting by

the side of the little path when we had reached its highest point.

After getting our wind, we followed the trail westward, skirt-

ing more precipices and crossing other torrents, until, about two
o’clock, we rounded a promontory and on the slopes of a bold

mountain headland 6,000 feet above the river we caught our first

glimpse of the ruins of Choqquequirau. Between the outer

hilltop and the ridge connecting it with the snow-capped moun-
tains, a depression or saddle had been terraced and levelled so as

to leave a space for the more important buildings of the Inca

stronghold.

At three o’clock we reached a glorious waterfall whose icy

waters, coming probably from the glaciers on Soray, cooled our

heads and quenched our thirst. We had now left our compan-
ions far behind, and were pushing slowly along through the

jungle when, shortly before four o’clock, we saw terraces in the

near distance. We clambered up to a little bit of flat ground, to

enjoy the view. Here we were discovered by a huge condor, who
proceeded to investigate the invaders of his domain. Apparently

without moving a muscle, he sailed gracefully down in ever nar-

rowing circles until we could see clearly not only his cruel beak

and great talons, but even the whites of his eyes. We had no guns

and not even a club with which to resist his attack. It was an

awe-inspiring moment, for he measured about twelve feet from
tip to tip of wing. He finally decided not to disturb us, and,

seemingly without changing the position of a feather, soared off

into space. We were told afterwards by the Prefect’s aides that

they had been greatly bothered by condors when they first com-
menced operations here. Shepherds in the high Andean pastures

have to wage a constant battle with condors, who have no diffi-
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culty in carrying off a sheep.

Since we had no knapsacks or loads of any kind we arrived

ahead of our carriers. The day had been warm, and in our

efforts to make climbing as easy as possible, we had even

divested ourselves of all warm clothes. Night came on and as

usual the air became intensely cold. Our Indians had taken their

time and failed to put in an appearance, so we spent an uncom-

fortable night in the smallest of the little thatched huts which

workmen had erected for their own use while engaged in clear-

ing the ruins. It was scarcely 3 feet high and about 6 feet long by

4 feet wide. Notwithstanding the fact that a shelter tent was

pulled down and wrapped around us for warmth, and stacks of

dry grass piled about us, we were scarcely able to close our eyes

for the cold and chilling dampness.

During the four days that we spent on the mountain the

humidity was usually 100 per cent, so we were in clouds or mist

most of the time, when it was not actually raining. It was not a

pleasant introduction to archaeological reconnaissance, espe-

cially as I was inexperienced and unacquainted with my duties.

Fortunately I had with me that extremely useful handbook

Hints to Travellers, published by the Royal Geographical

Society. In one of the chapters I found out what should be done

when one is confronted by a prehistoric site — take careful mea-

surements and plenty of photographs and describe as accurately

as possible all finds. On account of the rain, our photographs

were not very successful, but we took measurements of all the

buildings and made a rough map.

We found that the ruins were clustered in several groups both

on terraces and on natural shelves and could be reached by stair-

ways or winding paths. The buildings appear to have been

placed close together, probably in order to economize all the

available space. Probably every square yard that could be given

to agriculture was cultivated.

Magnificent precipices guard the ruins on every side and

render Choqquequirau virtually inaccessible to an enemy. Every

avenue of ascent, except such as the engineers determined to

leave open, was closed, and every strategic spot was elaborately
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fortified. Wherever it might have been possible for a bold moun-
taineer to gain a foothold, the Incas had built well-faced walls of

stone so as to leave an adventurous assailant no support. The
terraces thus made served the double purpose of military

defence and of keeping the soil from sliding away from the

gardens down the steep hillside.

The ruins consist of three distinct groups of buildings. All

had been more or less completely hidden by trees and vines

during the centuries of solitude. Fortunately for us the treasure-

seeking company had done excellent work in clearing away

from the more important buildings the tangled mass of vegeta-

tion that had covered them. Dynamite had also been used in

various likely spots where treasure might have been buried. But

the workmen had found no gold and only a few objects of inter-

est including, besides those we saw at Abancay, a few clay pots

and two or three rocking pestles or grinding stones of a pattern

still in use in this part of the Andes and as far north as Panama.

At the top of the southern and outer precipice, 5,800 feet

immediately above the river, stands a parapet and the walls of

two buildings without windows. The view from here, both up

and down the valley, surpasses what can be adequately

described. Far down the gigantic canyon one catches little

glimpses of the Apurimac, a white stream shut in between

guardian mountains, so narrowed by the distance that it seems

like a mere brooklet. Here and there through the valley are mar-

vellous cataracts, one of which has a clear fall of over 1,000 feet.

The panorama in every direction is wonderful in variety, con-

trast, beauty, and grandeur.

North of this outer group of buildings is an artificially trun-

cated hill. It is probable that on this flattened hilltop, which

commands a magnificent view up and down the valley, signal

fires could be built to telegraph to the heights overlooking

Cuzco intelligence of the approach of an enemy from the Ama-
zonian wilds.

We noticed on this hilltop that small stones had been set into

the ground, in straight lines crossing and recrossing at right

angles as though to make a pattern. So much of it was covered
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by grass, however, that we did not have a chance to sketch it in

the time at our disposal. It might have been the floor of a hut

used by sentries 400 years ago.

North of the lookout and on the saddle between it and the

main ridge is located the main group of ruins. In general, all

the walls appear to have been built entirely of stone and clay.

The construction, compared with that of the Inca palaces in

Cuzco, is extremely rude and rough and no two niches or doors

are exactly alike. Occasionally the lintels of the doors were

made of timber, the builders not having taken the trouble to

provide stones wide enough for the purpose. One such lintel was

still standing, the wood being of a remarkably hard texture.

Probably the ruins today present a more striking appearance

than the buildings did when they were covered with thatched

roofs.

In one of the niches I found the small stone whirl-bob of a

spindle-wheel, in size and shape like those made from wood and

used today all over the Andes. This simple spinning apparatus

consists of a stick about as large round as the little finger and

from 10 to 12 inches long. Its lower end is fitted with a whirl-bob

of wood to give it proper momentum when it is set in motion by

a twirl of the forefinger and thumb grasping the upper end of the

spindle. It is in universal use by Indian women from Colombia

to Chile. One rarely sees a woman tending sheep or walking

along the high road who is not busily engaged in using this old-

fashioned spindle. In the tombs of Pachacamac near Lima have

been found spindles fitted with similar whirl-bobs of stone,

more than five hundred years old.

The third group of buildings is higher up on the spur, 100 feet

or more above the second group. Near the path from the lower

to the upper plaza are the remains of a little azequia, or water-

course, now dry, lined with flat stones. The Incas never failed to

provide water for all their fields and towns.

The south-east corner of the third group is marked by a huge

projecting rock 20 feet high and 12 or 15 feet in diameter. Beside

it, facing the eastern slope, is a giant stairway. It consists of four-

teen great steps roughly made and of varying dimensions. It is
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possible to ascend these stairs by means of small stone steps

erected on one side or the other. Walls on each side, z feet wide,

serve as a balustrade. A peculiarity of the construction is the

locating of a huge flat stone in the centre of the riser of each step.

The view to the eastward from this stairway is particularly fine.

Perhaps the rising sun, chief divinity of the Incas, was wor-

shipped here. Mummies may have been brought out here on
feast days to dry in the sun.

Beyond the stairway are terraces, alleyways, walls, and story-

and-a-half houses, filled with niches and windows. Two of the

houses have no windows and one of them contains three cells.

Our military escort said they were used for the detention of pris-

oners. They were more likely storehouses. On the north side of

the plaza is a curious little structure built with the utmost care

and containing many niches and nooks. It may possibly have

been the place in which criminals, destined to be thrown over

the precipice, according to the laws of the Incas, awaited their

doom.

Above it the hillside rises steeply, and on the crest of the ridge

runs a little conduit which we followed until it entered the

impenetrable tropical jungle at the foot of a very steep hill.

The water in this little azequia, then dry, coming straight down
the spur, was conducted over a terrace into two well-paved tanks

on the north side of the plaza. Thence it ran across the plaza to a

little reservoir on the south side. A small outlet had been pro-

vided at the end of this basin so that the water could flow under-

neath the floor of the tank house and then proceed on its way
down the ridge to the buildings below.

As the western slope of the Choqquequirau spur is a sheer

precipice, little attempt at fortification was made on that side.

The eastern slope, however, is not so steep. On this side were

enormous terraces hundreds of feet long faced with perpendicu-

lar walls 12 feet high. Two narrow paved stairways lead from
one terrace to another.

In the jungle immediately below the last terrace, under
ledges and huge boulders, had been dug little caves in which
the mummified bodies of the dead were placed. I found that
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the bones were heaped in a little pile as though they had been

cleaned before being interred. No earth had been placed on

them, but on top of the pile on one grave I found a small

earthenware jar about i inch in diameter. There was nothing in

the jar, although it had retained its upright position during

all the years of its interment. The natural entrance to the

little tomb had been walled up with wedge-shaped stones from

the inside in such a way as to make it difficult to enter the

cave from the front. I found, however, that by digging away a

little on one side of the huge boulder, I could easily remove the

stones, which had evidently been placed there by the grave-

digger after the bones had been deposited in the tomb. Graves

dug in the sandy deserts of the coast of Peru usually contain

mummies in fairly good condition but here in the rain-soaked

mountains of the eastern Andes mummies are seldom found

intact.

The workmen had excavated under a dozen or more of the

projecting ledges and in each case had found bones and occa-

sionally sherds of pottery. In no case, however, had they found

anything of value to indicate that the dead were of high degree.

If any of the officers of the garrison or Inca nobles were ever

buried in this vicinity, their tombs have not yet been discovered,

or else the graves were rifled years ago. But of this there is no evi-

dence.

All conspicuously large rocks below the terraces were found

to cover graves. The skulls were not found alone but always near

the remainder of the skeleton. The larger bones were in fairly

good condition but the smallest ones had completely disinte-

grated. Some of the largest bones could be crumbled with the

fingers and easily broken, while others were white and hard; all

that we found were those of adults, although one or two of them

seemed to be of persons not over twenty years of age. So far as

has been observed, no super-incumbent soil was placed on the

skeleton. The Quichua Indian carriers and workmen watched

our operations with interest, but they became positively fright-

ened when we began the careful measurement and examination

of the bones. They had been in doubt as to the object of our
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expedition up to that point, but all doubts then vanished and

they decided we had come there to commune with the spirits of

the departed Incas.

In one of the buildings we found several slabs of slate on
which visitors had registered their names. According to these

inscriptions Choqquequirau was visited in 1834 by a French

explorer, Count de Sartiges, and by two Peruvians, Jose Maria
Tejada and Marcelino Leon; and in 1861 by Jose Benigno

Samanez (‘pro Presidente Castilla’), Juan Manuel Rivas Plata,

and Mariana Cisneros. On July 4 1885, three Almanzas, Pio

Mogrovejo, and a party of workmen did what they could to find

the buried treasure, but in vain.

After my return to New Haven I learned that the Count de

Sartiges, writing under the nom de plume ‘E. de Lavandais’,

published an account of his visit in the Revue de Deux Mondes,
in June 1850. His route, the only one possible at the time, was
exceedingly circuitous. From Mollepata, a village near the sugar

plantation of La Estrella, he went north across the very high

pass between Mts Salcantay and Soray to the river Urubamba,
to a village called Yuatquinia (Huadquina). Here, without

knowing it, he was within a few miles of Machu Picchu, then

unheard of. He engaged Indians to cut a trail to Choqque-
quirau. After three weeks he found that the difficulties of

making a trail were so great that it would take at least two
months to finish the undertaking. So he and his companions
made their way through the jungle and along the precipices as

best they could for four days. On the fifth day they arrived at the

ruins. In his projects for exploration, he had failed to take into

account the fact that tropical vegetation had been at work for

centuries covering up the remains of the Inca houses, and as he

was only able to stay at Choqquequirau for two or three days, he

failed to see some of the most interesting ruins. The giant stair-

way escaped his attention entirely. He seems to have spent most
of his time hunting for treasure. He had expected to spend eight

days here, but the difficulties of reaching the place were so great

and the food supply so limited that he had to hurry back

without seeing more than the buildings of the lower plaza, the
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lower terraces, and a grave or two. It was his opinion that 15,000

people lived here once. One wonders what they lived on. Never-

theless every available foot of arable land had been conserved by

extensive terraces. No soil was allowed to escape. Corn and

potatoes could grow here.

The Count de Sartiges’ description made us realize how much
we were indebted to the labours of the treasure-seeking

company for uncovering buildings whose presence otherwise

would never have been suspected.

Apparently Choqquequirau was a frontier fortress that

defended the upper valley of the Apurimac, one of the natural

approaches to Cuzco, from the country occupied by the

Chancas and the Amazonian Antis. There were undoubtedly

several less important outlying fortresses lower down the river,

situated in such a way as to be able to prevent the incursions of

small parties of wild savages and give notice of any large expedi-

tions that might attempt to march on Cuzco.

The Prefect of Apurimac was much disappointed that I was

unable to indicate to him the possible whereabouts of any

buried treasure. The chief satisfaction derived by the local

gentry who had invested several thousand dollars in the unsuc-

cessful enterprise was their claim that they had laid bare the

capital of the last of the Incas. For this they took considerable

credit.

Peruvian writers like Paz Soldan and the great geographer

Raimondi were positive that Choqquequirau was really Manco
Inca’s ‘Vilcapampa’. They based their belief on the fact that

Father Calancha says Puquiura was ‘two long days’ journey

from Vilcabamba’. Raimondi calls attention to the fact that

Choqquequirau is in fact two or three long days’ journey from

the present village of Puquiura and therefore must have been the

last Inca capital.

This belief was not shared by Don Carlos Romero, one of the

chief historians of Lima, who assured me that the Spanish

Chronicles contained enough evidence to show that the last Inca

capital was not at Choqquequirau but was probably over

beyond the ranges in the region where I had seen snow-capped
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peaks.

Those snow-capped peaks in an unknown and unexplored

part of Peru fascinated me greatly. They tempted me to go to see

what lay beyond. In the ever famous words of Rudyard Kipling

there was ‘Something hidden! Go and find it! Go and look

behind the ranges — Something lost behind the Ranges. Lost and

waiting for you. Go!’



CHAPTER FIVE

THE SEARCH FOR VITCOS

I

n the summer of 1910 while I was reading the proof sheets of

Across South America, my friend, the late Edward S. Hark-

ness, asked me when I was going on another expedition to

South America and said he would be glad to contribute the cost

of sending a geologist with me. That was an exciting idea. Just

about that time I had been asked to review Professor Adolph

Bandelier’s scholarly book The Islands of Titicaca and Koati. In

one of his footnotes he casually remarked that he believed it

‘likely’ that Mount Coropuna in the Peruvian Coast range near

Arequipa ‘is the culminating point of the continent’. He said

that ‘it exceeds 23,000 feet in height’, whereas Aconcagua is

only 22,763 ft.

My father had taught me to love mountain climbing. He took

me for my first steep climb when I was just four years old. Later

we had climbed together a number of mountains in the suburbs

of Honolulu. So I knew the thrill of that great and hazardous

sport. My sensations when I read Bandelier’s footnote are diffi-

cult to describe for I did not remember ever having heard of

Coropuna. On many maps it did not exist but I finally found it

on one of Raimondi’s large-scale sheets and was thrilled to find

that that great explorer gave its height as 8 metres higher than

Aconcagua, which is actually the highest mountain in the

Western Hemisphere. It lay about a hundred miles north of Are-

quipa, near the 73rd meridian, almost due south of Choqque-

quirau and the hidden lands ‘behind the ranges’ where possibly

Manco II had had his last capital.

So I asked myself whether it would not be a good idea to make
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a cross-section of Peru along the line of the 73rd meridian from

the head of canoe navigation on the Urubamba river to tide

water on the Pacific, exploring the hinterland for historical and
archaeological remains and climbing Coropuna.

That winter at a class dinner at the Yale Club in New York I

was called upon for a ‘speech’. Naturally I spoke of what was on
my mind. To my great surprise one of my classmates, the late

Herbert Scheftel, came to me offering to pay the expenses of a

topographer on the expedition now fairly launched in my
mind’s eye! Other friends soon offered to furnish a surgeon, a

naturalist, and a mountain-climbing engineer. An undergradu-

ate offered to come as an assistant. And so the Yale Peruvian

Expedition of 1911 was organized in the hope that we might

climb the highest mountain in America, collect a lot of geologi-

cal and biological data, and above all try to find the last capital

of the Incas.

At my invitation Professor Isaiah Bowman became our

geologist-geographer; Professor Harry W. Foote our naturalist;

Dr William G. Erving our surgeon; Kai Hendrikson our topog-

rapher; H. L. Tucker our engineer; and Paul B. Lanius our

assistant. We left New York early in June.

In Lima Senor Carlos Romero showed me some paragraphs in

Calancha’s chronicle about Vitcos. As soon as we got to Cuzco I

began to ask the planters of the Urubamba river about the

places mentioned in Calancha. They had never heard of most of

them but two or three did say there were Inca ruins in various

places down the valley. And one old prospector said there were

interesting ruins at Machu Picchu. His statements were given no
importance by the leading citizens; and the professors in the

University of Cuzco knew nothing of any ruins down the valley.

They thought Choqquequirau was the old Inca capital

although, as has been said, the historian Carlos Romero did not

think so. He placed Vitcos ‘near a great white rock over a spring

of fresh water’.

We had with us the sheets of Antonio Raimondi’s great map
which covered the region we proposed to explore. His map con-

tained references to Inca ruins but none at all in the Urubamba
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valley below Ollantaytambo or in the Vilcabamba valley. In

1865 this remarkable explorer, who spent his life crossing and

recrossing Peru, went deep into the heart of the Cordillera Vil-

cabamba, yet found no Vitcos. He did locate a small town

bearing the name Vilcabamba, but obviously it was not Inca and

had been built by the first Spanish settlers, who were interested

in working a gold mine in that vicinity. We did not know until

after our return to New Haven that the French explorer Charles

Wiener had heard there were ruins in Huayna Picchu and

Machu Picchu which he was unable to reach. Naturally we did

not have with us the 1,000-page folio volume of Father Calan-

cha’s Chronicle of the Augustinians. We only had a few notes

that I had been able to make in Lima under the guidance of

Romero. These referred to the places in the vicinity of Vitcos.

The last refuge of the Incas lies about 100 miles from the

Cuzco palace of the Spanish Viceroy, in what Prescott calls ‘the

remote fastnesses of the Andes’. One looks in vain for Vitcos on

modern maps of Peru, although several of the ancient maps give

it. In 1625 ‘Vitcos’ is marked on de Laet’s map of Peru as a

mountainous province north-east of Lima and 350 miles north-

west of Vilcabamba! This error was copied by some later car-

tographers, including Mercator, until about 1740, when ‘Vitcos’

disappeared from all maps of Peru. The map-makers had

learned that there was no such place in that vicinity. Its real loca-

tion was lost for about three hundred years.

In July with the aid of Don Cesar Lomellini, a courteous

Italian merchant, we organized a good mule train, left Cuzco

and its wonderful Inca ruins, and went over to the Urubamba

Valley, little suspecting what was in store for us.

We saw snow peaks ahead of us but were totally unprepared

for the wonderful view that suddenly breaks on the traveller as

he comes to the end of the arid plateau and finds himself on the

edge of an enchanting great valley, 3,000 feet deep.

Uru is the Quichua word for caterpillars or grubs, pampa

means flat land. Urubamba is the ‘flat-land-where-there-are-

grubs-or-caterpillars’. Had it been named by people who came

up from a warm region where insects abound, it would hardly
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have been so denominated. Only people not accustomed to land

where caterpillars and grubs flourished would have been struck

by such a circumstance. Consequently, the valley was probably

named by the plateau dwellers who were working their way
down into a warm region where butterflies and moths are more
common.

Notwithstanding its celebrated caterpillars, we found

Urubamba’s gardens to be full of roses, lilies, and other brilliant

flowers. There were orchards of peaches, pears, and apples;

there were fields where luscious strawberries are raised for the

Cuzco market. Apparently, the grubs do not get everything.

This is the valley of Yucay where Sayri Tupac lived. No wonder
it was a favourite resort of the Incas.

The first day down the Urubamba Valley brought us to

romantic Ollantaytambo, described in glowing terms by Castel-

nau, Marcou, Wiener, and Squier many years ago. It has lost

none of its charm, even though Marcou’s drawings are imagi-

nary and Squier’s exaggerated. Here, as at the town of

Urubamba, there are flower gardens and highly cultivated green

fields. The brooks are shaded by willows and poplars. Above
them are magnificent precipices crowned by snow-capped

peaks. The village itself was once the capital of an ancient prin-

cipality whose history is shrouded in mystery. There are ruins of

Inca gabled buildings, storehouses, ‘prisons’, or ‘monasteries’,

perched here and there on well-nigh inaccessible crags above the

village. Below are broad terraces which will stand for ages to

come as monuments to the energy and skill of a bygone race,

who were great agriculturists.

The ‘fortress’ is on a little hill, surrounded by steep cliffs, high

walls, and hanging gardens so as to be difficult of access. Cen-
turies ago, when the tribe which cultivated the rich fields in this

valley lived in fear and terror of their savage neighbours, this hill

offered a place of refuge to which they could retire. It may have

been fortified at that time. As centuries passed in which the land

came under the control of the Incas, whose chief interest was the

peaceful promotion of agriculture, it is likely that this ‘fortress’

became a royal garden. The six great slabs of reddish granite
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weighing 15 or 2.0 tons each, and placed in line on the summit of

the hill, were brought from a quarry several miles down the

valley and at a lower level, so they had to be dragged up hill with

an immense amount of labour and pains. They were probably

intended to be a record of the magnificence of an able ruler. His

name may have been Ollantay, a celebrated Prince.

Fortunately for those who are interested in ancient Peru,

Ollantaytambo can now be reached from Cuzco both by train

and automobile. The scenery en route alone makes the trip

memorable.

Before the completion of the Urubamba river road, about

1895, travellers from Cuzco to the lower valley had a choice of

two routes. One was by way of the Pass of Panticalla, followed

by Wiener in 1875. Near this pass are two groups of ruins. One
of them, extravagantly referred to by Wiener as a ‘granite

palace, whose structural plan resembles the more beautiful

parts of Ollantaytambo’, was only a storehouse. The other was

probably a tampu, or inn, for the benefit of official Inca trav-

ellers. The other route was by way of the pass between Mts Sal-

cantay and Soray, followed by the Count de Sartiges in 1834 and

Raimondi in 1865. Both passes are higher than the top of Pike’s

Peak. Both are dangerous during the rainy season, when they lie

under deep snow and violent storms are frequent. The moun-

tainous wilderness between these two routes was practically

unknown and had been inaccessible for almost four centuries.

Up to the time of our visit it had not been described in the geo-

graphical or archaeological literature of southern Peru. Thanks

to the new road we were able to avoid the high passes and go

straight down the Urubamba river, asking all the local Indians

to show us Inca ruins, and in particular a place where there was

a ‘great white rock over a spring of water’.

At Salapunco (sala — ruins; punco — gateway), the road skirts

the base of precipitous cliffs. They are the beginnings of a won-

derful mass of granite mountains which have made Vilcapampa

more difficult of access than the surrounding highlands, which

are composed of schists, conglomerates, and limestone. This is

the natural gateway to the ancient province, but it was closed for
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centuries by the combined efforts of nature and man. The
Urubamba river, in cutting its way through the granite range,

forms rapids too dangerous to be passable and precipices which

can be scaled only with great effort and considerable peril, if at

all. At one time a footpath probably ran near the river, where the

Indians, by crawling along the face of the cliffs and sometimes

swinging from one ledge to another on hanging vines, were able

to make their way to the alluvial terraces down the valley.

Another path may have gone over the cliffs above Salapunco,

where we noticed, in various inaccessible places, the remains of

walls built on narrow ledges. They were too narrow and too

irregular to have been intended to support agricultural terraces.

They may represent the foundations of an old trail. To defend

these ancient paths we found that the Incas or their predecessors

had built, at the foot of the precipices, close to the river, a small

but powerful fortress, fashioned after famous Sacsahuaman and

resembling it in the irregular character of the large polygonal

building blocks and also by reason of the salients and re-entrant

angles which were intended to prevent the walls from being suc-

cessfully scaled.

Passing Salapunco, we skirted high granite cliffs and verdure-

clad precipices and entered a fascinating region, where we were

surprised and charmed by the extent of the ancient terraces,

their length and height, the presence of many Inca ruins, the

beauty of the deep, narrow valleys, and the grandeur of the

snow-clad mountains which towered above them.

Across the Urubamba river at Qquente, and near the mouth
of the Pampaccahuana river, on top of a series of terraces, we
saw an extensive ruined city. It looked as though it had possibili-

ties, so I asked Mr Herman Tucker, one of our topographers, to

cross the Urubamba and see what he could find out about it. He
spent several days in that vicinity and reported that the name of

the city was Patallacta {pata - height or terrace; llacta - town),

an Inca town of importance. It contains about one hundred

houses. One wonders why it was abandoned. Above it, in the

valley he visited, are several important sites at Pauccarcancha,

Huayllabamba, Incasamana, or Ccolpa Mocco, and Hoccol-



i39The Search for Vitcos

lopampa, which we later surveyed. None of the places in this

vicinity fitted in with the accounts of Vitcos. Their history can

only be surmised. Their identity remains a puzzle, although the

symmetry of the buildings, their architectural idiosyncrasies

such as niches, stone roof-pegs, bar-holds, and eye-bonders,

indicate an Inca origin. At what date these towns and villages

flourished, who built them, why they were deserted, we do not

yet know; and the Indians who live hereabouts are ignorant, or

silent, as to their history. It is possible that this region was fully

occupied and cultivated before the Incas were able to control the

Cuzco valley and other more accessible arable lands. The origi-

nal inhabitants must have been hard put to it for room, to have

spread into the upper valleys of this inhospitable region. In a

way it fits in with the theory which will be advanced in a later

chapter that the original inhabitants of Cuzco were pushed out

of their fertile valleys by a horde of barbarians coming from the

Bolivian altoplanicie, and found a refuge for several hundred

years in this mountainous country, where they finally became

too crowded to be comfortable and fought their way back to

Cuzco.

On the other hand, since the architecture appears to be ‘Late

Inca’, the chances are that they were occupied at the time of the

Conquest and were abandoned when the Viceroy Toledo in 1573

wiped out a large part of the population. At all events we found

practically no one living in these ancient towns.

Father Calancha’s Chronicle gives a story of mass slaughter

which followed the martyrdom of Friar Diego and the death of

the Viceroy’s ambassador. Toledo was led to take fearful

revenge on the hapless Indians.

At Torontoy, the end of the cultivated temperate valley, we

found another group of interesting ruins, possibly once the resi-

dence of an Inca noble. Some of the buildings showed very fine

stone cutting, the work of patient artisans.

Torontoy is at the beginning of the Grand Canyon of the

Urubamba, and such a canyon! The river road ran recklessly up

and down rock stairways, blasted its way beneath overhanging

precipices, spanned chasms on frail bridges propped on rustic
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brackets against granite cliffs. Under dense forests, wherever the

encroaching precipices permitted it, the land between them and
the river was terraced and once cultivated. We found ourselves

unexpectedly in a veritable wonderland. We marvelled at the

exquisite pains with which the ancient folk had rescued incredi-

bly narrow strips of arable land from the tumbling rapids. How
could they ever have managed to build a retaining wall of heavy

stones along the very edge of the dangerous river, which it is

death to try to cross? On a bend near a foaming waterfall some
Inca chief built a temple, whose walls tantalize the traveller. He
must pass by within pistol shot of the interesting ruins, unable

to ford the intervening rapids. High up on the side of the

canyon, several thousand feet above this temple, are the ruins of

Ccorihuayrachina (kori - gold; huayra - wind; huayrachina - a

threshing floor where winnowing takes place). Possibly this was
an ancient gold mine of the Incas. Half a mile above us on
another steep slope some modern pioneer had recently cleared

the jungle from a fine series of ancient Inca terraces.

Then we reached a hut called ‘La Maquina’, where travellers

frequently stop for the night. It is now (1948) the terminus of the

narrow gauge railroad from Cuzco. The name comes from the

presence here of some large iron wheels, parts of a ‘machine’

destined never to overcome the difficulties of being transported

all the way to a sugar estate in the lower valley, and years ago left

here to rust in the jungle.

As there was little fodder, and there was no good place for us

to pitch our camp, we pushed on over the very difficult road,

which had been blasted out of the face of a great granite cliff,

z,ooo feet high. Part of the cliff had slid off into the river. The
breach thus made in the road had been repaired temporarily by

means of a frail-looking rustic bridge built on a bracket com-
posed of rough logs, branches, and reeds, tied together, and sur-

mounted by a few inches of earth and pebbles to make it seem
safe to the cautious cargo mules who picked their way gingerly

across it. No wonder ‘the machine’ rested where it did and gave

its name to that part of the valley.

Dusk falls early in this deep canyon, the sides of which are
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considerably over a mile in height. It was almost dark when we

came to a little sandy plain two or three acres in extent, which in

this land of steep mountains is called a pampa\ Were the

dwellers on the pampas of Argentina — where a railroad can go

for 250 miles in a straight line — to see this little bit of flood-plain

called Mandor Pampa, they would think someone had been

joking or else grossly misusing a word which means to them

illimitable space with not a hill in sight. However, to the ancient

dwellers in this valley, where level land was so scarce that it was

worthwhile to build high stone-faced terraces to enable two

rows of corn to grow where none grew before, any little natural

breathing space in the bottom of the canyon was a pampa.

The story of our stay at Mandor Pampa, of its sole resident,

Melchor Arteaga, and of the ruins he showed me above the

precipices on the slopes of Machu Picchu mountain, I shall

relate in detail in Chapter VII (Part III), which tells of the discov-

ery of Machu Picchu. Suffice it to say that the ruins he showed

me were not near a ‘great white rock over a spring of water’ and

that there was no evidence that this was Vitcos, Manco’s capital

for which we were looking. So a few days later we crossed the

river on the fine new bridge of San Miguel and pushed on down
the Urubamba Valley asking for ruins, offering cash prizes for

good ones, and a double bonus for any that would fit the

description of the Temple of the Sun which Father Calancha had

said was ‘near Vitcos’.

Our first stop was at the hospitable plantation of Huadquina,

which once belonged to the Jesuits. They planted the first sugar

cane and established the mill. After their expulsion from the

Spanish Colonies at the end of the eighteenth century,

Huadquina was bought by a Peruvian. It was first described in

geographical literature by the Count de Sartiges, who stayed

here for several weeks in 1834 when on his way to Choqque-

quirau. He says that the owner of Huadquina ‘is perhaps the

only landed proprietor in the entire world who possesses on his

estates all the products of the four parts of the globe. In the dif-

ferent regions of his domain he has wool, hides, horsehair, pota-

toes, wheat, corn, sugar, coffee, chocolate, coca, many mines of
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silver-bearing lead, and placers of gold’. Truly a royal principal-

ity.

Our hosts, Senora Carmen Vargas and her family, read with

interest my copy of those paragraphs of Calancha’s Chronicle

which referred to the location of the last Inca capital. Learning

that we were anxious to discover Vitcos, a place of which they

had never heard, they ordered the most intelligent tenants on
the estates to come in and be questioned. The best informed of

all was a sturdy mestizo
,
a trusted foreman, who said that in a

little valley called Ccollumayu, a few hours’ journey down the

Urubamba, there were ‘important ruins’ which had been seen by

some of Senora Carmen’s Indians. Even more interesting and
thrilling was his statement that on a ridge up the Salcantay

Valley was a place called Yurak Rumi
(
yurak — white; rumi —

stone) where some very interesting ruins had been found by his

workmen when cutting trees for firewood. We all became
excited over this, for among the paragraphs which I had copied

from Calancha’s Chronicle was the statement that ‘close to

Vitcos’ is the ‘white stone of the aforesaid house of the Sun
which is called Yurak Rumi’. Our hosts assured us that this must

be the place, since no one hereabouts had ever heard of any

other Yurak Rumi. The foreman, on being closely questioned,

said that he had seen the ruins once or twice, that he had also

been up the Urubamba Valley and seen the great ruins at Ollan-

taytambo, and that those which he had seen at Yurak Rumi were

‘as good as those at Ollantaytambo’. Here was a definite state-

ment made by an eye-witness. Apparently we were about to see

that interesting rock where the last Incas worshipped. However,

the foreman said that the trail was at present impassable,

although a small gang of Indians could open it in less than a

week. Our hosts immediately gave orders to have the path to

Yurak Rumi cleared for our benefit.

Meanwhile we spent a few days exploring the ruins of Ccol-

lumayu, only to meet with disappointment, as there was little

besides the foundations of some very primitive huts.

Finally the trail to Yurak Rumi was reported finished. It was
with a feeling of keen anticipation that I started out with the
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foreman to see those ruins which he had just revisited and now
declared were ‘better than those of Ollantaytambo’. It was to be

presumed that in the pride of discovery he might have exagger-

ated their importance. Still it never entered my head what I was

actually to find. After several hours spent in clearing away dense

forest growth which surrounded the walls I learned that this

Yurak Rumi consisted of the ruins of a single house! No effort

had been made at beauty of construction. The walls were of

rough, unfashioned stones laid in clay. The building was

without a doorway, although it had several small windows and a

series of ventilating shafts under the house. The lintels of the

windows and of the small apertures leading into the subter-

ranean shafts were of stone. It was really only intended by the

Inca builders to be a useful storehouse to provide food for trav-

ellers.

Yurak Rumi is on top of the ridge between the Salcantay and

Huadquina valleys, probably on the ancient road which crossed

the province of Vilcapampa. As such it was interesting, but to

compare it with Ollantaytambo, as the foreman had done, was

to liken a cottage to a palace or a mouse to an elephant. It seems

incredible that anybody having actually seen both places could

have thought for a moment that one was ‘as good as the other’.

To be sure, the foreman was not a trained observer and his inter-

est in Inca building was probably of the slightest. Yet the ruins of

Ollantaytambo are so well known and so impressive that even

the most casual traveller is struck by them and the natives them-

selves are enormously proud of them.

Obviously, we had not yet found Vitcos. So, bidding farewell

to Senora Carmen, we crossed the Urubamba on the bridge of

Colpani and proceeded down the valley past the mouth of the

Lucumayo and the road from Panticalla, to the hamlet of

Chauillay, where the Urubamba is joined by the Vilcabamba

river. Both rivers are restricted here to narrow gorges, through

which their waters rush and roar on their way to the lower valley.

A few rods from Chauillay was a fine bridge. The natives call it

Chuquichaca. Steel and iron have superseded the old suspension

bridge of huge cables made of vegetable fibre, with its narrow
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roadway of wattles supported by a network of vines. Yet it was

here in 1 572 that the military force sent by the Viceroy, Francisco

de Toledo, under the command of Captain Garcia, found the

forces of the young Inca drawn up to defend Vitcos.

Eventually we reached the town of Santa Ana at the head of

canoe navigation on the Urubamba, and the site of fine sugar

and coca plantations, which had formerly been a Jesuit Mission.

Two hundred Indians are employed here in raising sugar cane,

making aguardiente
,
‘fire water’, cultivating coca and drying the

leaves to be sold in the markets of the highlands.

We were most kindly welcomed here by Don Pedro Duque,

who took great interest in enabling us to get all possible infor-

mation about the little-known region into which we proposed to

penetrate. Born in Colombia, but long resident in Peru, Don
Pedro was a gentleman of the old school, keenly interested not

only in the administration and economic progress of his planta-

tion but also in the intellectual movements of the outside world.

He entered with zest into our historical-geographical studies.

The name Vitcos was new to him, but after reading over with us

our extracts from the Spanish chronicles he was sure that he

could help us find it. And help us he did. Santa Ana is less than

thirteen degrees south of the equator; the elevation is barely

2,000 feet; the ‘winter’ nights are cool; but the heat in the middle

of the day is intense. Nevertheless, our host was so energetic

that as a result of his efforts a number of the best-informed resi-

dents were brought to the conferences at the great plantation

house.

Of Vitcos, as well as most of the places mentioned in the

chronicles, none of Don Pedro’s friends had ever heard. It was
all rather discouraging, until one day, by the greatest good
fortune, there arrived at Santa Ana another friend of Don
Pedro’s, the Teniente Gobernador of the village of Lucma in the

valley of the River Vilcabamba - a crusty old fellow named
Evaristo Mogrovejo. His brother, Pio Mogrovejo, had been a

member of the party of energetic Peruvians who, in 1884, had

searched for buried treasure at Choqquequirau. Evaristo

Mogrovejo could understand searching for buried treasure, but
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he was totally unable otherwise to comprehend our desire to

find the ruins of the places mentioned by Father Calancha. Had
we first met him in Lucma he would undoubtedly have received

us with suspicion and done nothing to further our quest. Fortu-

nately for us, his official superior was the sub-prefect of the

province, who lived near Santa Ana, and was a friend of Don
Pedro’s. The sub-prefect had received instructions from the

prefect of Cuzco to further our undertaking, and accordingly

gave particular orders to Mogrovejo to see to it that we were

given every facility for finding the ancient ruins and identifying

the places of historic interest.

Our present objective was the Vilcabamba valley. So far as we
have been able to learn, only one other explorer had preceded us

- the distinguished cartographer, Raimondi. His map of the Vil-

cabamba is fairly accurate. He reports the presence here of

mines and minerals, but with the exception of an ‘abandoned

tampu’ at Marocnyoc (‘the place which possesses a millstone’),

he makes no mention of any ruins. Accordingly, although it

seemed from the story of Baltasar de Ocampo and Captain

Garcia’s other contemporaries that this was the valley of Vitcos,

it was with feelings of considerable uncertainty that we pro-

ceeded on our quest.

A new road had recently been built along the Vilcabamba

river by the owner of the sugar estate at Paltaybamba to enable

his pack animals to travel more rapidly. Much of it had to be

carved out of the face of a solid rock precipice and in places it

pierces the cliffs in a series of little tunnels. My gendarme

missed this road and took the steep old trail over the cliffs. As

Ocampo said in his story of Captain Garcia’s expedition, ‘the

road was narrow in the ascent with forest on the right and on the

left a ravine of great depth’. We reached Paltaybamba about

dusk.

We had a long talk with the manager of the plantation and his

friends that evening. They had heard little of any ruins in this

vicinity, but repeated one of the stories we had heard in Santa

Ana, that way off somewhere in the great forests of the montaha
was ‘an Inca city’. None of them had been there, but if their
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accounts proved to be correct that would account for the pre-

sents of a macaw and some peanuts which the Inca Titu Cusi

sent to Rodriguez and also for young Tupac Amaru’s flight into

the jungle when he was surprised by the forces sent by Viceroy

Toledo.

The Vilcabamba valley above Paltaybamba is very pic-

turesque. There are high mountains on either side, covered with

dense jungle. Its dark green foliage was in pleasing contrast to

the light green of the fields of waving sugar cane. The valley is

steep, the road is very winding, and the torrent of the Vil-

cabamba roars loudly, even in July. What it must be like in the

rainy season we could only surmise.

Our next stop was at Lucma, the home of Teniente Goher-

nador Mogrovejo. We offered to pay him a gratification of a sol,

or Peruvian silver dollar, for every ruin to which he would take

us, and double that amount if the locality should prove to

contain particularly interesting ruins. This aroused all his busi-

ness instincts. He summoned his alcaldes and other well-

informed Indians to appear, and be interviewed. They told us

there were ‘many ruins’ hereabouts. Being a practical man
himself, Mogrovejo had never taken any interest in ruins. Now
he saw the chance not only to make money out of the ancient

sites, but also to gain official favour by carrying out with unex-

ampled vigour the orders of his superior, the sub-prefect. So he

exerted himself to the utmost in our behalf.

The next day we were guided up a ravine to the top of the

ridge behind Lucma. This ridge divides the upper from the

lower Vilcabamba. On all sides the mountains rose several thou-

sand feet above us. In places they were covered with forest

growth, chiefly above the cloud line, where daily moisture

encourages vegetation. On the more gentle slopes recent clear-

ings gave evidence of enterprise on the part of the present inhab-

itants of the valley. After an hour’s climb we reached what were

unquestionably the ruins of Inca structures, on an artificial

terrace which commands a magnificent view far down towards

Paltaybamba and the bridge of Chuquichaca, as well as in the

opposite direction. The contemporaries of Captain Garcia
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speak of a number of forts which had to be stormed and cap-

tured before Tupac Amaru could be found. This was probably

one of those fortresses. Its strategic position and the ease with

which it could be defended point to such an interpretation. Nev-

ertheless this ruin did not fit the descriptions ‘fortress of Vitcos’

nor the ‘House of the Sun’ near the ‘white rock over the spring’.

It is called lncahuaracana, ‘the place where the Inca shoots with

a sling’. Which Inca? we wondered.

We left Lucma the next day, forded the Vilcabamba river, and

soon had an uninterrupted view up the valley to a truncated hill

a thousand feet high, its top partly covered with a scrubby

growth of trees and bushes, its sides steep and rocky. We were

told that the name of the hill was ‘Rosaspata’, a word of modern

hybrid origin — pata being Quichua for ‘hill’, while rosas is the

Spanish word for roses. Mogrovejo said his Indians told him

that on the ‘Hill of Roses’ there were more ruins. We hoped it

might be true, especially as we now learned that the village at

the foot of the hill, and across the river, was called Puquiura.

When Raimondi was here in 1865 it was but a ‘wretched

hamlet with a paltry chapel’. Today it is more prosperous. There

is a small school here, to which children come from villages

many miles away. I doubt if the teacher knew that this was the

site of the first school in this whole region. Yet it was to a

Puquiura that Friar Marcos came in 1566. If this were his

Puquiura, then Vitcos must be near by, for he and Friar Diego

walked with their famous procession of converts from Puquiura

to the ‘House of the Sun’ which was ‘close to Vitcos’.

Crossing the Vilcabamba on a footbridge that afternoon, we

came immediately upon the Marocnyoc ruins which Raimondi

had marked on his map, but obviously these were not Inca.

Examination showed that they were apparently the remains of a

Spanish ore-crushing mill, probably intended to pulverize gold-

bearing quartz on a considerable scale. Perhaps this was the ore

referred to by Captain Baltasar de Ocampo who came to

Puquiura shortly after the death of the last Inca. He says that his

houses and lands were ‘in the mining district of Puquiura, close

to the ore-crushing mill of Don Cristoval de Albornoz’.
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Near the mill the Tincochaca river joins the Vilcabamba.

Crossing this on a footbridge, we followed Mogrovejo to an old

and very dilapidated structure in the saddle of the hill on the

south side of Rosaspata. They called the place Uncapampa, or

Inca pampa. It was probably one of the forts stormed by

Captain Garcia and his men in 1571.

Ocampo wrote, ‘the fortress of Pitcos was on a very high

mountain whence the view commanded a great part of the

province of Vilcapampa’. Garcia, as will be remembered, says

that the principal fortress was ‘on a high eminence surrounded

with rugged crags and jungles, very dangerous to ascend and

almost impregnable.’

Leaving Uncapampa and following my guides, I climbed up

the ridge and followed a path along its west side to the top of

Rosaspata. It is indeed a ‘high eminence surrounded with

rugged crags’. The side easiest to approach is protected by a

splendid long wall, built so carefully as not to leave a single toe-

hold for active besiegers.

Passing some ruins much overgrown and of a primitive char-

acter, I soon found myself on a pleasant pampa near the top of

the mountain. The view from here does command ‘a great part

of the province of Vilcapampa’. It is remarkably extensive on all

sides; to the north and south are snow-capped mountains, to the

east and west, deep verdure-clad valleys.

On the very summit of the hill we found the ruins of a partly

enclosed compound consisting of thirteen or fourteen houses

arranged so as to form a rough square, with one large and

several small courtyards. The outside dimensions of the com-

pound are about 160 feet by 145 feet. The builders showed the

familiar Inca sense of symmetry in arranging the houses. Owing
to the wanton destruction of many buildings by the natives on

their treasure-hunts, as well as their natural desire to get good

building stones, the walls had been so pulled down that it was

impossible to get the exact dimensions of the buildings. In only

one of them could we be sure that there had been any niches.

Ocampo says of Pitcos, ‘there is an extensive level space with

a very sumptuous and majestic building erected with great skill
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and art, all the lintels of the doors, the principal as well as the

ordinary ones, being marble elaborately carved’.

Most interesting of all is the structure which caught the atten-

tion of Ocampo and remained fixed in his memory. Enough

remains of this building to give a good idea of its former

grandeur. It was indeed a residence fit for a royal Inca, an exile

from Cuzco. It is 245 feet long by 43 feet wide. There were no

windows, but it was lighted by thirty doorways, fifteen in front

and the same at the back. It contained ten large rooms, besides

three hallways running from front to rear. It is easy to under-

stand why the walls were built rather hastily and are not note-

worthy, but the principal entrances, namely those leading to

each hall, are particularly well made. To be sure, they are not of

‘marble’ as Ocampo said they were - there is no marble in the

province - but of finely cut white granite. The lintels of the prin-

cipal doorways, as well as of the ordinary ones, are also of solid

blocks of white granite, the largest being as much as eight feet in

length. The doorways are better than any other ruins in the Vil-

cabamba valley, thus justifying the mention of them made by

Ocampo, who lived near here and had time to become thor-

oughly familiar with their appearance, although they are not

‘carved’, in our sense of the word. A very small portion of the

edifice is still standing. Most of the rear doors had been filled up

with ashlars in order to make a continuous fence.

At last we had found a place which seemed to meet most of the

requirements of Ocampo’s description of the ‘fortress of Pitcos’.

In his account of the life and death of his father, Titu Cusi

gives no definite clue to the location of Vitcos, nor a description

of it, but as will be remembered, Calancha remarks that ‘close

by Vitcos in a village called Chuquipalpa, is a House of the Sun and

in it a white stone over a spring of water’.

That night we stayed at Tincochaca, in the hut of an Indian

friend of Mogrovejo. As usual we made inquiries. Imagine our

feelings when in response to the oft-repeated question, our host

said ‘yes’ in a neighbouring valley there was ‘a great white rock

over a spring of water’! If his story should prove to be true our

quest for Vitcos was over.
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On the next day, I followed the impatient Mogrovejo - whose

object was not to study ruins but to earn dollars for finding

them - and went over the side of the hill north-east of the Valley

of Los Andenes (‘the Terraces’). ‘Here, sure enough, was a

large, white granite boulder, flattened on top, which had a

carved seat or platform on its northern side. Its west side

covered a cave in which were several niches. This cave had been

walled in on one side and may have been a mausoleum for Inca

mummies.

When Mogrovejo and the Indian guide said there was a man-
antial de agua (‘spring of water’) nearby, I became greatly inter-

ested. On investigation, however, the ‘spring’ turned out to be

nothing but part of a small irrigating ditch.
(
Manantial means

‘running water’, as well as ‘spring’). But the rock was not ‘over

the water’. Although this was undoubtedly one of those huacas,

or sacred boulders, selected by the Incas as the visible represen-

tations of the founders of a tribe and thus was an important

accessory to ancestor worship, it was not the Yurak Rumi for

which we were looking.

When we learned that the present name of this immediate

vicinity is Chuquipalta we were excited. Leaving the boulder

and the ruins of what possibly had been the house of its atten-

dant priest, we followed the little water-course past a large

number of very handsomely built agricultural terraces, the first

we had seen for a long time, and the most important ones in the

valley. So scarce are andenes in this region and so noteworthy

were these in particular that this vale has been named after

them. They were probably built under the direction of an Inca

and intended to be used for his own special corn and potatoes.

Near them there are a number of carved huacas. One had an

intihuatana, or sundial nubbin, on it; another was carved in the

shape of a saddle.

Continuing, we followed a trickling stream through thick

woods until we suddenly arrived at an open place called Nusta

Isppana. Here before us was a great white rock. Our guides had

not misled us. Beneath the trees were the ruins of an Inca

temple, flanking and partly enclosing the gigantic granite
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boulder, one end of which overhung a small pool of running water.

Since the surface of the little pool, as one gazes at it, does not

reflect the sky, but only the overhanging rock, the water looks

black and forbidding, even to unsuperstitious Yankees. It is easy

to understand that simple-minded Indian worshippers in this

secluded spot could believe that they actually saw the devil

appearing ‘as a visible manifestation’ in the water, and that

Indians came from the most sequestered villages of the dense

forests to worship here and offer gifts and sacrifices.

It was late on the afternoon of 9 August 1911 when I first saw

this remarkable shrine. Densely wooded hills rose on every side.

There was not a hut to be seen, scarcely a sound to be heard, an

ideal place for practising the mystic ceremonies of an ancient

cult. The remarkable aspect of this great boulder and the dark

pool beneath its shadow had caused this to become a place of

worship. Here, without doubt, was ‘the principal mochadero of

those forested mountains’. It is still venerated by the Indians

of the vicinity. At last we had found the place where, in the days

of Titu Cusi, the Inca priests faced the east, greeted the rising

sun, ‘extended their hands towards it’, and ‘threw kisses to it’, ‘a

ceremony of the most profound resignation and reverence’. We
may imagine the sun priests, clad in their resplendent robes of

office, standing on the top of the rock at the edge of its steepest

side, their faces lit by the rosy light of the early morning, await-

ing the moment when the Great Divinity should appear above

the eastern hills and receive their adoration. As it rose we may
imagine them saluting it and crying: ‘O Sun! Thou who art in

peace and safety, shine upon us, keep us from sickness, and keep

us in health and safety. O Sun! Thou who has said let there be

Cuzco and Tarnpu, grant that these children may conquer all

other people. We beseech thee that thy children the Incas may be

always conquerors, since it is for this that thou has created

them.’ This was their customary invocation, we are told.

With the contemporary accounts in our hands and the physi-

cal evidence before our eyes we could now be fairly sure that we
had located one of Manco’s capitals and the residence known to

the Spaniards, visited by the missionaries and ambassadors as
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well as by the refugees who had sought safety here from the fol-

lowers of Pizarro and had unfortunately put Manco to death.

While it was too near Puquiura to be his ‘principal capital’, Vil-

capampa, it certainly was Vitcos.

So we went back up the Hill of Roses to make further studies

and to do some excavating.

On the south side of the hilltop, opposite the long palace, is

the ruin of a single structure, 78 feet long and 25 feet wide, con-

taining doors on both sides, no niches, and no evidence of

careful workmanship. It may have been a barracks for Manco’s
soldiers, but the absence of any niches leads me to believe that it

was built by Manco’s order for the Spanish soldiers who had
fled from Cuzco and taken refuge with him. Another reason for

my belief is that between this building and the palace is a pampa
which might have been the scene of those games of bowls or

quoits, which were played by the Spanish refugees. Here may
have occurred that fatal game when one of the players lost his

temper and killed his royal host.
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Our excavations yielded a mass of rough potsherds, a few

Inca whirl-bobs, and bronze shawl-pins, and also a number of

iron articles of European origin, heavily rusted horseshoe nails,

a buckle, a pair of scissors, several bridle or saddle ornaments,

and three jews’ harps. My first thought was that modern Peru-

vians must have lived here at one time, although the necessity of

carrying all water supplies up the steep hill would make this

unlikely. Furthermore, the presence here of artifacts of Euro-

pean origin does not of itself point to such a conclusion. In the

first place, we know that Manco was accustomed to making

raids on Spanish travellers between Cuzco and Lima. He might

very easily have brought back with him a Spanish bridle. In the

second place, the musical instruments as well as the saddle

ornaments may have belonged to the refugees, who might have

enjoyed whiling away their exile with melancholy twanging. In

the third place, the retainers of the Inca probably visited the

Spanish market in Cuzco, where there would have been dis-

played at times a considerable assortment of goods of European

manufacture. Finally, Rodriguez de Figueroa speaks expressly of

two pairs of scissors he brought as a present to Titu Cusi. That

no such array of European artifacts has been turned up in the

excavations of any other important sites in the province of Vil-

capampa would seem to indicate that they were abandoned

before the Spanish Conquest or else were occupied by natives

who had no means of accumulating such treasures.

All our expeditions in the ancient province of Vilcapampa

have failed to disclose the presence of any other ‘white rock over

a spring of water’ surrounded by the ruins of a possible ‘House

of the Sun’. Consequently it seems reasonable to adopt the fol-

lowing conclusions: Nusta Isppana is the Yurak Rumi of Father

Calancha. The Chuquipalta of today is the place to which he

refers as Chuquipalpa. This is the ‘Videos’ of Cieza de Leon, a

famous military chronicler, a contemporary of Manco, who
says that it was to the province of Viticos that Manco deter-

mined to retire when he rebelled against Pizarro, and that

‘having reached Viticos with a great quantity of treasure col-

lected from various parts, together with his women and retinue,
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the king, Manco Inca, established himself in the strongest place

he could find, whence he sallied forth many times and in many
directions and disturbed those parts which were quiet, to do
what harm he could to the Spaniards, whom he considered as

cruel enemies’.

The ‘strongest place’ of Cieza de Leon, the Guaynapucara of

Garcia, is now called Rosaspata. Ocampo had called ir ‘the

fortress of Pitcos’, where, he says, ‘there was a level space with

majestic buildings’, the most noteworthy feature of which was
that they had two kinds of doors and both kinds had white stone

lintels. Finally, the modern village of Pucyura in the valley of the

river Vilcabamba is the Puquiura of Father Calancha, the site of

the first mission church in this region, as assumed by Raimondi.

The fact that the distance from the ‘House of the Sun’ is not too

great for the religious procession, and that its location is near

the fortress, all point to the correctness of this conclusion.

Our identification of these localities mentioned by Calancha

and the other Spanish chroniclers has now been accepted by

Peruvian archaeologists and historians. Rosaspata is the present

name of the military and political capital of the last four Incas,

which is variously given in the chronicles as Vitcos, Pitcos,

Viticos, and Uiticos.



CHAPTER SIX

THE SEARCH FOR VILACAMPA

A lthough the refuge of Manco is frequently spoken of as

Vitcos by the contemporary writers, the word Vilca-

pampa, or Vilcabamba, is used even more often. In fact

Garcilasso, the chief historian of the Incas, himself the son of an

Inca princess, does not mention Vitcos. Vilcabamba was the

common name of the province. Father Calancha says it was a very

large area, ‘covering fourteen degrees of longitude’, about 700

miles wide. It included many savage tribes ‘of the far interior’ who
acknowledged the supremacy of the Incas and brought tribute to

Manco and his sons. ‘The Manaries and the Pilcosones came a

hundred and two hundred leagues’ to visit the Inca.

The name is derived from two Quichua words meaning the

pampa where the builca grows. The huilca tree is sub-tropical in

habit, and does not live in the temperate zone. The Quichua dic-

tionaries tell us builca is a ‘medicine, a purgative’. An infusion

made from the seeds is used as an enema. Also from seeds of the

huilca a powder is prepared, sometimes called cohoba, a nar-

cotic snuff ‘inhaled through the nostrils by means of a bifur-

cated tube’. All writers unite in declaring that it induced a kind

of intoxication or hypnotic state, accompanied by visions which

were regarded by the natives as supernatural. While under its

influence the necromancers, or priests, were supposed to hold

communication with unseen powers, and their incoherent mut-

terings were regarded as prophecies or revelations of hidden

things. In treating the sick, the physicians made use of it to dis-

cover the cause of the malady or the person or spirit by whom
the patient was bewitched.
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Clearly, from the point of view of priests and soothsayers, the

place where huilca was first found and used in their incantations

would be important. Mr O. F. Cook found the huilca tree

growing near the bridge of San Miguel, below Machu Picchu. It

is not strange to find therefore that the Inca name of the

Urubamba river was Vilca-mayu, the
‘

huilca river’. The pampa
on this river where the tree grew would probably receive the

name Vilcapampa. If it became an important city, then the sur-

rounding region might be named Vilcapampa after it. This

seems to be the probable origin of the name of the province.

Anyhow, it is worth noting that denizens of Cuzco, coming
down the river in search of this highly prized narcotic, must have

found the first trees not far from Machu Picchu.

As has been said, until quite recently the Vilcabamba valley

was an unknown land to most Peruvians, even to those

who lived in the city of Cuzco. Had the capital of the last four

Incas been in a region whose climate appealed to Europeans,

whose natural resources were sufficient to support a large popu-

lation, and whose roads made transportation no more difficult

than in most parts of the Andes, it would have been occupied

from the days of Captain Garcia to the present by Spanish-

speaking mestizos, who might have been interested in preserv-

ing the name of the ancient Inca capital and the traditions

connected with it. However, there was nothing to lead any one

to visit the upper Vilcabamba valley or to desire to make it a

place of residence.

It is probable that after the gold mines ceased to pay, and

before the demand for rubber caused the San Miguel valley to be

appropriated by the white man, there was a period of nearly

three hundred years when no one of education or of intelligence

superior to the ordinary Indian shepherd lived anywhere near

Puquiura or Lucma. And until Senor Pancorbo opened his new
road to Lucma, Puquiura was extremely difficult of access. Nine

generations of Indians lived and died in the province of Vilca-

pampa between the death of the last reigning Inca, Tupac
Amaru, and the arrival of the first modern explorers. The great

stone buildings constructed on the ‘Hill of Roses’ in the days of
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Manco and his sons were allowed to fall into ruin. Their roofs

decayed and disappeared. The names of those who once lived

here were known to fewer and fewer of the natives. It was not

until the renaissance of historical and geographical curiosity in

the nineteenth century, that it occurred to any one to look for

Manto ’s capital.

We felt sure we had found Vitcos; nevertheless it was quite

apparent that we had not yet found all the places which were

called Vilcapampa. Examination of the writers of the sixteenth

century shows that there may have been several places bearing

that name; one spoken of by Calancha as Vilcabamba Viejo

(‘the Old’), another also called Vilcapampa by Ocampo, which

was founded by the Spaniards.

The soldiers of the last expedition which came to capture

Tupac Amaru spoke of it as being in the montaha, the jungle

forests from which the savages with bows and arrows had come

to serve Titu Cusi when Rodriguez de Figueroa visited him. At

any rate I wanted to be sure, and to see what ruins, if any, could

be found there and identified. We must try to find Vilcapampa.

The only town which bears this name on the maps of Peru is

near the source of the Vilcabamba river, not more than three or

four leagues from Puquiura. We determined to visit it.

We found the town to lie on the edge of bleak upland pas-

tures, 11,750 feet above the sea. Its full name is San Francisco de

la Victoria de Vilcabamba. Instead of Inca walls or ruins, Vil-

cabamba has three score solidly built Spanish houses. At the

time of our visit they were mostly empty, although their roofs, of

unusually heavy thatch, seemed to be in good repair.

The solidity of the stone houses was due to the prosperity of

gold diggers, who came to work the quartz mines which were

made accessible after the death of Tupac Amaru. In the rocky

cliffs nearby are the remains of the mines begun in Ocampo’s

day. The present air of desolation and absence of population is

probably due to the decay of that industry. The site was ‘where

the Spaniards who first discovered this land found the flocks and

herds’, and modern Vilcabamba is on grassy slopes, well suited

to ‘flocks and herds’. On the steeper slopes potatoes are still
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raised, although the valley itself is given up today almost

entirely to pasture lands. We saw horses, cattle, and sheep in

abundance where the Incas must have pastured their llamas and
alpacas.

The fact that we saw no llamas or alpacas in the upland pas-

tures, but only domestic animals of European origin, would also

seem to indicate that for some reason or other this region had
actually been abandoned by the Indians themselves. It is diffi-

cult to believe that if the Indians had inhabited these valleys

continuously from Inca times to the present we should not have

found at least a few of the indigenous American camels here.

Captain Ocampo, in his Description of the Province of St

Francis of Victory of Vilcapampa
, says: ‘To this city of Vilca-

pampa, when it was first peopled, after 1572, there came the

monks of our Lady of Mercy and founded a convent. They were
given land for building and for sowing. They built a living house

and a church where they said mass.’

We found that the ancient church was in very bad repair and
we were told that mass was seldom said here now.

When Don Pedro Duque of Santa Ana was helping us to iden-

tify places mentioned in Calancha and Ocampo, the reference

to ‘Vilcabamba Viejo’, or Old Vilcapampa, was supposed by

two of his informants to point to a place called Conservidayoc.

Don Pedro told us that in 1902 Lopez Torres, who had travelled

much in the montaha looking for rubber trees, reported the dis-

covery there of the ruins of an Inca city. All Don Pedro’s friends

assured us that Conservidayoc was a terrible place to reach. ‘No
one now living has been there.’ It was ‘inhabited by savage

Indians who would not let strangers enter their villages’.

When we reached Paltaybamba, Senor Pancorbo’s manager
confirmed what we had heard. He said further that an individ-

ual named Saavedra lived at Conservidayoc and undoubtedly

knew all about the ruins, but was very averse from receiving vis-

itors. Saavedra’s house was ‘extremely difficult to find’. ‘No one
had been there recently and returned alive.’ Opinions differed as

to how far away it was. Senor Pancorbo himself, although he

admitted that he had heard there were Inca ruins near Saave-
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dra’s station, begged us to desist from the attempt. He said

Saavedra was ‘a very powerful man having many Indians under

his control and living in grand state, with fifty servants, not at

all desirous of being visited by anybody’. The Indians were ‘of

the Campa tribe, very wild and extremely savage. They use poi-

soned arrows and are very hostile to strangers.’

By this time our curiosity was thoroughly aroused. We were

familiar with the current stories regarding the habits of savage

tribes who lived in the montaha and whose services were in great

demand as rubber gatherers. We had even heard that Indians did

not particularly like to work for Senor Pancorbo, who was an

energetic, ambitious man, anxious to achieve many things,

which required more labourers than could easily be obtained.

We could readily believe there might possibly be Indians at Con-

servidayoc who had escaped from his rubber estate of San

Miguel. Undoubtedly, Senor Pancorbo’s own life would have

been at the mercy of their poisoned arrows. All over the Amazon
Basin tribes visited with impunity by the explorers of the nine-

teenth century had now become so savage and revengeful as to

lead them to kill all white men at sight.

Professor Foote and I considered the matter in all its aspects.

We finally came to the conclusion that in view of the specific

reports regarding the presence of Inca ruins at Conservidayoc

we could not afford to follow the advice of the friendly planter.

We must at least make an effort to reach them, meanwhile

taking every precaution to avoid arousing the enmity of the

powerful Saavedra and his savage retainers.

On the day following our arrival at the Spanish town of Vil-

cabamba, the Gobernador
,
Condore, taking counsel with his

chief assistant, had summoned the wisest Indians living in the

vicinity, including a very picturesque old fellow whose name,

Quispi Cusi, was strongly reminiscent of the days of Titu Cusi.

It was explained to him that this was a very solemn occasion and

that an official inquiry was in progress. He took off his hat - but

not his knitted cap — and endeavoured to the best of his ability to

answer our questions about the surrounding country. He said

that the Inca Tupac Amaru once lived at Rosaspata. He had
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never heard of Vitcos or Vilcapampa Viejo, but he admitted that

there were ruins in the montaha near Conservidayoc. Appar-

ently, however, neither he nor any one in the village, had actually

seen the ruins or visited their immediate vicinity. They all agreed

that Saavedra’s place was ‘at least four days’ hard journey on
foot in the montaha beyond Pampaconas’. No village of that

name appeared on any map of Peru, although it is frequently

mentioned in the documents of the sixteenth century. Rodriguez

de Figueroa says that he met Titu Cusi at Banbaconas. He says

further that the Inca came there from somewhere down in the

montaha and presented him with a macaw and two hampers of

peanuts, products of a warm region.

We had brought with us the large sheets of Raimondi’s

invaluable map which covered this locality. We also had the new
map of South Peru and North Bolivia which had just been pub-

lished by the Royal Geographical Society and gave a summary
of all available information. The Indians said that Conservi-

dayoc lay in a westerly direction from Vilcabamba, yet on Rai-

mondi’s map all the rivers which rise in the mountains west of

the town are short affluents of the Apurimac and flow south-

west. We wondered whether the stories about ruins at Conservi-

dayoc would turn out to be as barren of foundation as those we
had heard from the foreman at Huadquina. One of our infor-

mants said the Inca city was called Espiritu Pampa, or the

‘Pampa of Ghosts’. Would the ruins turn out to be ‘ghosts’?

Would they vanish on the arrival of white men with cameras and
measuring tapes?

Although no one at Vilcabamba had seen the ruins, they

said that at Pampaconas there were Indians who had actually

been to Conservidayoc. Accordingly we decided to go there

immediately.

After the usual delays, caused in part by the difficulty of catch-

ing our mules, which had taken advantage of our historical inves-

tigations to stray far up the mountain pastures, we finally set out

from the boundaries of known topography headed for ‘Conservi-

dayoc’, a vague place surrounded with mystery, a land of hostile

savages, albeit said to possess the ruins of an Inca town.
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Our first day’s journey was to Pampaconas. Here and in its

vicinity the Gobernador told us he could procure guides and the

half-dozen carriers whose services we would need on the jungle

trail where mules could not be used. As the Indians were averse

from penetrating the wilds of Conservidayoc and were also

likely to be extremely alarmed at the sight of men in uniform,

the two gendarmes who were now accompanying us were

instructed to delay their departure for a few hours and not to

reach Pampaconas with our pack train until dusk. The Gober-

nador said that if the Indians of Pampaconas caught sight of any

brass buttons coming over the hills they would hide so effec-

tively that it would be impossible to secure any carriers. Appar-

ently this was due in part to that love of freedom which had led

them to abandon the more comfortable towns for a frontier

village where landlords could not call on them for forced labour.

Consequently, before the arrival of any such striking manifesta-

tions of official authority as our gendarmes, the Gobernador

and his friend Mogrovejo proposed to put in the day craftily

commandeering the services of a half-dozen sturdy Indians.

Their methods will be described presently.

Leaving modern Vilcabamba, we crossed the flat, marshy

bottom of an old glaciated valley, in which one of our mules got

thoroughly mired while searching for the succulent grasses

which cover the treacherous bog. Fording the Vilcabamba river,

which here is only a tiny brook, we climbed out of the valley and

turned westward.

At the top of the pass we turned to look back and saw a long

chain of snow-capped mountains towering above and behind

the town of Vilcabamba. We searched in vain for them on our

maps. Raimondi, followed by the Royal Geographical Society,

did not leave room enough for such a range to exist between the

rivers Apurimac and Urubamba. According to the latest maps

of this region, published in the preceding year, we ought now to

have been swimming in ‘the Great Speaker’, near its junction

with the river Pampas. Actually we were on top of a lofty moun-

tain pass surrounded by high peaks and glaciers. The mystery

was finally solved by Albert H. Bumstead, chief topographer of
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our next expedition. He determined the Apurimac and the

Urubamba to be thirty miles farther apart at this point than any

one had supposed. Our surveys opened an unexplored region,

1,500 square miles in extent, whose very existence had not been

guessed before 1911. It proved to be one of the largest unde-

scribed glaciated areas in South America. Yet it is less than a

hundred miles from Cuzco, the chief city in the Peruvian Andes,

and the site of a university for more than three centuries. That

this region could have so long defied investigation and explo-

ration shows better than anything else how wisely Manco had

selected his refuge.

Looking west, we saw in front of us a great wilderness of deep

green valleys and forest-clad slopes. We supposed from our

maps that we were now looking down into the basin of the

Apurimac. As a matter of fact, we were on the rim of the valley

of the hitherto uncharted Pampaconas, a branch of the

Cosireni, one of the affluents of the Urubamba. Instead of being

the Apurimac Basin, what we saw was another unexplored

region which drained into the Urubamba!

The ‘road’ was now so bad that only with the greatest

difficulty could we coax our sure-footed mules to follow it.

Once we had to dismount, as the path led down the long, steep,

rocky stairway of ancient Inca origin. At last, rounding a

hill, we came in sight of a lonesome little hut perched on a

shoulder of the mountain. In front of it, seated in the sun on

mats, were two women shelling corn. As soon as they saw

the Gobernador approaching, they stopped their work and

began to prepare lunch. It was about eleven o’clock and they did

not need to be told that Senor Condore and his friends had

not had anything but a cup of coffee since the night before. In

order to meet the emergency of unexpected guests they killed

four or five of the squealing guinea pigs that are usually to be

found scurrying about the mud floor of the huts of moun-
tain Indians. Before long the savoury odour of roast cuy, well

basted, and cooked to a turn on primitive spits, whetted our

appetites.

1 am willing to admit that this was the first time that I had
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ever knowingly tasted their delicate flesh. Had I not been very

hungry, I might never have known how delicious a roast guinea

pig can be.

After lunch, Condore and Mogrovejo divided the extensive

rolling countryside between them and each rode quietly from

one lonesome farm to another, looking for men to engage as

bearers. When they were so fortunate as to find the man of the

house at home or working in his little bit of cultivated ground

they greeted him pleasantly. When he came forward to shake

hands, in the usual Indian manner, a silver dollar was slipped

into the palm of his right hand and he was informed that he had

accepted pay for services which he must now render. It seemed

very hard but this was the only way in which it was possible to

secure carriers.

Under the Incas the Indians never received pay for their

labour. As has been said, a paternal government saw to it that

they were properly fed and clothed and either given abundant

opportunity to provide for their own necessities or else permit-

ted to draw on official stores. In colonial days a less paternal

government took advantage of the ancient system and enforced

it without taking pains to see that it should not cause suffering.

Then, for generations, thoughtless landlords, backed by local

authority, forced the Indians to work without suitably recom-

pensing them at the end of their labours or even pretending to

carry out promises and wage agreements. The peons learned

that it was unwise to perform any labour without first having

received a considerable portion of their pay. When once they

accepted money, however, their own custom and the law of the

land provided that they must carry out their obligations. Failure

to do so meant legal punishment.

Consequently when an unfortunate Pampaconas Indian

found he had a dollar in his hand he bemoaned his fate but real-

ized that service was inevitable. In vain did he plead that he was

‘busy’, that his ‘crops needed attention’, that his ‘family could

not spare him’, that ‘he lacked food for a journey’. Condore and

Mogrovejo were accustomed to all varieties of excuses. They

succeeded in ‘engaging’ half a dozen carriers. Before dark we
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reached the village of Pampaconas, a few small huts scattered

over grassy hillsides at an elevation of 10,000 feet.

In the notes of one of the military advisers of the Viceroy

Francisco de Toledo is a reference to Pampaconas as a ‘high,

cold place’. This is correct. Nevertheless, I doubt if the present

village is the Pampaconas mentioned in the documents of

Garcia’s day as being ‘an important town of the Incas’. There
are no ruins hereabouts. The huts of Pampaconas were newly
built of stone and mud, and thatched with grass. They were

occupied by a group of sturdy mountain Indians, who enjoyed

unusual freedom from official or other interference and a good
place in which to raise sheep and cultivate potatoes, on the very

edge of the dense forest.

We found that there was some excitement in the village

because on the previous night a jaguar, or possibly a cougar, had
come out of the forest, attacked, killed, and dragged off one of

the village ponies. We were really in new country.

We were conducted to the dwelling of a stocky, well-built

Indian named Guzman, the most reliable man in the village,

who had been selected to be the head of the party of carriers that

was to accompany us to Conservidayoc. Guzman had some
Spanish blood in his veins, although he did not boast of it. We
carried on a most interesting conversation with him. He had
been to Conservidayoc and had himself actually seen Inca ruins

at Espiritu Pampa. At last the mythical ‘Pampa of Ghosts’

began to take on, in our minds, an aspect of reality, even though
we were careful to remind ourselves that another very trustwor-

thy man had said he had seen ruins ‘finer than Ollantaytambo’

near Huadquina. Guzman did not seem to dread Conservidayoc

as much as the other Indians, only one of whom had ever been

there. To cheer them up we purchased a fat sheep. Guzman
immediately butchered it in preparation for the journey.

Towards noon of the next day, all the Indian carriers but one
having arrived, we started for Conservidayoc. We were told that

it would be possible to use the mules for this day’s journey. San
Fernando, our first stop, was ‘seven leagues’ away, far down in

the densely wooded Pampaconas valley. Leaving the village we
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climbed up the mountain, behind Guzman’s hut, and followed a

faint trail by a dangerous route along the crest of the ridge. The

rains had not improved the path. Our saddle mules were of little

use. We had to go nearly all the way on foot. Owing to cold rain

and mist we could see but little of the deep canyon which opened

below us, and into which we now began to descend 4,000 feet

through the clouds by a very steep, zigzag path, to a hot tropical

valley. Below the clouds we found ourselves near a small aban-

doned clearing. Passing this and fording little streams, we went

along a very narrow path and across steep slopes, on which

maize had been planted. Finally we came to the end of the mule

trail, another small clearing with two extremely primitive little

shanties, mere shelters not deserving to be called huts; and this

was San Fernando! It was with great difficulty we found and

cleared a place for our tent, although its floor was only seven

feet square.

At 8.30 p.m. on 13 August 1911, while lying on the ground in

our tent, we noticed an earthquake. It was felt also by the

Indians in the nearby shelter, who from force of habit rushed out

of their frail structure and made a great disturbance, crying out

that there was a temblor. Even had their little thatched roof

fallen upon them, as it might have done during the stormy night

which followed, they were in no danger; but, being accustomed

to the stone walls and red-tiled roofs of mountain villages where

earthquakes sometimes do very serious harm, they were greatly

excited. The motion seemed to me to be like a slight shuffle from

west to east, lasting three or four seconds, a gentle rocking back

and forth, with eight or ten vibrations. Several weeks later, near

Huadquina, we happened to stop at the Colpani telegraph

office. The operator said he had felt two shocks on August 13th

- one at five o’clock, which had shaken the books off his table

and knocked over a box of insulators standing along a wall

which ran north and south. He said the shock which we felt was

the lighter of the two.

After a rainy night we set out again.

Our carriers were good for about fifty pounds apiece. Half an

hour’s walk brought us to Vista Alegre, another little clearing
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on an alluvial fan in the bend of the river. Opposite us rose

abruptly a heavily forested mountain, whose summit was lost in

the clouds a mile above. To circumvent this mountain the river

had been flowing in a westerly direction; now it gradually

turned northward. Again we were mystified, for, by Raimondi’s

map, it should have gone southward.

We now entered a dense jungle, where the narrow path

became more and more difficult for the bearers. Crawling over

rocks, under branches, along slippery little cliffs, on steps which

had been cut in earth or rock, over a trail which not even a dog

could follow unassisted, slowly we made our way down the

valley. Owing to the heat, the humidity, and the frequent

showers, it was mid-afternoon before we reached another little

clearing called Pacaypata. Here, on a hillside nearly 1,000 feet

above the river, our men decided to spend the night in a shelter 6

feet long and 5 feet wide. Professor Foote and I had to dig a shelf

out of the steep hillside with a hatchet in order to pitch our tent.

The next morning, not being detained by the vagaries of a

mule train, we made an early start. As we followed the faint little

trail across the gulches tributary to the river Pampaconas, we
had to negotiate several unusually steep ascents and descents.

Twice we had to cross the rapids of the river on primitive bridges

which consisted only of a few logs lashed together and resting

on slippery boulders. The carriers suffered from the heat. They

found it more and more difficult to carry their loads.

By one o’clock we found ourselves on a small plain (4,500 ft.)

in dense woods surrounded by tree ferns, vines, and tangled

thickets, through which it was impossible to see for more than a

few feet. Here Guzman told us we must stop and rest awhile, as

we were now in the territory of los salvajes, the savage Indians

who acknowledged only the rule of Saavedra and resented all

intrusion. Guzman did not seem to be particularly afraid, but

said that we ought to send ahead one of our carriers, to warn the

savages that we were coming on a friendly mission and were not

in search of rubber gatherers; otherwise they might attack us, or

run away and disappear into the jungle. He said we should never

be able to find the ruins without their help. The carrier who was
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selected to go ahead did not relish his task at all. Leaving his

pack behind, he proceeded very quietly and cautiously along the

trail and was lost to view almost immediately. There followed an

exciting half-hour while we waited, wondering what attitude

the savages would take towards us, and trying to picture to our-

selves the mighty potentate, Saavedra, who had been described

as sitting in the midst of savage luxury with fifty servants, and

directing his myrmidons to checkmate our progress.

Suddenly we were startled by a crackling of twigs and the

sound of a man running. We were instinctively holding our rifles

a little higher in readiness for whatever might befall - when

there burst out of the woods a pleasant-faced young Peruvian

mestizo
,
quite conventionally clad, who had come in haste from

Saavedra, his father, to extend to us a most cordial welcome! It

seemed scarcely credible, but a glance at his face showed that

there was no ambush in store for us. It was with a sigh of relief

that we realized there was to be no shower of poisoned arrows

from the impenetrable thickets. Gathering up our loads, we con-

tinued along the jungle trail, through woods which gradually

became higher, deeper, and darker, until presently we saw sun-

light ahead, and, to our intense astonishment, the bright green

of waving sugar cane. A few moments of walking through cane

fields found us at a large comfortable hut, welcomed very simply

and modestly by Saavedra himself. A more pleasant and peace-

able little man it was never my good fortune to meet! We looked

furtively around for his fifty savage servants, but all we saw was

his good-natured Indian wife, three or four children, and a wild-

eyed maid-of-all-work, evidently the only savage present. We
asked our host what was the name of his estate. He said some

called it ‘Jesus Maria’ because that is what they exclaimed when

they saw it. He himself had given it the hybrid name of Con-

servidayoc because it was a lifesaver for him. The word means ‘a

spot where one may be preserved from harm’.

It is difficult to describe our feelings as we accepted Saave-

dra’s invitation to make ourselves at home, and sat down to an

abundant meal of boiled chicken, rice, and sweet cassava

(manioc). Saavedra gave us to understand that we were not only
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welcome to anything he had, but that he would do everything

possible to enable us to see the ruins. They were, he said, at

Espiritu Pampa, some distance farther down the valley, to be

reached only by a hard trail passable for barefooted savages but

scarcely for us unless we chose to go a good part of the distance

on hands and knees.

Saavedra’s plantation, being rich in humus, had produced

more sugar cane than he could grind. In addition to this, he had

bananas, coffee trees, sweet potatoes, tobacco, and peanuts.

Instead of being ‘a very powerful man having many Indians

under his control’ — a kind of Poo-Bah — Saavedra was merely a

pioneer. In the utter wilderness, far from any neighbours, sur-

rounded by dense forests and a few savages, he had established

his home. He was not an Indian potentate, but only a frontiers-

man, soft-spoken and energetic, an ingenious carpenter and

mechanic, a modest Peruvian of the best type.

Near the sugar mill were some very interesting large jars

unquestionably Inca, which Saavedra was using in the process of

boiling the juice and making crude sugar. He said he had found

them in the jungle not far away. Four of them were of the famil-

iar aryballus type. Another was of a closely related form, having

a wide mouth, pointed base, single incised, conventionalized

animal-head nubbin attached to the shoulder, and band-shaped

handles attached vertically below the median line. Although

capable of holding more than io gallons, this huge pot could be

carried on the back and shoulders by means of a rope passing

through the handles and around the nubbin. Saavedra said that

he found near his house several bottle-shaped cists lined with

stones, with a flat stone on top - evidently ancient graves. The
bones had entirely disappeared. The cover of one of the graves

had been pierced; the hole was covered with a thin sheet of

beaten silver. He had also found a few stone implements and

two or three bronze Inca axes. The bronzes and the pottery elo-

quently told us that, beyond a doubt, Incas had once lived down
here in this damp jungle.

We finally left Conservidayoc by the trail which Saavedra’s

son and our Indians had been clearing. We emerged from the
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thickets near a promontory where there was a fine view down
the valley and particularly of a heavily wooded alluvial fan just

below us, the Indian village of Esplritu Pampa, or ‘Pampa of the

Ghosts’. In it were two or three small clearings and the little oval

huts of savages.

On top of the promontory was the ruin of a small, rectangu-

lar building of rough stone, probably an Inca watch-tower. Our
trail now followed an ancient stone stairway, about 4 feet in

width and nearly a third of a mile long. It was built of uncut

stones. Possibly it was the work of Titu Cusi’s soldiers whose

chief duty it was to watch from the top of the promontory. We
arrived at the principal clearing just as a heavy thunder shower

began. The huts were empty. We hesitated to enter the home of a

savage without an invitation, but the terrific downpour over-

came our scruples, if not our nervousness. The hut had a steeply

pitched roof. Its sides were made of small logs driven endwise

into the ground and fastened together with vines. A small fire

had been burning on the ground. Near the embers we saw two

black ollas of Inca origin, hundreds of years old.

In the little clearing, cassava, coca, and sweet potatoes were

growing in haphazard fashion among charred and fallen tree

trunks. Near by were the ruins of eighteen or twenty circular

houses arranged in an irregular group. We wondered if this

could be the ‘Inca City’ which Lopez Torres had reported. It

seems likely that they represent the dwellings of the fierce Antis

whom Rodriguez de Figueroa saw with Tito Cusi.

While we were wondering whether the Inca themselves ever

lived here, there suddenly appeared the naked figure of a sturdy

young savage, armed with a stout bow and long arrows, and

wearing a bamboo fillet. He had been hunting, and he showed

us a bird he had shot. Soon afterwards there came two adult

savages we had met at Saavedra’s, accompanied by a cross-eyed

friend, all wearing long tunics. They offered to guide us to other

ruins. It was very difficult for us to follow their rapid pace. Half

an hour’s scramble through the jungle brought us to a natural

terrace on the banks of a little tributary of the Pampaconas.

They called it Eromboni Pampa. Here we found several artificial
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terraces and the rough foundations of a rectangular building

192 feet long. The walls were only a foot high. There was very

little building material in sight. Apparently the structure had

never been completed. Near by was a typical Inca fountain with

three spouts. Two hundred yards beyond the water-carriers’ ren-

dezvous, hidden behind a curtain of hanging vines and thickets

so dense we could not see more than a few feet in any direction,

the savages showed us the ruins of a group of Inca stone houses

whose walls were still standing in fine condition. The walls were

of rough stone laid in adobe. Like some of the Inca buildings at

Ollantaytambo, the lintels of the doors were made of three or

four narrow uncut blocks. Below a stone-faced terrace was a

partly enclosed fountain with a stone spout and a stone-lined

basin. The shapes of the houses, their general arrangement, the

niches, stone roof-pegs and lintels, all pointed to Inca builders.

In the buildings we picked up several fragments of Inca pottery.

The next day, led by Saavedra’s energetic young son, the

savages and our carriers continued to clear away as much as pos-

sible of the tangled growth at Eromboni Pampa near the best

ruins. In this process, to the intense surprise not only of our-

selves, but also of the savages, they uncovered, just below the

little fountain where we had stood the day before, the well-

preserved ruins of two Inca buildings of very superior construc-

tion, well-fitted with stone-pegs and niches, symmetrically

arranged. These houses stood by themselves on a little terrace.

In them were fragments of characteristic pottery. Nothing gives

a better idea of the density of the jungle than the fact that the

savages themselves had often been within 5 feet of these fine

walls without being aware of their existence.

Encouraged by this important discovery of the best Inca ruins

found in the valley, we continued the search, but all that anyone

was able to find was a carefully built stone bridge. Saavedra’s

son questioned the savages carefully. They said they knew of no
other ruins.

There appears to me every reason to believe that the ruins

here are those of one of the favourite residences of Titu Cusi. It

may have been the place from which he journeyed to meet
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Rodriguez in 1565. The houses are of late Inca pattern, not of a

kind which would have required a long period to build. The

unfinished buildings may have been under construction during

the latter part of the reign of Titu Cusi.

Who built the best buildings of Eromboni Pampa? Was this

the ‘Vilcabamba Viejo’ of Father Calancha, that ‘University of

Idolatry where lived the teachers who were wizards and masters

of abomination’, the place to which Friar Marcos and Friar

Diego went with so much suffering? Was there formerly on this

trail a place called Ungacacha where the monks had to wade,

and amused Titu Cusi by the way they handled their monastic

robes in the water? They called it a ‘three days’ journey over

rough country’. Calancha speaks of Puquiura as being ‘two

long days’ journey from Vilcabamba’. It was ‘rough country’ all

right, but it took us five days to go from Espiritu Pampa to

Puquiura. It did not seem to be reasonable to suppose that the

priest and Virgins of the Sun (the personnel of the ‘University of

Idolatry’), who fled from cold Cuzco with Manco and were

established by him somewhere in the fastnesses of Vilcapampa,

would have cared to live in this hot valley. The difference in

climate is as great as that between Scotland and Egypt. They

would not have found in Espiritu Pampa the food which they

liked. Furthermore, they could have found the seclusion and

safety which they craved just as well in several other parts of the

province, together with a cool, bracing climate and foodstuffs

more nearly resembling those to which they were accustomed.

Finally Calancha says ‘Vilcabamba the Old’ was ‘the largest

city’ in the province, a term hardly applicable to anything here.

On the other hand there seemed to be no doubt that Erom-

boni Pampa and the Pampaconas Valley met the requirements

of the place called Vilcabamba by the companions of Captain

Garcia. They spoke of it as the town and valley to which Tupac

Amaru, the last Inca, escaped after his forces lost the ‘young

fortress’ of Vitcos.

In 1572, when Captain Garcia took up the pursuit of Tupac

Amaru, the Inca fled ‘inland toward the valley of Simaponte to

the country of the Manaries Indians, a warlike tribe and his
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friends, where balsas and canoes were posted to save him and
enable him to escape’. There is now no valley in this vicinity

called Simaponte. The Manaries live on the hanks of the lower

Urubamba. In order to reach their country Tupac Amaru prob-

ably went down the Pampaconas. From the ‘Pampa of the

Ghosts’ to the head of canoe navigation is but a short journey.

Evidently his friends who helped him to escape were canoemen.
Captain Garcia gives an account of the pursuit of Tupac Amaru
in which he says that, not deterred by the dangers of the jungle

or the river, he, Garcia, constructed five rafts on which he put

some of his soldiers and, accompanying them himself, went
down the rapids, escaping death many times by swimming, until

he arrived at a place called Momori, only to find that the Inca,

learning of his approach, had gone farther into the woods.
Nothing daunted, Garcia followed him, although he and his

men now had to go on foot and barefooted with hardly anything

to eat, most of their provisions having been lost in the river, until

they finally caught Tupac and his friends; a tragic ending to a

terrible chase, hard on the white man, and fatal for the Incas.

Whether Tupac Amaru partook of such a delicacy as monkey
meat, which the Amazonian Indians relish, but which is not eaten

by the highlanders, may be doubted. Garcilasso speaks of Tupac
Amaru’s preferring to entrust himself to the hands of the

Spaniards ‘rather than to perish of famine’. His Indian allies lived

well in a region where monkeys abound. It is doubtful whether

they would ever have permitted Captain Garcia to capture the Inca

had they been able to furnish Tupac with such food as he was
accustomed to.

At all events, our investigation seemed to point to the proba-

bility of this valley having been an important part of the domain
of the last Incas. It would have been pleasant to go further, but

the carriers were anxious to return to Pampaconas. Although
they did not have to eat monkey meat, they were afraid of the

savages and nervous as to what use the latter might make of

their powerful bows and long arrows.

At Conservidayoc Saavedra kindly took the trouble to make
some sugar for us. He poured the syrup into oblong moulds cut
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in a big log of hard wood. In some of the moulds his son placed

handfuls of nicely roasted peanuts. The result was an emergency

ration which we greatly enjoyed on our return journey.

At San Fernando we met the pack mules. The next day, in the

midst of continuing torrential downpours, we climbed out of

the hot valley to the cold heights of Pampaconas. We were

soaked with perspiration and drenched with rain. Snow had

been falling near the village. Our teeth chattered like castanets.

Professor Foote immediately commandeered Mrs Guzman’s fire

and filled our tea kettle. It may be doubted whether a more

wretched, cold, wet, and bedraggled party ever arrived at

Guzman’s hut; certainly nothing ever tasted better than that

steaming hot sweet tea.

THE AOBAMBA

We knew that the Incas had taken refuge in the Cordillera Vil-

cabamba and we thought we had found and identified most of

the sites mentioned in the Chronicles but it was necessary to

cover the region as exhaustively as possible in order to make

assurance doubly sure. So in 1912 I asked one of my engineers to

make an archaeological and topographical reconnaissance of

the hitherto unexplored Aobamba Valley. Assistant Topogra-

pher Heald undertook to approach this problem from the

mouth of the valley at the junction of the Aobamba and

Urubamba rivers. He met with almost insuperable difficulties.

Although the work looked easy as far as we could see from

the mouth of the valley, he found that four miles from the

mouth, up the winding stream, the jungle was almost impass-

able. There was no trail. The foliage was so dense that observa-

tions were impossible. During a hard afternoon’s work with

four or five men Mr Heald succeeded in advancing only one

mile. There was little of archaeological interest in the portion of

the valley which Mr Heald succeeded in reaching. Quite unex-

pectedly, however, I got into the upper reaches of the valley

about ten days later, and found some interesting ruins. It hap-

pened like this.
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Don Tomas Alvistur of Huadquina, an enthusiastic amateur
archaeologist, took a considerable amount of interest in our
work and was delighted when he discovered that some of his

Indians knew of three localities where there were Inca ruins, so

they said, that had not previously been visited by white men.
Don Tomas invited me to accompany him on a visit to these

three groups of ruins, but when the time came to go he found
that ‘business engagements’ made it impossible for him to do
more than accompany me part of the way to the first group. He
went to the trouble, however, of securing three Indian guides

and carriers and gave them orders to carry my kit whenever the

pack-mule could not be used, and to guide me safely to the three

ruins and home again.

The end of the first day found us on top of a ridge between the

valleys of the Aobamba and the Salcantay, about 5,000 feet

above the estate of Huadquina where we had started. Here we
did discover a number of ruins and two or three modern huts.

The Indians said that the place was called Llacta Pata. But

this is a descriptive term as ‘llacta’ means ‘town’ and ‘pata’

means ‘a height’. We found evidence that some Inca chieftain

had built his home here and had included in the plan ten or a

dozen buildings. They were made of rough stones laid in clay

Plan of the ruins of Llactapata near Huadquina,
discovered by Hiram Bingham in 1912.
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with the usual symmetrical arrangement of doors and niches. It

may very well have been built by one of Manco’s captains. It was

on a strategic spot.

The next morning we crossed a high pass and descended

rapidly into a steep-walled valley, containing one of the upper

tributaries of the Aobamba. The lower slopes were covered with

a dense forest. About two o’clock in the afternoon we reached

the valley bottom at a point where several smaller tributaries

unite to form the principal west branch of the Aobamba. The
place was called Palcay.

Here we found two or three huts, one of them located in a

very interesting ruined stronghold to which the Indians again

gave the Quichua name for town, Llacta. As the location of the

stronghold in the bottom of a valley was not easily defensible, a

wall about 12 feet in height surrounded the quadrangular group

of houses. The characteristics of the buildings were distinctly

Inca.

The chateau, if so it might be called, was about t45 feet

square and divided by two narrow cross streets into quarters.

Two of these quarters had been completed, and consisted of five

Plan of the ruins of Llacta in Palcay discovered in 1912.
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houses arranged round a courtyard in a symmetrical fashion.

The third quarter was almost complete, while the fourth

quarter had only the beginnings of two or three houses. Each
one of the four quarters had a single entrance gate on its north

side. The work of measuring and mapping the ruins was made
unpleasant by the attention of gnats.

The most remarkable feature of this Inca stronghold is that

the streets run north and south, east and west, on the exact car-

dinal points. These ruins are in the southern hemisphere, so the

north star is not visible, yet one street follows the meridian

exactly. How was it done?

The next day we found ourselves near the ruins of a village.

Judging by its primitive appearance it could not have been a

place of much importance and it is impossible to say whether it

had been occupied since the Spanish conquest or not. The guide

either did not give it a name or we were unable to understand

what he said.

After proceeding with great difficulty over snow-covered

mountain trails, we came down into a new valley just at dusk

and found that we were in one of the upper branches of the

Chamana river, a tributary of the Urubamba, where we discov-

ered several groups of Inca ruins not shown on any map. These
ruins may have been in the minds of the Indians who had
reported to Don Tomas Alvistur at Huadquina that they could

show us ‘three’ which had ‘never been visited by white men’.

Near them the Incas, desiring to save as much of the upland

valley floor as possible for agricultural purposes, had straight-

ened the bed of a meandering stream and enclosed it in a stone-

lined channel, making it practically straight for nearly

three-quarters of a mile.

This journey actually produced excellent results in the dis-

covery of hitherto undescribed ruins and gave further evidence

of the Inca occupancy of all available terrain in the Cordillera

Vilcabamba. Yet we still had not identified Vilcapampa - the

‘principal city’ of Manco and his sons.
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CHAPTER SEVEN

THE DISCOVERY

I

t will be remembered that it was in July 19x1 that I began the

search for the last Inca capital. Accompanied by a dear friend.

Professor Harry Ward Foote, of Yale University, who was our

naturalist, and my classmate Dr William G. Erving, the surgeon of

the Expedition, I had entered the marvellous canyon of the

Urubamba below the Inca fortress of Salapunco near Torontoy.

Here the river escapes from the cold plateau by tearing its way

through gigantic mountains of granite. The road runs through a

land of matchless charm. It has the majestic grandeur of the

Canadian Rockies, as well as the startling beauty of the Nuuanu

Pali near Honolulu, and the enchanting vistas of the Koolau

Ditch Trail on Maui, in my native land. In the variety of its

charms and the power of its spell, I know of no place in the

world which can compare with it. Not only has it great snow

peaks looming above the clouds more than two miles overhead

and gigantic precipices of many-coloured granite rising sheer

for thousands of feet above the foaming, glistening, roaring

rapids, it has also, in striking contrast, orchids and tree ferns,

the delectable beauty of luxurious vegetation, and the mysteri-

ous witchery of the jungle. One is drawn irresistibly onward by

ever-recurring surprises through a deep, winding gorge, turning

and twisting past overhanging cliffs of incredible height.

Above all, there is the fascination of finding here and there

under swaying vines, or perched on top of a beetling crag, the

rugged masonry of a bygone race; and of trying to understand

the bewildering romance of the ancient builders who, ages ago,

sought refuge in a region which appears to have been expressly
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designed by nature as a sanctuary for the oppressed, a place

where they might fearlessly and patiently give expression to

their passion for walls of enduring beauty. Space forbids any

attempt to describe in detail the constantly changing panorama,
the rank tropical foliage, the countless terraces, the towering

cliffs, the glaciers peeping out between the clouds.

You will remember that after passing Maquina where the

sugar machinery had been abandoned because it could not be

carried across the face of a great granite precipice, we had

entered a little open plain called Mandor Pampa. Except where

the rapids roared past it, gigantic precipices hemmed it in on all

sides.

We passed an ill-kept, grass-thatched hut, turned off the road

through a tiny clearing, and made our camp at the edge of the

river on a sandy beach. Opposite us, beyond the huge granite

boulders which interfered with the progress of the surging

stream, the steep mountain was clothed with thick jungle. Since

we were near the road yet protected from the curiosity of

passers-by, it seemed to be an ideal spot for a camp. Our actions,

however, aroused the suspicions of the owner of the hut,

Melchor Arteaga, who leased the lands of Mandor Pampa. He
was anxious to know why we did not stay at his ‘tavern’ like

other respectable travellers. Fortunately the Prefect of Cuzco,

our old friend J. J. Nunez, had given us an armed escort who
spoke Quichua. Our gendarme, Sergeant Carrasco, was able to

reassure the innkeeper. They had quite a long conversation.

When Arteaga learned that we were interested in the architec-

tural remains of the Incas, and were looking for the palace of the

last Inca, he said there were some very good ruins in this vicinity

- in fact, some excellent ones on top of the opposite mountain,

called Huayna Picchu, and also on a ridge called Machu Picchu.

The morning of July 24th dawned in a cold drizzle. Arteaga

shivered and seemed inclined to stay in his hut. I offered to pay

him well if he would show me the ruins. He demurred and said it

was too hard a climb for such a wet day. But when he found that

I was willing to pay him a sol (a Peruvian silver dollar, 50 cents,

gold), three or four times the ordinary daily wage in this vicinity,
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he finally agreed to go. When asked just where the ruins were, he

pointed straight up to the top of the mountain. No one sup-

posed that they would be particularly interesting. And no one

cared to go with me. Our naturalist said there were ‘more but-

terflies near the river!’ and he was reasonably certain he could

collect some new varieties. Our surgeon said he had to wash his

clothes and mend them. Anyhow it was my job to investigate all

reports of ruins and try to find the Inca capital.

So, accompanied only by Sergeant Carrasco, I left camp at ten

o’clock. Arteaga took us some distance upstream. On the road we

passed a snake which had only just been killed. He said the region

was the favourite haunt of ‘vipers’. We later learned that the lance-

headed, or yellow, viper, commonly known as the fer-de-lance, a

very venomous serpent capable of making considerable springs

when in pursuit of its prey, is common hereabouts.

After a walk of three quarters of an hour Arteaga left the

main road and plunged down through the jungle to the bank of

the river. Here there was a primitive bridge which crossed the

roaring rapids at its narrowest part, where the stream was forced

to flow between two great boulders. The ‘bridge’ was made of

half a dozen very slender logs, some of which were not long

enough to span the distance between the boulders, but had been

spliced and lashed together with vines!

Arteaga and the sergeant took off their shoes and crept gin-

gerly across, using their somewhat prehensile toes to keep from

slipping. It was obvious that no one could live for an instant in

the icy cold rapids, but would immediately be dashed to pieces

against the rocks. I frankly confess that I got down on my hands

and knees and crawled across, 6 inches at a time. Even after we

reached the other side I could not help wondering what would

happen to the ‘bridge’ if a particularly heavy shower should fall

in the valley above. A light rain had fallen during the night and

the river had risen so that the bridge was already threatened by

the foaming rapids. It would not take much more to wash it

away entirely. If this should happen during the day it might be

very awkward. As a matter of fact, it did happen a few days later

and when the next visitors attempted to cross the river at this



182 Machu Picchu

point they found only one slender log remaining.

Leaving the stream, we now struggled up the bank through

dense jungle, and in a few minutes reached the bottom of a very

precipitous slope. For an hour and twenty minutes we had a

hard climb. A good part of the distance we went on all fours,

sometimes holding on by our fingernails. Here and there, a

primitive ladder made from the roughly notched trunk of a

small tree was placed in such a way as to help one over what
might otherwise have proved to be an impassable cliff. In

another place the slope was covered with slippery grass where it

was hard to find either handholds or footholds. Arteaga

groaned and said that there were lots of snakes here. Sergeant

Carrasco said nothing but was glad he had good military shoes.

The humidity was great. We were in the belt of maximum pre-

cipitation in Eastern Peru. The heat was excessive; and I was not

in training. There were no ruins or andenes of any kind in sight.

I began to think my companions had chosen the better part.

Shortly after noon, just as we were completely exhausted, we
reached a little grass-covered hut 2,000 feet above the river where

several good-natured Indians, pleasantly surprised at our unex-

pected arrival, welcomed us with dripping gourds full of cool,

delicious water. Then they set before us a few cooked sweet

potatoes. It seems that two Indian farmers, Richarte and
Alvarez, had recently chosen this eagles’ nest for their home.
They said they had found plenty of terraces here on which to

grow their crops. Laughingly they admitted they enjoyed being

free from undesirable visitors, officials looking for army ‘volun-

teers’ or collecting taxes.

Richarte told us that they had been living here four years. It

seems probable that, owing to its inaccessibility, the canyon had

been unoccupied for several centuries, but with the completion

of the new government road, settlers began once more to

occupy this region. In time somebody clambered up the

precipices and found on these slopes at an elevation of 9,000 feet

above the sea, an abundance of rich soil conveniently situated on
artificial terraces, in a fine climate. Here the Indians had finally

cleared off and burned over a few terraces, and planted crops of
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maize, sweet and white potatoes, sugar cane, beans, peppers, tree

tomatoes, and gooseberries.

They said there were two paths to the outside world. Of one

we had already had a taste; the other was ‘even more difficult’, a

perilous path down the face of a rocky precipice on the other

side of the ridge. It was their only means of egress in the wet

season when the primitive bridge over which we had come could

not be maintained. I was not surprised to learn that they went

away from home ‘only about once a month’.

Through Sergeant Carrasco I learned that the ruins were ‘a

little further along’. In this country one never can tell whether

such a report is worthy of credence. ‘He may have been lying’ is

a good footnote to affix to all hearsay evidence. Accordingly, I

was not unduly excited, nor in a great hurry to move. The heat

was still great, the water from the Indians’ spring was cool and

delicious, and the rustic wooden bench, hospitably covered

immediately after my arrival with a soft woollen poncho, most

comfortable. Furthermore, the view was simply enchanting.

Tremendous green precipices fell away to the white rapids of the

Urubamba below. Immediately in front, on the north side of the

valley, was a great granite cliff rising 2,000 feet sheer. To the left

was the solitary peak of Huayna Picchu, surrounded by seem-

ingly inaccessible precipices. On all sides were rocky cliffs.

Beyond them cloud-capped, snow-covered mountains rose

thousands of feet above us.

We continued to enjoy the wonderful view of the canyon, but

all the ruins we could see from our cool shelter were a few ter-

races.

Without the slightest expectation of finding anything more

interesting than the ruins of two or three stone houses such as

we had encountered at various places on the road between

Ollantaytambo and Torontoy, I finally left the cool shade of the

pleasant little hut and climbed further up the ridge and round a

slight promontory. Melchor Arteaga had ‘been there once

before’, so he decided to rest and gossip with Richarte and

Alvarez. They sent a small boy with me as a ‘guide’. The

sergeant was in duty bound to follow, but I think he may have
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been a little curious to see what there was to see.

Hardly had we left the hut and rounded the promontory than

we were confronted with an unexpected sight, a great flight of

beautifully constructed stone-faced terraces, perhaps a hundred
of them, each hundreds of feet long and 10 feet high. They had
been recently rescued from the jungle by the Indians. A veritable

forest of large trees which had been growing on them for cen-

turies had been chopped down and partly burned to make a

clearing for agricultural purposes. The task was too great for the

two Indians so the tree trunks had been allowed to lie as they fell

and only the smaller branches removed. But the ancient soil,

carefully put in place by the Incas, was still capable of producing
rich crops of maize and potatoes.

However, there was nothing to be excited about. Similar

flights of well-made terraces are to be seen in the upper
Urubamba Valley at Pisac and Ollantaytambo, as well as oppo-
site Torontoy. So we patiently followed the little guide along one
of the widest terraces, where there had once been a small

conduit, and made our way into an untouched forest beyond.

Suddenly I found myself confronted with the walls of ruined

houses built of the finest quality of Inca stone work. It was hard

to see them for they were partly covered with trees and moss, the

growth of centuries, but in the dense shadow, hiding in bamboo
thickets and tangled vines, appeared here and there walls of

white granite ashlars carefully cut and exquisitely fitted

together. We scrambled along through the dense undergrowth,
climbing over terrace walls and in bamboo thickets, where our
guide found it easier going than I did. Suddenly, without any
warning, under a huge overhanging ledge the boy showed me a

cave beautifully lined with the finest cut stone. It had evidently

been a royal mausoleum. On top of this particular ledge was a

semicircular building whose outer wall, gently sloping and
slightly curved, bore a striking resemblance to the famous
Temple of the Sun in Cuzco. This might also be a temple of the

sun. It followed the natural curvature of the rock and was keyed
to it by one of the finest examples of masonry I had ever seen.

Furthermore it was tied into another beautiful wall, made of
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very carefully matched ashlars of pure white granite, especially

selected for its fine grain. Clearly, it was the work of a master

artist. The interior surface of the wall was broken by niches and

square stone-pegs. The exterior surface was perfectly simple

and unadorned. The lower courses, of particularly large ashlars,

gave it a look of solidity. The upper courses, diminishing in size

towards the top, lent grace and delicacy to the structure. The

flowing lines, the symmetrical arrangement of the ashlars, and

the gradual gradation of the courses, combined to produce a

wonderful effect, softer and more pleasing than that of the

marble temples of the Old World. Owing to the absence of

mortar, there were no ugly spaces between the rocks. They

might have grown together. On account of the beauty of the

white granite this structure surpassed in attractiveness the best

Inca walls in Cuzco, which had caused visitors to marvel for

four centuries. It seemed like an unbelievable dream. Dimly, I

began to realize that this wall and its adjoining semicircular

temple over the cave were as fine as the finest stonework in the

world.

It fairly took my breath away. What could this place be? Why
had no one given us any idea of it? Even Melchor Arteaga was

only moderately interested and had no appreciation of the impor-

tance of the ruins which Richarte and Alvarez had adopted for

their little farm. Perhaps after all this was an isolated small place

which had escaped notice because it was inaccessible.

Then the little boy urged us to climb up a steep hill over what

seemed to be a flight of stone steps. Surprise followed surprise in

bewildering succession. We came to a great stairway of large

granite blocks. Then we walked along a path to a clearing where

the Indians had planted a small vegetable garden. Suddenly we

found ourselves standing in front of the ruins of two of the finest

and most interesting structures in ancient America. Made of

beautiful white granite, the walls contained blocks of Cyclo-

pean size, higher than a man. The sight held me spellbound.

Each building had only three walls and was entirely open on

one side. The principal temple had walls 12 feet high which were

lined with exquisitely made niches, five high up at each end, and
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seven on the back. There were seven courses of ashlars in the end

walls. Under the seven rear niches was a rectangular block 14

feet long, possibly a sacrificial altar, but more probably a throne

for the mummies of departed Incas, brought out to be wor-

shipped. The building did not look as though it had ever had a

roof. The top course of beautifully smooth ashlars was left

uncovered so that the sun could be welcomed here by priests and
mummies. I could scarcely believe my senses as I examined the

larger blocks in the lower course and estimated that they must
weigh from ten to fifteen tons each. Would anyone believe what I

had found? Fortunately, in this land where accuracy in reporting

what one has seen is not a prevailing characteristic of travellers,

I had a good camera and the sun was shining.

The principal temple faces the south where there is a small

plaza or courtyard. On the east side of the plaza was another

amazing structure, the ruins of a temple containing three great

windows looking out over the canyon to the rising sun. Like its

neighbour, it is unique among Inca ruins. Nothing just like them
in design and execution has ever been found. Its three conspicu-

ously large windows, obviously too large to serve any useful

purpose, were most beautifully made with the greatest care and
solidity. This was clearly a ceremonial edifice of peculiar signifi-

cance. Nowhere else in Peru, so far as I know, is there a similar

structure conspicuous for being ‘a masonry wall with three

windows’. It will be remembered that Salcamayhua, the Peru-

vian who wrote an account of the antiquities of Peru in 1620,

said that the first Inca, Manco the Great, ordered ‘works to be

executed at the place of his birth, consisting of a masonry wall

with three windows’. Was that what I had found? If it was, then

this was not the capital of the last Inca but the birthplace of the

first. It did not occur to me that it might be both. To be sure the

region was one which could fit in with the requirements of

Tampu-tocco, the place of refuge of the civilized folk who fled

from the southern barbarian tribes after the battle of La Raya
and brought with them the body of their king Pachacuti VI who
was slain by an arrow. He might have been buried in the stone-

lined cave under the semicircular temple.
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Could this be ‘the principal city’ of Manco and his sons, that

Vilcapampa where was the ‘University of Idolatry’ which Friar

Marcos and Friar Diego had tried to reach? It behove us to find

out as much about it as we could.



CHAPTER EIGHT

EXPLORATION OF MACHU PICCHU
AND HUAYNA PICCHU

I

n view of the probable importance of the ancient Inca city

which we had found on top of the ridge between the peaks of

Machu Picchu and Huayna Picchu, our first task was to

make a map of the ruins. On account of the forest and the dense

undergrowth this proved to be a difficult task, but it was finally

accomplished by Herman Tucker and his volunteer assistant,

Paul Lanius. After the map was completed everyone was
amazed at the remarkable extent of the area which had once

been the site of an important city. In 1912 it was determined to

organize under the auspices of Yale University and the National

Geographic Society an Expedition with the object of exploring

it as thoroughly as possible.

The task was not an easy one, even though the President of

Peru, Augusto B. Leguia, gave us the full support of his govern-

ment and the Prefect of Cuzco was instructed to aid us in every

possible way. Had it not been for this co-operation we should

not have been able to secure the services of enough Indian

workmen to clear the ruins.

Our first problem was to open a feasible route for the trans-

portation of supplies going in and specimens coming out,

because everything would have to be carried on men’s backs.

Our food boxes weighed 60 pounds. Each was designed to

provide all the supplies needed for two men for eight days. When
filled with potsherds, they would weigh more.

The trail up which I had been guided by Melchor Arteaga was
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on the east side of the ridge, starting at the frail little bridge

formed of half a dozen logs lashed together with vines which

had been washed away soon after my visit. Besides, as I have

said, for a good part of the distance the climbing was difficult. It

would have been impossible for an Indian bearer to carry more

than a very small load.

The path on the west side of the ridge, which began at the San

Miguel bridge, was the one most frequently used by the

Quichua Indians, Richarte and Alvarez, who lived near the

ruins.

Tucker and Lanius had been obliged to use the west trail and

had reported that it was perilous, winding along the face of

rocky precipices and in two or three places crossing in front of

sheer rock cliffs on fragile, rustic ladders. In fact, it was so diffi-

cult and so dangerous as to make it impassable for our Indian

carriers. By improving it we could avoid the necessity of build-

ing a bridge over the Urubamba, but its use would involve an

additional climb of 500 feet for every load that had to be carried

up to camp. Moreover, the foot of this trail lay 4 miles further

down the rapids, 4 miles further from our base at Cuzco. Conse-

quently it was decided to try to build a bridge of our own and

construct a new trail on the east side of the ridge. Fortunately I

was able to entrust this work to Kenneth C. Heald, one of the

topographers of the Expedition, whose Colorado training as a

mining engineer and whose determination to surmount all

obstacles made him invaluable to our undertaking.

The width of the Urubamba river at its narrowest point, the

most feasible place for building the new footbridge, was about

80 feet. The roaring rapids, impossible to ford even in the dry

season, are here divided into four parts by huge boulders. For

material Mr Heald had to depend on the tropical forest which

grows along the banks of the river. This of itself added another

problem, for although there are many kinds of trees in the

bottom of the canyon, all the species are covered with moss and

lichen, so that it is difficult to determine their character. The

quality of the timber varies greatly; some of the species produce

hard, durable wood of great density and fine texture; other,
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Method of bridge-building used by
Mr Heald in crossing the Urubamba River near Machu Picchu.

quick-growing species produce wood of inferior quality, soft

and brittle. Mr Heald was finally able to select several fine,

straight, hardwood varieties growing close to the east bank of

the stream near the spot where he planned to construct his

bridge. For workmen he had ten dull, unwilling Quichuas who
had been forced to accompany him by the gobernador of a

nearby town. Mr Heald’s only real assistant was an excellent

gendarme, Tomas Cobinas, an energetic young mestizo who
had been assigned to us by the prefect and who could be counted
on to see to it that the Indians kept steadily at work.

The cutting of the logs for the first section of the bridge and
the placing of them in position over an 8-foot reach was simple

enough. To cross the next 40 feet of the icy white rapids proved

more difficult. In the absence of derricks or any heavy tackle,

Heald’s first plan was to lay a log in the stream parallel to the

bank above the bridge, fasten the lower end, and let the current

swing the upper end round until it lodged on the central

boulder. On trying this, however, the timber proved to be of such

dense hardwood that it sank immediately and was lost in the

rapids. Mr Heald then very ingeniously contrived a primitive

cantilever device with which he finally succeeded in crossing the

torrent.

He then built an excellent rustic bridge which served its
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purpose admirably until the end of our work at Machu Picchu.

The Peruvian Government has built a new bridge here over

which mules can pass and serve to carry tourists up to the ruins

from the end of the narrow gauge railway which brings them
down from Cuzco. A motor road has also been constructed as

far as the inn near the old city.

The construction of our first trail was retarded by dense trop-

ical jungle, by the steepness of the slope, and finally by the slow-

ness and extreme caution of the Indians, who dreaded to take

the risk of meeting a viper unexpectedly. Their fears were justi-

fied. During the next ten days eight venomous reptiles were
killed, including several specimens of the deadly bushmaster.

Fortunately none of the men was bitten.

Mr Heald had several narrow escapes, but from other causes.

On the second day, while reconnoitring the steep slopes above

the workmen and out of their sight, he suddenly discovered that

they had started a fire in the bamboo scrub. In less than a minute
it had gained great headway and was roaring up the mountain
side faster than anyone could possibly climb. Retreat by the

route he had come was impossible. The flames leaped 15 and 20

feet into the air. There was nothing to do but make a strenuous

effort to get round the raging fire before it should spread side-

ways. Tearing blindly through the dense thicket, he fell head-

long over a small cliff. Fortunately he landed in a mass of

bamboo, which broke the force of his fall and saved his life.

A few days later he had an even more exciting experience. I

had asked him to see whether he could get to the top of the

needle-like peak called Huayna Picchu and investigate the story

that there were ‘magnificent ruins’ upon its summit. Melchor
Arteaga, the Quichua who originally took me up to the ruins at

Machu Picchu, had said there were other ruins ‘equally good’,

though more inaccessible, on Huayna Picchu. He finally admit-

ted that they might be slightly inferior but repeatedly declared

that they were of ‘great importance’. The peak rises 2,500 feet

sharply above the Urubamba River, which surrounds it on three

sides. On its south side is the ridge on which the ruins of Machu
Picchu are located. On its east side is a precipice nearly sheer
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from the top of the needle to the bank of the stream. On the

north side, below the upper precipices of the needle, are slopes

now forest-covered but bearing marks of ancient agricultural

terraces. The presence of these terraces, some of which had been
cultivated recently by Arteaga, made it seem reasonable that

there might be important ruins on the slopes of Huayna Picchu,

which, owing to the density of the great forest which covered the

slopes, had hitherto escaped attention. Arteaga, however,
insisted that there were beautiful ruins on top of the very peak
itself. But when Mr Heald tried to employ him as a guide, he
refused to go - possibly having a dim realization of some of the

lies he had told. Nothing daunted, Heald, having found the

place where Arteaga had built a rustic bridge to enable him to

reach his clearings, started out with four Indians and Tomas
Cobinas, his trusty gendarme.

Crossing the river on four shaky poles which resembled the

bridge I had once used, he found even the lower slopes to be so

vertical that it was frequently necessary to cut steps. He was
greatly hindered by the bamboo vines and high coarse grasses

which had sprung up in former clearings and also on the higher

and steeper slopes following the fires set in past years by
Melchor and other exponents of that primitive system of agri-

culture known to agronomists as milpa, clearing by fire.

Progress was very slow. Finally the Indians gave out, weary with
climbing and cutting their way through the bamboo jungle.

Leaving the gendarme behind to see that the Indians continued
cutting a trail as fast as strength permitted, Mr Heald deter-

mined to conquer the mountain alone and by a rapid reconnais-

sance ascertain how much of a path it would be advisable to

make. His report is so graphic that I give it in his own words:
‘I pushed on up the hill, clearing my way with the machete, or

down on all fours, following a bear trail (of which there were
many), stopping occasionally to open my shirt at the throat and
cool off, as it was terribly hot. The brush through which I made
my way was in great part mesquite

, terribly tough and with
heavy, strong thorns. If a branch was not cut through at one
blow it was pretty sure to come whipping back and drive half a



View of Machu Picchu from the expedition’s camp at the start of the 1912 season in July.

Same view, showing progress of clearance by August 17th. The round buttress of the

Semicircular Temple is visible in both.



Above ‘The Sacred Plaza before Excavation .

’



Below ‘Defences of Macchu Picchu, summit of inner city wall,

showing city gate and fortifications. ’



One of the ‘clan groups’, now
known as the Industrial Sector,

on the lower north-eastern side

of Machu Picchu, which
Bingham said was ‘characterised

by particularly fine stone-

cutting’. The pictures show
the clearance in progress.



The Sacred Plaza from the

South, showing the Principal

Temple and the steps leading

beyond it up to the Intihuatana.

Steep terraces drop away to the

river below.

‘The Intihuatana of the Inca

builders of Machu Picchu.
’
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Excavating near the West Wall of the Principal Temple, 19 iz. George Eaton is on the
extreme left.

‘The first burial cave at Machu Picchu containing a human skull. The picture was taken
after partial excavation , showing the skull still in place. In all, more than too such caves
were opened and a targe quantity of skeletal material secured.
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'A flashlight view of the

interior of cave No n,
showing the osteologist, Dr
Eaton, and his Indian helpers

during the excavation of a
human skeleton. The man at the

right is a soldier kindly loaned
to us by the Peruvian govern-

ment to assist us in securing

labourers. ’

Right: 'The interior of one of
the better houses in the East

City has stone mortars, useful

in the process ofgrinding corn

or frozen potatoes, carved out

of the ledge on which the house
rests. In between the niches,

just above the head of one of
my Indian helpers, may be seen

a roughly cylindrical block of
stone bonded into the wall. It

was customary in most Inca

houses to have one of these

stone pegs placed between each

pair of niches. They served as

useful hooks while the niches

served as cupboards. Probably
the pointed chicha jars, some-
times called aryballi, were hung
from these stone pegs.

’



‘The Ancient Road leading into Machu Picchu.'

A member of the expedition photographing Machu Picchu, 1912.
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dozen spikes into hands, arms, and body. Luckily I had had
enough practice to learn how to strike with a heavy shoulder
blow and for the most part made clean strokes, but I didn’t get

away untouched by any means. Finally, about 3 p.m., I had
almost gained the top of the lowest part of the ridge, which runs
along like the back-plates of some spined dinosaur. The trees

had given way to grass or bare rock, the face of the rock being
practically vertical. A cliff some 200 feet high stood in my way.

By going out on the edge of the ridge I could look almost
straight down to the river, which looked more like a trout brook
than a river at that distance, though its roar in the rapids came
up distinctly. I was just climbing out on top of the lowest “back-
plate” when the grass and soil under my feet let go and I

dropped. For about 20 feet there was a slope of about seventy

degrees and then a jump of about 200 feet, after which it would
be a bump and repeat (2,000 feet) down to the river. As I shot

down the sloping surface I reached with my right hand and
grasped a mesquite bush that was growing in a crack about 5

feet above the jump-off. I was going so fast that it jerked my arm
up and, as my body was turning, pulled me from my side to my
face; also, the jerk broke the ligaments holding the outer end of

clavicle and scapula together. The strength left the arm with the

tearing loose of the ligaments, but I had checked enough to give

me a chance to get hold of a branch with my left hand. After

hanging for a moment or two, so as to look everything over and
be sure that I did nothing wrong, I started to work back up. The
hardest part was to get my feet on the trunk of the little tree to

which I was holding on. The fact that I was wearing moccasins
instead of boots helped a great deal here, as they would take

hold of the rock. It was distressingly slow work, but after about
half an hour I had got back to comparatively safe footing. As my
right arm was almost useless, I at once made my way down,
getting back to camp about 5.30, taking the workmen with me
as I went. On this trip I saw no sign of Inca work, except one
small ruined wall.’

Five days later, although he had had no chance to consult a

doctor, Mr Heald judged that his arm was in sufficiently good
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shape for him to continue the work, and he very pluckily made
another attempt to reach the top of Huayna Picchu. This like-

wise ended in failure; but on the following day he returned to the

attack, followed his old trail for some 1,700 feet and, guided this

time by Arteaga, eventually reached the top. His men were
obliged to cut steps in the steep slope for a part of the distance

until they came to an Inca stairway. This led them practically to

the top, which consisted of a jumbled mass of granite boulders.

There were no houses, though there were several flights of stone

steps and three little caves. Probably it was once used as a signal

station. And this was what Arteaga had told us was ‘equally as

good’ as the ruins of Machu Picchu! To-day it is possible for

energetic climbers to get to the top of Huayna Picchu without

serious difficulty, enjoy the magnificent view, and see the primi-

tive ruins of the watch-tower, as has been done by an American
ambassador and his wife.

A day or two after Mr Heald had completed the trail from his

new bridge to the top of the ridge, Dr George F. Eaton, osteolo-

gist of the Peabody Museum of Yale University, and Elwood C.

Erdis, a civil engineer who was to supervise the clearing of the

rums and the search for artifacts, arrived and we began our

investigations.

One of my fellow delegates on the mission to the Pan Ameri-
can Scientific Congress in Chile was Dr William H. Holmes,
then Director of the National Museum. It was his hearty praise

of the distinguished English archaeologist Mr A. P. Maudslay,

for clearing the jungle from some of the most important sites in

the Maya country, that caused me to undertake the discouraging

task of chopping down the entire hardwood forest which stood

on the city terraces and on top of some of the buildings at

Machu Picchu. We not only cut down all the trees and bushes,

we removed and burned all the debris, and even cleaned the

moss off the walls of the ancient buildings and the carved rocks.

We made a determined effort to uncover everything that had
been hidden by nature in the course of the centuries and did our
best to restore the beauties of the Inca’s favourite residence. We
wanted to learn all we could from everything that was left of the
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great sanctuary. We were anxious to secure photographs which
would give some idea of the remarkable art and architecture of

the white granite structures, even though this meant an enor-

mous amount of painstaking labour.

The tropical forest had held undisputed sway for a very long

time. During the course of our clearing we found massive trees,

2 feet thick, perched on the gable ends of small, beautifully con-

structed houses. It was not the least difficult part of our work to

cut down and clear away such trees without seriously injuring

the old walls.

We were fortunate to have as our chief aide Lieutenant

Sotomayor, an officer of the Peruvian gendarmerie. His knowl-
edge of the Quichua tongue was of the greatest assistance to us

in dealing with the Indians, most of whom spoke no Spanish. A
few of our workmen had come with us voluntarily from Cuzco,
where they had been employed in excavations which we had
made in that vicinity. On the other hand, so loath were the local

Quichuas to leave their own villages and undertake profitable

employment elsewhere, that it was impossible to secure enough
voluntary labour, even though we paid more than the neigh-

bouring planters and worked our men shorter hours. We were
obliged, therefore, to depend on the chief village officials, the

gobernadors, each of whom, acting under the orders of the

Prefect, supplied us from time to time with ten or a dozen men
for a fortnight.

We found it necessary to conform to the ways of the country

and provide each workman, the first thing in the morning, with a

handful of dried green coca leaves. This was enough for four quids.

The quid of coca leaves, carefully and deliberately made by

chewing the leaves one at a time, was usually allowed to remain in

the mouth for two hours. Making the quid occupied the first ten

minutes of the ‘working day’, a ten-minute recess in the middle of

the morning, the first period of the afternoon ‘working’ time, and
a recess about three o’clock. The employer who fails to provide his

Quichua workmen with the daily ration of coca leaves is likely to

find it impossible to secure voluntary labourers and very hard to

get cheerful efforts from his conscripts.
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We gave the Indians small presents on pay day, Saturday.

These consisted of beads, mirrors, or other trinkets which had
been carefully selected from one ofMr Woolworth’s emporiums
in New Haven. Mirrors were particularly in demand and
seemed to give the greatest satisfaction. Nevertheless only a few
volunteers returned to work week after week. A small handful

worked regularly, but others would absent themselves for several

weeks to attend to the duties of their own little farms and then

return for a fortnight of labour with us. The great majority,

however, worked only when the gobernador forced them to

come. Sometimes we had forty or more; sometimes we had only

a dozen.

The Indians made little huts for themselves near the spring

close to the houses occupied by Richarte and Alvarez. We
pitched our tents on one of the large terraces not very far from
the city wall and commanding a magnificent view of the

Urubamba canyon.

Lieutenant Sotomayor took personal charge of the Indians

who were engaged in cutting down the forest, and removing and
burning the rubbish. No one could have been more efficient or

persistent. So rapidly did the jungle grow, however, that we had
to cut the bushes and bamboo scrub three times in the course of

four months. The final cutting, made in ten days by a gang of

thirty or forty Indians moving rapidly with sharp machetes,

immediately preceded and accompanied the intensive photo-

graphic work at the end of the season. A few of the five hundred
pictures I took then are included in this volume. They are all on
file in the libraries of Yale University, the National Geographic
Society, and the Hispanic Society of America.

The extensive clearing which we were able to accomplish at

that time and the subsequent exploration of the region, as well

as the clearing carried on in recent years by various archaeologi-

cal parties enable us now to be sure that this was indeed the

largest city in the province besides being an important Inca

sanctuary.



CHAPTER NINE

VILCAPAMPA THE OLD

T he Ruins of what we now believe was the lost city of Vil-

capampa the Old, perched on top of a narrow ridge lying

below the peak of Machu Picchu, are called the ruins of

Machu Picchu because when we found them no one knew what
else to call them. And that name has been accepted and will con-

tinue to be used even though no one now disputes that this was
the site of ancient Vilcapampa.

The sanctuary was lost for centuries because this ridge is in

the most inaccessible corner of the most inaccessible section of

the central Andes. No part of the highlands of Peru is better

defended by natural bulwarks - a stupendous canyon whose
rock is granite, and whose precipices are frequently 1,000 feet

sheer, presenting difficulties which daunt the most ambitious

modern mountain climbers. Yet, here, in a remote part of the

canyon, on this narrow ridge flanked by tremendous precipices,

a highly civilized people, artistic, inventive, well organized, and
capable of sustained endeavour, at some time in the distant past

built themselves a sanctuary for the worship of the sun.

Since they had no iron or steel tools — only stone hammers and
little bronze crow-bars — its construction must have cost genera-

tions, if not centuries, of effort. To prevent their enemies or unde-

sirable visitors from reaching their shrines and temples, they

relied, first, on the rapids of the Urubamba, which are dangerous

even in the dry season and absolutely impassable during at least

half of the year. On three sides this was their outer line of defence.

On the fourth side the massif of Machu Picchu is accessible from
the plateau only by a narrow razor-like ridge less than 40 feet
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across and flanked by precipices, where they constructed a strong

little fort - a veritable Thermopylae. No one could reach the

sacred precincts unless the Inca so decreed, as Friar Marcos and

Friar Diego found to their cost.

Not only was the sanctuary protected against the pollution of

casual visitors, it was admirably adapted for military purposes

as a citadel.

FORTIFICATIONS

While the lower slopes of Huayna Picchu are relatively easy of

access in the dry season, the mass of Fluayna Picchu is separated

from the ruins by another razor-like ridge impassable on the

east side and having only a footpath for sure-footed Indians on
the west side. This trail passes for more than a hundred yards

along a horizontal cleft in an overhanging precipice of sheer

granite. Two men could defend it against an army and it is the

only route by which Machu Picchu may be reached from Huayna
Picchu.

So much for the northern approach. The east and west side of

the ridge are sufficiently precipitous for 1,500 feet to be well-

nigh unassailable. Rocks could easily have been rolled down
upon invaders in the manner referred to by the conquistadors as

a favourite method of Inca soldiers. If a path was maintained on
each side, as is the case today, these paths, in turn, could easily

have been defended by a handful of men. Wherever breaks in the

precipices would give a foothold to intruders they were walled

up and the natural defence strengthened.

On the southern side rise the precipitous cliffs of Machu
Picchu Mountain. In ancient times they were flanked by two
Inca roads. The road on the west side of the peak ran along

another horizontal cleft or fault in the very face of a magnificent

precipice. Traces can still be seen but rock slides have destroyed

it. On the opposite side of the mountain the Inca road climbed

the abrupt declivity by means of a stone stairway and circum-

vented the mountains by a trail which only goats could have fol-

lowed with ease. Both of these roads led to the little ridge on
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which was the aforementioned Thermopylae, and which alone

gave access to Machu Picchu Mountain from the plateau and
the southern rim of the canyon. Both of them could have been

readily defended in various places.

In accordance with their well-known practice, we found on
top of both neighbouring peaks on Machu Picchu and Huayna
Picchu the ruins of Inca signal stations, from which it was possi-

ble for messages to be sent and received across the mountains.

The arrival of unwelcome visitors or even the distant approach

of an enemy could have been seen and instantly communicated
to the city. That on top of Machu Picchu was necessarily the

more important. No pains were spared to make it safe and con-

venient. Its construction required great skill and extraordinary

courage. It is located on top of one of the most stupendous

precipices in the Andes. If any of the workmen who built the

retaining wall on the very edge of the signal station slipped he

must have fallen 3,000 feet before striking any portion of the

cliff broad enough to stop his body. I do not mind admitting that

when I took pictures from it I not only lay flat on my stomach, I

had two trusty Indians hang on to my legs. It really was a dizzy

height. But imagine building a wall on it!

The Sanctuary of Vilcapampa was regarded as so sacred that

in addition to the outer defences and the reinforced precipices

which protected the city against enemies, two walls were built to

keep out visitors or workmen who had been allowed to pass the

mountain Thermopylae. On the south side of the city are an

outer wall and an inner wall. The outer runs along the ends of a

magnificent tier of agricultural terraces. Near by are half a

dozen buildings which may have been intended as barracks for

the soldiers whose duty it was to protect the city on the only side

where it could be reached by the ancient roads, and was compar-
atively vulnerable. There was still an inner line of defence. At
the narrowest part of the ridge, just before one reaches the city

from the south, a fosse, or dry moat, was dug, its sides faced

with stone. Above it the wall of the city proper extends across

the top of the ridge and down each side until it reaches precipi-

tous cliffs which make the wall no longer necessary.
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On the very top of the ridge the wall was pierced by a large

gateway built of massive stone blocks. The gate itself, probably

a screen of heavy logs lashed together, could be fastened at the

top to a large ringstone or eye-bonder firmly embedded above

the lintel and underneath 6 or 8 feet of masonry. At the sides, the

door could be fastened by a large cross-bar whose ends were tied

to powerful stone bar-holds, stone cylinders, firmly anchored in

holes left in the doorposts for that purpose. Such a door might,

of course, have been smashed in by an attacking force using a

large log as a battering ram. To avoid the likelihood of this the

engineer who constructed the fortifications brought forward a

salient from the wall at right angles to the doorway. By this

means the defenders standing on top of the salient could have

rained down a lateral fire of rocks and boulders on the force

attempting to batter down the gate.

The walls of the city were too high to be scaled with ease. In

fact, an attacking force which had been so fortunate as to over-

come all the natural defences of this powerful stronghold and
had circumvented the defenders of the several Thermopylae-
like passes would have found themselves in a very bad situation

when rushing along the terraces towards the inner fortifications.

At the end of the terraces they would have found it necessary to

jump down into the dry moat and scale its farther side as well as

the city wall, all the time subjected to a shower of stones from
the slings of the defenders. It is difficult to imagine that any

attacking force could possibly have been large enough to over-

come a vigorous defence even if the city were held by only a few

score determined soldiers. Of course the walls served equally

well in peace time to keep intruders from entering the sacred

precincts of the sanctuary. In the aclla-huasi, or houses of the

Chosen Women of the Sun, no men were permitted to enter

except the Emperor, his sons, the Inca nobles, and the priests.

The city gate shows evidences of being repaired. The top of

the narrow ridge is at this point occupied by a large granite

boulder, which was worked into the fortifications, or, rather, the

walls were strengthened by its being used as a member. As a

result, the outer gatepost of the massive entrance rests on an
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artificial terrace. This terrace has settled a few inches, owing to

erosion in the steep hillside. Consequently the wall has been

thrown out of the perpendicular and has started to destroy the

fine old gateway. It will not be long before the great lintel will

fall and carry with it the repaired part of the wall which is super-

imposed above it. One clearly gets the feeling, in looking at the

entrance to the citadel, that it was rather hastily repaired at a

period long subsequent to its original construction, probably by

Manco II.

STAIRWAYS

Space was limited and the houses were crowded closely

together, but an extensive system of narrow streets and rock-

hewn stairways made inter-communication within the walls of

the city comparatively easy. In fact, perhaps the most conspicu-

ous feature of Machu Picchu is the quantity of the stairways,

there being over one hundred, large and small, within its limits.

Some of them, to be sure, have but three or four steps, while

others have as many as a hundred and fifty. In several cases the

entire flight of six, eight or even ten, steps was cut out of a single

boulder. The stairways which connect the various agricultural

terraces follow the natural declivity of the hill even where it is so

steep as to make them seem more like a ladder than a flight of

stairs. In several places a little garden plot was tucked into a

terrace less than 8 feet square behind and above a dwelling

house. In order to make little garden terraces like these accessi-

ble the Incas constructed fantastic stairways scarcely wide

enough to permit the passage of a boy. Within the city, however,

and particularly in the narrow streets or alleyways, the stairs

were constructed on a comfortable grade.

The stairway or flight of steps as an ornamental or ceremo-

nial motif in Inca architecture does not seem to occur here,

although it might well have originated in this locality. In the

ruins of a monolithic gateway at Tiahuanaco, Bolivia, in a curi-

ously carved rock at Concacha, near Abancay, Peru, and on the

famous carved rock called Kkenko, near Cuzco, are little flights



202 Machu Picchu

of stairs which were carved for ceremonial or ornamental pur-

poses and which serve no useful object as far as one can see. The
stairways of Machu Picchu, on the other hand, with possibly

one exception, all appear to be available for reaching locations

otherwise difficult of access. While they are more numerous
than was absolutely necessary, none of them appears useless,

even today. The longest stairway, which may properly be

described as the main thoroughfare of the city, commences at

the top of the ridge at the terrace by which the highway enters

the walls, and, roughly dividing the city into two parts, runs all

the way down to the impassable cliffs on the north-eastern

slope.

The central thoroughfare in the heart of the city consisted in

part of this granite stairway of one hundred and fifty steps, and
was the site of the principal waterworks.

WATER SUPPLY

As usual, the Incas took great pains to do everything possible to

provide adequate water.

There are several springs on the side of Machu Picchu Moun-
tain, within a mile of the heart of the city. The little azequia, or

conduit, which brought the water from the springs, may still be
followed along the mountain side for a considerable distance. It

has been partly destroyed by landslides but may be seen where it

runs along one of the principal agricultural terraces, crosses the

dry moat on a slender stone aqueduct, passes under the city wall

in a groove less than 6 inches wide, and is carried along one of

the terraces to the first of the series of fountains or little stone

basins which are located near the principal stairway. The first

four are south of the stairway. Near the fourth the stairway is

divided into two flights. At this point there begins a series of

twelve. The azequia runs south from the last fountain and
empties into the moat.

The basins of the Stairway of the Fountains are usually cut

out of a single block of granite placed on a level with the floor of

the little enclosure into which the women came to fill their
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narrow-necked jars. Frequently one or two little niches were
constructed in the side walls of the enclosure as a shelf for a cup
or possibly for the stoppers of the bottles, made of fibre or

twisted bunches of grass. Sometimes a small lip was cut in the

stone at the end of the conduit so as to form a little spout, thus

enabling the water to fall clear of the back wall of the fountain.

In other cases the water would usually pass through the narrow
orifice with sufficient force to reach the opening of the jar

without the necessity of the carrier dipping the water from the

basin. In times of water scarcity, however, we may be sure that

the latter method was followed, and that the reason for the

sixteen basins was not only in order to permit many jars to be

filled at once but to keep the all too precious fluid from escaping.

The azequia is narrower than any I have seen elsewhere, being

generally less than 4 inches in width.

The stone basins are about 30 inches long by 18 inches wide
and from 5 to 6 inches in depth. In some places both the basin

and the entire floor of the fountain enclosure are made of a

single slab of granite. Sometimes holes were drilled in one
corner of the basin to permit the water to flow through carefully

cut underground conduits to the next basin below. In case of

necessity these holes could easily have been plugged up to

permit the basin to fill. The conduits run sometimes under the

stairway and sometimes at its side. It is perhaps worth noting

that the modern Peruvians call these fountains baos, baths, but

it does not seem to me likely that they were used for this

purpose. On account of the rarefied air, the cold, and the rapid

radiation, even Anglo-Saxons do not bathe frequently in the

Peruvian highlands, and the mountain Indians of today never

bathe. It is hardly to be supposed, therefore, that the builders of

Machu Picchu used these basins for such a purpose. On the

other hand, the Incas were fond of making easy the work of the

water carriers and providing them with nicely constructed foun-

tains.

Possibly one reason for abandoning Machu Picchu as a place

of residence was the difficulty of securing sufficient water. In the

dry season the little springs barely furnished enough water for
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cooking and drinking purposes for the forty or fifty Indian

workers and ourselves. In the earliest times, when the side of the

mountain was forested, the springs undoubtedly did better; but

with the deforestation which followed continued occupation

and the resultant landslides and increased erosion of the surface

soil, the springs must at times have given so little water as to

force the city dwellers to bring the water in great jars on their

backs for considerable distances.

It is significant that the sherds found near the city gate repre-

sent forty-one containers of liquid refreshment as compared
with only four cooking pots, nine drinking ladles, and not a

single food dish. Evidently the dispensers of chicba were sta-

tioned here. The results are the more striking when compared
with the finds in the south-eastern quarter, where almost as

many food dishes were found as jugs.

GARDEN PLOTS

The largest flat space within the city limits lies in a swale at the

widest part of the ridge. This was carefully graded and terraced,

and at the time of our visit had recently been cultivated by

Richarte and his friends. In fact, one would have to go a good
many miles in the canyon of the Urubamba to find an equally

large ‘pampa’ at an elevation of not less than 7,000 nor more
than 10,000 feet. In other words, this little pampa offered an
unusual opportunity to a people accustomed to raising such

crops as flourished in Yucay and Ollantaytambo. The fact that it

was possible for them also to cover the adjacent hillside with

artificial terraces which would increase the potentiality of the

region as a food producer was doubtless as important a factor in

the selection of this site as the ease with which it could be made
into a powerful citadel or a very sacred sanctuary. One of

the most carefully constructed stairways leads directly from the

chief temples to the little pampa itself. It may have been the

pampa where the huilca tree grew - the huilca-pampa.

There is only one city gate. The northern, or Huayna Picchu

side, was not defended by a transverse wall but by high, narrow
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terraces built on little ledges which would otherwise give a

foothold on the precipices. Near these terraces there is a broad
saddle connecting Machu Picchu with a conical hill that is part

of a ridge leading to the precipitous heights of Huayna Picchu.

South of the saddle, which was once covered with a dense forest,

is a rude amphitheatre. It had been terraced and there are five or

six different levels, recently used for the small plantations of the

Indians. This might very well have been the special garden plot

for raising food for the rulers. On the surface of the ground,
among the cornstalks, pumpkin vines, and onion patches, we
found occasional pieces of pottery.

CLAN GROUPS

Looking out on the amphitheatre on the east side are twenty
houses. Four of them appear to have contained windows. Two
of these have three windows each, the third appears to contain

only one, while the fourth is so much in ruins that it is difficult to

say whether it has two or three. The houses on this east side of

the amphitheatre are nearly all made of stone laid in clay and
only roughly finished. In the north-east corner there are two ter-

races with a marked difference from the others, the stones are

much larger and more irregular. Most of the houses are built of

rather small stones of a nearly uniform size.

The terraces are built sometimes of large stones and some-
times of small. None of this construction would have taken

long. It might well have been done by Manco’s forces after he

had moved the religious capital of his realm from Cuzco to this

ancient temple of the sun. On the east side of the ancient city

there are few, if any, temples, but many well-built dwelling

houses and clan groups.

Only one group of houses, that near the south end, appears to

have been built with special care; in this the stones are fitted

together without clay and the walls are in a beautiful state of

preservation. A large group of houses here has three entrances,

so we called it the Three-Door Group. In our excavations we
found a rubbish pile in front of it, which, with what we collected
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Plan of Three-Door Group.

Plan of Unusual Niches Group.

inside, yielded pieces of one hundred and fifteen pots. It must
have been occupied a long time.

Each of the compounds differs from the others either in the

arrangement of its buildings or in some distinctive feature of its

architecture. One of them is characterized by very unusual

niches. In one of its houses there are two niches large enough to
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permit an Indian to stand in them, and in the back wall of each
niche is a small window at the height of an Indian’s face. The
shrine of this group was built on a picturesque crag, the side

walls of the temple being keyed into the sloping surface of the

rock in a very extraordinary manner. It was done with such skill

as to have prevented slipping for centuries. Into the top of the

rock the usual stone platform was cut. Above it were three

niches each large enough to receive a huddled-up Peruvian
mummy. It was the custom in mummifying a body to draw the

knees up to the chin so as to make the mummy take up as little

room as possible. Mummies had multifarious wrappings and
look not unlike small barrels, the final wrapping in some cases

consisting of yards and yards of braided rope. Each of these

three niches was large enough to receive such a bundle and was
provided with a stone bar-hold so that the mummy could be tied

in, or taboo sticks could have been fastened in front of each
niche to ward off any interference with the mummy. Each niche

in turn had three little niches, one on the back wall and one on
each of the side walls. The little niches were probably for the

reception of offerings, articles presumed to be of value and
interest to the departed. A long stone platform carved into the

solid rock immediately below the niches was probably intended
to receive offerings of food and drink; or the mummies may have
been placed there to dry in the sun. It is said that the Incas did

not use preservatives as did the Egyptians but relied on the

power of the tropical sun to dry the flesh after the removal of the

viscera. The mummies had to be sun-dried frequently.

Another clan group was characterized by particularly inge-

nious stone-cutting. Here the bar-holds of the principal gateway
were themselves cut out of the heart of solid granite ashlars. The
top of the bar-hold was set into a saucer-shaped depression in a

member of the next course above, but the base of the bar-hold
formed a part of the ashlar in which it was cut. Access to the

bar-hold was gained by cutting a square hole in the centre of the

face of the ashlar. Surely it was not only an ingenious but a

patient and devoted stone-cutter who would have taken the

trouble to make such a neat contrivance for securing artistic
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permanency in the bar-holds of his compound. He probably

used bronze chisels to carve the deep hole in the ashlar.

Excavations in the principal house of this group yielded

pieces of eight pots and brought to light the tops of two granite

boulders which originally projected above the level of the floor.

These boulders had been carved into useful permanent and
unbreakable mortars, or grinding stones, where maize could be

ground, and frozen potatoes crushed under the smooth-faced
mullers, or rocking stones, which have been in use throughout
the central Andes since time immemorial. Near the mortars we
actually found one of the ancient mullers which had been
rocked here centuries ago. The wife of the chief of this group
must have enjoyed a sense of superiority over her neighbours
who, in making their corn meal, had no such permanent conve-

niences built into their kitchens. This group also contains

several stone benches. One house had a stone couch, built in a

corner, as though someone here preferred not to be always
sleeping and sitting on the ground.

In this group is the only example in the city of a large gabled

building divided into two sections by a party wall rising to the

peak, pierced with three windows. This type, so rare here, is

Plan of Ingenuity Group and Private Garden Group.
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common enough at Choqquequirau and Ollantaytambo. It was
probably a very late development in the art of building. On the

rougher, interior walls of some houses of this compound we
found some surfaces still covered with reddish clay. It was one of

these houses which had been selected a few years ago by

Richarte or one of his friends as a good structure to be repaired

and roofed for use, but was abandoned, as being too far from
water.

One of the stairways in this group is fantastically wedged in

between two huge granite rocks which are so close together that

it would have been impossible for a fat man to use it at all. In

another flight, not only the steps of the stairway but also the

balustrades were cut out of a single ledge. Considering the fact

that the only tools obtainable for a job of this kind were cobble-

stones or pebbles of diorite which could be obtained in the bed

of the roaring rapids 2,000 feet below, it must have taken some-

body a long, long while and a good deal of effort to carve these

steps out of the living rock. His work has achieved something as

near immortality as anything made by the hands of man.
The walls of the buildings of a neighbouring group are of very

roughly squared stones laid in clay in irregular courses, yet the

terrace on which they were built is faced with unusually large

ashlars nicely joined, presumably the work of an earlier period.

Before the more recent wall was constructed a small conduit was
cut into the top of one of the fine old blocks of the retaining wall

so as to permit the courtyard of this compound to be properly

drained.

The finest and most interesting structures are on the west side

of the city. Beginning with the north-west corner, after ascend-

ing a series of terraces one comes to a spot on top of a hill which

commands a magnificent view in all directions, including not

only the city itself and the cultivated terraces but also the Grand
Canyon of the Urubamba. I know of no place in Peru that has a

more inspiring prospect. Many of the mountains are covered by

dense tropical vegetation from top to bottom; others are bare

except for scant pasture; while still others consist of sheer

granite precipices. On clear days snow-capped peaks may be
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seen both east and west, the finest being those of Salcantay and
Soray, which are conspicuous from the lower Cuzco Valley.

On top of this little hill, from which the bridge of San Miguel
may be seen two thousand feet below, there was built a beautiful

little temple near a fine intihuatana, or sundial stone, ‘the place to

which the sun was tied’, such as formed an important part of all

temples of the sun. Remains of similar stones may be seen in

Cuzco, Pisac, and Ollantaytambo. The top of a boulder was partly

cut away, leaving near the centre a square upright pillar. The height

of the pillar is a trifle over half a yard, thus making it the highest

intihuatana stone found in Peru. The top shows slight evidence of

fracture but there is no indication that this happened in recent

years. Squier reported an intihuatana in Ollantaytambo of about
the same height as having been destroyed by the Spaniards. It

seems to be a generally accepted fact that the Spanish priests took
pains to knock off the tops of the intihuatana stones wherever they

were found. The fact that this one is intact practically adds further

evidence to the failure of the ecclesiastical forces of the Viceroy

Toledo to reach this site or even learn of its whereabouts.

Near this interesting and mysterious rock are the ruins of two
attractive houses built, like the rest, of white granite blocks

squared as nicely as could be done without the use of instruments

of precision unknown to the builders, fitted absolutely together

without clay, and bearing the marks of extreme attention to

detail. Both of these small houses are marked by one curious

feature. As originally planned they had handsome, though
narrow, end doors; then the doors were filled up to two-thirds of

the original height, leaving only windows. The best preserved

house contains two fine niches and two windows. Both of the

houses appear to have been originally a story and a half high with

gable ends. They also have a peculiar feature common to a

number of houses here in Machu Picchu in that, while the main
portion of the wall is of stone laid without mortar, the gables

above are of much rougher blocks, not carefully fitted together

but laid in clay and possibly plastered over.

The south end of this hilltop has been rounded and roughly

faced with stones, one of the larger of which has been curiously
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Plan of the Sacred Plaza.

Bird’s-Eye View ofSacred Plaza and Snake Rock.

carved so as to leave a lug with a vertical hole pierced through it.

This may have been intended for a pole displaying a banner. The
terraces below and around the hilltop are of rough stone faced

nearly flat and laid in clay. On the south side thirteen terraces go

down to the edge of the precipice. The hill itself is partly com-

posed of huge, irregular blocks of granite. In many places where

these overhang they have been propped up with stone walls,

leading one to suppose that there might be graves within. Earlier

excavators had been led to the same conclusion and, so far as I

could judge, had encountered the same results, namely that
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there was nothing behind the walls but earth and that the walls

had been built chiefly to give a finished appearance to the rude

boulders. Our excavations on this hill yielded very poor results.

Probably it was used only for the most solemn services con-

nected with tying the sun to the intibuatana. Tradition ascribes

the reciting of poetical orisons to this worship.

THE SACRED PLAZA

Leaving the hilltop and going in a southerly direction, one

descends several flights of stone stairs and approaches a little flat-

tened space which we have termed, for want of a better name, the

Sacred Plaza, because on two sides of it are the largest temples.

Before reaching it one passes on the left a very singular boulder

shaped more or less like a giant clam. Leading to the top are seven

stairs cut in the soft disintegrating granite, and from the top one

can get a charming view. Stones have also been fitted into the top

of the boulder so as to form a little platform on which three or

four persons could stand and salute the rising sun.

North of this boulder and below it are the walls of a little

house, about io by 15 feet in diameter, built in the best work-

manship of the finest Inca style, that is to say, with carefully cut,

selected white granite blocks, many of them apparently rectan-

gular. Some of the large ones are remarkably polygonal, but all

are keyed together without cement. The lower course is of par-

ticularly large, fine ashlars about 4 feet in length and 2 feet in

height; the upper tiers are smaller but all are symmetrical. On
the left of the door as one enters this house is a single gigantic

block cut so as to form the entire lower half of that part of the

front wall. Not only were the lower portions of two of the niches

with which this house is lined cut out of this stone but in a spirit

of almost freakish ingenuity or playfulness the builders carved

part of the corner of the room itself in this extraordinary block,

so that it even forms a very small part of one of the end walls. In

the palace of the Inca Rocca in Cuzco is a stone made famous by

early Spanish writers because it had fourteen angles. Visitors

always look at it. This stone has thirty-two angles!
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The little building has another unusual feature - a long stone

bench or couch extending the entire length of the house oppo-

site the door. It is made of beautifully cut ashlars.

This house adjoins the principal temple, which has already

been described. When I first saw it 1 was inclined to believe that

it was the High Priest’s house but further study leads me to

think it was a royal mausoleum and that the bench or couch was
intended for the mummies of Inca emperors. It is certain that no
pains were spared to make this little structure a gem of masonry.

The building is lined with niches so nearly alike that the eye can

scarcely detect any difference in shape or size. In the selection of

the ashlars, in the finish of the blocks, in the proportions of the

room, and in the artistic care with which it was built, it is among
the very finest of ancient buildings. Others may equal it in

beauty, but I know of none which surpasses it. It gives abundant

evidence that here at Machu Picchu was one of the finest sanctu-

aries ever built by the Incas, or any other pre-historic Ameri-

cans!

The Sanctuary of the Sun in Cuzco, in addition to containing

the high altar and its appurtenances, held the mummies of the

dead emperors of the Inca line. According to Juan de Betanzos,

who lived in Cuzco in 1550, just after the Conquest of Peru, the

mummies were seated on benches of wood beautifully carved.

He says that the Inca Pachacutec arranged the dead emperors

there in the presence of the image of the sun, but also ‘caused to

be made many bundles, as many as there had been Lords who
had succeeded Manco Ccapac down to his father, Inca Vira-

cocha’.

It is quite possible, it seems to me, that some of the mummies
that were represented in the Temple of the Sun in Cuzco by

‘bundles’ may have been really preserved at Machu Picchu.

The High Priest was nearly always an uncle or a brother of the

reigning emperor. Under him were two classes of priests, those

who performed the most solemn rites being always Incas by

blood, and those who officiated in the less important cere-

monies being Incas by privilege, that is members of the families

of powerful nobles whom the Inca desired to honour.
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It is significant that this little gem of a building is at the foot of

the stairway going up to the intihuatana and actually adjoining

the principal temple. The state religion of the Incas, worship of

the Sun, was linked with the destinies and the administration of

the empire in the closest intimacy.

The priests of the sun, were, of course, most highly favoured

and it is not surprising to find the beautiful stone stairway which

leads to the intihuatana the most carefully constructed of any at

Machu Picchu. The steps are about 4 feet wide, yet each of them

was made of a single block of granite. There is a low parapet on
each side of this stairway. North of the royal mausoleum or high

priest’s house, runs a walk, and a balustrade overlooking the

beautiful valley and the river 2,000 feet immediately below.

Keyed into the ‘priest’s house’ and evidently built at the same
time - for one of the lower stones forms a part of both edifices —

is the Principal Temple, which had held me spellbound when I

first saw it.

Its entire east wall appears to have settled nearly a foot, carry-

ing with it a part of the north wall. It is not strange that this set-

tling should have taken place, for the wall appears to have only a

dirt foundation. So perfectly keyed together was it, however,

that it has settled as a mass without disturbing the arrangement

of the stones, except at the corner.

Perhaps the most marked peculiarity of this temple is that the

ends of both the east and west sides are not perpendicular; nor

do they have the customary inward slope characteristic of nearly

all ancient Peruvian structures. As a matter of fact, they form an

obtuse angle. The lower half of the angle is in each case the edge

of the single Cyclopean member of the lowest course in the end

walls, which slope inward towards the bottom. The upper half

of the angle is formed of the six remaining courses, and slopes

inward towards the top. The point of the angle contains a hole

cut into the Cyclopean block of the lowest course, evidently

intended to permit the admission of a large wooden beam which

probably extended across the open front to the point of the

angle in the front of the opposite end.

My first impression was that such a log would have been used
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to support the roof of the structure, but the perfect finish of the

top-most course leads me to believe that this building never had

a roof, but that these holes supported the ends of a log which in

turn supported a screen or curtain of the finest cloth, a superla-

tively beautiful textile. It could be removed when it was not

needed. Such a device would have permitted the interior of the

temple to have been constantly exposed to the sun while at

the same time it was screened off from the view of anyone in

the Sacred Plaza. If it were the place in which the mummies of the

departed ancestors were brought for purposes of worship the

presence of a roof would have been undesirable and would have

interfered with the ceremony of giving the mummies a comfort-

able sun bath.

No pains were spared to make this unique structure conform

to all that was best and most solid in the architecture of the

Incas. Its builders had a remarkable sense of symmetry. They
matched niche for niche and almost matched block for block.

No building in Peru gives a finer impression of the high stage of

art and architecture reached by the ancient people of the Andes.

While there is no carving anywhere in the temple the sides of the

largest Cyclopean block were cut in such a manner as to give the

pleasing effect of three tiers of stones, more or less carrying out

the lines of the regular courses of ashlars. The large altar stone

at the back has two projecting lugs at the base. They are not

alike, are not symmetrically placed, and may be merely projec-

tions left to assist the builders in prying the huge block into its

proper place. It must weigh at least ten tons.

On the west side of the plaza is a semicircular bastion about

10 feet in diameter and 8 feet high. It overlooks the valley of the

Urubamba and is the highest of a flight of fine terraces which

extend down to the edge of the cliffs. The bastion is made of

large granite blocks cut to form a nearly perfect semicircle. This

type of remarkable stone-cutting is another evidence of the very

great age of the Inca civilization. Architects tell me that such

skill in building a graceful circular tower is not arrived at easily

or early in the history of this art.

On the south side of the plaza is a large rectangular building,
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of typical late Inca construction, built of small, roughly finished

stones laid in adobe, having two doors, and no windows. Its

inner walls were lined with symmetrically placed niches, the

whole forming obviously an important residence but one which
would have required only a few weeks or months to construct. It

is quite possible that this was built after the flight of Manco
from Cuzco, at the time when this ancient sanctuary had to be

enlarged to receive the priests and other attendants of the last

Inca and the Chosen Women who sought refuge here in the days

of Pizarro.

On the opposite and eastern end of the plaza are the ruins of

the most significant building of all, the Temple of the Three
Windows.

The walls of this temple, like those of the Principal Temple,
are on three sides only, the fourth side being left open to the

Sacred Plaza with the exception of a unique monolithic pillar

intended to support the front roof-plate of the building, a device

not found in any other building in the city. The building had a

gable roof, the stones in the end of the gable being larger than

customary but nevertheless laid in clay instead of fitted

together. As in the Principal Temple, Cyclopean blocks were
employed in the lower course and the ends of the side walls form
an obtuse angle instead of being perpendicular. Similarly, the

point of each angle contains a cavity, evidently intended here to

permit the admission of the end of a roof-plate. The top of the

monolithic pillar, located halfway between these two cavities,

was notched.

In order to build this structure the architect was obliged to

construct a foundation for the eastern wall down to the level of

the next terrace. To do this, he used four large stones and built a

wall which rises 1 1 feet from the terrace to the level of a window
sill. The sill of each window forms part of a Cyclopean polygo-

nal block. The walls of the temple are of massive blocks, some of

them irregular, but all of them of well-selected white granite,

beautifully worked. The granite could have been quarried in the

immediate vicinity.
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GROUP OF THE TEMPLE OF THE SUN

The highest of the fountains is in a remarkable group which

should be called the Group of the Temple of the Sun itself, as its

principal building bears a striking resemblance to the well-

known Temple of the Sun in Cuzco.

This was the first really fine building seen on my original visit.

At that time I could not see all the wall adjoining the semicircu-

lar temple. After we had scrubbed the wall clean we discovered

that the most experienced master mason of his time had here

constructed the most beautiful wall in America, built in the

form of a try-square, and connecting the temple with what may
have been a priest’s house.

The effect is softer and more pleasing, if less splendid, than

that of the marble temples of the Old World. Here we have an

example of the remarkable ability of the Inca architects. Since

this wall was obviously built with the utmost care by an artist

who desired it to be a permanent object of beauty, it was neces-

sary that there should be no cracks in it, that the seams between

the closely fitting ashlars should never open. Yet at the south end

of the wall was the priest’s dwelling, a two-story-and-a-half

house, its second floor opening on to the terrace which sup-

ported the Beautiful Wall, its lower floor opening on to the next

terrace below. In the course of time such a house, whose attic

was entirely above the level of the Beautiful Wall, would tend to

lean away from the wall, and the seams would open. Conse-

quently, the stonemason ingeniously keyed the ashlars together

at the point where the greatest strain would occur, by altering

the pattern from one which is virtually rectangular to one con-

taining hookstones, thus making a series of keys which would

prevent the ashlars from slipping and keep the house from

leaning away from the ornamental wall. The result was success-

ful. Although this is a land where earthquakes are not uncom-

mon and the builders used neither cement nor metal clamp, each

ashlar still fits snugly into its neighbours and there is no place

where a pin could be inserted between the stones. They fit

together and hold as tightly as a glass stopper fits into a glass
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bottle. Friction and an absolutely perfect fit does the trick.

The uppermost part of the great rock on which the semicircu-

lar building rests is carved into seats or stone platforms. It was
probably an altar on which were placed offerings, or a place of

sacrifice for burnt offerings.

When subject to great heat the surface of granite boulders

flakes off in shells round the point where the greatest heat strikes

the stone. An examination of the top of this rock, which occu-

pies most of the space within the Semicircular Temple, shows
that at some time or other a really extraordinary amount of heat

must have been applied. Total absence of ashes or pieces of char-

coal indicate that this took place a very long time ago, probably

long before the advent of the first modern Indians. It is difficult

to account for all the flaking which has taken place unless it was
caused by repeated fires or by one in which the fuel was often

replenished, and it is impossible to believe that the damage was
done by burning an ordinary thatched roof. Were it not that the

Plan of the central part ofMachu Picchu. On the right is the King’s

Group. In the middle, the Stairway of the Fountains. The Royal
Mausoleum Group is in the lower left, with the Semicircular Temple and
the Most Beautiful Wall. The Upper City is partly shown in the upper
right corner. The Snake Rock region is also in the upper right corner.
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upper courses of the Temple seem to indicate the former pres-

ence of a roof one might suppose that this had been verily a

place of burnt offerings.

In this temple are three windows. Two of them look out over

the valley; each is about two feet in height. They are decorated

with four nubbins, one at each end of lintel and sill. These may
have been supports on which were hung the gold ornaments

associated with Sun Temples. There are no others like them.

The third window in the Semicircular Temple is larger than

the others and offers much food for thought and speculation. It

is what archaeologists commonly call ‘problematical’. Its beau-

tiful monolithic lintel was cracked by the heat of fires long

before our visit, and part of it has fallen, further evidence that it

was no small conflagration that so ravaged the temple. The sill

of this window is most unusual, broken as it is by two flights of

steps, facing each other. These steps contain a little labyrinth of

holes and very small passages or channels less than an inch in

diameter, which lead to cavities cut out of the blocks in the inte-

rior of the wall. The openings of these channels vary in size;

some are z inches in diameter. Other similar holes lead nowhere,

and some of the passages have less conspicuous openings. In the

Cuzco Temple of the Sun, now the Dominican Monastery, I

noticed holes similar to these. They are in a portion of the wall

which cannot be further examined. It is possible that the holes

were intended to facilitate the exhibition of gold plaques or sun

ornaments which, according to the early writers, were displayed

in the Temple of the Sun.

We learn from Sarmiento, the conquistador, in his history of

the Incas, that he was told by the wise natives whom he con-

sulted with regard to their traditions, that ‘as Pachacutec

Yupanqui was curious about the things of antiquity and wished

to perpetuate his name, the Inca went personally to the hill of

Tampu-tocco or Paccari-tampu, names for the same thing, and

entered the cave whence it is held for certain that Manco Ccapac

and his brethren came when they marched to Cuzco for the first

time ... After he had made a thorough inspection, he venerated

the locality and showed his feelings by festivals and sacrifices.
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He placed doors of gold on the window Ccapac-tocco, and
ordered that from that time forward the locality should be ven-

erated by all, making it a prayer place and huaca, whither to

pray for oracles and to sacrifice. Having done this the Inca

returned to Cuzco.’

There is no evidence that Sarmiento ever went to Paccari-

tampu. We did, but we could find no ruins there that answer to

the description of this highly venerated place. On the other

hand the window where the gold doors were placed might easily

have been this ceremonial window in the semicircular temple at

Machu Picchu.

This is one of the reasons why I believe that the ‘Lost City of

the Incas’ was originally called Tampu-tocco, as I shall explain

in a later chapter.

In view of the similarities between the semicircular temple

and the famous Temple of the Sun in Cuzco, it is interesting to

note here that the great golden image of the Sun which had been

one of the chief ornaments of the temple in Cuzco was probably

kept here at Machu Picchu after Manco escaped from Cuzco. It

was in the possession of his son, Tupac Amaru, the last Inca

Emperor, who lived here during his young manhood, and it was
captured from him by the Viceroy Toledo, who sent it to Philip II

with the suggestion that the King send it to the Pope. The
chances are that that golden image was once displayed here and
may have been hung from the ‘problematical’ window. When
Tupac Amaru had to flee down into the montana, he took it

with him among other valuable gold ornaments, which Fran-

cisco de Toledo was only too pleased to seize and send to King

Philip as being of that ‘noteworthy quality’ desired by his

monarch.

There are two gateways to the compound which includes the

Temple of the Sun. The inner one is a beautiful specimen of

stonework and seems to have had a stone roof. Its bar-holds are

integral parts of the stone blocks of the gateway, being cut into

the surface of the ashlars. This group is further distinguished by

containing the only house in the city consisting of two-and-a-

half stories. Its gable end is of rough stones laid in adobe. This is
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characteristic of every structure that was undoubtedly roofed.

No matter how fine the walls of a house, that portion of the wall

which would come immediately under the eaves and the gable

ends is never nicely fitted together but always laid in adobe. This

may have been to facilitate fastening the rafters to the wall, or it

may have been due to the fact that originally houses did not have

gable ends. They may have been added by later tenants. I do not

remember seeing a single Inca gable in the city of Cuzco,

although they are common in Ollantaytambo and other places.

Our excavations in this group yielded practically nothing, but

on the terraces just below the old rubbish piles contained pieces

of more than two hundred jars. A few had been thrown over into

the dry moat. Not a house in the three groups contained a thing;

evidently the former owners were good housekeepers and

insisted on broken pots being taken away to the rubbish piles.

THE KING’S GROUP

Across the great stairway from the semicircular Temple of the

Sun is a compound which I have called the King’s Group
because of the extremely solid character of the walls which

enclose it, and also because it seems as though no one but a king

could have insisted on having the lintels of his doorways made
of solid blocks of granite each weighing about three tons. In the

other compounds the houses almost invariably have duolithic

lintels, not too heavy to be lifted into place by two men. But in

this group the owner had sufficient manpower to overcome the

mechanical difficulties involved in placing a monolithic 3-ton

lintel on top of his doorposts and fitting it accurately to them.

Even had he possessed cranes, pulleys, and steam winches, he

would have found it no easy task. Since he had none of these

things, he must have built up a solid inclined plane side by side

with the wall as it rose so that the workmen could raise the

heavy lintels with levers. What a prodigious amount of patient

effort had to be employed! Altogether the artistic workmanship

is superb and must be seen to be appreciated. My photographs

do not do it justice.
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The door of the King’s compound is close to the highest of the

fountains, so that his retainers would never have any difficulty in

filling their jars with fresh water. There are no windows in these

royal houses. There were none of the dreaded ‘night draughts

which cause illness’. We can easily imagine that the houses were

fitted with luxurious rugs of vicuna wool as well as the finest

blankets and robes that the most skilful of the Chosen Women
could weave for the Inca’s personal use.

The gables of the houses in this group are also unusually

steep. Even heavy tropical downpours would not leak through

such steep roofs. No buildings in Machu Picchu except the

temple opposite have such fine walls as these.

I believe that this group of houses was once occupied by Titu

Cusi and his mother and brother. They certainly lived in com-

parative luxury. Tupac Amaru was probably living here when he

learned of the fatal illness of Titu Cusi and of his own accession

to the throne of his ancestors. It should be called the Palace of

the Emperor.



CHAPTER TEN

RESULTS OF EXCAVATIONS
AT MACHU PICCHU

O ur first task was to see whether excavation in the princi-

pal structures would lead to the unearthing of pot-

sherds or artifacts which might throw light on the

former inhabitants. Our workmen, who fully believed in the

‘buried treasure’ theory, started with a will. Tests made with a

crow-bar in the Principal Temple enclosure resulted in such

resounding hollow noises as to give them assurance that there

were secret caves beneath the floor of the ancient temple. Amid
the granite boulders under the carefully constructed floor our

excavation was carried to a depth of 8 or 9 feet, but all this back-

breaking work ended only in disappointment. Although we
penetrated many crevices and holes between the boulders, there

was nothing to be found; not even a bone or a potsherd.

Digging inside the Temple of the Three Windows had similar

negative results. Later we carefully replaced and regraded the

floor of the temple. But digging on the outside and below the

three windows resulted in the discovery of an extraordinary

quantity of decorated potsherds, pieces of vases and jars. Most
of them lay from 2 to 4 feet under the surface of the ground. For

centuries it must have been the custom to throw earthenware

out of the windows of this temple. It is extremely doubtful if this

building was ever used as a dwelling, since its windows were too

large to permit of its being occupied by a people unaccustomed

to sleeping in the fresh air and anxious to avoid all draughts.

Were these pots, then, offerings to the gods? I cannot say. It
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certainly does not seem likely that this great mass of sherds on

the terrace under the three ceremonial windows was formed

entirely by throwing perfectly good pots out of the windows.

Possibly these bushels of sherds represent pottery broken in the

course of religious ceremonies or in the drunken orgies which

followed.

At the end of a week of hard and continuous labour we had

not succeeded in finding anything except these sherds - no

whole pots, no pieces of bronze, not a single ornament or

utensil, not even a stray skull or human bone. It began to look as

though our efforts to learn any more of the life of the builders of

Machu Picchu than could be gained by a study of their architec-

ture and small fragments of earthenware would be a failure. We
then began to look for burial caves such as I had first seen at

Choqquequirau. The Indians who lived here had been

instructed by their Patron, Senor Don Mariano Ferro, the owner

of the land, to assist us. They were undoubtedly thoroughly

familiar with the whole mountain side and we asked them to

hunt for burial caves. They went off for two days but their search

yielded no results whatever. Could it be possible there were no

graves at all? Remembering the success of the pecuniary rewards

which we had offered the gobernador at Lucma, I offered a

Peruvian silver dollar to anyone who could report the where-

abouts of a cave containing a skull and would leave the cave

exactly as he found it, allowing us to see the skull actually in

position.

The next day all our workmen were released from excava-

tions in a feverish hunt for burial caves. At the end of the day the

half-dozen worthies who had followed us from Cuzco came
slowly in, one by one, sadder and no wiser, their hopes of the

coveted bonus destroyed. They had been tattered and torn by

the thickets and jungles and baffled by the precipitous cliffs of

Machu Picchu. One of them had split his big toe with a machete

while hewing his way through the jungle. The thorny scrub and

the ever aggravating bamboo vines had not only torn their

clothes to shreds but had cruelly scratched their almost naked

bodies. Unfamiliar with the region, they had found nothing. On
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the other hand Richarte and his friends were more fortunate. It

was not for nothing that they had been cultivating the ancient

terraces. Furthermore, they had undoubtedly engaged in trea-

sure hunting between crops. At any rate, they responded nobly

to the proposed bonus and came back late in the day with

smiling faces and sparkling eyes, none the worse for wear, and

cheerfully announced that they had just discovered eight burial

caves, and desired eight dollars! At the prevailing rate of wages

on the sugar plantations this was more than the three of them

could earn in a week.

These were two of the Indians who had found ‘nothing’ on

the two preceding days. It was perfectly natural that they should

not have been too eager to show us the sources of the pottery

which from time to time they had sold to passing travellers. Fur-

thermore, bad luck might attend their crops should they dese-

crate the bones of the ancient people buried in the vicinity. No
possible amount of agricultural good luck, however, could

compete with such a bonus as we had offered. Consequently

they now exerted their utmost efforts and the results far

exceeded our expectations.

The day after Richarte and his friends had reported the dis-

covery of ‘eight burial caves’, Dr Eaton and I followed them

across the ruins of the city and plunged down the wooded slope

on the eastern side of the ridge until we reached a moss-covered

ledge under which was a small cave to which our guides proudly

pointed.

Sure enough here were the bones of a woman, about thirty-

five years old, a representative of the middle coast region of

Peru, and possibly one of those attractive types who were com-

manded by Inca Titu Cusi to attempt the seducing of the Augus-

tinian fathers who wished to enter the city of Vilcapampa the

Old.

Judging by the position of the bones, she had been buried in

the usual contracted position, the knees drawn up under the

chin. With her were buried the remains of her cooking pots and

food vessels.

The second cave yielded fragments of two small adult skulls
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but no pottery or bronze. In the third cave, my joy knew no

bounds when I was able to lay hands for the first time at Machu
Picchu on a perfect piece of Inca pottery. It was an excellent

specimen of a two-handled dish, nicely decorated. This cave was
divided into two parts by a stone wall. The outer section con-

tained the skeleton of a woman about thirty-five years of age,

the skull being of the oblong type usually found in the mountain

regions.

Encouraged by what we had found in the first three caves the

work was continued until our ambitious Indian guides had

covered every accessible — and many seemingly inaccessible -

parts of Huayna Picchu and Machu Picchu Mountains and the

ridge between. As the burial caves occurred generally on very

steep rocky slopes, more or less covered with dense tropical

jungle, the work of visiting and excavating them was extremely

arduous. The work of the collectors, like that of the road

builders, was several times interrupted by poisonous snakes.

Nevertheless Richarte and Alvarez were unsparing in their

patient, continuous searches. Practically every square rod of the

ridge was explored, the last caves opened being very near the

Urubamba river. In some of the caves only the most fragmentary

skeletal remains were found; only the larger bones and a skull or

two. Other caves contained not only nearly complete skeletons,

but Inca-type pottery in a more or less perfect state of preserva-

tion.

More than fifty caves were opened under Dr Eaton’s personal

direction and fully as many more were located and explored by

his Indian helpers. The caves proved a veritable buried treasure

for Richarte and Alvarez. Although the graves did not actually

contain objects of gold, they did give forth a quantity of skeletal

remains and artifacts which brought prosperity to the cheerful

little Indians, who now secured in a week as much silver as they

had formerly earned in the course of two months.

Some caves were divided into two or more compartments by

thin partitions of irregular rock walls. Projecting ledges, over-

hanging boulders, and other rock shelters were taken advantage

of in the effort to secure a relatively dry, safe place for the recep-
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tion of the mummy bundles. The front of the cave was some-

times, though rarely, closed by a roughly built wall of rocks and

earth. When this wall was in good condition the bones of the

skeletons were generally found lying on the surface of the cave

floor, or in the shallow humus, just as they had fallen when the

mummy wrappings decayed. Near the bones were often found

artifacts, usually pottery, more rarely bone implements -

weavers’ pointed tools made by grinding llama bones. Some-

times there were pieces of bronze. When the wall was in poor

condition so that treasure hunters or wild beasts, bears or

members of the cat family, could have entered, the bones and

potsherds were likely to be found strewn about the cave or even

outside the protecting wall. Sometimes the bodies had been

actually buried underground, and then the front of the cave

would be marked merely by a low wall or rough terrace. In a

very few instances bodies were interred in crudely fashioned

‘bottle-shaped graves’.

The region near the first caves we opened I shall refer to as

Cemetery No. 1. It lay halfway down the mountain side, north-

east of the city, on the edge of a precipice 800 feet above the river.

Under the boulders and ledges of this region the remains of

about fifty individuals were found. Nearly all of them were

determined by our osteologist, Dr Eaton, to be female, only four

being clearly male. This was a very exciting and significant dis-

covery. Apparently the last residents of Machu Picchu were

Chosen Women, the ‘Virgins of the Sun’ associated with sanctu-

aries where the sun was worshipped.

A thousand feet south of the first cave, in a region east of the

city, and from 200 to 600 feet below the end of the principal

stairway, we found another group of burial caves. This we called

Cemetery No. 2. It lies near the end of the outer city wall; in

fact, one of the caves was only about a hundred yards from the

lowest house. There was some evidence of earlier burials having

been disturbed to provide room for the later ones. Here the

remains of some fifty individuals were found. Only five or six

appear to have been male. None were rugged individuals. Evi-

dence began to accumulate that here had been a ‘University of
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Idolatry’. Here the Chosen Women had been taught to weave
beautiful textiles and made cbicha for the Incas.

One day we located the burial place of the High Priestess, or

Mama-Cuna, the Lady Superior of the convent, the person
chiefly responsible for the training of the Chosen Women. It was
a very sightly location on a rock-sheltered terrace on the slopes

of Machu Picchu Mountain, about a thousand feet above the

highest part of the ruins. The terrace was about 40 feet long,

above some agricultural terraces, and connected with the

highest by two flights of steps. It was almost completely over-

hung by an immense boulder which looked like a peaked crag of

the grey granite mountain. The flat-faced projecting portion of

the boulder was at least 50 feet high. The terrace was con-
structed largely of rock and gravel. Sheltered from the fierce

noonday heat of the sun, it offered an ideal resting place for the

Mother Superior.

Close to her bones we found her small personal belongings,

her pottery, and the skeleton of her dog, a collie-like type bred

by the Incas. Her possessions included two large bronze shawl-

pins, bronze tweezers, two sewing needles made from plant

spines, and a dainty and minute bronze curette with an orna-
mental head in the design of a flying bird. Besides some small

fragments of fabrics of wool and vegetable fibre, there were two
beautifully made jugs with human faces modelled and painted

on the necks, a most unusual pattern. She also had a fine

cooking pot, or beaker-shaped olla, carefully made and deco-
rated with a snake in bas relief.

The most interesting object buried with this distinguished

lady was a concave bronze mirror. Now a concave mirror is not
only more difficult to make than a flat mirror, but is far less con-
venient to use. However, we know that on certain ceremonial
occasions the Mama-Cuna

, or Mother Superior of the Virgins

of the Sun is reported to have ignited a tuft of cotton wool by

concentrating the sun’s rays with a concave bronze mirror.

Whether this can actually be done I do not know, but as Dr
Eaton once said: ‘Even if the Priestess failed to ignite the tuft of

cotton by the reflected rays of the Sun-God, the holy mystery



Results of Excavations at Machu Picchu 229

might have been made to seem very real to the assembled devo-

tees, through a little legerdemain.’ Anyhow, it was not difficult

to believe that the lady with the choice pottery, the collie dog,

the toilet set, and the handsome concave mirror was one who
had progressed far in the service of the Temple of the Sun.

Pathological examination of the skeleton of this delicately

formed woman shows that unfortunately she suffered from

syphilis.

She was given a very beautiful resting place under the great

rock and beneath a carefully constructed ceremonial terrace

from which there is a magnificent view of the sacred city as well

as of the wonderful canyon and the snow-capped peaks.

In view of the richness of the material buried with the priest-

ess and her evident importance - no other grave contained any-

thing like as fine garniture - and in view of our good fortune in

finding this grave undisturbed although located in the most

striking cemetery at Machu Picchu, it is worth noting that not a

single article of gold was found here (or anywhere else). Gold

must indeed have been extremely scarce if none could have been

spared for such a grande dame as was here interred. Perhaps

whatever gold she may have possessed had been confiscated and

sent to form part of the ransom of the unfortunate Atahualpa,

whose failure to fill a room full of gold for Pizarro cost him his

life! On the other hand, since the Viceroy Toledo did secure

some rich booty when he captured the last of the Incas, young

Tupac Amaru probably took all the gold ornaments and vessels

with him when he fled.

Not far from the rock-sheltered terrace another place of

burial was found under an overhanging crag or boulder which

projected from the mountain side for about 30 feet. It was

explored under the direction of Dr Eaton, who found a frag-

ment of a female skull with the lower jaw showing slight

Aymara deformation. A chicha jug, with a grotesque fat man
modelled in relief on the neck, was found buried close to the

skull. Alvarez, one of his Indians, while excavating at random,

lightly drove the point of a small combination pick and mattock

through the loop of the jug handle, and drew forth the piece
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uninjured. The rascal then insisted on going through the whole
performance again, just to show how skilful and careful he was.

He may thank the great and small gods of the mountains that

his encore was successful.

Among the various skeletons which were found beneath the

surface of this large cave was a fragment of a large and heavy

male skull, with fragmentary skeleton. The very decayed condi-

tion of these remains suggests a burial considerably older than

some of the others. The skull undoubtedly belonged to a large

male of the coastal type, and the long bones were of correspond-

ing proportion. Close to this skull, and presumably placed with

it, was a bronze crow-bar, a cbampi , one of the best we found.

Its owner may have been one of the principal stonemasons who
built the city, long before the days of Manco II and his sons.

Llama bones were found in profusion beneath the floor of the

caves, around and above the interments, the skeletal material of

these useful beasts being almost as plentiful as the human
remains. Nearly every skeletal part of the animal was repre-

sented. However, it should be noted that, with the exception of

the toes and the knee caps, no entire llama bones were to be

seen.

The long bones of the llama may have been split in order that

the marrow could be eaten by the friends of the deceased. In

some places it is known to have been the practice of the persons

who had charge of the mummies to consume the offerings of

food made to the dead during the annual festivals.

In a cave from which pottery on the surface might easily have

been removed was the undisturbed grave of a young woman.
With the bones were found the young woman’s two shawl-pins.

She must have been a person of consequence, for these were of

silver. Near the grave was a large flat rocking muller of rare

shape, used for grinding corn. Since one of the chief occupations

of the Chosen Women was the making of chicba for the Inca and
his nobles and priests, and the making of it required the crush-

ing of the sprouted corn after it had been boiled, this was proba-

bly used in the sanctuary.

On the northern slopes of Machu Picchu Mountain, above
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the ruins, we found a large cave, 30 feet long and 15 feet wide,

which, although containing a walled-up grave, seems to have

been used as a primitive dwelling or rock shelter. There was no

protecting wall in front of it, but the sides and back had been

nicely finished off with neatly laid stone walls. These walls may
have been intended to act as partial insurance that the huge

boulder, a portion of whose flat under surface formed the roof

of the shelter, would not settle down on the occupants. Since no

human bones were found except those in a walled-up grave at

one end, it seems likely that this fine dry cave was once occupied

as a shelter for workmen engaged in neighbouring quarries, or

carriers who had occasion to use the old Inca road not far away.

It was by this road, as we learned later, that the inhabitants nor-

mally came down to the city from the plateau behind the moun-
tain, where there were a large number of agricultural terraces

and several Inca towns in ancient times.

In one cave, with the skeleton of a young woman, we found a

collection of bones of various animals including a llama, an

agouti, a small deer, and a Peruvian hare. While these are all

edible animals, particularly the agouti, a cavy the size of a rabbit

which I learned years ago in Venezuela to prize as a tasty morsel,

it seemed strange that this young lady should have been pro-

vided with so many ‘baked meats’. Possibly, however, these little

bones had been carefully collected by her and she had intended

to carve them into tools. We found in her grave a very well-made

specimen of the kind of pointed instrument used by Peruvian

weavers in beating up or striking into place the weft threads in

the fabric. There was also a small knife-like instrument of bone.

Since the Chosen Women were taught useful arts and needed

weaver’s tools, their fashioning may have been her special hobby.

In a small chamber at the rear of another large natural cave

with the skeleton of a woman about fifty years of age was a

plant-spine needle, a child’s jaw-bone, an imperfect beaker-

shaped olla, or cooking pot, and a deep plate with a broken

handle, also several fragments of llama bones, representing food

for the dead. In another grave, apparently undisturbed, a small

adult female was buried beneath a mass of earth and stones.
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with a broken olla. In an adjoining cave was the skeleton of a

woman about fifty years of age accompanied by a heavy bronze

shawl-pin, and a beaker-shaped olla. It is interesting to note that

in many of the caves where women had been buried we found
their blackened cooking pots. They were usually placed on top

of the ground, presumably next to the mummy bundle. Fre-

quently there were no other dishes.

In one cave two persons of importance, both small adult

women, were buried at a depth of nearly 5 feet. Over their

bones, but well concealed beneath the earth and cobbles of the

floor, was a complete set of Cuzco-style dishes and jars suitable

for ladies. They included two beaker-shaped cooking ollas, two
two-handled food dishes, two deep plates, two pelike-shaped

jugs, and two containers for liquid refreshment. Evidently the

owners were important ladies. Not far from here another grave

was found to contain the bones of a woman who also may have

been a favourite of the Inca. She was buried with a bronze knife,

a bronze shawl-pin, and two silver pins of similar size and
shape. Among the well-to-do Indian women of Peru and Bolivia

today, silver shawl-pins are often the most valuable of their per-

sonal belongings.

A single undisturbed stone-lined grave or cist was found to

contain the bones of a woman and four oblong stone pendants,

probably pieces of a necklace. Necklaces of durable material do
not seem to have been common.

In another locality a large boulder covered the remains of

three women and a child of six years. With the bones was a

perfect specimen of a drinking ladle and the nearly complete
remains of three beaker-shaped ollas

,
four two-handled dishes,

a two-handled bowl, and a fragment of a large amphora.
One locality one mile south-east from the city, in a saddle of

Machu Picchu Mountain, contained the bones of a man and a

woman, both of small stature. Their property consisted of two
two-handled dishes, a diota-shaped olla , a deep plate, a wooden
deep plate, a wooden spindle-whorl, a stone counter, two small

bone awls, and seven ‘polishing stones’. A few llama bones and
the lower jaw of an agouti represented the funeral ‘baked
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meats’. If they used the olla for cooking, the dishes for serving

their stews, the two plates for drinking, we have their entire

kitchen furniture. The woman, like all Indian women in the

Andes to-day, had her spinning and weaving to do. The man was
a stonemason but possibly he was fond of wood-working. He
did some hunting. They were temperate folk. They had no jugs.

They were poor. They had nothing of metal, no silver or bronze.

They may have been llama drivers. They were buried not far

from the old Inca stone-paved road which led round the slopes

of the mountain to the open country and the llama pastures

beyond.

Late in the season I was conducted by Richarte along a

narrow and dangerous trail under the cliffs, on the west side of

Huayna Picchu, to a very large cave, nearly 90 feet in length and
partly lined with walls of cut stone. It could have been used as a

shelter for a considerable number of people. It might have been

used as a burial cave. On account of its accessibility from the

lower slope of Huayna Picchu, which can easily be approached

at low water, it had probably long been known to Melchor
Arteaga and other Indian treasure hunters of the neighbour-

hood. Nevertheless, it was new to Richarte and he was greatly

excited by its discovery, thinking that it was going to yield him a

rich return in the way of bonuses and prizes. Greatly to his dis-

appointment, although a grave or two were found near by, the

cave contained nothing at all, not even a bone. It had probably

been used as a rock shelter by workmen engaged in cultivating

the fields of Huayna Picchu rather than as a burial cave.

A certain proportion of the burial caves showed evidences of

having been visited before, even as long ago as the days when the

city was still occupied. The object of these visitors was to make
room for later burials and they ruthlessly swept the earlier occu-

pants into a corner. Other visitors were probably the treasure

seekers of the generation past. Senor Lizarraga, for instance, is

known to have sold a pot or two which he said came from

Machu Picchu, but the difficulty of the climb up to the ruins and

the low price of pots probably dissuaded him from making any

serious effort to locate graves. Richarte and his friends had
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small inducement to disturb any graves until the days of our

arrival and the opportunity of securing liberal gratuities. They
could not have sold more than one or two ollas without being

detected by their landlord, who would have immediately

claimed anything of this kind. The most frequent visitors to the

caves on the mountain side were undoubtedly animal prowlers

searching for food and shelter, and especially the spectacled

bears, which are still common in this vicinity.

A cave 200 feet from the city gate contained the well-

preserved skeletons of two men, one about twenty years of age,

the other a small man approaching middle age. These men were

not builders, no hammer-stones or crow-bars being buried with

them. The younger man had an elaborately carved grey talc

necklace ornament of unique design, a number of bone beads,

and pieces of what appears to be a bead made of fused green

glass! The older man had a few ornaments, small stone tokens

and bronze necklace pendants. Also he had a jug, the only jug,

by the way, that was not found associated with women’s bones.

His bones were free from decay. The muscles of his left thigh still

adhered to the bone. There were even a few pieces of cloth and

cord made from brown llama wool. Evidently this was one of

the most recent of all burials. It is curious and significant that

these two men should have female ornaments as well as a

woman’s jug. Their unusual place of burial, their feminine

adornments, the absence of masculine possessions, the extraor-

dinary presence of a mass of desiccated muscle tissue on the

older man’s thigh, the little jug, all point to something peculiar

about these two. Why were they buried in this unusual place?

Were they unwelcome visitors who came to the outskirts of the

sacred city and were buried near the gate without being admit-

ted to the society of the Virgins of the Sun? And what about that

bead of fused green glass? Where did the young man get that? It

is probably of European origin. To be sure, it is only a little

thing, but it would seem to say that the young man came here

after the Spaniards had reached Cuzco. Were these men spies,

sent by the Spaniards to try to locate the refuge of the Virgins of

the Sun who had escaped from the holy city? Did they bring pre-
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sents for the sacred women, necklaces, and a jug and a precious

glass bead, the like of which none of the women had ever seen

before? Who can tell? It seems to be an insoluble puzzle.

It will be remembered that our excavations in the fortress of

Vitcos, the last Inca capital, resulted in the finding of a number
of iron articles of European manufacture, including a buckle, a

pair of scissors, several saddle ornaments, and three jews’ harps,

mementos of the days of the Spanish Conquest. Had Machu
Picchu been known to the conquerors or been occupied by Inca

soldiers who had opportunities, as did the followers of the last

Inca Manco, to waylay Spanish travellers, we might expect to

find similar foreign artifacts here. It is all the more striking and
significant, therefore, to note that after the most thorough and

painstaking search in the one hundred caves or graves which

contained objects of interest, as well as in the many other caves

which yielded only negative results, only two others contained

objects which could without doubt be assigned to the post-

Columbian era. Furthermore, in no case was the object one that

might not perfectly well have been brought to the caves long

after the burials had taken place and Machu Picchu had been

abandoned as a place of residence. In a cave halfway down the

mountain side, east of the hut of Richarte, at a considerable dis-

tance from the city and the principal cemeteries, was found a

piece of rusty iron, little more than a thin rust flake about 3 cm
long and 1 cm wide. It looks as if it might be the shard of a knife

blade. There is no reason why it may not be from the knife of a

treasure hunter, particularly in view of the fact that no objects

of bronze or pottery of marketable value were found in this cave.

The presence of several artistic little carved stone chips of

animals in silhouette makes it seem likely that other attractive

articles were once here. On the other hand, it may have belonged

to one of the occupants of the neighbouring grave. The knife

blade, if such it was, may have been used to carve the little stone

tokens. In the only burial cave near this one was found a well-

preserved example of typical coast pottery, a stirrup-shaped

spherical bottle, totally unlike anything of Inca workmanship;

also more carved animals. The contents of these caves as well as
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their location would seem to dissociate their occupants from
those who were buried in one of the regular cemetery areas. On
the other hand, the use of the local chloride schist as the

medium for perpetuating the appearance of certain animals

would seem to identify the individuals as permanent residents

rather than as transients.

The only other cave containing anything of post-Columbian
origin was about five hundred yards from the camp in a

southerly direction and a little above the level of the Rock-

Sheltered Terrace. It lies fairly near, if not actually in, Cemetery
No. 3, where many of the chief people of Machu Picchu were

buried. This cave contained two peach stones and a beef bone, ‘a

fragment from the shaft of a bovine tibia’, as Dr Eaton describes

it. In view of the complete absence of beef bones in any other

cave I am inclined to assume that the peach stones and the bone
were the remains of some visitor’s lunch. Machu Picchu was
reported to exist as an interesting archaeological site as early as

the unsuccessful attempt of Wiener to find it in 1875. We know
that Lizarraga had been treasure hunting on these forest-clad

slopes at least ten years before our visit to the cave. It is also sig-

nificant that neither at this cave nor at another whose location is

recorded in the same general terms and which was probably

close to it, did our workmen find any pottery, bronzes, or other

artifacts of commercial value. It seems possible that their

absence may be attributed to the successful treasure hunter who
brought the peach stones and the beef bone. Except for the bead
of fused green glass, none of the burial caves near the city or in

Cemeteries Nos. 1 and 2 contained any evidence that the

persons buried there had had any contact with the Spanish con-

querors. It seems reasonable to conclude, therefore, that the last

occupants of the city perished without having been visited by

any Europeans.

A careful count of the skeletal material found in the various

caves and graves seems to show the remains of one hundred and
seventy-three individuals, of whom perhaps one hundred and
fifty were women, an extraordinary percentage unless this was a

sanctuary whose inhabitants were the Chosen Women of the
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Sun. In view of the size and importance of the city and the very

large number of persons who must have been employed as agri-

cultural labourers, hewers of wood, and drawers of water, in

and around the sanctuary, it is possible that only persons of high

rank or priests or the Chosen Women themselves were permit-

ted to be buried in the caves near the city. It is doubtful whether

any except members of the family of the Inca and the attendants

in the great sanctuary were even permitted to enter the city gate.

That appears to have been the ancient custom. This would
account for the absence of the bones of husky workers.

In the graves we found pieces of about three hundred and fifty

dishes and jars. The cemetery containing the largest number of

pots per person is the one nearest to and most accessible from
the ruins of the city. About twice as many were found here. The
reason for this might be that many of these potsherds repre-

sented the garniture of burials which had taken place so long

ago that all the bone material had disintegrated. This hypothe-

sis is borne out by the fact that in the rocky region south and
south-west of the Sacred Plaza, probably an ancient burial

ground from which nearly all the skeletal material had disap-

peared, a very large number of potsherds were found, from

which we have been able to identify five hundred and twenty-one

different pots, including specimens of every one of the principal

types known to Machu Picchu. Although nearly all the burial

caves contained pieces of pottery, only one of them yielded a

fragment of a three-legged brazier. Probably the people whose
bones were found in the caves did not use the braziers, the metal

workers being undoubtedly men.

The art of trepanning seems to have been rather widely prac-

tised in ancient Peru. Consequently there is considerable food

for reflection in the fact that none of the burial caves opened on
the sides of Machu Picchu and Huayna Picchu contained a

single ‘trepanned’ skull. Yet practically all the large burial caves

which we opened in the valley within a distance of thirty miles

contained a number of ‘trepanned’ skulls. Evidently the war-

riors whose wounds required this treatment did not live at

Machu Picchu. It should be noted, however, that many of the so-
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called ‘trepanned skulls’ are claimed by competent surgeons to

show more evidence of disease than of surgery. The bones of the

men who built Machu Picchu have disappeared. Some may have
been buried elsewhere. Of those who died in this immediate
vicinity probably all vestige has been lost.

Patient and systematic excavation was carried on in the city.

With few exceptions the interior of the houses yielded little or

no results; but certain localities gave us quantities of valuable

material. The most fruitful digging was on the ridge south of the

little plaza on which stood the Temple of the Three Windows,
between it and the City Gate. This region is dotted with a con-
siderable number of very large rocks. Possibly it was the quarry
from which some of the building stone was taken but where
blocks too large for the purpose of the stonemasons and too dif-

ficult to be broken up into desired size without the use of blast-

ing materials were left in place. The result of the quarrying left a

small area which was not worth terracing; stone quarries natu-
rally do not make good gardens.

A few rods north-west from the top of the main stairway, Mr
Erdis discovered a huge boulder or ledge on the top of which
several figures of snakes had been carved. We called it Snake
Rock. It may have been the centre of the original cemetery long
before the last occupation. Under the rock he found a cave

which contained fragments of a skull and jaw-bone but none of
the larger bones of the skeleton. That the burial here included

persons or a person of importance is shown by the artifacts

found under the rock. Among them are two bronze mirrors with
pierced square handles, two bronze knives, a very fine unusually
long bronze shawl-pin, a drinking cup, two discs of green chlo-

ride schist, half a dozen chips or counters of the same material,

a broken knife of chalcedony and a piece of red paint, not to

mention numerous pebbles and potsherds. Why small pebbles
were brought up from the river bed and put in the grave with
such valuable bronzes is a puzzle. However, as we have seen,

Father Cobo, the Jesuit, saw guinea pigs cooked by the Aymara
in Bolivia with ‘smooth pebbles from the river, of the kind called

calapurca, the Aymara word for belly-stones, so called because
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placed in the belly of the cuy’. It is amusing to imagine that one
of the persons of importance who was buried here under the

great Snake Rock was an Aymara damsel, one of the Chosen
Women of the Sun, who had been brought all the way from the

country around Lake Titicaca to minister to the happiness of

the Inca and had brought with her the knowledge that guinea

pigs cooked with calapurca were particularly toothsome!

Not far from the Snake Rock was unearthed an artistic little

bronze knife with a fisherboy and his catch, a unique design,

which was regarded by Dr W. H. Holmes as one of the finest

examples of the ancient art of working in bronze ever found in

America. Unquestionably it is a remarkable example of a

mature creative art which took delight in expressing well-

known scenes in an artistic manner. It is now in the Yale

Museum.
Near the Snake Rock are the very irregular foundations of

houses or huts that in design are unlike anything else in the city,

and underneath some of the large boulders are small caves

which at one time might have served as shelters.

In the process of his patient digging within the limits of the

city Mr Erdis made the discovery that in the vicinity of these

boulders, artifacts were likely to be found 2 or 3 feet under-

ground. In this part of the city, quite a number of little bronzes,

two stone dishes, and some artifacts were found which did not

occur in any of the digging in other parts of the city nor in the

excavations in burial caves on the slopes of the ridge. It would
seem to be obvious that this part of the site represented a much
earlier occupancy than most of the ruins.

Very little skeletal material was found within the city, though

a female skull was discovered under a boulder about 250 feet

south of the Principal Temple. We did find, near the Sacred

Plaza, several caves which had probably contained mummies at

one time or another, and a stone-lined, bottle-shaped grave, but

all were empty. It is impossible to say whether they were

despoiled by the first treasure seekers who visited the city in

the nineteenth century or whether they were emptied long

before that. I incline to the latter view because of the extreme
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unlikelihood of treasure seekers caring to remove every single

bone, and the fact that in this humid sub-tropical climate

mummies and mummy wrappings would not last long enough
to make them commercially valuable, as they are when found in

the cemeteries of the arid Peruvian coastal desert.

For four months Mr Erdis and his carefully selected Indian

assistants excavated and prospected within the walls and on the

terraces of Machu Picchu. The zeal of the Indian assistants was
kept at high pitch by a sliding scale of bounties and gratuities.

No part of the city was neglected in their efforts to find signifi-

cant traces of the past. One might have supposed that the pieces

of broken pottery would be fairly well distributed among the

different houses, or at least among the different quarters of

the city, but such was not the case. Digging inside the walls of
the houses rarely produced anything, whereas certain fairly well-

defined rubbish piles yielded good results. Some quarters of the

city had almost nothing, others had an extraordinary amount.
The north-east quarter, containing a larger number of

dwellings than any other quarter of the city, had relatively little,

sherds of only one hundred and sixty-one pots being found in

the excavations here. As these houses are much like those found
at Choqquequirau and Qquente it seems fair to say they were
among the last to be built and were ‘late Inca’.

The north-west quarter includes the Principal Temple, the

Sacred Plaza, and the Temple of the Three Windows. It

contained a surprisingly small amount of material. There was
practically nothing on Intihuatana Hill and nothing in the

buildings on the plaza, a fact which was most disappointing. It

should not be forgotten, however, that this group of buildings

adjoins the so-called Snake Rock Cemetery, most prolific of all

localities.

The south-east quarter of the city was at a considerably lower

level than any other and contained rather poorly built houses,

so that one would not expect to find much there. Yet we did find

remains of some seventy-five pots. The south-west quarter of

the city, from the City Gate to the Stairway of the Fountains,

contain the finest dwellings, the Royal Mausoleum and the real
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centre of the city life, the main thoroughfare and the water

supply. It was not strange, therefore, to find thousands of sherds

in this quarter. They represent some five hundred and fifty-eight

examples of Inca pottery. More than fifty jars were found near

the City Gate in a rubbish pile on the north side of the main
street. Pieces of more than one hundred jars were found near the

very best compound, where the Inca himself may have lived.

On top of the ridge Mr Erdis and his faithful workers found

quantities of curiously shaped little stones of a type of which

very few specimens have ever found their way into any museum.
They vary greatly in size. Some of them are in the shape of poker
chips, others are carved into fantastic shapes. Although their use

is problematical they seem to me to be counters or record stones.

Many of them are made of a green micaceous or chloritic

slaty schist, a small quantity of which exists at the foot of one of

the precipices on Machu Picchu Mountain. These ‘record

stones’ form one of our most interesting finds. They include one
hundred and fifty-six stone discs, of which only three were

found in caves containing skeletal material, and they may there-

fore have belonged to an earlier culture than that represented by

the majority of the burials. On the other hand it may be said that

they belonged to some occupation in which the Chosen Women
were not allowed to participate. There are more small discs than

large ones, half of them being about an inch in diameter. One
might say that the large portion of small ones was due to the

necessity of providing digits, the lesser number of medium-sized

ones to the smaller necessity of providing counters for 10’s and
so on up. In the language of the poker table, ‘they needed more
white chips than blue ones’. Yet there is nothing to determine

where the line could be drawn since all are of the same colour

and there are no actual designs on their surfaces.

Possibly the largest two discs, which seem out of all proportion

to the others, may have been intended as covers for chicha jars.

Indeed, eight or ten of the larger discs could easily have been so

used. It seems to me probable, however, that the relative infre-

quency of large discs was due to their having been used as coun-

ters. We may suppose the large counters signified a large number.
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The two largest discs are rough hewn, partially ground and
polished. Most of the large discs, in fact, are roughly made, but
a few are nicely rounded, ground, and polished to a fairly con-
sistent thickness. Only one was incised, the largest of the regular

series, measuring about 5V2 inches in diameter. It has a single

cross incised on one side in the centre of the disc, the bars of the

cross being about 2 inches in length.

Four of the discs were perforated and the edges of one disc

were notched with four small incisions. A careful examination
of the smaller discs, or counters, shows that practically all were
carefully ground and polished, a large number being nicely

rounded. Nearly all still show scratches made in the grinding

and polishing. A few were ground so thin as to be translucent.

A group of exceedingly well-made smaller discs, sixteen in

all, besides a discoidal stone pendant of similar size, was found
in one hole near the Snake Rock. All of them are carefully

ground and polished and all bear in addition to the marks of

grinding and polishing, suspicious scratches, yet even here there

is no certainty that they bore tally marks.

While there are suspicious scratches on perhaps a dozen
of the discs and occasional markings that resemble tallying,

there seems to be no regular rule about them. Since the green

micaceous schist is soft and easily scratched, it was quite suit-

able for being marked with tallies if it was so desired, and the

tally could easily have been erased later by a slight amount of

grinding and polishing. If that had taken place, however, I

believe that we should be in no doubt about the marking, and
that more of them would have been found to contain clear tally

marks such as actually do exist on the baked-clay cubes to be

described later.

In addition to the discs of green micaceous schist there are

one or two of sandstone or other rock. Two or three flat dis-

coidal pebbles of similar material were found in connection
with the discs.

Forty-two oblong stone counters of green schist were found.

Nearly all bear marks of having been ground and polished but

none appears to have been engraved, although a number have
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irregular scratches of a suspicious character which might,

however, have been made accidentally in the course of manufac-
ture. Most of them came from the Snake Rock Region and the

upper part of the city.

The collection also includes nineteen triangular ‘chips’,

found generally in places where other types of record stones

occurred. None came from the burial caves. Besides the discs,

oblongs, and triangles, there are a number of very irregular

chips some of which are incised, others carved into highly prob-

lematical shapes impossible of classification. Some of the trian-

gles and oblongs are pierced with holes as though for use as

pendants or amulets.

In one grave four little green stone chips were found, each one
carved to represent a denizen of the jungle. Possibly they were
buried with their owner and designer, who, in carving them as

silhouettes of a peccary, an ant eater, an otter, and a parrot, may
have wished to record a visit to the forests of the lower

Urubamba. Two chips were found representing in miniature an
Australian boomerang. One has the outlines of a pipe, another

of the head and shoulders of an animal, still another of a small

flat reel or spool in which thread could be wound. Several are

carved in the shape common to bronze knives and axes but in

miniature. These might well have been used as offerings to the

god of metallurgy, in the hope that the bronze castings would be

successful.

Most of these little green chips appear to be record stones.

Probably they belonged to an earlier culture than that of the

Incas. They have been found in Ecuador, although they are

almost wholly unknown in such European and American collec-

tions of Peruvian antiquities as I have seen. At Machu Picchu

they came mainly from excavations in the city and occurred in

greatest profusion in the vicinity of Snake Rock, which was pos-

sibly the most ancient cemetery.

Similar record stones were found by Professor Saville and by

Dr Dorsey on the Island of La Plata, off the coast of Ecuador.

An eminent Peruvian archaeologist, Senor Gonzales de la Rosa,

believes that the predecessors of the Incas kept their accounts by
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means of record stones. The Incas themselves used quipus,

knotted strings of different colours arranged in decimal series.

Velasco, the author of History ofthe Kingdom of Quito, quotes
from an ancient Spanish missionary chronicle, the work of Friar

Marco de Niza, a work that is not known to exist at present.

The Friar says that the Caras, or ancient rulers of Ecuador, ‘used

a kind of writing more imperfect than that of the Peruvian

quipus'

.

They kept their records by means of ‘little stones of dis-

tinct sizes, colours, and angular form’ arranged in containers of

wood, stone, or clay. ‘With the different combination of these

they perpetuated their doings and formed their count of all.’ By
means of these crude archives they kept a record of their kings.

That the system seems to have been unsatisfactory and imper-
fect is shown in Velasco’s statement that some interpreted the

deposits to mean that eighteen rulers covered a period of seven

hundred years while others interpreted the succession as cover-

ing only five hundred years.

In treating of the burial customs of the pre-Inca rulers of

Quito, Velasco says that above the mummy of each ruler was a

little niche, inside which ‘were the small stones of various shapes
and colours which denoted his age, the years and the month of

his reign’. Professor Saville notes that little stones of distinct

sizes, colours, and angular shapes used for the purpose of
keeping historical and other records are to be found in various

places on the western coast of Ecuador not far from the south-

ern frontier of Colombia. The Caras were eventually conquered
by the Incas and forced to adopt their customs, including the use
of quipus, or records strings.

The finding at Machu Picchu of similar record stones made of
the local green micaceous or chloride schist might indicate that

at some time in its history Machu Picchu was inhabited by
people who had not yet learned to use string records. Or else

these were brought from Ecuador by the Incas, which is pos-
sible. No record stones have been found elsewhere in this region,

and were it not for Professor Saville’s discoveries we should have
been at a loss as to how to regard these little green chips. Under
the circumstances it seems proper to suggest that the high niches
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in the Principal Temple might have been intended to receive col-

lections of record stones and were purposely placed out of reach

so as to obviate the likelihood of their being disturbed. That

none were found in these niches need not necessarily destroy

this hypothesis. In the first place, when the time came for the use

of record stones to be abandoned in favour of quipus they might

all have been removed by order of the high priest and buried

near the Sacred Plaza. In the second place, when the Principal

Temple was no longer used for worship the priests may have

carried away or hidden the record stones which were in its high

niches. In the third place, it must be remembered that the Princi-

pal Temple was stripped of any ornaments or objects of interest

which it contained long before my first visit. It would have been

one of the first things to be found by Indian treasure seekers

working their way along the top of the ridge and it is to be pre-

sumed that they long since would have carried away anything of

interest which it contained. Finally, it is interesting to note that

our careful searches and excavations in other groups of Inca

ruins in this region, including Choqquequirau, Rosaspata, and

Patallacta, have not yielded any similar stones, tokens, or coun-

ters. Had only a few ‘record stones’ been found here it might

easily be supposed that they were brought from Ecuador after

the conquest of that region in the last century of the Inca

Empire. As most were made of local green schist, it seems likely

that they were made here by some of the Incas.

In an excavation near the City Gate, twenty-nine obsidian

pebbles, slightly larger than ordinary marbles, were found. One
more was dug up a few feet away but none was found anywhere

else. The late Professor Pirsson, of the Sheffield Scientific

School, who was kind enough to examine them for me, said that

similar obsidian pebbles are found in all parts of the world,

citing especially Honduras, Arizona, and central Europe. The

finding of these rounded chunks of volcanic glass in some local-

ities where there has been no recent volcanic action has led to

the suggestion that they might be extraterrestrial, possibly a

‘meteoric shower’. Whatever their origin, their location near the

gateway of the city would seem to indicate that they might have
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been used as record stones, possibly to keep tally on those who
brought alpaca wool for the Chosen Women.
We also found a few tokens or counters of baked clay. They

are extremely rare in collections of Peruvian antiquities. There
were likewise a few pentagonal clay discs made of rounded pot-

sherds, marked on five sides so as to be used as counters up to

five. Also of potter’s clay were ear-plugs, flute-like whistles,

paint dishes, and dice-like counters. They are incised with
straight lines and crosses clearly intended to represent a numeri-
cal tally. Very little is known about these last, and although they

are fairly common at Machu Picchu, few, if any, have found their

way into the larger museums of the world. Like the stone discs,

they do not seem to have been used by the Incas but probably by
an earlier people, prior to the invention of the quipu.

There is a story in Montesinos that before the invention of

quipus, or knotted mnemonic strings, there was another
method of keeping accounts. Since the tradition in Montesinos
relates to an event centuries old at the time of his investigations,

it is barely possible that the old method of writing which is

referred to in the tradition means the use of record stones and
incised terra-cotta cubes such as have been found at Machu
Picchu. It is possible that the use of counters was carried to a

greater degree at Machu Picchu than elsewhere in Peru but that

the invention of the quipu and the ease with which it could be
adapted to a decimal system prevented the spread of the use of

stone counters. Whether one prefers to regard the story in Mon-
tesinos as a somewhat embroidered account of an actual event

or as a reference to the abandonment of the use of record stones

and the commencement of the use of the quipu is not important.

The interesting fact remains that at Machu Picchu we have evi-

dence of a different system of notation from that employed by
the Incas at the time of the Spanish Conquest.

Besides the record stones, artifacts found at Machu Picchu

included beads in the shape of discs, perforated bars, possibly

used as spreaders, pendants, points for needles or shuttles,

whorl-bobs for spinning, polishing stones, scrapers, knives,

pestles, mortars, and grinding stones. There are two pestles
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made in the shape of cylinders, 7 or 8 inches long and 2 or 3

inches in diameter, very beautifully cut and polished. Some of

the mortars are merely circular or oblong depressions in

roughly squared rectangular blocks. Two or three grinding

stones possibly intended for ceremonial purposes, were cut out

of broad, thin slabs looking strikingly like old-fashioned grave-

stones, 2 feet long and 1V2 feet wide. Near them were found

equally long thin slabs with a curved edge, the ceremonial

rocking-stone mullers.

In the excavation on the ridge near the Snake Rock and the

Temple of the Three Windows, Mr Erdis found pieces of a beau-

tifully decorated rectangular dish, originally carved out of a

single piece of schist. Its shape and its design were so unusual

that he dug up every foot of ground to a depth of about 2 feet

over a fairly large area in the hope of finding other portions of it.

By examining every pebble he was finally successful in finding

nearly all the pieces of this beautiful dish, which is probably pre-

Inca and of very great age. It is about 8 inches long by 5 inches

wide and 2V2 inches high. He also found another smaller dish of

similar design.

A number of crude stone dishes and bowls were found, one

nearly circular and about 12 inches in diameter and 5 inches in

depth. There were also pieces of two or three handsomely made
circular stone dishes showing evidence of having been carefully

cut and polished. Such dishes are eagerly sought by Peruvian

collectors of antiquities, so it is not surprising that we found no

good examples. Relatively few objects of stone occurred in any

of the burial caves.

Five primitive obsidian knives were found in one of the oldest

parts of the city near a ledge marked with incised serpents. We
also found a stone flake knife of chalcedony very like a couple

which I picked up in some pre-Inca ruins near Lake Parinaco-

chas. We found a hundred specimens of Inca bronze including

axes, chisels, clubs, shawl-pins and knives. In the city were many
pieces of little braziers which had been used in their manufac-

ture. Rough usage had destroyed most of them so that it was

only possible to restore one brazier with any degree of accuracy.
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None were found in any of the graves. They seem not to have

been used by the women who were buried there.

Hundreds of hammer-stones were found, indicating the great

importance and frequent use of this primitive paleolithic imple-

ment, which enabled the Incas to accomplish such incredible feats.

They consist usually of hard, compact pebbles or cobblestones of

diorite or other firmly consolidated rock material. Sometimes

slight depressions permitted the thumb and finger to hold them
securely, but in most instances there is only the chipped point of

the pebble to show that it was used as a hammer-stone.

One cobblestone, 8 inches long and 4 inches wide, bears evi-

dence of having been used by its ingenious owner for three dif-

ferent purposes. This original three-in-one tool has a small

depression carved in its side which could serve as a mortar for

grinding pigments; its ends are both abraded by its having been

used as a hammer-stone; and one side is smoothly rounded so

that it could be used as a rocking-stone pestle or muller.

Among the articles of wood is the charred fragment of a dish

which possibly was 1V2 inches deep and 6 inches in diameter; a

nicely made crochet needle over 5 inches long, the handle

slightly flattened, incised on the edges, and decorated with a

feather pattern; a needle 5 inches long made from a large stout

thorn, its base flattened and perforated; another needle about 4
inches long with a small metallic ring fastened to the base. No
examples were found of that painted woodenware frequently

seen in collections of Cuzco antiquities which seem to represent

an art practised during the early days of the Spanish Conquest
under the influence of European design.

Four bone articles were found: a whorl-bob made possibly

from the end of a femur, and three pointed tools, still used in the

hand looms of Peru to beat up the thread of the woof. Two of

them are perforated; one has a nicely decorated handle consist-

ing of two birds facing each other.

Our knowledge of the textiles made and worn at Machu
Picchu must rest mostly on the beautiful specimens already

referred to which have been found in the tombs of the Peruvian

coastal desert. However, we know from Rodriguez, an eye-
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witness, that Titu Cusi who lived here, and some of his nobles,

were sumptuously dressed. In this moist climate - we had fre-

quent showers even in the dry season - it is not to be supposed
that articles of cloth would last very long. A few very small frag-

ments of nicely woven woollen textiles were found in some of

the burial caves where they were most thoroughly protected

against the weather. They were so decayed, however, as to make
it impossible to determine the size or nature of the original gar-

ments.

One terra-cotta ear-plug was found, its outer surface covered

with small holes in which possibly little coloured feathers had
once been placed. We know that the Inca nobles were distin-

guished by the large size of their ear ornaments, to receive which
the lobe of the ear had to be punctured and stretched. This was
such a conspicuous feature of the nobles that the conquistadors

called them orejones, ‘big ears’.

The Incas were fond of bright colours and of using the feath-

ers of forest birds as ornaments and as part of their costume. We
found many birds in this vicinity. In fact the Urubamba Valley

acts as a highway or migratory route for birds between the high-

lands and the low country.

The collection of mammals gathered by my Peruvian expedi-

tions consists of over nine hundred specimens, belonging to

eighty species. The bird collection numbers seven hundred spec-

imens, but contains a far greater number of species than the

mammal collection. We found approximately four hundred
species of birds; many of which are represented by only a single

specimen. In addition to the mammals and birds we brought

home specimens of some twenty different species of snakes, ten

lizards, and a variety of fishes. All these animals must have been

known to the Incas and most of them were probably used in one
way or another by the people of Machu Picchu.

Practically all our natural history specimens were deposited

in the Smithsonian Institution. The archaeological material is

mostly in the Yale University Museum, except that which was
excavated in 1914-1915, which was all returned to the Peruvian

Government.



CHAPTER ELEVEN

THE SEARCH FOR INCA ROADS
LEADING TO MACHU PICCHU

A fter the clearing of the ruins was fairly under way, the

next object which demanded attention was the location

of ancient highways connecting the city with the sur-

rounding country. We were able to locate a paved road running

south from the City Gate along the terraces and the back of the

ridge towards Machu Picchu Mountain. Owing to a rock-fall in

front of one of the great precipices on the mountain, this road

had been partially destroyed. On the other side of the rock-fall

we were able to find it again and to follow a carefully made
granite stairway to the top of the ridge east of the mountain. At
that point it divided, the left-hand fork leading to seemingly

impassable cliffs on the south side of the mountain, the right-

hand fork following the top of the ridge to the summit. There we
found, as has been said, the ruins of an Inca house which would
accommodate a dozen soldiers, and a carefully terraced signal

station or lookout on the very top of the peak 4,000 feet directly

above the San Miguel bridge over the Urubamba river.

We heard from one of the Indians that there were ruins in a

region of high mountains and impassable jungles south of

Machu Picchu Mountain. It was tantalizing to think of the pos-

sibilities of exploration in a country which in ancient days must
have been so closely connected with the hidden city. The
mystery of the deep valleys which lie in the quadrant north to

north-east of Mt Salcantay had long demanded attention. Sepa-

rated from Ollantaytambo and Amaybamba by the Grand
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Miles

Map of Machu Picchu and Huayna Picchu

showing roads and trails.

Canyon of the Urubamba, protected from Cuzco by the gigantic

barrier of Salcantay, isolated from Vitcos by deep valleys and
inhospitable, high windswept bleak regions called punas , they

seem to have been unknown to the Spanish conquerors and
unsuspected by their historians. Garcilasso Inca de la Vega,

from whom Prescott drew so much of his fascinating Conquest

of Peru
, makes no reference to places which can with any cer-

tainty be located in the Machu Picchu quadrant. Cobo and
Balboa in their detailed accounts of Inca conquests take the

story right round this region. It appears to have been a terra

incognita until the nineteenth century. Even Raimondi hardly

touched it.

One day Ricardo Charaja, a full-blooded Quichua from the

town of Santa Rosa, who was my most dependable native assis-

tant, located the remains of an old Inca road leading out of the

Pampaccahuana valley in the general direction of Machu
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Picchu. He pointed it out to our chief topographer, Mr Bum-
stead. Rumours reached us of Inca ruins to be found in that

direction. It was reported that ‘there was a large temple built on
an island in the centre of a lake, a very beautiful place, better

than Machu Picchu’.

It was with mingled feelings of keen curiosity and scepticism

that Osgood Hardy and I undertook in April 1915 to follow the

newly discovered roadway as far as it would carry us. It began in

an affluent of the Urubamba, not very far from Ollantaytambo

at the junction of the Huayllabamba river with the Pampacc-

ahuana, near a small ruin built of rough rocks laid in clay.

Located on a promontory above the two streams, this ruin prob-

ably represented a tampu, or resthouse, on the ancient road. It

was probably used by the Inca nobles and the Virgins of the Sun.

We had engaged the services of an Indian guide who said he

knew all about ‘the celebrated temple in the middle of a lake in

the mountains’, but he did not put in an appearance and we had
to start without him. He caught up with us later, claiming that

he thought we might not start because it was raining that

morning! As a matter of fact, his provisions for the journey, con-

sisting of a small quantity of parched corn and babas beans, had
not been prepared in time.

Led by Ricardo Charaja, who greatly enjoyed his ability to

act as a guide in a region far from his own home, we worked our

way through a picturesque primeval forest and emerged in the

upper part of a U-shaped valley, on whose grassy slopes we had
no difficulty in following the remains of a paved highway con-

structed by the Incas. It led by easy gradients to a pass at the

head of Huayllabamba Valley and thence descended by a series

of sharp zigzags into the Huayruru Valley. Not an Indian hut

was to be seen. In fact, the region seemed to be extraordinarily

destitute even of animal life. In a wild, unfrequented valley like

Huayruru, one is very likely to see a few deer and we hoped to

run across an Andean bear; but nothing of the kind appeared

and we made our way across the bottom of the valley as best we
could, only to find the Inca road disappearing in a maze of great

boulders under the remains of a fairly recent landslide. On the
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other side of the valley we saw two Inca roads winding up the

grassy slopes. We decided to take the one to the right, as that

appeared more likely to lead in the direction of Machu Picchu.

The left fork probably goes to Palcay, the ruins of a small Inca

country-house which I discovered by accident in 1912.

Halfway up the mountain side, some 2,000 feet above the

bottom of the valley, we came to an interesting little Inca

fortress, the name of which our guide, who had by this time

joined us, gave as Runcu Raccay. It was apparently a fortified

station on the old highway. Circular in shape, Runcu Raccay

contains the remains of four or five edifices grouped about a

little courtyard which was entered by a narrow passage. In the

sides of the passage were bar-holds for the better securing of the

gate. The stonework and the arrangement of the niches are typi-

cally late Inca. We pitched our camp near the ruins, our half-

dozen Indian bearers from Ollantaytambo building themselves

a temporary shelter as a protection against the cold rain which

fell during the night.

Twenty-five years later Runcu Raccay was visited by Dr Paul

Fejos, and an attractive model of it is shown in his report to the

Viking Fund. He did not find the bar-holds which we pho-

tographed in 1915, so they may have been destroyed.

From Runcu Raccay we followed the Inca road over a pass out

of the Huayruru Valley and into that of one of the affluents of

the Aobamba. In most places the road was still in such condi-

tion that our mules could follow it with safety, but occasionally

the poor animals would get bad falls and had to be entirely

unloaded and helped over slippery or precipitous rocks.

We had not gone far down into the new valley before we came

to another fork in the road. The left branch led by a series of

steps up a steep slope to a promontory, where we found the ruins

of a compact Inca group, to which our guide gave the name of

Cedrobamba. Since this word is half Spanish and half Quichua,

meaning ‘cedar plain’, it is obviously not the ancient name. No
one seems to have lived in this valley for several centuries, so it is

not surprising that the old name has been lost. The ruins of

Cedrobamba are in the same style as the others located along



2-54 Machu Piccbu

the highway, and while too extensive to he merely a fortified rest-

house like Runcu Raccay, Cedrobamba undoubtedly represents

one of the important fortified outposts subsidiary to Machu
Picchu. It commands an extensive view on three sides. The
promontory is surrounded by steep precipices and is extremely
difficult of access except over the paved roadway. It was probably
supplied with water by a small ditch brought along the side of

the mountain in the manner typical of Inca engineering.

We made a small clearing not far from the ruins and camped
here for several days while the Inca roadway was being cleared

and made passable for our mules. In several places rustic bridges

had to be constructed and a considerable amount of jungle

removed before the animals could pass over the ancient trail.

The only place where we met serious difficulty was at the point

where the roadway ran through a tunnel behind a huge, sloping

ledge. The Incas had found it easier to tunnel behind the ledge

than to cut the roadway in the face of the sheer cliff, but the

tunnel was not wide enough for loaded mules. Of course the

Incas had used llamas with small bodies and small loads. It was
big enough for them.

While the road was being made passable for our animals, I

went ahead with Ricardo and was delighted to find that as the

road progressed it headed more and more in the direction of

Machu Picchu. Pushing on in the hope of soon getting a glimpse
of Machu Picchu Mountain, I discovered a group of ruins called

Ccorihuayrachina, ‘the place where gold is winnowed or

washed’. Above the ruins a striking hilltop had been levelled off

and surrounded by a retaining wall so as to make it useful as a

signal station or possibly a primitive fortress. Beneath it we
found a huge cave which showed signs of recent occupancy,
probably by bears.

The Inca highway led into the ruins of Ccorihuayrachina by a

long flight of stone stairs, from the top of which we secured a

magnificent view of the Urubamba Valley in the vicinity of

Machu Picchu Mountain. The most interesting feature of

Ccorihuayrachina is a row of five stone-paved fountains in what
is now a swamp, near a huge, slightly carved boulder. This may
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have been what the Indians referred to when they spoke of a

temple in a lake, but it hardly came up to our expectations. The

name Ccorihuayrachina may have been given to the locality by

reason of the five fountains, where some imaginative Indian

thought gold might have been washed. To me it seems likely that

this was the residence of one of the most important chiefs who
owed allegiance to the rulers of Machu Picchu. It has recently

been thoroughly explored by an expedition conducted by Dr

Paul Fejos and proves to be an important location.

From Ccorihuayrachina the trail led along the crest of the

ridge, generally following an easy grade, often the normal con-

tours, and slowly took us towards the great promontory whose

most conspicuous point is Machu Picchu Mountain. Here,

within rifle shot of the city, the ancient trail disappears; but that

did not worry us, for there was no denying the fact that we had

reached the immediate neighbourhood of Machu Picchu and

done it by following the Inca road which undoubtedly con-

nected the citadel with the Pampaccahuana valley and the prin-

cipal Inca towns of the region. In addition to locating the

ancient highway, we had also been so fortunate as to discover a

number of hitherto unknown ruins which seemed to represent

stations at convenient intervals along the road. I had at last

achieved my desire of penetrating the unexplored country

south-east of Machu Picchu, a region which had tempted me for

many years. We had learned a little more of that ‘something’

which, as Kipling says, was ‘lost behind the ranges’.

In order that we might have the satisfaction of actually reach-

ing the citadel of Machu Picchu by the same route used by its

former inhabitants, I asked Clarence Maynard, then the assis-

tant topographer of the 1915 expedition, and during World War
II a Major in the US Engineers under General MacArthur, to go

down the south-west bank of the Urubamba river to Choqque-

suysuy and to the top of the saddle which connects Machu
Picchu Mountain with the region we had just been across and

from here attempt to find a practical route to the citadel.

Choqquesuysuy lies above the river at a bend where there is a

particularly good view. Near a foaming waterfall some Inca
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chief built a temple whose walls, still standing, serve to tantalize

the traveller on the river road. There is no bridge within two
days’ journey and the intervening rapids are impassable. Every
time we had journeyed up and down the river I had longed to get

across and see what these ruins contained. They are relatively so
near to Machu Picchu that I felt sure they must have belonged to

the same people. Accordingly, I was extremely glad when Mr
Maynard reported that he had succeeded in reaching Choqque-
suysuy, which we learned later belonged to the late Inca period.

Mr Maynard found that a footpath connected Choqquesuysuy
with the saddle at the top of the ridge below Machu Picchu
peak.

A recent landslide had destroyed the lower part of the trail,

but he repaired it with difficulty and got his animals safely

across the treacherous slope. After a steep climb of about 3,000
feet from the banks of the river he camped on a small pampa
south of the saddle, and after several hours of hunting, he found
signs of the ancient Inca roadway, now almost obliterated. By
hard climbing, these fragments of paved road were traced to the

saddle.

He found that there were three possible routes which might
lead from the saddle to Machu Picchu. One was along the east

side of the mountain; the second lay directly up the knife-like

ridge and across the top of Machu Picchu peak; the third was
along the precipitous west face of the mountain.

At the narrowest point in the saddle was a ruined guardhouse.
On its far side the trail was again picked up and followed to a

point where the side hill merged into a sheer rock wall. Every
foot of the way had to be cut through a dense jungle. The
footing was extremely treacherous, the mountain side exceed-
ingly steep, and slippery with recent rains. Here and there frag-

ments of the paved roadway were encountered, although in

order to find them it was frequently necessary to cut over a con-
siderable area. On such occasions the Indian workmen tried in

every way to discourage further search, crying to one another,

‘There is no road. No one can pass here.’ In the pouring rain

they worked half-heartedly, making no serious efforts to assist
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in locating the old road. Finally, at a rock-fall, all signs of the

trail disappeared; yet there was no indication that it had been

carried away by a landslide. Eventually, one of the workmen
uncovered a flight of stone steps covered with decayed vegetable

matter and leading to a cave, the entrance to which had been

concealed by thick bushes.

Here again the Incas had avoided the necessity of cutting a

path across the face of a sheer cliff by carrying their road behind

it through a natural tunnel. However, when Mr Maynard
attempted to follow this route he found the passage choked by

large rocks, where the roof had caved in. Since he had no blast-

ing powder, further progress along the old road seemed impossi-

ble. He decided that the only way of progressing was by

swinging a short, rustic bridge across the face of the cliff, a plan

which seemed rather dangerous and not too feasible. Accord-

ingly, before undertaking it he decided to investigate the other

two possible routes. Dividing the Indians into parties, trails

were cut in various directions, in the hope of running across any

other paved roads which might exist, but several attempts to

reach the crest of the ridge were prevented by impassable

precipices. Finally, a way was found around the precipices, and

traces of a road were discovered on the crest. This was followed

towards Machu Picchu Mountain until it divided, one branch

continuing towards the peak, the other descending the west face

of the slope towards the great fissure which crosses the western

precipices of the mountain. An attempt was made to follow each

route.

The upper one soon disappeared in a maze of cliffs and fallen

rocks; the lower one continued along the west side of the moun-

tain for about a mile and finally ended at a landslide. This trail

was very narrow and exceedingly steep, crossing rocky

precipices and flights of stone steps bordered by a sheer drop of

hundreds of feet. From here it led across a steep slope on which

the road was held in place by well-constructed retaining walls.

All of it was overgrown and every foot of the way had to be cut

through a dense jungle. The stone paving was covered with

century-long accumulations of vegetable mould. From the
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valley below we had often noticed the great fissure which ran

horizontally across the face of the precipice and seemed as

though it might have been used as part of the road between the

city and the saddle.

Mr Maynard made an effort to get past the great landslide

which intervened between him and the fissure on the western

precipice, but this proved to be impossible, the rotten rocks and
the steepness of the slope making any climbing operations

excessively dangerous. All three routes therefore had proved

impracticable, and the one hope lay in the possibility of being

able to bridge the cliff in the trail on the eastern slope, which
was the one first investigated.

Sending one man back to camp for a rope, the rest were set to

cutting poles which could be used to span the gap. Projecting

from the face of the cliff about 10 feet beyond the end of the

trail, and a few feet above it, was a ledge of rock. Growing out of

crevices at the end of the ledge and also at the end of the trail,

were two small trees. They were rather unsafe foundations, but

they formed the only means of further travel along this route.

Poles were laid from tree to tree, and one of the Indians slid

across, first having a rope tied tightly about his body, the other

end being held by the men. Small sticks were lashed at right

angles to the poles and where possible were wedged into cracks

in the face of the wall. Brush and moss placed on this support

completed the bridge, which was about 2V2 feet wide.

This was not a bridge over which one could carry a heavy
load. In fact, I found it to be the kind of place where one only

breathes easily after it has been safely negotiated. Beyond the

cliff it was fairly easy to locate the Inca road, as it came out of

the north end of the cave and penetrated the dense forest which
clung to the steep slope. In places the roadway had been carried

away by landslides, making progress extremely slow. Heavy
rains also interfered with the work. The Indians, who had not

constructed adequate shelter, suffered greatly at night and were
very miserable and dejected, repeatedly threatening to quit

entirely. It took great determination and courage on Mr
Maynard’s part to keep his gang together and make them perse-
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vere in their efforts to reach the city.

Finally another point was reached where recent landslides

and dangerous precipices made further progress absolutely

impossible. It was therefore decided to move camp down into

the bottom of the canyon to the bridge at San Miguel, climb

from there to the city itself, and attempt to work the trail back to

the neighbourhood of the dangerous landslide. This meant a

descent of several thousand feet to the hamlet of Intihuatana.

The trail, a modern one, over which mules had recently been

driven, was too steep to permit of riding in many places. Unfor-

tunately Mr Maynard’s feet had suffered from the rough climb-

ing and the constant rain, so he was tempted to ride in some

places where ordinarily he would have preferred to walk. At one

point where the trail was bordered by a sheer drop of several

hundred feet his mule slipped and fell to his knees. In attempting

to rise, he lost his balance and started to go over the ledge.

Throwing himself out of the saddle, Mr Maynard landed on his

back in the trail. Whereupon the mule, relieved of his burden, by

terrific effort scrambled back onto the road, on top of the unfor-

tunate topographer, who in his journal laconically remarks:

‘Landed on my back on a rock. Throwing weight that way evi-

dently righted the mule. He floundered around. His hoofs

seemed to be all over me, but didn’t step on me. Managed to roll

out of way. Arrived at camp about eleven thirty.’

The effort to connect the two trails was ultimately successful.

By following the road south of the city up the stone stairways to

the crest of the ridge, Mr Maynard finally found that he had

missed a stairway which led straight up the slope of the moun-
tain and which avoided the region of landslides that had baffled

his attempt to follow the road from the point where he had built

the little bridge round the tunnel. Two of the Indians finally

found the missing link in the trail and thus completed the

opening of one of the old Inca roads which connected the city

with the saddle behind Machu Picchu peak and thence with the

rest of the district. A few days after the work was completed I

was able to pick up the old road where I had been obliged to

leave it some weeks before and enter the city by the same road as
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its builders used. I found that it was good enough for llamas and
human burden-bearers. Wherever it followed the contour of a

steep slope it was banked up and supported by a stone wall.

Where it had to climb a steep grade, stone steps were built with
care so that the bearers of burdens could be provided with
secure footing. Finally, by a graceful curve, the road was brought
to the top of the ridge and the City Gate. Except on some of the

steepest stairways, this old Inca road was about 4 feet wide, thus

allowing the human freight-carriers to pass without interfering

with one another.

Thanks to Major Maynard, I had the satisfaction of going
into ‘Vilcapampa the Old’ over the very road used by the Virgins

of the Sun when they fled here from Cuzco and the conquista-

dors.

Obviously, however, this was not the road from Vitcos to the

‘principal city’, Vilcapampa Viejo, which was followed by the

Friars when Titu Cusi took them on that terrible journey past

and through the cold waters of ‘Ungacacha’. That road had to

be looked for elsewhere, north-west of Machu Picchu and on the

side towards Puquiura and Rosaspata. We were fortunate in

having a new map which had been prepared by our topographer,

Albert Bumstead, as a result of our surveys made in the preced-

ing years, which had opened a wide stretch of country between
the Apurimac and the Urubamba valleys that did not exist on
any previous maps.

The route followed by the missionary priests presumably lay

across a large, unexplored area, unknown to the local land-

owners, and unsuspected by Peruvian geographers. We had
heard rumours that there was a trail by which Indians some-
times came from the village of Puquiura to the plantation of

Huadquina, only a few miles from Machu Picchu, without
going round through the Vilcabamba and Urubamba valleys by
the modern government roads which we had been using. I deter-

mined to make an effort to cross and recross this unexplored
region and, if possible, find that road. We crossed the

Urubamba near Ollantaytambo and went up a valley that led to
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a very high pass between the beautiful snow peaks of Salcantay

and Soray. Near Yanama we camped on a ridge by some small

ruins near the remains of an Inca road. From here we made our

way to Arma as best we could without guides, following old

trails that sometimes led nowhere and that at other times led

deep into dense jungles and across mountain torrents.

Near Arma we found a primeval forest located on the slopes

of Mt Soiroccocha about 16,000 feet above sea level - possibly

the highest forest in the world. The fact that it seemed to be

primeval and that there was no indication that it had ever been

invaded by axe-men gave further testimony, if any were needed,

that we were in a region extremely difficult of access. After

making our way through a snowy pass we found ourselves in the

Colpa valley.

Here we found one or two mountain Indians and learned

from them that we were not far from Rosaspata and the village

of Puquiura, where we hoped to find a guide who knew the route

over the mountains. Inquiry among the natives of the Vil-

cabamba valley finally resulted in our securing the services of an

Indian who said he knew the trail to Huadquina across the

unexplored area, in the direction of Machu Picchu. As soon as

he could get his family to prepare his travelling ration of

parched corn and a few coca leaves, he started off in the right

direction and took us up the Colpa valley, which we had

explored a few days before. Passing by an abandoned quartz-

crushing plant we soon discovered a long stretch of Inca

roadway that led in the direction of Choqquequirau by way of a

pass called Choqquetacarpo. This Inca roadway was in a

remarkably good state of preservation, although slides pre-

vented us from using it for our mules. Near it, and not far from

Choqquetacarpo, we found the ruins of an ancient resthouse or

tavern, consisting of a group of half a dozen circular houses.

From the Colpa valley our guide now led us into a bleak

region, a wild puna country, where there were many little lakes

and numerous bogs. Had it not been for an unusually dry season

and the remarkably fine weather of the preceding months, we

should never have been able to travel through it at all. It is
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undoubtedly on account of the large number and wide extent of
the bogs which characterize this area between Pucyura and
Huadquina that it had long remained unexplored by the Peru-
vians themselves.

At last the trail, which in many places followed an Inca
highway, came to a dark green lake, larger than the rest, whose
name I inquired of the guide. The answer gave me a thrill. As the
guide shouted it back to me from the head of the caravan, I

thought he said ‘Ungacacha’; in fact, it sounded more like that
than Yanaccocha, or ‘Black Lake’, its actual name, as I learned
later. Ever since I first came into this province looking for the
capital of the last Incas, one of the places on my list was Calan-
cha s Ungacacha’. Since 1911 I had been inquiring of Indians
everywhere for a locality of that name, only to be met invariably
with the reply that they knew of no such place. It seems to me
entirely probable that the ‘Ungacacha’ referred to in Calancha’s
story of the sufferings of the Friars was Yanaccocha, and that
the monk, who probably wrote it down sometime afterward
from memory, and who very likely did not hear it any more
clearly than I did when 1 inquired the name of the place, spelled
it Ungacacha, instead of Yanaccocha. They look so different on
paper that it is somewhat difficult to realize how closely the
Indian pronunciation of one approaches the other.

The old Inca trail continued up the hillside in the direction of
Machu Picchu and led toward the ruins of Yuracrumiyocc,
which was the Inca storehouse the foreman of Huadquina had
said was so magnificent, and which I had visited in 1911. At that
time we could not understand its significance. Now we realized
that it was a resthouse on the old Inca road between Manco’s
two capitals, Vilcapampa and Vitcos.

It appears that the builders of Machu Picchu had an elaborate
system of highways throughout this little-known and almost
unexplored country which lies between the Urubamba valley
and the Apurimac. This region was once densely populated, and
Machu Picchu was its capital.



CHAPTER TWELVE

THE ORIGIN OF THE CITY NOW
CALLED MACHU PICCHU

A s a result of the discovery of the Inca road leading from

Puquiura to the vicinity of Machu Picchu and the evi-

dence in the burial caves that the Lost City was last occu-

pied by women, besides the unmistakable testimony that here

was a Temple of the Sun and a great Sanctuary, we may be sure

that its name in the days of the Spanish Conquest was Vilca-

pampa and that young Tupac Amaru, last of the Inca Emperors,

had lived here. It is pleasant to think that he had spent most of

his life in this beautiful city of white granite, which ‘in the sub-

limity of its surroundings, the marvel of its site, the character,

and the mystery of its construction’ surpassed anything his

cruel conquerors ever saw or found. The secret was so well kept

that the Chosen Women lived and died there in peace, unmo-
lested by the Spanish conquerors. For three hundred years the

city was unknown.

Our identification of what the city was in its last years tells us

little or nothing of its origin. While many of the houses were

doubtless built by Manco and Titu Cusi to accommodate the

Chosen Women and the attendants of the Sanctuary, the finer

palaces and the temples were far too elaborate to have been con-

structed at that time. It was obviously a great Sanctuary long

before they arrived. The finest buildings ante-dated the last

years of the Inca Empire by centuries. The question naturally

arises: who built them and when?

According to the late Philip Ainsworth Means, the Inca
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Pachacutec who lived in the first half of the fifteenth century,

from about 1400 to 1448, was a ‘very great man’. This was also

the opinion of that distinguished English authority Sir

Clements Markham, who styles Pachacutec ‘the greatest man
that the Aboriginal Race of America has produced’. He had the

advantage of inheriting a great empire which contained about

155,000 square miles of territory, approximately equal to the

north-eastern States from Virginia to Maine. It had been thor-

oughly organized and the great mass of the people were
absolutely subject to the wishes of the hierarchy of tribal and
imperial officials. In his kingdom were many skilful generals

and wise counsellors, so that he was able to carry on several dif-

ficult conquests, one of the earlier of which took him down the

Urubamba valley.

Before Pachacutec’s time the Incas’ frontier in that direction

had been at Ollantaytambo, but he, doubtless having in mind
those incursions of savages from the forest-country that had
given rise to the Chanca Confederacy and to the formidable
struggle whh it, determined to push his power farther down the

stream. Means says: ‘He did so by the usual Inca methods, com-
bining guile and diplomacy with military aggression! The
citadel of Machu Picchu rises in the heart of this region, and it is

highly probable that the Inca Pachacutec gave orders for its con-
struction, intending it to be thenceforward an eastern bulwark
of his empire.’

Although the empire inherited by this Inca was at that time
large, Cuzco, his capital, was still only 50 miles from the jungle

where lived warlike savages who were always ready to attack

whoever ventured to penetrate the great forests of the upper
Amazon. The construction of the Citadel of Machu Picchu at a

point where its location could command the narrow valley

through which the savages might attempt to make raids against

the highly civilized Incas would have been a wise proceeding.

At the same time I cannot help feeling that a mountain
fortress like the one first explored at Choqquequirau would
have been entirely adequate for this purpose. The savage Indians

had only crude weapons, blow-guns, bows and arrows. They did
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not need great walls and a mighty citadel to hold them at bay. It

seems most unlikely to me that the beautiful granite temples of

Machu Picchu were built as an outlying fortress against the

tribes of the Amazon. If my theory is correct then what is the sig-

nificance of this carefully constructed Sanctuary here in the most

inaccessible part of the Andes?

As has already been said in the account of the battle of La Raya,

Montesinos states that after the death in battle of the last of the great

Amautas, or kings, who ruled Peru for more than sixty generations,

his faithful followers retired to the mountains, going to Tampu-

tocco, which was ‘a healthy place’ where they hid the body of Pacha-

cuti VI, their king, in a cave and where they were joined by refugees

fleeing from the general chaos and disorder.

The Spaniards who asked about Tampu-tocco got the impres-

sion that it was at or near Paccari-tampu, a small place 8 or 10

miles south of Cuzco, in the vicinity of which there are the ruins

of a small Inca town. Near it is a little hill consisting of several

large rocks. The surface of one is carved into platforms and in

one place into two sleeping pumas, a very unusual pattern, not

really Inca. Beneath it are caves said to have been used by

Spanish refugees, who may have carved the pumas.

There is enough about the characteristics of Paccari-tampu to

lend colour to the story frequently told to the early Spaniards

that this was Tampu-tocco. Yet the surrounding region is not

hard to reach and is not at all inaccessible. There are no

precipices. There are no natural defences against an invading

force large and strong enough to capture the neighbouring

valley of Cuzco. A few men might have hidden in the caves of

Paccari-tampu but it was not a place where an independent

kingdom might readily have been established by a disorganized

handful of the followers and chief priests of Pachacuti VI. Fur-

thermore there are no windows in the architecture which would

justify the name of Tampu-tocco, which means 4 tambo, or place

of temporary abode, characterized by windows.

On 21 January 1572, a legal inquiry was made by the Viceroy

Francisco de Toledo. Fifteen Indians who were descended from

those who used to live near the important salt terraces round
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Cuzco, on being questioned, agreed that they had heard their

fathers and grandfathers repeat the tradition that the first Inca,

Manco Capac, came from Tampu-tocco when he arrived to take

their lands away from their ancestors. They did not say that the

first Inca came from Paccari-tampu, which, it seems to me,
would have been a most natural thing for them to have said if it

were true. In addition to this testimony, there is still the older

testimony of some Indians born before the arrival of Pizarro,

who in 1570 were examined at a legal investigation made in

Jauja. The oldest witness, ninety-five years of age, on being

sworn, said that Manco Capac was lord of the town where he

was born and had conquered Cuzco but that he had never heard
what town it was that Manco came from. The Indian chief who
followed him was ninety-four years old and also denied that he
knew where Manco Capac was born. Another chief, aged
ninety-two, testified that Manco Capac came out of a cave

called Tocco and that he was lord of the town near the cave. Not
one of the witnesses stated that Manco Capac came from
Paccari-tampu, although it is difficult to imagine why they

should not have done so if, as the Spaniards believed, this was
the original Tampu-tocco.

At all events, there is an interesting cave at Paccari-tampu and
the chroniclers, not one of whom knew of the important ruins at

Machu Picchu, were willing enough to assume that this was the

place where the first Inca was born and from which he came to

conquer Cuzco. Yet it seems hardly possible that the old Indians

should have forgotten entirely where Tampu-tocco was. Their
reticence in regard to it must be attributed, it seems to me, to the

fact of its having been successfully kept secret by reason of its

location in a remote place whither the followers of Pachacuti VI
fled with his body after the overthrow of the old regime, and in

the same remote fastness of the Andes to which the young Inca

Manco II fled from Cuzco in the days of Pizarro.

Certainly Machu Picchu answers the description in Mon-
tesinos of Tampu-tocco. The splendid natural defences of the

Grand Canyon of the Urubamba made it an ideal refuge for the

descendants of the Amautas during the five or six hundred years
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of lawlessness and confusion which succeeded the barbarian

invasions from the plains to the east and south. The scarcity of

violent earthquakes, and also the healthfulness, both marked
characteristics of Tampu-tocco, are met at Machu Picchu.

Pachacuti Yamqui Salcamayhua’s story of the construction of

a memorial wall with three windows at the place of Manco
Capac’s birth points clearly to Machu Picchu. Although none of

the other ancient chronicles gives the story of the first Inca

ordering a memorial wall to be built at the place of his birth,

they nearly all tell of his having come from a place called

Tampu-tocco, ‘a country place remarkable for its windows’. To
be sure, the only place assigned by them as the location of

Tampu-tocco is Paccari-tampu, which, as has been said, is

about 8 or 10 miles south-west of Cuzco and has some ruins; but

careful examination shows that there were no windows in the

buildings of Paccari-tampu and nothing to justify its having

such a name as Tampu-tocco. The climate of Paccari-tampu - it

is part of the high plateau, elevation 12,000 feet — is too severe to

invite or encourage the use of windows. The temperature in the

shade or inside an unheated cabin is never far from freezing. On
the other hand, to people accustomed to the climatic conditions

of Cuzco, the climate of Machu Picchu seemed mild, and conse-

quently the use of windows was agreeable. Many of the houses

at Machu Picchu have windows. In fact, since there are far more
windows here than in any other ruin it would be natural to refer

to it as a country place remarkable for its windows. Obviously,

from the very elaborate character of its structure, it was a highly

venerated place, a veritable Holy City containing temples

enough for the sun, the moon, the thunder and all the Inca Pan-

theon; no conquistador was allowed to see it or even hear about

it when they were questioning the wisest men in Cuzco.

Accordingly, I am convinced that the name of the older part

of Machu Picchu was Tampu-tocco, that here Pachacuti VI was

buried, and that here was the capital of the little kingdom
where, during the centuries - possibly eight or ten - between the

Amautas and the Incas, there were kept alive the wisdom, skill,

and best traditions of the ancient folk who had developed the
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civilization of Peru, using agricultural terraces as its base. It

seems to me quite probable that Manco Capac, after he had
established himself as Inca in Cuzco, should have built a fine

temple to the honour of his ancestors. Ancestor worship was
common among the Incas and nothing would have been more
reasonable than the construction of the Temple of the Three
Windows in their honour.

Furthermore, there is so little arable land capable of being

developed within a radius of io or 15 miles of Machu Picchu

that it would have been perfectly natural for the chiefs of this

region to have sought to conquer the great stretches of arable

land near Cuzco. When they once got control of Cuzco and the

rich valleys in its vicinity, convenience, superstition, and regard

for the great Amautas, from whom they traced their descent,

would have led them to establish themselves once more at

Cuzco. There was no longer any necessity for them to maintain

Tampu-tocco. Consequently Machu Picchu may have been

practically deserted for three hundred years while the Inca

Empire flourished and grew until it covered a large part of South
America. In the meantime Tampu-tocco - ‘out of sight, out of

mind’, a sacred place whose whereabouts was undoubtedly
known to the priests and those who preserved the most sacred

secrets of the Incas - was forgotten by the common people. On
the other hand it may have been kept in good condition as one of

the great Temples of the Sun where the Chosen Women were
educated for the service of the Incas.

If my theory of Machu Picchu as Tampu-tocco is correct, it

may be that the principal sanctuary in Cuzco, now the Domini-
can Monastery but known to the conquistadors as the Temple
of the Sun, was built during the reign of the Incas as an echo, on
a large scale, of the semicircular temple at Machu Picchu. If this

latter temple was constructed above the cave where tradition

says Pachacuti VI, last of the Amautas, was buried, it would nat-

urally have been the most revered spot at Machu Picchu. Cer-

tainly the stonework of its surroundings has rarely been
equalled and never surpassed in beauty and strength. When the

Incas left Tampu-tocco, therefore, and took up their residence
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in Cuzco, nothing would have been more likely than for them to

have built their first temple in a manner resembling the finest

temple at Tampu-tocco. Probably the semicircular character of

the Machu Picchu temple was caused by accident rather than by

design, and was due to the natural curve of the great rock

beneath which lay the mausoleum of Pachacuti VI and his

immediate family. This particular architectural feature in the

Temple of the Sun in Cuzco was not required by the nature of

the gravel bank on which it rests, in common with all the other

parts of the city. Moreover, a wall with a flattened curve or ‘par-

abolic enclosure wall’ is not characteristic of ancient Peruvian

structures and occurs very rarely. It is extremely difficult to con-

struct and requires the highest type of artistic stone-cutting.

What more likely, then, than that the builders of the Cuzco

temple had the semicircular temple of Machu Picchu in mind?

The occurrence in both structures of openings to which golden

images of the sun could be attached, and their absence else-

where, would also seem to lend colour to this theory and helps

to strengthen my belief that Machu Picchu was Tampu-tocco,

and that the Inca rulers of Cuzco not only constructed at Machu
Picchu a ceremonial wall with three windows to commemorate
and honour the home of their ancestors, but built in Cuzco a

semicircular Temple of the Sun resembling the beautiful one in

their ancient Sanctuary.

No one realizes better than the present writer how fantastic

this last suggestion will seem to those archaeologists who have

been unwilling to follow my reasoning in regard to Tampu-
tocco as the first name of the sanctuary on the slopes of Machu
Picchu Mountain. To those who are willing to accept the story

of the Spanish chroniclers that the original home of the Incas

was the nearby village of Paccari-tampu, the origin of the city

on the slopes of Machu Picchu Mountain is usually that put

forth by the late Philip Ainsworth Means. Since the architecture

of Machu Picchu contains examples of all kinds of structures

found in the central Andes, it is barely possible that the city does

not go farther back than the early fifteenth century, as Means
contends. His theory undoubtedly meets with the approval of
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those archaeologists who choose to shorten and limit the period

of Inca civilization. Perhaps they are right in the length of time

which saw anyone called an Inca occupying the cities of the

Peruvian Highlands. But when one considers the number of cen-

turies which were required to domesticate the llamas and
alpacas as well as to discover, select, and domesticate the scores

of plants used for food and medicine, the very long time con-

sumed in the evolution of their agriculture, engineering,

masonry, and metallurgy, and the advanced state of their textiles

and pottery, it seems unwise to contend that Inca civilization

was less ancient than that of the Mayas in Central America. It

seems to me highly probable that the story of Machu Picchu

covers many, many centuries.

Undoubtedly in its last state the city was the carefully guarded

treasure house where that precious worship of the sun, the

moon, the thunder, and the stars, so violently overthrown in

Cuzco, was restored, where the last four Incas had their safest

and most comfortable home, and the Chosen Women whose lives

had from early girlhood been devoted to all the duties of the Sanc-

tuary found a refuge from the animosity and lust of the conquista-

dors.

Surely this remarkable lost city which has made such a strong

appeal to us on account of its striking beauty and the indescrib-

able grandeur of its surroundings appears to have had a most
interesting history. Selected perhaps a thousand years ago as the

safest place of refuge for the last remnants of the old regime,

becoming the capital of a new kingdom, giving birth to the most
remarkable family which South America has ever seen, partially

abandoned when Cuzco once more flashed into glory as the

capital of the Inca Empire, it was again sought out in time of

trouble when another foreign invader arrived - this time from
the north - with his burning desire to extinguish all vestiges of

the ancient religion, and finally became the home and refuge of

those Chosen Women whose institution formed one of the most
interesting features of the most humane religion of aboriginal

America. Here, concealed in a canyon of remarkable grandeur,

protected by nature and by the hand of man, the ‘Virgins of the
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Sun’ one by one passed away on this beautiful mountain top and

left no descendants willing to reveal the importance or explain

the significance of the ruins which crown the beetling precipices

of Machu Picchu.
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Much of the wild country of the Eastern Peruvian

Andes was still unknown when Hiram Bingham set out to

explore the area in the early days of the twentieth century.

In 1911 he discovered the fabulous Inca city that was to

make him famous: Machu Picchu. Spread out across a high

mountain ridge, Machu Picchu had managed to survive

the Spanish Conquest without being detected, preserving

untouched some of the finest Inca architecture in existence.

However, Bingham’s achievement did not end there. In the

space of one short season he went on to discover two more

lost Inca cities: Vitcos, where one of the last Inca

Emperors was assassinated, and another settlement

buried deep below the cloud-forest in the jungle.

‘A rich, lively book ... it is the classic adventure’

Irish Times

This edition includes Bingham’s original photographs,

with a new essay by Hugh Thomson to mark the

centenary of the discovery of Machu Picchu.


